FUNDAMENTAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS

VOLUME II

ISSUE II

FUJMA

http://dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN 2645-8845 VOLUME II ISSUE II ISSN 2645-8845 December 2019 http://dergipark.gov.tr/fujma

FUNDAMENTAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS



Editors in Chief

Murat Kirişçi Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, İstanbul University, İstanbul-TÜRKİYE murat.kirisci@istanbul.edu.tr Mahmut Akyiğit Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE makyigit@sakarya.edu.tr

Managing Editors

Merve İlkhan Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE merveilkhan@duzce.edu.tr Fuat Usta Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE fuatusta@duzce.edu.tr

Editorial Board

Murat Tosun Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Patrick Sole Aix-Marseille Université, FRANCE

Emrah Evren Kara Düzce University, TÜRKİYE

Sidney Allen Morris Federation University, AUSTRALIA

Yeol Je Cho Gyeongsang National University, KOREA

Stojan Radenovic University of Belgrade, SERBIA

Mujahid Abbas University of Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA Michal Feckan Comenius University in Bratislava, SLOVAKIA

> Aliakbar Montazar Haghighi Prairie View A&M University, USA

> > Mohammad Mursaleen Aligarh Muslim University, INDIA

> > > Michael Th. Rassias University of Zurich, SWITZERLAND

Syed Abdul Mohiuddine King Abdulaziz University, SAUDI ARABIA

> Mehmet Ali Güngör Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Editorial Secretariat

Pınar Zengin Alp Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE Editorial Secretariat Hande Kormalı Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE

Contents

1	Smarandache Curves According to Sabban Frame of the anti-Salkowski Indicatrix Curve Süleyman Şenyurt	e 101-116
2	Two-Grid Iterative Method for a Class of Fredholm Functional Integral Equations based on the Radial Basis Function Interpolation <i>Qisheng Wang, Huimin Zhou</i>	117-122
3	Three Equivalent <i>n</i> -Norms on the Space of <i>p</i> -Summable Sequences Muhammad Nur, Hendra Gunawan	123-129
4	Lyapunov Exponents of One Dimensional Chaotic Dynamical Systems via a General Piecewise Spline Maximum Entropy Method Md Shafiqul Islam	130-138
5	Symmetry Analysis and Conservation Laws of the Boundary Value Problems for Time-Fractional Generalized Burgers' Differential Equation Gulistan Iskenderoglu, Dogan Kaya	139-147
6	Spinor Representations of Involute Evolute Curves in Tülay Erişir, Neslihan Cansu Kardağ	148-155
7	On Directed Baire Spaces Vellapandi Renukadevi, Ravindran Thangamariappan	156-161
8	On Dual-Hyperbolic Numbers with Generalized Fibonacci and Lucas Numbers Components Mehmet Ali Güngör, Arzu Cihan	162-172
9	The Exact Solutions of Conformable Fractional Partial Differential Equations Using New Sub Equation Method Ali Kurt, Orkun Tasbozan, Hulya Durur	173-179
10	Conservation Laws for a Model with both Cubic and Quadratic Nonlinearity Mohanad Alaloush, Hatice Taskesen	180-185
11	New Advances in Kotzig's Conjecture Christian Barrientos, Sarah Minion	186-194
12	Applicable Multiplicative Calculus Using Multiplicative Modulus Function C. Ganesa Moorthy	195-199



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.594670



Smarandache Curves According to Sabban Frame of the anti-Salkowski Indicatrix Curve

Süleyman Şenyurt^{1*} and Burak Öztürk¹

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Ordu University, Ordu, Turkey *Corresponding author E-mail: senyurtsuleyman@hotmail.com

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Anti-Salkowski curve, Sab- ban frame, Smarandache curves 2010 AMS: 53A04 Received: 20 July 2019 Accepted: 05 November 2019 Avgilable avling: 20 December 2010	The aim of this paper is to define Smarandache curves according to the Sabban frame belonging to the spherical indicatrix curve of the anti-Salkowski curve. We also illustrate these curves with the Maple program and calculate the geodesic curvatures of these curves.

1. Introduction

Erich Salkowski (1881-1943), a German mathematician. In 1909, he defined curve families with non-constant τ and constant curvature κ [1]. Later J. Monterde constructed a method for closed curves and the properties of anti-Salkowski curve used in [2]. For authors worked on the anti-Salkowski curve also can be seen in [3]-[7]. When the Frenet vectors of any curve are taken as the position vector, then the regular curves generated by these vectors are called Smarandache curves [8]. Smarandache curves in Euclidean 3-space are defined and some features of these curves are given in [9]. For some authors worked on the Smarandache curve also may be seen in [10, 11]. In 1990, the geodesic curve of a spherical curve is calculated by J. Koenderink with the Sabban frame of the spherical indicatrix curves in [12]. Then the Smarandache curves obtained from Sabban frame are defined and geodesic curvatures of these curves are given in [13]. In this study. Smarandache curves are defined according to the Sabban frames belonging to the spherical indicatrix curves of each of the

In this study, Smarandache curves are defined according to the Sabban frames belonging to the spherical indicatrix curves of each of the T, N, B Frenet vectors of the anti-Salkowski curve. The geodesic curvatures of these curves are then calculated.

2. Preliminaries

In the Euclidean 3-space E^3 , the Frenet frame of any curve α is given by $\{T, N, B\}$. For an arbitrary curve $\alpha \in E^3$, with the first and second curvatures, κ and τ respectively, the Frenet apparatus are given by [14]

$$T' = \kappa N, \quad N' = -\kappa T + \tau B, \quad B' = -\tau N.$$

Accordingly, the spherical indicatrix curves of Frenet vectors are (T), (N) and (B) respectively. These equations of curves are given by [14]

$$\alpha_T(s) = T(s), \quad \alpha_N(s) = N(s), \quad \alpha_B(s) = B(s).$$

Let $\gamma: I \to S^2$ be a unit speed spherical curve. We denote *s* as the arc-length parameter of γ . Let us denote by [14]

$$\gamma(s) = \gamma(s), \quad t(s) = \gamma'(s), \quad d(s) = \gamma(s) \wedge t(s).$$

We call t(s) a unit tangent vector of γ . { γ , t, d} frame is called the Sabban frame of γ on S^2 . Then we have the following spherical Frenet formulae of γ :

$$\gamma' = t, \quad t' = -\gamma + \kappa_g d, \quad d' = -\kappa_g t \tag{2.1}$$

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: senyurtsuleyman@hotmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1097-5541 (S. Şenyurt), brkztrk4152@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9998-4924 (B. Öztürk)

where is called the geodesic curvature of κ_g on S^2 and

$$\kappa_g = \langle t', d \rangle, \tag{2.2}$$

[12, 13].

Definition 2.1. (anti-Salkowski curve) [2]. For any $m \in \mathbb{R}$ with $m \neq \pm \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}$, 0, let us define the space curve

$$\beta_m(s) = \left(\frac{n}{2(4n^2 - 1)m} \left(n(1 - 4n^2 + 3\cos(2ns))\cos(s) + (2n^2 + 1)\sin(s)\sin(2ns)\right), \frac{n}{2(4n^2 - 1)m} \left(n(1 - 4n^2 + 3\cos(2ns))\sin(s) - (2n^2 + 1)\cos(s)\sin(2ns), \frac{n^2 - 1}{4n}(2ns + \sin(2ns))\right)\right)$$

where $n = \frac{m}{\sqrt{1+m^2}}$. The Frenet apparatus are

$$\begin{aligned} \kappa &= \tan(ns), \quad \tau = 1, \quad \|\gamma_m(s)\| = \frac{\cos(ns)}{\sqrt{1+m^2}} \\ T(s) &= -\left(\cos(s)\sin(ns) - n\sin(s)\cos(ns), \sin(s)\sin(ns) + n\cos(s)\cos(ns), \frac{n}{m}\cos(ns)\right), \\ N(s) &= n\left(\frac{\sin(s)}{m}, -\frac{\cos(s)}{m}, 1\right), \\ S(s) &= \left(-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns), -\sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns), \frac{n}{m}\sin(ns)\right). \end{aligned}$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (2.1)



Figure 2.1: anti-Salkowski Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Let $(\alpha), (\delta)$ and (ζ) be spherical indicatrix curves of tangent, principal normal and binormal vectors belonging to anti-Salkowski curve, respectively. Using the equations (2.1) and (2.2), Sabban apparatus belonging to these curves is given by

$$T = T, \quad T_T = N, \quad T \wedge T_T = B,$$

$$T' = T_T, \quad T'_T = -T + \frac{1}{\tan(ns)}(T \wedge T_T), \quad (T \wedge T_T)' = -\frac{1}{\tan(ns)}T_T,$$

$$K_S^T = \frac{1}{\kappa} = \frac{1}{\tan(ns)}.$$
(2.3)

$$T(s) = (\cos(s)\sin(ns) - n\sin(s)\cos(ns), \sin(s)\sin(ns) + n\cos(s)\cos(ns), \frac{n}{m}\cos(ns)),$$
(2.4)

$$T_T(s) = n\left(\frac{\sin(s)}{m}, -\frac{\cos(s)}{m}, 1\right),$$

 $(T \wedge T_T)(s) = -(\cos(s)\cos(ns) + n\sin(s)\sin(ns), \sin(s)\cos(ns) - n\cos(s)\sin(ns), \frac{n}{m}\sin(ns)).$

$$N = N, \quad T_N = \frac{-\tan(ns)T + B}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}}, \quad N \wedge T_N = \frac{T + \tan(ns)B}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}},$$
$$N' = T_N, \quad T'_N = \frac{\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}}N + N \wedge T_N, \quad (T \wedge T_T)' = \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}}T_N,$$
$$K_g^N = \frac{-\kappa'}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + 1}} = \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}}.$$
(2.5)

$$\begin{split} N(s) &= \left(\frac{n\sin(s)}{m}, -\frac{n\cos(s)}{m}, n\right), \\ T_N(s) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} \left(-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns) - \tan(ns)(-\cos(s)\sin(ns) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns)), \\ -\tan(ns)(-\sin(s)\sin(ns) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns)) - \sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns), \frac{2n}{m}\sin(ns)\right), \end{split}$$
(2.6)
$$(N \wedge T_N)(s) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} \left(\tan(ns)(-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns)) - \cos(s)\sin(ns) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns), -\sin(s)\sin(ns) + \tan(ns)(-\sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns)) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns), \frac{n}{m}\tan(ns)\sin(ns) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(ns)\right). \\ B &= B, \quad T_B = -N, \quad B \wedge T_B = T, \\ B' &= T_B, \quad B'_T = -B + \tan(ns)(B \wedge T_B), \\ (B \wedge T_B)' &= \tan(ns)T_B, \quad K_g^B = \kappa = \tan(ns). \end{aligned}$$
(2.7)
$$B(s) &= -\left(\cos(s)\cos(ns) + n\sin(s)\sin(ns), \sin(s)\cos(ns) - n\cos(s)\sin(ns), \frac{n}{m}\sin(ns)\right), \\ T_B(s) &= -\left(\frac{n\sin(s)}{m}, -\frac{n\cos(s)}{m}, n\right), \end{aligned}$$
(2.8)

 $(B \wedge T_B)(s) = -\Big(\cos(s)\sin(ns) - n\sin(s)\cos(ns), \sin(s)\sin(ns) + n\cos(s)\cos(ns), -\frac{n}{m}\cos(ns)\Big).$

Definition 3.1. Let $\alpha = \alpha(s)$ be a curve and $\{T, T_T, T \land T_T\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then TT_T -Smarandache curve is given by

$$\alpha_1(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(T + T_T).$$
(3.1)

According to equation (2.4) we can parameterize the $\alpha_1(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

 $\alpha_1(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(-\cos(s)\sin(ns) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns) + \frac{n}{m}\sin(s), -\sin(s)\sin(ns) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(s), -\frac{n}{m}\cos(ns) + n \Big).$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.1)



Figure 3.1: *TT_T*-Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.2. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\alpha_1}$ according to $\alpha_1(s)$ -Smarandache curve is

$$K_g^{\alpha_1} = \frac{\tan^4(ns)}{(2\tan(ns)+1)^{\frac{5}{2}}} (\chi_1 - \chi_2 + 2\tan(ns)\chi_3),$$

where the coefficients χ_1, χ_2 and χ_3 are

$$\begin{split} \chi_1 &= -2 - \frac{1}{\tan^2(ns)} + \frac{1}{\tan(ns)} (\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})', \\ \chi_2 &= -2 - \frac{1}{\tan(ns)} (\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' - \frac{3}{\tan^2(ns)} - \frac{1}{\tan^4(ns)}, \\ \chi_3 &= \frac{2}{\tan(ns)} + (\frac{2}{\tan(ns)})' + \frac{1}{\tan^3(ns)}. \end{split}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of (3.1) and from the equation (2.3) we get

$$(T_T)_{\alpha_1} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (-T + T_T + \frac{1}{\tan(ns)} (T \wedge T_T)), \qquad (3.2)$$

if we take the norm of (3.2) we have

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{2\tan^2(ns) + 1}}{\tan(ns)\sqrt{2}}$$

We obtain the tangent of $\alpha_1(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_T)_{\alpha_1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\tan(ns)T + \tan(ns)T_T + (T \wedge T_T)).$$
(3.3)

The derivative of (3.2) is

$$(T_T)'_{\alpha_1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\tan^2(ns)+1}}(\chi_1 T + \chi_2 T_T + \chi_3 (T \wedge T_T))$$

From equations (3.1) and (3.3) we have

$$(T \wedge T_T)_{\alpha_1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\tan^2(ns)+1}}(T - T_T + 2\tan(ns)(T \wedge T_T)).$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.3) is

$$K_{g}^{\alpha_{1}} = \frac{\tan^{4}(ns)}{(2\tan(ns)+1)^{\frac{5}{2}}} (\chi_{1} - \chi_{2} + 2\tan(ns)\chi_{3})$$

Definition 3.3. Let $\alpha = \alpha(s)$ be a curve and $\{T, T_T, T \land T_T\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $T(T \land T_T)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$\alpha_2(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (T + (T \wedge T_T)). \tag{3.4}$$

According to equation (2.4) we can parameterize the $\alpha_2(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\alpha_2(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(-\cos(s)(\cos(ns) - \sin(ns)) + n\sin(s)(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)), \\ \sin(s)(\cos(ns) - \sin(ns)) - n\cos(s)(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)), -\frac{n}{m}(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) \Big)$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.2)



Figure 3.2: $T(T \land T_T)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.4. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\alpha_2}$ according to $\alpha_2(s)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$K_g^{\alpha_2} = \frac{\tan(ns)+1}{\tan(ns)}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of (3.4) and from the equation (2.3) we get,

$$(T_T)_{\alpha_2} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (T_T - \frac{1}{\tan(ns)} T_T),$$
 (3.5)

if we take the norm of (3.5), $\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\tan(ns) - 1}{\tan(ns)\sqrt{2}}$ we have, We obtain the tangent of $\alpha_2(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_T)_{\alpha_2} = T_T. \tag{3.6}$$

The derivative in the (3.6) is

$$(T_T)'_{\alpha_2} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\tan(ns) - 1} (-\tan(ns)T + (T \wedge T_T)).$$

From equations (3.4) and (3.6) we have

$$(T \wedge T_T)_{\alpha_2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(-T + (T \wedge T_T)).$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.3) is

$$K_g^{\alpha_2} = \frac{\tan(ns) + 1}{\tan(ns)}.$$

Definition 3.5. Let $\alpha = \alpha(s)$ be a curve and $\{T, T_T, T \land T_T\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $T_T(T \land T_T)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$\alpha_3(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (T_T + (T \wedge T_T)). \tag{3.7}$$

According to equation (2.4) we can parameterize the $\alpha_4(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\alpha_3(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(\cos(s)\cos(ns) + n\sin(s)\sin(ns) + \frac{n}{m}\sin(s), \sin(s)\cos(ns) - n\cos(s)\sin(ns) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(s), -\frac{n}{m}\sin(ns) + n \Big) \Big)$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.3)



Figure 3.3: $T_T(T \land T_T)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5..5]

Theorem 3.6. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\alpha_3}$ according to $\alpha_3(s)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$K_{g}^{\alpha_{3}} = \frac{\tan^{4}(ns)}{(1+2\tan^{2}(ns))^{\frac{5}{2}}} (2\chi_{4} - \tan(ns)\chi_{5} + \tan(ns)\chi_{6})$$

where the coefficients χ_4,χ_5 and χ_6 are

$$\begin{split} \chi_4 &= \frac{2}{\tan(ns)} (\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' + \frac{1}{\tan(ns)} + \frac{2}{\tan^3(ns)}, \\ \chi_5 &= -1 - (\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' - \frac{3}{\tan^2(ns)} - \frac{2}{\tan^4(ns)}, \\ \chi_6 &= -\frac{1}{\tan^2(ns)} + (\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' - \frac{2}{\tan^4(ns)}. \end{split}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of (3.7) and from the equation (2.3) we get

$$(T_T)_{\alpha_3} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (-T - \frac{1}{\tan(ns)} T_T + \frac{1}{\tan(ns)} (T \wedge T_T)),$$
(3.8)

if take the norm of (3.8) we have, $\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+2}}{\tan(ns)\sqrt{2}}$. We obtain the tangent of $\alpha_3(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_T)_{\alpha_3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 2}} (-\tan(ns)T - T_T + (T \wedge T_T)).$$
(3.9)

The derivative of (3.9) is

$$(T_T)'_{\alpha_3} = \frac{\tan^4(ns)\sqrt{2}}{(\tan^2(ns)+2)^2}(\chi_4 T + \chi_5 T_T + \chi_6(T \wedge T_T)).$$

From equations (3.7) and (3.9) we have

$$(T \wedge T_T)_{\alpha_3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(\tan^2(ns)+2)}} (2T - \tan(ns)T_T + \tan(ns)(T \wedge T_T))$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.3) is

$$K_g^{\alpha_3} = \frac{\tan^4(ns)}{(1+2\tan^2(ns))^{\frac{5}{2}}} (2\chi_4 - \tan(ns)\chi_5 + \tan(ns)\chi_6).$$

Definition 3.7. Let $\alpha = \alpha(s)$ be a curve and $\{T, T_T, T \land T_T\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $TT_T(T \land T_T)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$\alpha_4(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (T + T_T + (T \wedge T_T)). \tag{3.10}$$

According to equation (2.4) we can parameterize the $\alpha_1(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\alpha_4(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Big(\cos(s)(\cos(ns) - \sin(ns)) + n\sin(s)(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) + \frac{n}{m}\sin(s), \\ \sin(s)(\cos(ns) - \sin(ns)) - n\cos(s)(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(s), -\frac{n}{m}(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) + n \Big)$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.4)



Figure 3.4: $TT_T(T \land T_T)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.8. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\alpha_4}$ according to $\alpha_4(s)$ -Smarandache curve is given as

$$K_{g}^{\alpha_{4}} = \frac{\tan^{4}(ns)\left((2-\tan(ns))\chi_{7}-(1+\tan(ns))\chi_{8}+(2\tan(ns)-1)\chi_{9}\right)}{(4\sqrt{2}(\tan^{2}(ns)-\tan(ns)+1)^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}},$$

where the coefficients χ_6, χ_7 and χ_8 are

$$\chi_7 = -(\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' + \frac{2}{\tan(ns)}(\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' - 2 + \frac{4}{\tan(ns)} - \frac{4}{\tan^2(ns)} + \frac{2}{\tan^3(ns)},$$

$$\chi_8 = -(\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' - \frac{1}{\tan(ns)}(\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' - 2 - \frac{4}{\tan^2(ns)} + \frac{2}{\tan(ns)} + \frac{2}{\tan^3(ns)} - \frac{2}{\tan^4(ns)},$$

$$\chi_9 = \frac{1}{\tan(ns)}(\frac{1}{\tan(ns)})' + \frac{2}{\tan(ns)} - \frac{4}{\tan^2(ns)} + (\frac{2}{\tan(ns)})' + \frac{4}{\tan^3(ns)} - \frac{2}{\tan^4(ns)}.$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of (3.10) and from the equation (2.3) we get,

$$(T_T)_{\alpha_4} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (-T + (1 - \frac{1}{\tan(ns)})T_T + \frac{1}{\tan(ns)}(T \wedge T_T)), \qquad (3.11)$$

if we take the norm of (3.11) we have,

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{2(\tan^2(ns) - \tan(ns) + 1)}}{\tan(ns)\sqrt{3}}.$$

We obtain the tangent of $\alpha_4(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_T)_{\alpha_4} = \frac{(-\tan(ns)T + (\tan(ns) - 1)T_T + (T \wedge T_T))}{\sqrt{2(\tan^2(ns) - \tan(ns) + 1)}}.$$
(3.12)

The derivative of (3.12) is

$$(T_T)'_{\alpha_4} = \frac{\tan^2(ns)\sqrt{3}(\chi_7 T + \chi_8 T_T + \chi_9 (T \wedge T_T))}{4(\tan^2(ns) - \tan(ns) + 1)^2}$$

From equations (3.10) and (3.12) we have

$$(T \wedge T_T)_{\alpha_4} = \frac{(-\tan(ns) + 2)T - (\tan(ns) + 1)T_T + (2\tan(ns) - 1)(T \wedge T_T)}{\sqrt{6(\tan^2(ns) - \tan(ns) + 1)}}$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.3) is

$$K_g^{\alpha_4} = \frac{\tan^4(ns)\left((2-\tan(ns))\chi_7 - (1+\tan(ns))\chi_8 + (2\tan(ns)-1)\chi_9\right)}{(4\sqrt{2}(\tan^2(ns) - \tan(ns) + 1)^2)^{\frac{5}{2}}}.$$

Definition 3.9. Let $\delta = \delta(s)$ be a curve and $\{N, T_N, N \land T_N\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then NT_N -Smarandache curve is given by

$$\delta_1(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(N+T_N).$$

According to equation (2.6) we can parameterize the $\delta_1(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\begin{split} \delta_1(s) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(-\frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} (-\cos(s)\sin(ns) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns)) + \frac{n\sin(s)}{m} - \cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns), \\ &-\sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns) - \frac{n\cos(s)}{m} - \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} (-\sin(s)\sin(ns) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns)), \\ &\frac{n\tan(ns)}{m\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\cos(ns) + n \Big). \end{split}$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.5)



Figure 3.5: *NT_N*-Smarandache Curves , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.10. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\delta_1}$ according to $\delta_1(s)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$K_{g}^{\delta_{1}} = \frac{(1 + \tan^{2}(ns))\left(-\tan(ns)'\chi_{10} + \tan(ns)'\chi_{11} + 2\sqrt{\tan^{2}(ns) + 1}\chi_{12}\right)}{(2\sqrt{1 + \tan^{2}(ns)} - (\tan(ns)')^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}},$$

where the coefficients χ_{10} , χ_{11} and χ_{12} are

$$\begin{split} \chi_{10} &= -2 - (\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^2 + \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} (\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})', \\ \chi_{11} &= -2 - \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} (\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})' - 3(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^2 - (\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^4, \\ \chi_{12} &= \frac{-2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} + 2(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})' + (\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^3. \end{split}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of equation (3.13) and from the equation (2.5) we have

$$(T_N)_{\delta_l} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (-N + T_N + \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (N \wedge T_N)), \tag{3.13}$$

if we take the norm of equation (3.13) we get

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{2(1 + \tan^2(ns)) - (\tan(ns)')^2}}{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{1 + \tan^2(ns)}}$$

We obtain the tangent of $\delta_1(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

(

$$(T_N)_{\delta_1} = \frac{-\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} N + \sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} T_N - \tan(ns)'(N \wedge T_N)}{\sqrt{2(1 + \tan^2(ns)) - (\tan(ns)')^2}}.$$
(3.14)

The derivative of (3.13) is

$$T_N)'_{\delta_1} = \frac{(\tan^2(ns)+1)\sqrt{2}(\chi_{10}N+\chi_{11}T_N+\chi_{12}(N\wedge T_N))}{(2(\tan^2(ns)+1)-(\tan(ns)')^2)^2}$$

From equations (3.13) and (3.14) we have

$$(N \wedge T_N)_{\delta_1} = \frac{(1 + \tan^2(ns))^4 (-\tan(ns)'(N - T_N) + 2\sqrt{1 + \tan^2(ns)}(N \wedge T_N))}{\sqrt{2(2(1 + \tan^2(ns)) - (\tan(ns)')^2)}}.$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.5) is

$$K_{g}^{\delta_{l}} = \frac{(1 + \tan^{2}(ns)) \left(-\tan(ns)' \chi_{10} + \tan(ns)' \chi_{11} + 2\sqrt{\tan^{2}(ns) + 1} \chi_{12}\right)}{(2\sqrt{1 + \tan^{2}(ns)} - (\tan(ns)')^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}}.$$

Definition 3.11. Let $\delta = \delta(s)$ be a curve and $\{N, T_N, N \wedge T_N\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $N(N \wedge T_N)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$\delta_2(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (N + (N \wedge T_N)). \tag{3.15}$$

According to equation (2.6) we can parameterize the $\delta_2(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\begin{split} \delta_2(s) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(\frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns)) - \cos(s)\sin(ns) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns) + \frac{n\sin(s)}{m} \\ &+ \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns)) - \sin(s)\sin(ns) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns) - \frac{n\cos(s)}{m}, \\ &\frac{n\tan(ns)}{m\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}}\sin(ns) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(ns) + n\Big). \end{split}$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.6)



Figure 3.6: $N(N \wedge T_N)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.12. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\delta_2}$ according to $\delta_2(s)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$K_g^{\delta_2} = \frac{\sqrt{\tan(ns)^2 + 1 - \tan(ns)^2}}{\sqrt{\tan(ns)^2 + 1}}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of equation (3.15) and from the equation (2.5) we get

$$(T_N)_{\delta_2} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (T_N - \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} T_N), \tag{3.16}$$

if we take the norm of equation (3.16) we have

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{\tan(ns)^2 + 1 + \tan(ns)'}}{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{\tan(ns)^2 + 1}}$$

We obtain the tangent of $\delta_2(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_N)_{\delta_2} = T_N. \tag{3.17}$$

The derivative of (3.17) is

$$(T_N)'_{\delta_2} = \frac{\sqrt{2}(-\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}N - \tan(ns)'(N \wedge T_N))}{\sqrt{\tan(ns)^2 + 1} + \tan(ns)'}.$$

From equations (3.15) and (3.17) we have

$$(N \wedge T_N)_{\delta_2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(-N + (N \wedge T_N))$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.5) is

$$K_g^{\delta_2} = rac{\sqrt{ an(ns)^2 + 1 - an(ns)'}}{\sqrt{ an(ns)^2 + 1}}.$$

Definition 3.13. Let $\delta = \delta(s)$ be a curve and $\{N, T_N, N \wedge T_N\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $T_N(N \wedge T_N)$ -Smarandache curve ($\delta_3(s)$ -Smarandache curve) is given by

$$\delta_3(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (T_N + (N \wedge T_N)). \tag{3.18}$$

According to equation (2.6) we can parameterize the $\delta_3(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\begin{split} \delta_3(s) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns) - \cos(s)\sin(ns) + \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns)) \\ &- \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\cos(s)\sin(ns) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns)) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns), -\sin(s)\sin(ns) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns) \\ &- \sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns) + \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns)) \\ &- \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\sin(s)\sin(ns) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns)), \frac{n\tan(ns)}{n\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(ns) \Big) \end{split}$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.7)



Figure 3.7: $T_N(N \wedge TN)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.14. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\delta_3}$ according to $\delta_3(s)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$K_{g}^{\delta_{3}} = \frac{(\tan^{2}(ns)+1)^{4}((-2\tan(ns)')\chi_{13}-\sqrt{\tan(ns)^{2}+1(\chi_{14}-\chi_{15}))}}{(1+\tan^{2}(ns)+(-\tan(ns)')^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}},$$

where the coefficients $\chi_{13},\,\chi_{14}$ and χ_{15} are

$$\begin{split} \chi_{13} &= 2 \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} (\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})' + \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} + 2(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^3, \\ \chi_{14} &= -1 - (\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})' - (\frac{-3\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^2 - (\frac{-2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^4, \\ \chi_{15} &= -(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^2 + (\frac{-2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})' - (\frac{-2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}})^4. \end{split}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of equation (3.18) and from the equation (2.5) we get

$$(T_N)_{\delta_3} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(-N - \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} T_N + \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (N \wedge T_N) \right), \tag{3.19}$$

if we take the norm of equation (3.19) we have

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{1 + \tan^2(ns) + 2(-\tan(ns)')^2}}{\sqrt{2}\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}}$$

We obtain the tangent of $\delta_3(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_N)_{\delta_3} = \frac{-\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}N + \tan(ns)'T_N - \tan(ns)'(N \wedge T_N)}{\sqrt{1 + \tan^2(ns) + 2(-\tan(ns)')^2}}.$$
(3.20)

The derivative of (3.20) is

$$(T_N)'_{\delta_3} = \frac{\sqrt{2}(\tan^2(ns)+1)^2}{(1+\tan^2(ns)+2(-\tan(ns)')^2)^2}(\chi_{13}N+\chi_{14}T_N+\chi_{15}(N\wedge T_N)).$$

From equations (3.18) and (3.20) we have

$$(N \wedge T_N)_{\delta_3} = \frac{(-2\tan(ns)'N - \sqrt{1 + \tan^2(ns)}T_N + \sqrt{1 + \tan^2(ns)}(N \wedge T_N))}{\sqrt{2(1 + \tan^2(ns) + 2(-\tan(ns)')^2)}}.$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.5) is

$$K_{g}^{\delta_{3}} = \frac{(\tan^{2}(ns)+1)^{4}((-2\tan(ns)')\chi_{13}-\sqrt{\tan(ns)^{2}+1(\chi_{14}-\chi_{15}))}}{(1+\tan^{2}(ns)+(-\tan(ns)')^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}}.$$

Definition 3.15. Let $\delta = \delta(s)$ be a curve and $\{N, T_N, N \wedge T_N\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $NT_N(N \wedge T_N)$ -Smarandache curve ($\delta_4(s)$ -Smarandache curve) is given by

$$\delta_4(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (N + T_N + (N \wedge T_N)). \tag{3.21}$$

According to equation (2.6) we can parameterize the $\delta_4(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\begin{split} \delta_4(s) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Big(-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns) - \cos(s)\sin(ns) + \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns)) + \frac{n\sin(s)}{m} \\ &- \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\cos(s)\sin(ns) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns)) + n\sin(s)\cos(ns), -\sin(s)\sin(ns) \\ &+ \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns)) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns) - \sin(s)\cos(ns) + n\cos(s)\sin(ns) \\ &- \frac{\tan(ns)}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (-\sin(s)\sin(ns) - n\cos(s)\cos(ns)) - \frac{n\cos(s)}{m}, \frac{n\tan(ns)}{m\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(ns) + n\Big). \end{split}$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.8)



Figure 3.8: $TT_N(T \land T_N)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.16. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\delta_4}$ according to $\delta_4(s)$ -Smarandache curve is given by

$$K_{g}^{\delta_{4}} = \frac{\left((-2\tan(ns)' - \sqrt{\tan(ns)^{2} + 1})\chi_{16} - \chi_{17}(\sqrt{\tan(ns)^{2} + 1} - \tan(ns)')\right)}{(4\sqrt{2}(1 + \tan^{2}(ns) + \sqrt{1 + \tan^{2}(ns)}\tan(ns)' + (-\tan(ns)')^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}} + \frac{(2\sqrt{\tan(ns)^{2} + 1} + \tan(ns)')\chi_{18}}{(4\sqrt{2}(1 + \tan^{2}(ns) + \sqrt{1 + \tan^{2}(ns)}\tan(ns)' + (-\tan(ns)')^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}},$$

where the coefficients χ_{16} , χ_{17} and χ_{18} are

$$\begin{split} \chi_{16} &= \left(\frac{\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)' + \frac{-2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} \left(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)' - 2 + \frac{-4\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} + \left(\frac{4\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{-2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)^3, \\ \chi_{17} &= -\left(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)' - \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} \left(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)' - 2 + \left(\frac{4\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)^2 - \frac{2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} - \left(\frac{2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)^3 \\ &+ \left(\frac{2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)^4, \\ \chi_{18} &= \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} \left(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)' + \frac{-2\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}} - 4\left(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)^2 + 2\left(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)' + 4\left(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)^3 \\ &- 2\left(\frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns)+1}}\right)^4. \end{split}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of equation (3.21) and from the equation (2.5) we have

$$(T_N)_{\delta_4} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left(-N + \left(1 - \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}}\right) T_N + \frac{-\tan(ns)'}{\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}} (N \wedge T_N) \right), \tag{3.22}$$

if we take the norm of equation (3.22) we get

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{2(1 + \tan^2(ns) + \tan(ns)'\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} + (-\tan(ns)')^2)}}{\sqrt{3}\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}}.$$

We obtain the tangent of $\delta_4(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_N)_{\delta_4} = \frac{-\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1}N + (\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} + \tan(ns)')T_N - \tan(ns)'(N \wedge T_N)}{\sqrt{2(1 + \tan^2(ns) + \tan(ns)'\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} + (-\tan(ns)')^2)}}.$$
(3.23)

The derivative of (3.23) is

$$(T_N)'_{\delta_4} = \frac{\sqrt{3}(\chi_{16}N + \chi_{17}T_N + \chi_{18}(N \wedge T_N))}{4(1 + \tan^2(ns) + \tan(ns)'\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} + (-\tan(ns)')^2)^2}$$

From equations (3.21) and (3.23) we have

$$\begin{split} (N \wedge T_N)_{\delta_4} &= \frac{(-(\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} + 2\tan(ns)')N - (\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} - \tan(ns)')T_N)}{\sqrt{6(1 + \tan^2(ns) + \tan(ns)'\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} + (-\tan(ns)')^2)}} \\ &+ \frac{(2\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} + \tan(ns)')(N \wedge T_N)}{\sqrt{6(1 + \tan^2(ns) + \tan(ns)'\sqrt{\tan^2(ns) + 1} + (-\tan(ns)')^2)}}. \end{split}$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.5) is

$$K_{g}^{\delta_{4}} = \frac{\left((-2\tan(ns)' - \sqrt{\tan(ns)^{2} + 1})\chi_{16} - \chi_{17}(\sqrt{\tan(ns)^{2} + 1} - \tan(ns)')\right)}{(4\sqrt{2}(1 + \tan^{2}(ns) + \sqrt{1 + \tan^{2}(ns)}\tan(ns)' + (-\tan(ns)')^{2})^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}}$$

$$+\frac{(2\sqrt{\tan(ns)^2+1+\tan(ns)'})\chi_{18}}{(4\sqrt{2}(1+\tan^2(ns)+\sqrt{1+\tan^2(ns)}\tan(ns)'+(-\tan(ns)')^2)^2)^{\frac{5}{2}}}.$$

Definition 3.17. Let $\zeta = \zeta(s)$ be a curve and $\{B, T_B, B \wedge T_B\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then BT_B -Smarandache curve ($\zeta_1(s)$ -Smarandache curve) is given by

$$\zeta_1(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(B+T_B). \tag{3.24}$$

According to equation (2.8) we can parameterize the $\zeta_1(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\zeta_1(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(-\cos(s)\cos(ns) - n\sin(s)\sin(ns) + \frac{n}{m}\sin(s), -\sin(s)\cos(ns) - n\cos(s)\sin(ns) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(s), \frac{n}{m}\sin(ns) + n \right)$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.9)



Figure 3.9: $BT_B(B \wedge T_B)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.18. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\zeta_1}$ according to $\zeta_1(s)$ -Smarandache curve is

$$K_{g}^{\zeta_{1}} = \frac{1}{(2 + (\tan(ns))^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}} \left(\chi_{19} \tan(ns) - \chi_{20} \tan(ns) + 2\chi_{21} \right),$$

where the coefficients χ_{19} , χ_{20} and χ_{21} are

$$\begin{array}{lll} \chi_{19} &=& -2 - \tan^2(ns) + \tan(ns)\tan(ns)', \\ \chi_{20} &=& -2 - \tan(ns)\tan(ns)' - 3\tan^2(ns) - \tan^4(ns), \\ \chi_{21} &=& 2\tan(ns) + 2\tan(ns)' + \tan^3(ns). \end{array}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of equation (3.24) and from the equation (2.7) we get

$$(T_B)_{\zeta_1} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (-B + T_B + \tan(ns)(B \wedge T_B)), \qquad (3.25)$$

if we take the norm of equation (3.25) we have

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sqrt{2 + \tan^2(ns)}.$$

We obtain the tangent of $\zeta_1(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_B)_{\zeta_1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2 + \tan^2(ns)}} (-B + T_N + \tan(ns)(B \wedge T_B)).$$
(3.26)

The derivative of (3.26) is

$$(T_B)'_{\zeta_1} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(2 + \tan^2(ns))^2} (\chi_{19}B + \chi_{20}T_B + \chi_{21}(B \wedge T_B))$$

From equations (3.24) and (3.26) we have

$$(B \wedge T_B)_{\zeta_1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4 + 2\tan^2(ns)}} (\tan(ns)N - \tan(ns)T_B + 2(B \wedge T_B))$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.7) is

$$K_{g}^{\zeta_{1}} = \frac{1}{(2 + (\tan(ns))^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}} (\chi_{19} \tan(ns) - \chi_{20} \tan(ns) + 2\chi_{21})$$

112

Definition 3.19. Let $\zeta = \zeta(s)$ be a curve and $\{B, T_B, B \wedge T_B\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $B(B \wedge T_B)$ -Smarandache curve ($\zeta_2(s)$ -Smarandache curve) is given by

$$\zeta_2(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (B + (B \wedge T_B)). \tag{3.27}$$

According to equation (2.8) we can parameterize the $\zeta_2(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\zeta_2(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(-\cos(s)(\cos(ns) - \sin(ns)) - n\sin(s)(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)), -\sin(s)(\cos(ns) - \sin(ns)) + n\cos(s)(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)), -\sin(ns)) \Big) + \frac{n}{m} (\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) \Big).$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.10)



Figure 3.10: $B(B \land T_B)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.20. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\zeta_2}$ according to $\zeta_2(s)$ -Smarandache curve is

$$K_g^{\zeta_2} = 1 + \tan(ns)$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of equation (3.27) and from the equation (2.7) we get

$$(T_B)_{\zeta_2} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (T_B - \tan(ns)T_B),$$
 (3.28)

if we take the norm in equation (3.28), $\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1 - \tan(ns)}{\sqrt{2}}$. We obtain the tangent of $\zeta_2(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_B)_{\zeta_2} = T_B.$$
 (3.29)

The derivative of (3.29) is

$$(T_B)'_{\zeta_2} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = -B + \tan(ns)(B \wedge T_B)$$

From eqnarrays (3.27) and (3.29) we have

$$(B \wedge T_B)_{\zeta_2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(-B + (B \wedge T_B)).$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.7) is

$$K_g^{\zeta_2} = 1 + \tan(ns).$$

ſ		
I		
ι		

Definition 3.21. Let $\zeta = \zeta(s)$ be a curve and $\{B, T_B, B \wedge T_B\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $T_B(B \wedge T_B)$ -Smarandache curve ($\zeta_3(s)$ -Smarandache curve) is given by

$$\zeta_{3}(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (T_{B} + (B \wedge T_{B})). \tag{3.30}$$

According to equation (2.8) we can parameterize the $\zeta_3(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\zeta_3(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big(\cos(s)\sin(ns) - n\sin(s)\cos(ns) + \frac{n}{m}\sin(s), \sin(s)\sin(ns) + n\cos(s)\cos(ns) - \frac{n}{m}\cos(s), \frac{n}{m}\cos(ns) + n \Big) \Big)$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.11)



Figure 3.11: $T_B(B \wedge T_B)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.22. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\zeta_3}$ according to $\zeta_3(s)$ -Smarandache curve is

$$K_g^{\zeta_3} = \frac{1}{(1+2(\tan(ns))^2)^{\frac{5}{2}}} (2\tan(ns)\chi_{22} - \chi_{23} + \chi_{24}),$$

where the coefficients $\chi_{22}, \chi_{23}, \chi_{24}$ are

$$\begin{aligned} \chi_{22} &= 2\tan(ns)\tan(ns)' + \tan(ns) + 2\tan^3(ns), \\ \chi_{23} &= -1 - \tan(ns)' - 3\tan^2(ns) - 2\tan^4(ns), \\ \chi_{24} &= -\tan^2(ns) + 2\tan(ns)' - 2\tan^4(ns). \end{aligned}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of equation (3.30) and from the equation (2.7) we get

$$(T_B)_{\zeta_3} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (-B - \tan(ns)T_B + \tan(ns)(B \wedge T_B)), \qquad (3.31)$$

if we take the norm of equatray (3.31) we have

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sqrt{1+2\tan^2(ns)}$$

We obtain the tangent of $\zeta_3(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_B)_{\zeta_3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + 2\tan^2(ns)}} (-B - \tan(ns)T_N + \tan(ns)(B \wedge T_B)).$$
(3.32)

The derivative of (3.32) is

$$(T_B)'_{\zeta_3} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1+2\tan^2(ns))^2} (\chi_{22}B + \chi_{23}T_B + \chi_{24}(B \wedge T_B)).$$

From equations (3.30) and (3.32) we have

$$(B \wedge T_B)_{\zeta_3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2+4\tan^2(ns)}} (2\tan(ns)B - T_B + (B \wedge T_B)).$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.7) is

$$K_{g}^{\zeta_{3}} = \frac{1}{(1+2(\tan(ns))^{2})^{\frac{5}{2}}} (2\tan(ns)\chi_{22} - \chi_{23} + \chi_{24})$$

Definition 3.23. Let $\zeta = \zeta(s)$ be a curve and $\{B, T_B, B \wedge T_B\}$ be Sabban frame of this curve. Then $BT_B(B \wedge T_B)$ -Smarandache curve ($\zeta_4(s)$ -Smarandache curve) is given by

$$\zeta_4(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (B + T_B + (B \wedge T_B)).$$
(3.33)

According to equation (2.8) we can parameterize the $\zeta_4(s)$ -Smarandache curve as in the following form

$$\zeta_4(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Big(-\cos(s)(\cos(ns) - \sin(ns)) - n\sin(s)(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) + \frac{n}{m}\sin(s), -\sin(s)(\cos(ns) - \sin(ns)) + n\cos(s)(\cos(ns) + \sin(ns)) + n\cos(s) + n\cos(s)) + n\cos(s) + n\sin(s) + n\cos(s) + n\sin(s)) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s)) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s)) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s) + n\sin(s$$

The shape of this curve is given in Figure (3.12)



Figure 3.12: $BT_B(B \land T_B)$ -Smarandache Curve , $m = \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{5}, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{1}{16}$ and s = [-5, 5]

Theorem 3.24. The geodesic curvature $K_g^{\zeta_4}$ according to $\zeta_4(s)$ -Smarandache curve is

$$K_g^{\zeta_4} = \frac{(\chi_{25}(2\tan(ns)-1) + \chi_{26}(-1-\tan(ns)) + \chi_{27}(2-\tan(ns))))}{(4\sqrt{2}(1-\tan(ns) + \tan^2(ns))^2)^{\frac{5}{2}}}$$

where the coefficients χ_{25} , χ_{26} , χ_{27} are

$$\begin{split} \chi_{25} &= -\tan(ns)' + 2\tan(ns)\tan(ns)' - 2 + 4\tan(ns) - 4\tan^2(ns) \\ &+ 2\tan^3(ns), \\ \chi_{26} &= -\tan(ns)' - \tan(ns)\tan(ns)' - 2 - 4\tan^2(ns) + 2\tan(ns) \\ &+ 2\tan^3(ns) - 2\tan^4(ns), \\ \chi_{27} &= \tan(ns)\tan(ns)' + 2\tan(ns) - 4\tan^2(ns) + 2\tan(ns)' + 4\tan^3(ns) \\ &- 2\tan^4(ns). \end{split}$$

Proof. If we take the derivative of equation (3.33) and from the equation (2.7) we have

$$(T_B)_{\zeta_4} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (-B + (1 - \tan(ns))T_B + \tan(ns)(B \wedge T_B)), \tag{3.34}$$

if we take the norm of equation (3.34)

$$\frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\sqrt{2(1-\tan(ns)+\tan^2(ns))}.$$

We obtain the tangent of $\zeta_4(s)$ -Smarandahce curve as in

$$(T_B)_{\zeta_4} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(1 - \tan(ns) + \tan^2(ns))}} (-B + (1 - \tan(ns))T_B + \tan(ns)(B \wedge T_B)).$$
(3.35)

The derivative of (3.35) is

$$(T_B)'_{\zeta_3} \cdot \frac{ds^*}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4(1 - \tan(ns) + \tan^2(ns))^2} (\chi_{25}B + \chi_{26}T_B + \chi_{27}(B \wedge T_B)).$$

From equations (3.33) and (3.35) we have

$$(B \wedge T_B)_{\zeta_4} = \frac{((-1 + 2\tan(ns))B + (-1 - \tan(ns))T_B + (2 - \tan(ns))(B \wedge T_B))}{\sqrt{6(1 - \tan(ns) + \tan^2(ns))}}$$

So the geodesic curvature from the equation (2.7) is

$$K_g^{\zeta_4} = \frac{(\chi_{25}(2\tan(ns)-1) + \chi_{26}(-1-\tan(ns)) + \chi_{27}(2-\tan(ns))))}{(4\sqrt{2}(1-\tan(ns) + \tan(ns)^2)^2)^{\frac{5}{2}}}.$$

Acknowledgement

This research is supported by Ordu University Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit (BAP). Project Number: B-1829

References

- [1] E. Salkowski, Zur transformation von raumkurven, Math. Ann., 4(66) (1909), 517–557.
- [2] J. Monterde, Salkowski curves revisited: A family of curves with constant curvature and non-constant torsion, Comput. Aided Geom. Design, 26 (2009), 271–278.
 [3] A. T. Ali, Spacelike Salkowski and anti-Salkowski curves with a spacelike principal normal in Minkowski 3-space, Int. J. Open Problems Compt. Math.,
- [3] A. I. Ali, Spacelike Salkowski and anti-Salkowski curves with a spacelike principal normal in Minkowski 3-space, Int. J. Open Problems Compt. Math., 2(3) (2009), 451-460.
- [4] A. T. Ali, *Timelike Salkowski curves in Minkowski* E₁³, JARDCS, **2**(1) (2010), 17-26.
- [5] S. Gür, S. Şenyurt, Frenet vectors and geodesic curvatures of spheric indicators of Salkowski curve in E3, Hadronic J., 33(5) (2010), 485.
- [6] S. Şenyurt, B. Öztürk, Smarandache curves of Salkowski curve according to Frenet frame, Turk. J. Math. Comput. Sci., 10(2018), 190-201.
- [7] S. Şenyurt, B. Öztürk, *Smarandache curves of anti-Salkowski curve according to Frenet frame*, Proceedings of the International Conference on Mathematical Studies and Applications (ICMSA 2018), (2018), 132-143.
- [8] M. Turgut, S. Yılmaz, Smarandache curves in Minkowski spacetime, Int. J. Math. Comb., 3 (2008), 51–55.
 [9] A. T. Ali, Special Smarandache curves in the Euclidean space, Int. J. Math. Comb., 2 (2010), 30–36.
- [10] S. Şenyurt, A. Çalışkan, N*C*-Smarandache curves of Mannheim curve couple according to Frenet frame, Int. J. Math. Comb., 1 (2015), 1-15.
- [11] S. Şenyurt, B. Öztürk, anti-Salkowski eğrisine ait Frenet vektörlerinden elde edilen Smarandache eğrileri, Karadeniz 1. Uluslararası Multidisipliner
- [11] J. Schrift, B. Ozdark, anti-Sakowski egitsine at Frence velo Çalışmalar Kongresi, Giresun, (2019), 463-471.
 [12] J. Koenderink, *Solid Shape*, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, 1990.
- [13] K. Taşköprü, M. Tosun, Smarandache curves according to Sabban frame on S2, Bol. Soc. Paran. Mat., 32 (2014), 51-59.
- [14] M. P. Do Carmo, Differential Geometry of Curves and Surfaces: Revised and Updated Second Edition, Courier Dover Publications, 2016.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.633905



Two-Grid Iterative Method for a Class of Fredholm Functional Integral Equations based on the Radial Basis Function Interpolation

Qisheng Wang^{1*} and Huimin Zhou¹

¹School of Mathematics and Computational Science, Wuyi University, Jiangmen, Guangdong, P.R. China *Corresponding author E-mail: 282228006@qq.com

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Fredholm functional inte- gral equations, The radial basis func- tion interpolation, Two-grid iterative method 2010 AMS: 65D30, 45D05, 45G10 Received: 16 October 2019 Accepted: 08 December 2019 Available online: 20 December 2019	In this paper, we discuss a two-grid iterative method for solving a class of Fredholm functional integral equations based on the radial basis function interpolation. Firstly, the existence and uniqueness of the solution are proved by Banach fixed point theorem. Secondly, the algorithm and convergence analysis of the radial basis function approximation method is given on the coarse grid. Thirdly, the fine grid iterative solution and convergence results are obtained. Finally, the validity and reliability of the theoretical analysis are verified by two numerical experiments.

1. Introduction

Integral equations are widely used in quantum physics, engineering design, astronomy, geography, biomedicine and other fields, so it is of great application value to explore the solution of integral equations.

For a long time, the algorithms of integral equations have been widely concerned and studied. Many different methods have been used to approximate the solutions of some integral equations [1, 2]. In recent years, F.Muller and W.Varnhorn [3] have studied approximation and numerical solution of Fredholm integral equations of second kind using quasi-interpolation. Some convergence analysis for 2-dimensional Fredholm integral equations were discussed in [5]. Chelyshkov collocation approach was developed in [6] for solving linear weakly singular Volterra integral equations. In addition, we know that the computational complexity of numerical integral discretization depends on the diameter *h* of mesh generation. The calculated workload is usually $O(n^3)$, where n = 1/h. Therefore, the construction of a suitable two-grid algorithm can solve the difficulty of computational complexity. Two-grid method is a discretization technique based on two meshes of different sizes, which has been concerned by many researchers [7]-[10] for a long time. Therefore, it is very necessary to enrich the efficient algorithms of different types of integral equations.

In this paper, we consider the following as a class of Fredholm functional integral equations

$$u(x) - A(x)u(\alpha(x)) = f(x) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)u(s)ds, \ x \in \Omega,$$
(1.1)

where Ω is the bounded closed area in \mathbb{R}^d , d = 1, 2, 3, $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_d)$, $s = (s_1, s_2, \dots, s_d)$, $\alpha(x) = (\alpha_1(x), \alpha_2(x), \dots, \alpha_d(x))$, and $A(x), \alpha(x), f(x), k(x, s)$ are properly smooth known functions, $u(x) \in \mathbb{R}$ is the unknown function.

The contents of this article are as follows. Section 2 contains the proofs of the existence and uniqueness of the exact solution for (1.1). In section 3, we discuss the radial basis function approximation method and convergence results on the coarse grid for (1.1). Section 4, is devoted to the two-grid iterative method and convergence results on the fine grid for (1.1). In the last section, the correctness of the theory is proved by two numerical examples.

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: 282228006@qq.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6254-2938 (Q. Wang), 1303943677@qq.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3078-7652 (H. Zhou)

2. The existence and uniqueness of solution

In this section, the conditions which provides the existence and uniqueness of exact solution of (1.1) are given by using Banach fixed point theorem.

Theorem 2.1. Assume that Ω is a suitable Banach space and $A(x), \alpha(x), f(x) \in C(\Omega), k(x,s) \in C(\Omega \times \Omega)$. If the following conditions are satisfied

$$\begin{array}{l} (i)\alpha(x) \in \Omega, & for \ x \in \Omega, \\ (ii)\|A(x)\|_{\infty} + |\lambda| \cdot \|\int_{\Omega} |k(x,s)| ds \|_{\infty} = \gamma < 1 \end{array}$$

where $\|\cdot\|_{\infty} = \max |\cdot|$. Then the (1.1) has a unique solution.

Proof. Let *T* be a mapping from $C(\Omega)$ to $C(\Omega)$ with

$$Tu(x) = A(x)u(\alpha(x)) + f(x) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)u(s)ds,$$

for $u \in C(\Omega)$. Let u_1, u_2 be two solutions of (1.1), then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|Tu_1 - Tu_2\|_{\infty} &= \|A(x)[u_1(\alpha(x)) - u_2(\alpha(x))] + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)[u_1(s) - u_2(s)]ds\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq (\|A(x)\|_{\infty} + |\lambda| \cdot \|\int_{\Omega} |k(x,s)|ds\|_{\infty}) \cdot \|u_1 - u_2\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \gamma \cdot \|u_1 - u_2\|_{\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

Note that $0 < \gamma < 1$, by the Banach fixed point theorem, then T is a contractive mapping on $(C(\Omega), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$. So there exists the unique solution $u^* \in C(\Omega)$ such that $Tu^* = u^*$, and (1.1) has a unique solution.

3. The radial basis function interpolation and convergence on the coarse grid

In this section, we give the algorithm of the radial basis function interpolation for (1.1), and obtain the convergence theorem in the infinite norm sense.

First of all, Assume $\{x^i\}_{i=1}^m, x^i = (x_1^i, x_2^i, \dots, x_d^i) \in \Omega$ is a series of irregular observation points of u(x) on Ω , and let the basis of the radial basis function is $\varphi_1(x), \varphi_2(x), \dots, \varphi_m(x)$, where $\varphi_i(x) = \varphi(||x - x^i||_2), i = 1, 2, \dots, m$. Note that $r = ||x - x^i||_2$. There are three common radial basis functions (see [11]):

(1)Gaussian distribution function $\varphi(r) = e^{-a^2r^2}$;

(2)MQ function $\varphi(r) = (c^2 + r^2)^b$ and IMQ function $\varphi(r) = (c^2 + r^2)^{-b}(b > 0)$; (3)Thin plate splines function $\varphi(r) = r^{2k-d} logr$.

Now, we construct vector space $V_m(\Omega) = span\{\varphi_1(x), \varphi_2(x), \dots, \varphi_m(x)\}$. And let the radial basis function interpolation $u_m^I(x) = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(x) \in U_m^I(\Omega)$

 V_m , satisfying $u_m^I(x^i) = u(x^i), i = 1, 2, \cdots, m$. From [11], we can get the following error estimation between the radial basis function and the exact solution:

$$\|u(x) - u_m^I(x)\|_{\infty} \le ch^{\frac{e}{2}}$$

where $h = \sup_{x \in \Omega} \min_{1 \le i \le m} ||x - x^i||$.

Therefore, let $u(x) = u_m^I(x) + \varepsilon_m(x)$ where $\varepsilon_m(x)$ is the interpolation remainder of u(x) on $V_m(\Omega)$. Then we can obtain

$$u_m^I(x) + \varepsilon_m(x) - A(x)[u_m^I(\alpha(x)) + \varepsilon_m(\alpha(x))] = f(x) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)[u_m^I(s) + \varepsilon_m(s)]ds.$$
(3.1)

Ignore the error terms $\varepsilon_m(x)$ and $\varepsilon_m(\alpha(x))$ and substitute $u_m^I(x) = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(x)$ into (3.1), we get the approximate equation of (1.1):

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \varphi_i(x) - A(x) \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \varphi_i(\alpha(x)) = f(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s) \varphi_i(s) ds.$$

Remove the items then we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i[\varphi_i(x) - A(x)\varphi_i(\alpha(x)) - \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)\varphi_i(s)ds] = f(x).$$
(3.2)

Let $\psi_i(x) = \varphi_i(x) - A(x)\varphi_i(\alpha(x)) - \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)\varphi_i(s)ds$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$, then (3.2) can be written as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \psi_i(x) = f(x).$$
(3.3)

Since $\varphi_1(x), \varphi_2(x), \dots, \varphi_m(x)$ are linear independent functions on $V_m(\Omega)$ and satisfies the condition of Theorem 2.1, which implies $\psi_1(x), \psi_2(x), \dots, \psi_m(x)$ are also linear independent functions on $V_m(\Omega)$. Here's the proof. Because

$$\sum_{i=1}^m c_i \psi_i(x) = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(x) - A(x) \sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(\alpha(x)) - \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s) \sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(s) ds,$$

and

$$\|\sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(\alpha(x))\|_{\infty} \le \|\sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(x)\|_{\infty}, \ \alpha(x) \in \Omega$$

From Theorem 2.1 and trigonometric inequality we can get

$$(1-\gamma) \cdot \|\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \varphi_i(x)\|_{\infty} \le \|\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \psi_i(x)\|_{\infty} \le (1+\gamma) \cdot \|\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \varphi_i(x)\|_{\infty}$$
(3.4)

For $x \in \Omega$, assume that $\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \psi_i(x) = 0$, then we obtain $\|\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \psi_i(x)\|_{\infty} = 0$. From (3.4) we have $\|\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \varphi_i(x)\|_{\infty} = 0$. Therefore,

$$\sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(x) = 0.$$

And because $\varphi_1(x), \varphi_2(x), \dots, \varphi_m(x)$ are linear independent functions on $V_m(\Omega)$, so

$$c_1=c_2=\cdots=c_n=0.$$

The proof is complete.

(3.3) take the collocation points $x = x^j = (x_1^j, x_2^j, \dots, x_d^j), j = 1, 2, \dots, m$, then we get $\sum_{i=1}^m c_i \psi_i(x^j) = f(x^j)$. Written in matrix form is

$$G_m \cdot C_m = F_m,$$

where $C_m = (c_1, c_2, \dots, c_m)^T$, $F_m = (f(x^1), f(x^2), \dots, f(x^m))^T$, $G_m = (g_{ij})_{m \times m}$, $g_{ij} = \psi_i(x^j)$, $i, j = 1, 2, \dots, m$. Let G_m is a nonsingular matrix, then G_m^{-1} exists. So there is

$$C_m^* = G_m^{-1} \cdot F_m = (c_1^*, c_2^*, \cdots, c_m^*)^T.$$

Therefore, $u_m^*(x) = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i^* \varphi_i(x)$ is called the approximate solution of radial basis function of (1.1).

Theorem 3.1. Assume that u(x) is the exact solution and $u_m^*(x)$ is the approximate solution of radial basis function, then

$$\|u-u_m^*\|_{\infty} \leq ch^{\frac{e}{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^m \|\varphi_i(x)\|_{\infty} \cdot \|G_m^{-1}\|_{\infty} \cdot \|R_m(\varepsilon)\|_{\infty},$$

where $R_m(\varepsilon) = -\varepsilon_m(x) + A(x)\varepsilon_m(\alpha(x)) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)\varepsilon(s)ds$, and for $\forall x \in \Omega$, we have

$$\lim_{h \to 0} u_m^*(x) = u(x).$$

Proof. For (3.1) and $u_m^I(x) = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i \varphi_i(x)$, we can get

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \varphi_i(x) + \varepsilon_m(x) - A(x) [\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \varphi_i(\alpha(x)) + \varepsilon_m(\alpha(x))] = f(x) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s) [\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \varphi_i(s) + \varepsilon_m(s)] ds$$

abbreviated in the following form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \psi_i(x) = f(x) + [-\varepsilon_m(x) + A(x)\varepsilon_m(\alpha(x)) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)\varepsilon_m(s)ds].$$

Now we write down the above equation as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \psi_i(x) = f(x) + R_m(\varepsilon),$$

where $R_m(\varepsilon) = -\varepsilon_m(x) + A(x)\varepsilon_m(\alpha(x)) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)\varepsilon_m(s)ds$. The corresponding matrix form is

$$G_m \cdot C_m = F_m + R_m(\varepsilon). \tag{3.6}$$

Subtracting (3.5) from (3.6) to get $G_m(C_m - C_m^*) = R_m(\varepsilon)$, so

$$\|C_m - C_m^*\|_{\infty} \leq \|G_m^{-1}\|_{\infty} \cdot \|R_m(\varepsilon)\|_{\infty}.$$

Then for

$$\begin{split} \|u - u_m^*\|_{\infty} &= \|u - u_m^I + u_m^I - u_m^*\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|u - u_m^I\|_{\infty} + \|u_m^I - u_m^*\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq ch^{\frac{e}{2}} + \|\sum_{i=1}^m (c_i - c_i^*)\varphi_i(x)\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq ch^{\frac{e}{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^m |c_i - c_i^*|\|\varphi_i(x)\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq ch^{\frac{e}{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^m |\varphi_i(x)\|_{\infty} \cdot \|G_m^{-1}\|_{\infty} \cdot \|R_m(\varepsilon)\|_{\infty} \end{split}$$

Since $||R_m(\varepsilon)||_{\infty} \to 0$, $||u - u_m^*||_{\infty} \to 0$.

(3.5)

4. Two-grid iterative method and convergence analysis

As we all know, for the discretization of numerical integration of (1.1), the computational complexity depends on the diameter *h* of mesh subdivision, and the workload of numerical calculation is usually $O(n^3)$, where n = 1/h. Therefore, computational complexity can be well solved by constructing an appropriate two-layer grid algorithm.

In this section, a new fixed point iterative approximation method is introduced in three steps to obtain two-grid iterative solution on the fine grid. The iterative algorithm is as follows

Algorithm 1.

Step 1. Select a series of irregular observation points of u(x) on the fine grid as $(y^1, y^2, \dots, y^n), y^i = (y_1^i, y_2^i, \dots, y_d^i), i = 1, 2, \dots, n, d = 1, 2 \text{ or } 3.$

Step 2. Approximate solution of Radial basis function on the fine grid is

$$u_n^{(0)}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n l_i \Phi_i(x),$$

where $\Phi_i(x) = \varphi(||x - y^i||), i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$

Step 3. Take the initial value $u_n^{(0)}(x) = u_m^*(x)$ and construct iterative scheme

$$u_n^{(k+1)}(x) = A(x)u_n^{(k)}(\alpha(x)) + f(x) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)u_n^{(k)}(s)ds, \quad k = 0, 1, 2, \cdots.$$
(4.1)

The error estimation and convergence results between the fine grid approximate solution of radial basis function $u_n^I(x)$ and the two-grid iterative solution $u_n^{(k+1)}(x)$ are given below.

Theorem 4.1. Let $u_n^I(x)$ is the fine grid approximate solution of radial basis function and $u_n^{(k+1)}(x)$ is the (k+1)th iterative solution determined by (4.1), then

$$||u_n^I(x) - u_n^{(k+1)}(x)||_{\infty} \le \gamma^{k+1} \cdot ||u_n(x) - u_n^{(0)}(x)||_{\infty},$$

where $\gamma < 1$ as in Theorem 2.1. For $\forall x \in \Omega$, there holds

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} u_n^{(k)}(x) = u_n^I(x).$$

Proof. Replace $u_n^I(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \varphi_i(x)$ in (1.1) and get

$$u_n^I(x) = A(x)u_n^I(\alpha(x)) + f(x) + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)u_n^I(s)ds.$$

$$(4.2)$$

Subtracting (4.1) from (4.2), we have

$$u_n^I(x) - u_n^{(k+1)}(x) = A(x)[u_n^I(\alpha(x)) - u_n^{(k)}(\alpha(x))] + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)[u_n^I(s) - u_n^{(k)}(s)]ds,$$

then

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_n^I(x) - u_n^{(k+1)}(x)\|_{\infty} &= \|A(x)[u_n^I(\alpha(x)) - u_n^{(k)}(\alpha(x))] + \lambda \int_{\Omega} k(x,s)[u_n^I(s) - u_n^{(k)}(s)]ds\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq (\|A(x)\|_{\infty} + |\lambda| \cdot \|\int_{\Omega} |k(x,s)|ds\|_{\infty}) \cdot \|u_n^I - u_n^{(k)}\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \gamma \cdot \|u_n^I - u_n^{(k)}\|_{\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

In this way,

$$\|u_n^I(x) - u_n^{(k+1)}(x)\|_{\infty} \le \gamma^{k+1} \cdot \|u_n^I - u_n^{(0)}\|_{\infty}$$

can be obtained by progressive recursion. From Theorem 2.1 we get 0 < x < 1 such t

From Theorem 2.1, we get $0 < \gamma < 1$, such that

$$\lim_{k\to\infty}\gamma^{k+1}=0$$

For $x \in \Omega$, there exists

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} u_n^{(k)}(x) = u_n^I(x)$$

5. Numerical examples

In this section, two numerical examples (d = 2) are given to illustrate the feasibility and validity of the above algorithm and its convergence analysis. The exact solution is compared with the two-grid iterative solution and its error estimation in the infinite norm sense is provided by using Matlab 2015a.

Selecting $\{(m,n)\} = \{(8,32), (8,64), (16,64)\}$, we calculate the maximum error $||u_n(x,y) - u_n^{(k)}(x,y)||_{\infty} = \max_{\substack{(x_i,y_i) \in \Omega \\ (k)}} |u_n(x_i,y_i) - u_n^{(k)}(x_i,y_i)|$

between the fine grid radial basis interpolation solution $u_n(x,y)$ and two-grid iterative solution $u_n^{(k)}(x,y)$ with $\{k\} = \{3,4,5,6\}$.

Example 5.1. Consider the following Fredholm functional integral equation

$$u(x,y) - \frac{x+y}{16}u(\alpha_1(x), \alpha_2(y)) = f(x,y) + \frac{1}{20} \int_{\Omega} (x+y)u(s_1, s_2)ds_1ds_2,$$
(5.1)

where $\Omega = \{(x,y)|0 \le x \le 1, 0 \le y \le x^2\}$, $\alpha_1(x) = \frac{1}{4}x$, $\alpha_2(x) = \frac{1}{16}x^2$ and $f(x,y) = xy - \frac{1}{240}x - \frac{1}{16}xy^2(fracx64 + \frac{y}{64})$. (5.1) has an exact solution u(x,y) = xy.

We solve (5.1) by two-grid method based on radial basis interpolation, and our experimental results can be seen from Table 1. The results were obtained by using Gaussian distribution function (a = 1) and IMQ function ($c = \sqrt{2}, b = 1$), respectively. Next, the exact solution u(x,y) and the two-grid iterative solution $u_n^{(k)}(x,y)$ which are given and can be seen from Figure 5.1(a) and Figure 5.1(b) while (m,n,k) = (8,64,6).

			$ u_n-u_n^{(k)} _{\infty}$					$\ u_n-u_n^{(k)}\ _{\infty}$					$ u_n -$	$u_n^{(k)} \parallel_{\infty}$
m	n	k	Gaussian	IMQ	m	n	k	Gaussian	IMQ	m	n	k	Gaussian	IMQ
8	32	3	9.1698e-04	1.3462e-04	8	64	3	1.5243e-03	9.3253e-04	16	64	3	1.2412e-05	7.5523e-06
		4	2.2979e-05	2.1310e-05			4	2.4130e-04	1.4762e-04			4	1.9648e-06	1.1955e-06
		5	1.9648e-06	3.3734e-06			5	3.8198e-05	2.3368e-05			5	3.1103e-07	1.8925e-07
		6	5.7583e-07	5.3401e-07			6	6.0467e-06	3.6992e-06			6	4.9236e-08	2.9958e-08

Table 1: The maximum error $||u_n(x) - u_n^{(k)}(x)||_{\infty}$ for Example 5.1.



(a) The exact solution u(x, y) of example 5.1

(b) The two-grid iterative solution $u_n^{(k)}(x, y)$ of example 5.1

Example 5.2. Consider the following Fredholm functional integral equation

$$u(x,y) - \frac{1}{10}e^{xy}u(\alpha_1(x),\alpha_2(y)) = f(x,y) + \frac{1}{10}\int_{\Omega} xys_1s_2u(s_1,s_2)ds_1ds_2,$$
(5.2)

where $\Omega = \{(x,y) | 0 \le x \le 1, 0 \le y \le x\}$, $\alpha_1(x) = x$, $\alpha_2(x) = \frac{1}{2}x$ and $f(x,y) = e^{x+y} - \frac{1}{10}e^{x+\frac{y}{2}}e^{xy} - \frac{xy}{20}$. (5.2) has an exact solution $u(x,y) = e^{x+y}$.

We also solve (5.2) by two-grid method based on radial basis interpolation, and the experimental results can be seen from Table 2. The results were obtained by using Gaussian distribution function (a = 1) and MQ function ($c = 4, b = \frac{1}{2}$), respectively. Next, the exact solution u(x,y) and the two-grid iterative solution $u_n^{(k)}(x,y)$ which are given and can be seen from Figure 5.1(c) and Figure 5.1(d) while (m,n,k) = (8,64,6).

			$\ u_n-u_n^{(k)}\ _{\infty}$					$\ u_n-u_n^{(k)}\ _{\infty}$					$ u_n -$	$u_n^{(k)} \parallel_{\infty}$
m	n	k	Gaussian	IMQ	m	n	k	Gaussian	IMQ	m	n	k	Gaussian	IMQ
8	32	3	5.3422e-03	1.5322e-03	8	64	3	8.7424e-03	1.6395e-03	16	64	3	4.4892e-04	9.7401e-05
		4	1.6000e-03	4.5476e-04			4	2.6000e-03	4.8660e-04			4	1.3324e-04	2.8909e-05
		5	4.7488e-04	1.3497e-04			5	7.7168e-04	1.4442e-04			5	3.9546e-05	8.5802e-06
		6	1.4094e-04	4.0059e-05			6	2.2903e-04	4.2864e-05			6	1.1737e-05	2.5466e-06

Table 2: The maximum error $||u_n(x) - u_n^{(k)}(x)||_{\infty}$ for Example 5.2.



(c) The exact solution u(x, y) of example 5.2

(d) The two-grid iterative solution $u_n^{(k)}(x, y)$ of example 5.2

6. Conclusion

In this paper, a new two-grid method based on the radial basis function interpolation for solving a class of Fredholm functional integral equations, which has practical value is presented. The algorithm and convergence analysis of two-grid iterative solution are given. At the same time, the method can greatly reduce the computational workload. Our numerical results can successfully prove the correctness of the proposed error estimation. Extending this method to other integral equations is our further research.

Acknowledgement

This research was supported by the Natural Science Fundation of Guangdong Province(Grant No.2015A030313643,2016A030313005), Postgraduate Demonstration Course Construction Project of Guangdong Province(Grant No.2018SFKC38) and Postgraduate Demonstration Course Construction Project of Wuyi University(Grant No.YJS-SFKC-18-01).

References

- [1] K. E. Atkinson, W. Han, Theoretical Numerical Analysis, 2nd edn. Springer, Berlin, (2005).
- [2] K. E. Atkinson, Iterative methods for the numerical solution of Fredholm integral equations of the second kind, Technical Report, Computer Center, Australian Natl. Univ., Canberra.
- [3] F. Muller, W. Varnhorn, On approximation and numerical solution of Fredholm integral equations of second kind using quasi-interpolation, Appl. Math. Comput., 217 (2011), 6409-6416.
- [4] Q. S. Wang, H. S. Wang, Meshless method and convergence analysis for 2-dimensional Fredholm integral equation with complex factors, J. Comput. Appl. Math., **304** (2016), 18-25.
- [5] M. Felahat, M. M. Moghadam, A. A. Askarihemmat, Application of Legendre wavelets for solving a class of functional integral equations, Iran. J. Sci. Technol., 43(3) (2019), 1089-1100.
 [6] Y. Talaei, Chelvshkov collocation approach for solving linear weakly singular Volterra integral equations, J. Appl. Math. Comput., 60(1-2) (2019).
- [6] Y. Talaei, *Chelyshkov collocation approach for solving linear weakly singular Volterra integral equations*, J. Appl. Math. Comput., **60**(1-2) (2019), 201-222.
 [7] K. E. Atkinson, *Two-grid iteration methods for linear integral equations of the second kind on piecewise smooth surfaces in R3*, SIAM J. Sci Comput.,
- **15**(5) (1994), 1083-1104. [8] C. Chen, W. Liu, A two-grid method for finite element solutions for nonlinear parabolic equations, Abstr. Appl. Anal.. **2012**(11) (2012).
- [9] J. Yan, Q. Zhang, L. Zhu, Z. Zhang, Two-grid methods for finite volume element approximations of nonlinear Sobolev equations, Numer. Funct. Anal. Optim., 37 (2016), 391-414.
- [10] C. J. Chen, K. Li, Y. P. Chen, Y. Q. Huang, Two-grid finite element methods combined with Crank-Nicolson scheme for nonlinear Sobolev equations, Adv. Comput. Math., 45 (2019), 611-630.
- [11] Z. M. Wu, Convergence analysis for the Radial basis function interpolation, Ann. Math., 14A(4) (1993), 480-486. (in Chinese).



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.635754



Three Equivalent *n*-Norms on the Space of *p*-Summable Sequences

Muhammad Nur^{1,2*} and Hendra Gunawan²

¹Department of Mathematics, Hasanuddin University, Indonesia ²Analysis and Geometry Group, Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, Bandung Institute of Technology, Indonesia *Corresponding author E-mail: muhammadnur@unhas.ac.id

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Equivalence, n-norm, Semiinner product g, p-summable sequence space 2010 AMS: 46B20, 46A45, 46A99, 46B99 Received: 22 October 2019 Accepted: 08 December 2019 Available online: 20 December 2019

Given a normed space, one can define a new *n*-norm using a semi-inner product *g* on the space, different from the *n*-norm defined by Gähler. In this paper, we are interested in the new *n*-norm which is defined using such a functional *g* on the space ℓ^p of *p*-summable sequences, where $1 \le p < \infty$. We prove particularly that the new *n*-norm is equivalent with the one defined previously by Gunawan on ℓ^p .

1. Introduction

On a normed space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$, let $g: X^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be the functional defined by the formula

$$g(x,y) := \frac{1}{2} \|x\| \left[\tau_+(x,y) + \tau_-(x,y) \right],$$

with

$$\tau_{\pm}(x,y) := \lim_{t \to 0^{\pm}} \frac{\|x + ty\| - \|x\|}{t}.$$

Then, one may check that *g* satisfies the following properties:

- (1) $g(x,x) = ||x||^2$ for every $x \in X$;
- (2) $g(\alpha x, \beta y) = \alpha \beta g(x, y)$ for every $x, y \in X$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (3) $g(x,x+y) = ||x||^2 + g(x,y)$ for every $x, y \in X$;
- (4) $|g(x,y)| \le ||x|| ||y||$ for every $x, y \in X$.

Assuming that the *g*-functional is linear in the second argument then [y,x] = g(x,y) is a *semi-inner product* on *X*. Note that all vector spaces in text are assumed to be over \mathbb{R} . For example, one may observe that the functional

$$g(x,y) := \|x\|_p^{2-p} \sum_k |x_k|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(x_k) y_k, \quad x := (x_k), y := (y_k) \in \ell^p$$

is a semi-inner product on ℓ^p , $1 \le p < \infty$ [1].

Remark 1.1. Note that not all vector spaces have the property that the g-functional is linear in the second argument. If the normed space is smooth, then the g-functional is linear in the second argument. A normed spaces with the property that the g-functional is linear in the second argument is referred to as normed spaces of (G)-type [2].

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: muhammadnur@unhas.ac.id, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5258-3867 (M. Nur), hgunawan@math.itb.ac.id, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7879-8321 (H. Gunawan)

By using a semi-inner product g, Miličić [3] introduced the following orthogonality relation on X: x is said to be g-orthogonal to y, denoted by $x \perp_g y$, provided that g(x, y) = 0. For more recent works, see in [4, 5]. Recently, Nur and Gunawan in [6] defined a 2-norm on X by

$$\|x_1, x_2\|_g := \sup_{\|y_j\| \le 1, \, j=1, 2} \left| \begin{array}{cc} g(y_1, x_1) & g(y_2, x_1) \\ g(y_1, x_2) & g(y_2, x_2) \end{array} \right|.$$

Similarly, we can define an *n*-norm (with $n \ge 2$) using the semi-inner product *g* on *X*. An *n*-norm on *X* is a mapping $\|\cdot, \ldots, \cdot\|: X \times \cdots \times X \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ which satisfies the following four properties:

- (1) $||x_1, \ldots, x_n|| = 0$ if and only if x_1, \ldots, x_n are linearly dependent;
- (2) $||x_1, \ldots, x_n||$ is invariant under permutation;
- (3) $\|\alpha x_1, \ldots, x_n\| = |\alpha| \|x_1, \ldots, x_n\|$ for every $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in X$ and for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (4) $||x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}, y+z|| \le ||x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}, y|| + ||x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}, z||$ for every $x, y, z \in X$.

The pair $(X, \|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|)$ is called an *n*-normed space.

The theory of 2-normed spaces was initially introduced by Gähler [7] in the 1960's. Meanwhile, the theory of *n*-normed spaces for $n \ge 2$ was developed in [8]-[10]. See [11]-[15] for recent results on this subject.

On the space ℓ^p of *p*-summable sequences, where $1 \le p < \infty$, the following *n*-norm

$$\|x_1,\ldots,x_n\|_p := \left[\frac{1}{n!}\sum_{k_1}\cdots\sum_{k_n} \left(abs \begin{vmatrix} x_{1k_1} & \cdots & x_{1k_n} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{nk_1} & \cdots & x_{nk_n} \end{vmatrix}\right)^p\right]^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
(1.1)

is defined by Gunawan in [16]. As shown in [17, 18], this *n*-norm is equivalent with the one formulated by Gähler in [8]-[10], namely

$$\|x_{1},...,x_{n}\|_{p}' := \sup_{\|y_{j}\|_{p'} \le 1, j=1,...,n} \begin{vmatrix} \sum_{k} x_{1k}y_{1k} & \cdots & \sum_{k} x_{1k}y_{nk} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \sum_{k} x_{nk}y_{1k} & \cdots & \sum_{k} x_{nk}y_{nk} \end{vmatrix},$$
(1.2)

where p' denotes the dual exponent of p. Precisely, we have the following theorem.

Theorem 1.2. [19] *For every* $x_1, ..., x_n \in \ell^p$ $(1 \le p < \infty)$ *, we have*

$$(n!)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p \le \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p' \le (n!)^{\frac{1}{p}} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p.$$

In this article, we shall first prove that, on ℓ^p $(1 \le p < \infty)$, the new 2-norm $\|\cdot, \cdot\|_g$ is equivalent with the 2-norm $\|\cdot, \cdot\|_p$ which is defined in (1.1). Using this result, we can prove that the 2-normed space $(\ell^p, \|\cdot, \cdot\|_g)$ is complete. We then extend the result for all $n \ge 2$.

2. Main results

Before we discuss the equivalence between the two 2-norms on ℓ^p $(1 \le p < \infty)$, we need some definitions. Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a normed space. We define the *g*-orthogonal projection of a vector *y* on a subspace *S* of *X* as follows.

Definition 2.1. [20] Let $y \in X$ and $S = span\{x_1, ..., x_m\}$ be a subspace of X with $\Gamma(x_1, ..., x_m) = det[g(x_i, x_j)] \neq 0$. The g-orthogonal projection of y on S, which we denote by y_S , is defined by

$$y_{S} := -\frac{1}{\Gamma(x_{1}, \dots, x_{m})} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & x_{1} & \cdots & x_{m} \\ g(x_{1}, y) & g(x_{1}, x_{1}) & \cdots & g(x_{1}, x_{m}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(x_{m}, y) & g(x_{m}, x_{1}) & \cdots & g(x_{m}, x_{m}) \end{vmatrix}$$

and its g-orthogonal complement $y - y_S$ is given by

$$y - y_{S} = \frac{1}{\Gamma(x_{1}, \dots, x_{m})} \begin{vmatrix} y & x_{1} & \cdots & x_{m} \\ g(x_{1}, y) & g(x_{1}, x_{1}) & \cdots & g(x_{1}, x_{m}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(x_{m}, y) & g(x_{m}, x_{1}) & \cdots & g(x_{m}, x_{m}) \end{vmatrix}$$

Observe here that $x_i \perp_g y - y_s$ for every i = 1, ..., m. Note that, if $S = \text{span} \{x\}$, then

$$y_S = \frac{g(x,y)}{\|x\|^2} x,$$

and $y - y_S$ is the g-orthogonal complement y on S. It is clear here that $x \perp_g y - y_S$.

Next, let $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in X$ be a set of *n* linearly independent vectors. We may construct a *left g-orthogonal sequence* x_1^*, \ldots, x_n^* with $x_1^* := x_1$, and

$$x_i^* := x_i - (x_i)_{S_{i-1}},\tag{2.1}$$

where $S_{i-1} = \text{span} \{x_1^*, \dots, x_{i-1}^*\}$ for $i = 2, \dots, n$. Observe here that $x_i^* \perp_g x_j^*$ for i < j (see [15, 20]). For $X = \ell^p$ ($1 \le p < \infty$), we have relation for the *n*-norm $||x_1, \dots, x_n||_p$ and the 'volume' of the *n*-dimensional parallelepiped spanned by $\{x_1, \dots, x_n\}$ in ℓ^p , namely $V(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \prod_{i=1}^n ||x_i^*||_p$, as follows.

Theorem 2.2. [19] Let $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ be a set of linearly independent vectors in ℓ^p $(1 \le p < \infty)$. Then we have

$$(n!)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p \le V(x_{i_1}, \dots, x_{i_n}) \le (n!)^{\frac{1}{p}} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p$$

for any permutation (i_1, \ldots, i_n) of $(1, \ldots, n)$.

Note that the value of $V(x_1, ..., x_n)$ may not be invariant under permutation of $(x_1, ..., x_n)$ because $g(\cdot, \cdot)$ may not be symmetry. The above theorem states that all possible values of $V(x_{i_1}, ..., x_{i_n})$ lie between two multiples of $||x_1, ..., x_n||_p$, independent of the permutation.

2.1. The equivalence between two 2-norms

Let us consider Gunawan's definition and Gähler's definition of 2-norm on ℓ^p $(1 \le p < \infty)$, namely:

$$\|x_1, x_2\|_p = \left[\sum_{k_1} \sum_{k_2} \left(abs \left| \begin{array}{cc} x_{1k_1} & x_{1k_2} \\ x_{2k_1} & x_{2k_2} \end{array} \right| \right)^p \right]^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

and

$$\|x_1, x_2\|'_p := \sup_{\|y_j\|_{p'} \le 1, j=1,2} \left| \begin{array}{cc} \sum_{k} x_{1k} y_{1k} & \sum_{k} x_{1k} y_{2k} \\ \sum_{k} x_{2k} y_{1k} & \sum_{k} x_{2k} y_{2k} \\ \sum_{k} x_{2k} y_{1k} & \sum_{k} x_{2k} y_{2k} \end{array} \right|.$$

Meanwhile, Nur and Gunawan's 2-norm is given by

$$\|x_1, x_2\|_{g,p} = \sup_{\|y_j\|_p \le 1, j=1,2} \left\| \begin{array}{c} \|y_1\|_p^{2-p} \sum_k |y_{1k}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{1k}) x_{1k} & \|y_2\|_p^{2-p} \sum_k |y_{2k}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{2k}) x_{1k} \\ \|y_1\|_p^{2-p} \sum_k |y_{1k}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{1k}) x_{2k} & \|y_2\|_p^{2-p} \sum_k |y_{2k}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{2k}) x_{2k} \end{array} \right\|.$$

Remark 2.3. Using properties of determinants, the above 2-norm may be rewritten as

$$\|x_{1},x_{2}\|_{g,p} = \sup_{\|y_{j}\|_{p} \le 1, j=1,2} \frac{1}{2} \prod_{j=1}^{2} \|y_{j}\|_{p}^{2-p} \sum_{k_{1}} \sum_{k_{2}} \left| \begin{array}{c} |y_{1k_{1}}|^{p-1} sgn(y_{1k_{1}}) & |y_{1k_{2}}|^{p-1} sgn(y_{1k_{2}}) \\ |y_{2k_{1}}|^{p-1} sgn(y_{2k_{1}}) & |y_{2k_{2}}|^{p-1} sgn(y_{2k_{2}}) \end{array} \right| \left| \begin{array}{c} x_{1k_{1}} & x_{1k_{2}} \\ x_{2k_{1}} & x_{2k_{2}} \end{array} \right|$$

For p = 2, we observe that

$$\|x_1, x_2\|_{g,2} = \sup_{\|y_j\|_2 \le 1, \ j=1,2} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k_1} \sum_{k_2} \begin{vmatrix} y_{1k_1} & y_{1k_2} \\ y_{2k_1} & y_{2k_2} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} x_{1k_1} & x_{1k_2} \\ x_{2k_1} & x_{2k_2} \end{vmatrix}.$$

One may then verify that the three 2-norms $\|\cdot,\cdot\|_2$, $\|\cdot,\cdot\|'_2$ and $\|\cdot,\cdot\|_{g,2}$ are identical (see [6, 12]). For other values of p, we have the following theorem.

Theorem 2.4. For every $x_1, x_2 \in \ell^p$ $(1 \le p < \infty)$, we have

$$2^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1, x_2\|_p \le \|x_1, x_2\|_{g,p} \le \|x_1, x_2\|'_p \le 2^{\frac{1}{p}} \|x_1, x_2\|_p.$$

Proof. For j = 1, 2, let $y_j \in \ell^p$ with $||y_j||_p \le 1$. Take $u_j = (u_{jk})$ with $u_{jk} = ||y_j||_p^{2-p} |y_{jk}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{jk})$. We observe that $u_j \in \ell^{p'}$ with $||u_j||_{p'} = ||y_j||_p$. As a consequence, we have $||x_1, x_2||_{g,p} \le ||x_1, x_2||_p$. By using Theorem 1.2, we obtain

$$||x_1, x_2||_{g,p} \le ||x_1, x_2||_p' \le 2^{\frac{1}{p}} ||x_1, x_2||_p$$

Next, assume that $\{x_1, x_2\}$ is linearly independent. Using the process in (2.1), we obtain the left *g*-orthogonal set $\{x_1^*, x_2^*\}$. Then, by Theorem 2.2, we have

$$2^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1, x_2\|_p \le V(x_1, x_2) = \|x_1^*\|_p \|x_2^*\|_p.$$

For j = 1, 2, let $y_j = \frac{x_j^*}{\|x_j^*\|_p}$, so that $\|y_j\|_p = 1$. It follows from the properties of semi-inner product g and matrix determinants that

$$\begin{array}{c|ccc} g(y_1, x_1) & g(y_2, x_1) \\ g(y_1, x_2) & g(y_2, x_2) \end{array} & = & \left| \begin{array}{c} \frac{1}{\|x_1^*\|_p} g(x_1^*, x_1^*) & \frac{1}{\|x_2^*\|_p} g(x_2^*, x_1^*) \\ \frac{1}{\|x_1^*\|_p} g(x_1^*, x_2^*) & \frac{1}{\|x_2^*\|_p} g(x_2^*, x_2^*) \end{array} \right| \\ & = & \left\| x_1^* \right\|_p \left\| x_2^* \right\|_p = V(x_1, x_2) \\ & \geq & 2^{\frac{1}{p} - 1} \left\| x_1, x_2 \right\|_p. \end{array}$$

By the definition of $\|\cdot, \cdot\|_{g,p}$, we conclude that $\|x_1, x_2\|_{g,p} \ge 2^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1, x_2\|_p$. Combining with the previous inequalities, we have

$$2^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1, x_2\|_p \le \|x_1, x_2\|_{g,p} \le \|x_1, x_2\|_p' \le 2^{\frac{1}{p}} \|x_1, x_2\|_p.$$

Note that if $\{x_1, x_2\}$ is a linearly dependent set, then all the 2-norms are equal 0, and so we have the equalities.

Corollary 2.5. For $1 \le p < \infty$, the three 2-norms $\|\cdot, \cdot\|_{g,p}$, $\|\cdot, \cdot\|'_p$, and $\|\cdot, \cdot\|_p$ are pairwise equivalent.

Since $(\ell^p, \|\cdot, \cdot\|_p)$ is a 2-Banach space [1], we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 2.6. For $1 \le p < \infty$, the 2-normed space $(\ell^p, \|\cdot, \cdot\|_{g,p})$ is a 2-Banach space.

2.2. The equivalence between two *n*-norms

All results in above subsection can be extended to *n*-normed spaces for any $n \ge 2$. Suppose that *g* is a semi-inner product on $(X, \|\cdot\|)$. Consider the following mapping $\|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_g$ on $X \times \dots \times X$:

$$\|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_g = \sup_{\|y_j\| \le 1, \, j=1, \dots, n} \left| \begin{array}{ccc} g(y_1, x_1) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_1) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(y_1, x_n) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_n) \end{array} \right| = \sup_{\|y_j\| \le 1, \, j=1, \dots, n} \det[g(y_j, x_i)].$$
(2.2)

If $||y_j|| \le 1$ for j = 1, ..., n, then $det[g(y_j, x_i)] \le n! \prod_{i=1}^n ||x_i||$. Note that the factor n! comes from the number of terms in the expansion of $det[g(y_j, x_i)]$. The following fact tells us that $||\cdot, ..., \cdot||_g$ is a finite number.

Fact 2.7. The inequality

$$||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_g \le n! \prod_{i=1}^n ||x_i||$$

holds whenever $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in X$.

Moreover, we have the following result.

Proposition 2.8. The mapping (2.2) defines an n-norm on X.

Proof. It is obvious that, if $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ is linearly dependent, then we have $||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_g = 0$. Conversely, if $||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_g = 0$, then the rows of the matrix $[g(y_j, x_i)]$ are linearly dependent for every $y_1, \ldots, y_n \in X$ with $||y_j|| \le 1$, $j = 1, \ldots, n$. This happens only if x_1, \ldots, x_n are linearly dependent.

Next, by using the properties of supremum and matrix determinants, we obtain the invariance of $||x_1, ..., x_2||_g$ under permutation. Furthermore, we have $||\alpha x_1, ..., x_n||_g = |\alpha| ||x_1, ..., x_n||_g$ for $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

Finally, for arbitrary $x_0, x_1, \ldots x_n \in X$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_0 + x_1, \dots, x_n\|_g &= \sup_{\|y_j\| \le 1, \ j=1,\dots,n} \left| \begin{array}{ccc} g(y_1, x_0 + x_1) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_0 + x_1) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(y_1, x_n) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_n) \end{array} \right| \\ &\leq \sup_{\|y_j\| \le 1, \ j=1,\dots,n} \left| \begin{array}{ccc} g(y_1, x_0) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_0) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(y_1, x_n) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_n) \end{array} \right| + \sup_{\|y_j\| \le 1, \ j=1,\dots,n} \left| \begin{array}{ccc} g(y_1, x_1) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_1) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(y_1, x_n) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_n) \end{array} \right| \\ &= \|x_0, \dots, x_n\|_g + \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_g. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

The following theorem holds for an inner product space $(X, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$.

Theorem 2.9. If $(X, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ is a real inner product space, then the two n-norms $\|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_g$ in (2.2) and $\|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_s$ given by

$$\|x_1,\ldots,x_n\|_s := \left| \begin{array}{ccc} \langle x_1,x_1 \rangle & \cdots & \langle x_n,x_1 \rangle \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \langle x_1,x_n \rangle & \cdots & \langle x_n,x_n \rangle \end{array} \right|^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

are identical.

Proof. On the inner product space X, the functional $g(\cdot, \cdot)$ is identical with the inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$. Therefore,

$$\|x_1,\ldots,x_n\|_g = \sup_{\|y_j\| \le 1, \, j=1,\ldots,n} \begin{vmatrix} \langle y_1,x_1 \rangle & \cdots & \langle y_n,x_1 \rangle \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \langle y_1,x_n \rangle & \cdots & \langle y_n,x_n \rangle \end{vmatrix}.$$

Now, applying the generalized Cauchy-Schwarz inequality [21] and Hadamard's inequality [22], we get

$$||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_g \le \sup_{||y_j||\le 1, \ j=1,\ldots,n} ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_s ||y_1,\ldots,y_n||_s \le ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_s.$$

Conversely, suppose that $\{x_1, ..., x_n\}$ is linearly independent. Using the Gram-Schmidt process, we get the orthogonal set $\{x'_1, ..., x'_n\}$. Because the determinant of the Gram matrix of a linearly independent set being equal to the Gram matrix of the associated orthogonal set (obtained using Gram-Schmidt process), we have $||x_1, ..., x_n||_s = ||x'_1, ..., x'_n||_s = ||x'_1| \cdots ||x'_n||$. For j = 1, ..., n, let $y_j = \frac{x'_j}{||x'_j||}$, so that $||y_j|| = 1$. Then, by the properties of the inner product and matrix determinants, we obtain

$$\begin{vmatrix} \langle y_1, x_1 \rangle & \cdots & \langle y_n, x_1 \rangle \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \langle y_1, x_n \rangle & \cdots & \langle y_n, x_n \rangle \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} \langle y_1, x_1' \rangle & \cdots & \langle y_n, x_1' \rangle \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \langle y_1, x_n' \rangle & \cdots & \langle y_n, x_n' \rangle \end{vmatrix} = \frac{1}{\|x_1'\| \cdots \|x_n'\|} \begin{vmatrix} \langle x_1', x_1' \rangle & \cdots & \langle x_n', x_1' \rangle \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \langle x_1', x_n' \rangle & \cdots & \langle x_n', x_n' \rangle \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= \|x_1'\| \cdots \|x_n'\| = \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_{s}.$$

Thus, $||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_g \ge ||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_s$. Hence we conclude that $||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_g = ||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_s$ whenever $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ is linearly independent. If $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ is linearly dependent, then $||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_g = ||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_s = 0$.

Remark 2.10. Note that, in an inner product space, we have the well-known Hadamard's inequality [22]

$$||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_g = ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_s \le ||x_1||\cdots||x_n||,$$

which is better than that in Fact ??.

For $X = \ell^p$ ($1 \le p < \infty$), we rewrite the formula in (2.2) as

$$\|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_{g,p} = \sup_{\|y_j\|_p \le 1, \, j=1, \dots, n} \begin{vmatrix} g(y_1, x_1) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_1) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(y_1, x_n) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_n) \end{vmatrix}$$

Substituting $g(y_j, x_i) = ||y_j||_p^{2-p} \sum_k |y_{jk}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{jk}) x_{ik}$ and using the properties of determinants, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{1},\ldots,x_{n}\|_{g,p} &= \sup_{\|y_{j}\|_{p} \leq 1, j=1,\ldots,n} \left| \begin{array}{ccc} \|y_{1}\|_{p}^{2-p} \sum_{k} |y_{1k}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{1k})x_{1k} & \cdots & \|y_{n}\|_{p}^{2-p} \sum_{k} |y_{nk}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{nk})x_{1k} \\ &\vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \|y_{1}\|_{p}^{2-p} \sum_{k} |y_{1k}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{1k})x_{nk} & \cdots & \|y_{n}\|_{p}^{2-p} \sum_{k} |y_{nk}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{nk})x_{nk} \\ &= \sup_{\|y_{j}\|_{p} \leq 1, j=1,\ldots,n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \|y_{j}\|_{p}^{2-p} \sum_{k_{1}} \cdots \sum_{k_{n}} \prod_{j=1}^{n} |y_{jk_{j}}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{jk_{j}}) \left| \begin{array}{c} x_{1k_{1}} & \cdots & x_{1k_{n}} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{nk_{1}} & \cdots & x_{nk_{n}} \end{array} \right|. \end{aligned}$$
(2.3)

Corollary 2.11. For p = 2, the three *n*-norms $\|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_2$ in (1.1), $\|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|'_2$ in (1.2) and $\|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_{g,2}$ in (2.3) are identical.

For $p \neq 2$, we have the following generalization of Theorem 2.4.

Theorem 2.12. For every $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \ell^p$ $(1 \le p < \infty)$, we have

$$(n!)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p \le \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_{g,p} \le \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|'_p \le (n!)^{\frac{1}{p}} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p$$

Proof. For each j = 1, ..., n, let $y_j \in \ell^p$ with $||y_j||_p \le 1$. Then take $u_j = (u_{jk})$ with $u_{jk} = ||y_j||_p^{2-p} |y_{jk}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{jk})$. We observe that $u_j \in \ell^{p'}$ with $||u_j||_{p'} = ||y_j||_p \le 1$. As a consequence, we have

$$||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_{g,p} \le ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||'_p$$

By using Theorem 1.2, we obtain

$$||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_{g,p} \le ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_p' \le (n!)^{\frac{1}{p}} ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_p$$

Conversely, suppose that $\{x_1, ..., x_n\}$ is a linearly independent set. Using $x_1^* = x_1$ and so forth as in (2.1), we obtain the left *g* -orthogonal set $\{x_1^*, ..., x_n^*\}$. Then, it follows from Theorem 2.2 that

$$(n!)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1,\ldots,x_n\|_p \le V(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \|x_1^*\|_p \cdots \|x_n^*\|_p.$$

For j = 1, ..., n, let $y_j = \frac{x_j^*}{\|x_j^*\|_p}$, so that $\|y_j\|_p = 1$. Next, using the properties of matrix determinants and the semi-inner product g, we have

$$\begin{vmatrix} g(y_{1},x_{1}) & \cdots & g(y_{n},x_{1}) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(y_{1},x_{n}) & \cdots & g(y_{n},x_{n}) \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} \frac{1}{\|x_{1}^{*}\|_{p}}g(x_{1}^{*},x_{1}^{*}) & \cdots & \frac{1}{\|x_{n}^{*}\|_{p}}g(x_{n}^{*},x_{1}^{*}) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \frac{1}{\|x_{1}^{*}\|_{p}}g(x_{1}^{*},x_{n}^{*}) & \cdots & \frac{1}{\|x_{n}^{*}\|_{p}}g(x_{n}^{*},x_{n}^{*}) \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= \|x_{1}^{*}\|_{p}\cdots\|x_{n}^{*}\|_{p} = V(x_{1},\dots,x_{n})$$
$$\geq (n!)^{\frac{1}{p}-1}\|x_{1},\dots,x_{n}\|_{p},$$

whence $||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_{g,p} \ge (n!)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} ||x_1, \ldots, x_n||_p$. Combining with the previous inequalities, we obtain

$$(n!)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p \le \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_{g,p} \le \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p' \le (n!)^{\frac{1}{p}} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_p$$

If $\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ is linearly dependent, then all the *n*-norms vanish and so we have the equalities.

Corollary 2.13. For $1 \le p < \infty$, the three *n*-norms $\|\cdot, \ldots, \cdot\|_{g,p}$, $\|\cdot, \ldots, \cdot\|'_p$ and $\|\cdot, \ldots, \cdot\|_p$ are equivalent.

Knowing that the space $(\ell^p, \|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_p)$ is an *n*-Banach space in [16], we have a generalization of Corollary 2.6 as follows.

Corollary 2.14. For $1 \le p < \infty$, the space $(\ell^p, \|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_{g,p})$ is an n-Banach space.

3. Concluding remarks

In this paper, a new *n*-norm is defined using a semi-inner product g on ℓ^p for $1 \le p < \infty$. Accordingly, on the space ℓ^p $(1 \le p < \infty)$, we have three different *n*-norms, namely Gähler's *n*-norm $\|\cdot, \ldots, \cdot\|_p^r$ defined in [8]-[10], Gunawan's *n*-norm $\|\cdot, \ldots, \cdot\|_p$ defined in [16], and $\|\cdot, \ldots, \cdot\|_{g,p}$ defined here in (2.3). In Corollary 2.13, we have just seen that the three *n*-norms on ℓ^p are equivalent. As expected, the case where p = 2 is special. Here, the three *n*-norms on ℓ^2 are identical.

In addition to the above three *n*-norms, we also have a formula for another *n*-norm using the semi-inner product g on ℓ^p $(1 \le p < \infty)$, namely

$$||x_1,...,x_n||_{g,p}^{\circ} = \sup_{||y_1,...,y_n||_p \le 1} \begin{vmatrix} g(y_1,x_1) & \cdots & g(y_n,x_1) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(y_1,x_n) & \cdots & g(y_n,x_n) \end{vmatrix}.$$

Since $g(y_j, x_i) = ||y_j||_p^{2-p} \sum_k |y_{jk}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{jk}) x_{ik}$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_1, \dots, x_n\|_{g,p}^{\circ} &= \left[\sup_{\|y_1, \dots, y_n\|_p \le 1} \frac{1}{n!} \prod_{j=1}^n \|y_j\|_p^{2-p} \times \\ &\times \sum_{k_1} \cdots \sum_{k_n} \left| \begin{array}{ccc} |y_{1k_1}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{1k_1}) & \cdots & |y_{1k_n}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{1k_n}) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ |y_{nk_1}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{nk_1}) & \cdots & |y_{nk_n}|^{p-1} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{nk_n}) \end{array} \right| \left| \begin{array}{ccc} x_{1k_1} & \cdots & x_{1k_n} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{nk_1} & \cdots & x_{nk_n} \end{array} \right| \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Note that, for p = 2, we have $||x_1, \dots, x_n||_{g,2} = ||x_1, \dots, x_n||_{g,2}^\circ$. For other values of p, we can show that

$$||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_{g,p} \le (n!)^{2-\frac{1}{p}} ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_{g,p}^{\circ}.$$

By taking $y_j = \frac{x_j^*}{\sqrt[n]{\|x_1^*,...,x_n^*\|_p}}}$ (j = 1,...,n), we obtain $\|y_1,...,y_n\|_p = 1$. Next, using the properties of matrix determinants and the semi-inner product g, we have

$$\begin{vmatrix} g(y_1, x_1) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_1) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ g(y_1, x_n) & \cdots & g(y_n, x_n) \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt[n]{\|x_1^*, \dots, x_n^*\|_p}} g(x_1^*, x_1^*) & \cdots & \frac{1}{\sqrt[n]{\|x_1^*, \dots, x_n^*\|_p}} g(x_n^*, x_1^*) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{\|x_1^*, \dots, x_n^*\|_p}} g(x_1^*, x_n^*) & \cdots & \frac{1}{\sqrt[n]{\|x_1^*, \dots, x_n^*\|_p}} g(x_n^*, x_n^*) \\ = & \frac{\|x_1^*\|_p^2 \dots \|x_n^*\|_p^2}{\|x_1^*, \dots, x_n^*\|_p}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $||x_1, ..., x_n||_p \le (n!)^{1-\frac{1}{p}} ||x_1^*||_p \cdots ||x_n^*||_p$ by Theorem 2.2 and $||x_1^*, ..., x_n^*||_p = ||x_1, ..., x_n||_p$, we obtain

$$||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_{g,p}^{\circ} \ge (n!)^{\frac{2}{p}-2} ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_p$$

Moreover, using Theorem 2.12, we have

$$||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_{g,p} \le (n!)^{2-\frac{1}{p}} ||x_1,\ldots,x_n||_{g,p}^{\circ}$$

It follows from this inequality that the convergence of a sequence in $\|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_{g,p}^{\circ}$ implies the convergence in $\|\cdot, \dots, \cdot\|_{g,p}$, and hence also in $\|\cdot, \ldots, \cdot\|_p$. Unfortunately, up to now, we do not know if the converse is true.

Acknowledgement

This work is supported by ITB Research and Innovation Program 2019.

References

- J. R. Giles, Classes of semi-inner product spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 129-3 (1967), 436-446.
- S. S. Dragomir, Semi-inner Products and Applications, Nova Science Publishers, 2004.
- [3] P. M. Miličić, Sur le g-angle dans un espace norme, Mat. Vesnik, 45 (1993), 43-48.
- M. Nur, H. Gunawan, A new orthogonality and angle in a normed space, Aequationes Math., 93 (2019), 547–555.
- M. Nur, H.Gunawan, O. Neswan, A formula for the g-angle between two subspaces of a normed space, Beitr. Algebra Geom., **59**-1 (2018), 133–143. M. Nur, H. Gunawan, A note on the formula of the g-angle between two subspaces in a normed space, (Feb. 2019) arXiv:1809.01909v2 [math.FA]. S. Gähler, Lineare 2-normierte räume, Math. Nachr., **28** (1964), 1–43. [5] [6]
- [7]
- S. Gähler, Untersuchungen über verallgemeinerte m-metrische räume. I", Math. Nachr., 40 (1969), 165–189.
 S. Gähler, Untersuchungen über verallgemeinerte m-metrische räume. II", Math. Nachr., 40 (1969), 229–264 [8]
- S. Gähler, Untersuchungen über verallgemeinerte m-metrische räume. III, Math. Nachr., 41 (1970), 23-26. [10]
- [11] S. Ekariani, H. Gunawan, M. Idris, A contractive mapping theorem on the n-normed space of p-summable, J. Math. Anal., 41 (2013), 1–7.

- [11] S. M. Gozali, H. Gunawan, N. Neswan, On n-norms and bounded n-linear functionals in a Hilbert space, Ann. Funct. Anal., 1 (2010), 72–79.
 [13] H. Gunawan, On n-inner products, n-norms, and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, Sci. Math. Japon., 55 (2002), 53–60.
 [14] H. Gunawan, H. Mashadi, On n-normed spaces, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. 27 (2001), 631–639.
 [15] H. Gunawan, W. Setya-Budhi, M. Mashadi, S.Gemawati, On volumes of n-dimensional parallelepipeds in l^p spaces, Univ. Beograd Publ. Elektrotehn. Elektrotehn. 16 (2005), 48–54. Fak. Ser. Mat., 16 (2005), 48–54. [16] H. Gunawan, The space of p-summable sequences and its natural n-norms, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc., 64 (2001), 137-147.
- [17] Ş. Konca, M. Idris, Equivalence among three 2-norms on the space of p-summable sequences, J. Inequal. Spec. Funct., 7(4), (2016) 218-224.
- [18] A. Mutaqin, H. Gunawan, Equivalence of n-norms on the space of p-summable sequences, J. Indones. Math. Soc., 16 (2010), 39-49.
- [19] R. A. Wibawa-Kusumah, H. Gunawan, Two equivalent n-norms on the space of p-summable sequences, Period. Math. Hungar, 67-1 (2013), 63-69. [20] P. M. Miličić, On the Gram-Schmidt projection in normed spaces, Univ. Beograd Publ. Elektrotehn. Fak. Ser. Mat., 4 (1993), 89-96.
- [21] S. Kurepa, On the Buniakowsky-Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, Glas. Mat. III Ser., 21(1) (1966), 147–158.
- [22] F. R. Gantmacher, The Theory of Matrices, AMS Chelsea Publishing, 1, 2000.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.587245



Lyapunov Exponents of One Dimensional Chaotic Dynamical Systems via a General Piecewise Spline Maximum Entropy Method

Md Shafiqul Islam^{1*}

¹School of Mathematical and Computational Sciences, University of Prince Edward Island, Charlottetown, Canada, *Corresponding author E-mail: sislam@upei.ca

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Dynamical systems, General piecewise spline method, Invariant measure and invariant density, Lyapunov exponents, Maximum entropy optimization method 2010 AMS: 37A05, 37A35,37E05 Received: 04 July 2019 Accepted: 16 November 2019 Available online: 20 December 2019

In this paper, we study the computation of Lyapunov exponents for deterministic dynamical systems via a general piecewise spline maximum entropy method. We present a comparison of computations of Lyapunov exponents between a piecewise linear, a piecewise quadratic and a piecewise cubic maximum entropy methods. In order to compute Lyapunov exponents for deterministic maps, we also compute density functions of their invariant measures via piecewise spline maximum entropy method.

1. Introduction

In a chaotic dynamical system, inaccuracies in specifying the initial state of the system are rapidly amplified in time and therefore, it is impossible to predict the long term system state. If nearby trajectories of a dynamical system diverges exponentially then the dynamical system possesses chaotic behaviour [1]-[3]. The rate of increase of perturbations of initial conditions is described by the Lyapunov exponent [4]. The Lyapunov exponent of a dynamical system classifies the dynamics of the system. A dynamical system with positive Lyapunov exponent exhibits chaotic nature of the system. Let $\tau : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$ be a measure preserving deterministic dynamical system (map) and μ be a τ -invariant measure on the probability space [0,1]. For any $x \in [0,1]$, the Lyapunov exponent h(x) of the trajectory of x is defined as (see, for example, [5])

$$h(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \ln(|((\tau^{n}(x))'|)^{\frac{1}{n}} \\ = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \left(\ln|\tau'(x)| + \ln|\tau'(\tau(x)| + \dots + \ln|\tau'(\tau^{n-1}(x)|) \right) \\ = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \ln|\tau'(\tau^{i}(x))|$$
(1.1)

provided the limit exists. If the function $\ln(\tau'(x))$ is integrable and τ is ergodic, then the Birkhoff Ergodic Theorem [6] gaurantees that for almost all $x \in [0, 1]$ the above limit exists, it is a constant (say, *l*) and if *f* is the density of the invariant measure $d\mu(x) = f(x)d\lambda(x)$, then the Lyapunov exponent

$$l = \int_0^1 \ln|\tau'(x)| d\mu(x) = \int_0^1 \ln|\tau'(x)| f(x) d\lambda(x),$$
(1.2)

where λ is the underlying Lebesgue measure on [0, 1]. Therefore, if the invariant measure μ or the density function f is known, then one can calculate the Lyapunov exponent of τ in (1.1). Unfortunately, except for some cases, the analytical formula of the invariant measure

 μ or the density function *f* for most of the deterministic maps is not known. Therefore, the computation of Lyapunov exponent havily rely on numerical approximation of invariant measures or density functions of the corresponding deterministic maps. Computations of Lyapunov exponents for deterministic dynamical systems are well studied by many researchers. A spatial average estimation method for Lyapunov exponents of deterministic maps is presented in [7] by G. Froyland. A numerical scheme is described in [8] for the *n* Lyapunov exponents of an *n*-dimensional unknown dynamical system. In [4], A. Boyarsky presented a matrix method for the approximation of Lyapunov exponents and invariant measures. Lyapunov exponents from observed time series is studied in [9]. For Jacobian-based estimates of Lyapunov exponents from data, convergence rates and data requirements are studied in [10].

In the context of information theory, the principle of maximum entropy [11] was introduced by E. T. Jaynes [12] in 1957. Since then, mathematicians, physicists and engineers have widely used the maximum entropy method in many different directions for solving problems in mathematics, mathematical physics and other related branches of Science and Engineering. A maximum entropy method was described by Lawrence R. Mead and N. Papanicolaou in [11] for solving moment problems. For finite approximation of the Frobenius-Perron operator of deterministic dynamical systems the maximum entropy methods were described by many authors [13]-[18] and [19]. In [20], C. Bose and R. Murray presented dynamical conditions for convergence of a maximum entropy method for Frobenius-Perron operator equations. For approximation of invariant measures for position dependent random maps we have described maximum entropy methods in [21, 22]. An iterative maximum entropy method is presented in [23] for Lyapunov exponents and invariant densities for deterministic chaotic maps. In this paper, we compute Lyapunov exponents via a general piecewise spline maximum entropy methods for the computation of Lyapunov exponents.

In Section 2, we present a general piecewise spline maximum entropy method for approximation of invariant measures of deterministic dynamical systems. Moreover, we present convergence analysis of maximum entropy method. In Section 3, we present calculations of Lyapunov exponents of deterministic dynamical systems using general piecewise spline maximum entropy method. We present two numerical examples with a comparison between piecewise linear, piecewise quadratic and piecewise cubic maximum entropy method.

2. A general piecewise spline maximum entropy optimization method for invariant measures of deterministic chaotic dynamical systems

Let $(I = [0,1], \mathcal{B}, \lambda)$ be a measure space, where \mathcal{B} is a σ -algebra on I = [0,1] and λ is the Lebesgue measure on \mathcal{B} . Let $\tau : I \to I$ be a deterministic map such that τ has a unique absolutely continuous invariant measure μ^* with density f^* . Using (1.2) one can find the actual Lyapunov exponent L for τ . In this section, first we revisit a general piecewise spline maximum entropy optimization method for the approximation f_n of the density function f^* . In the next section, using the approximate density f_n we compute an approximate Lyapunov exponent l_n . We also present the convergence analysis of the general piecewise maximum entropy method. We closely follow [6] and [13].

Let

$$\cdots < x_{-2} < x_{-1} < x_0 = 0 < x_1 < x_2 < \dots$$

be an infinite set of nodes on the real line. The B-splines of degree k are defined recursively as follows:

$$B_i^0(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & x \in [x_i, x_{i+1}), \\ 0, & x \notin [x_i, x_{i+1}), \end{cases}, i \in \{\dots, -2, -1, 0, 1, 2, \dots\}$$

and

$$B_i^k(x) = \frac{x - x_i}{x_{i+k} - x_i} B_i^{k-1}(x) + \frac{x_{i+k+1} - x}{x_{i+k+1} - x_{i+1}} B_{i+1}^{k-1}(x), i \in \{\dots, -2, -1, 0, 1, 2, \dots\}.$$

Each $B_i^k(x)$ is a piecewise polynomial of degree k and $B_i^k(x)$ are called *B*-splines of degree k. The family $\{B_i^k\}$ of *B*-splines satisfies the following properties (see Proposition 1 in [13]):

Properties of *B***-splines:**

- 1. If $x \notin [x_i, x_{i+k+1})$, then $B_i^k(x) = 0$;
- 2. If $x \in (x_i, x_{i+k+1})$, then $B_i^k(x) > 0$;
- 3. $\sum_i B_i^k(x) = 1$ for all x;
- 4. For fixed k, the set $\{B_i^k|_{[x_o,x_n]}\}: -k \le i \le n-1\}$ of functions constitute a basis for the space Δ_n^k consisting of all functions in $C^{k-1}[x_0,x_n]$ which are piecewise polynomials of degree $\le k$ on the *n* subintervals $[x_0,x_1], [x_1,x_2], \dots, [x_{n-1},x_n]$.

Let $\tau: I \to I$ be a deterministic map such that τ has a unique absolutely continuous invariant measure μ^* with density f^* . A particular choice of τ is a Lasota – Yorke map described in [24]. Note that the invariant density f^* of the unique acim μ^* is the fixed point of the Frobenius-Perron operator P_T . In the following, we describe a general spline maximum entropy approximation scheme for f^* .
Let \mathscr{D} be the set of all densities, that is,

$$\mathscr{D} = \{ f \in L^1(0,1) \text{ such that } f \ge 0 \text{ and } \| f \|_1 = \int_0^1 f(x) d\lambda(x) = 1 \}.$$

The Boltzmann entropy [6] of $f \ge 0$ is defined by

$$H(f) = -\int_{I} f(x) \log f(x) d\lambda(x).$$
(2.1)

For properties of H see [6]. Using the Gibbs inequality

$$u - u \log u \le v - u \log v, u, v \ge 0,$$

it can be shown that

$$\int_{I} f(x) \log f(x) d\lambda(x) \ge \int_{I} f(x) \log g(x) d\lambda(x) \ \forall f, g \in \mathscr{D}.$$
(2.2)

The above inequality in (2.2) leads to the following optimization problem [14]:

$$\max H(f) \text{ such that } f \in \mathscr{D} \text{ and } \int_{I} f(x)g_{n}(x)d\lambda(x) = m_{n}, \ 1 \leq n \leq N, \tag{2.3}$$

where m_1, m_2, \dots, m_N are given moments of the unknown density with respect to the moment function $\{g_1, g_2, \dots, g_N\} \subset L^{\infty}(I)$, respectively. **Proposition 2.1.** [6] Suppose that a_1, a_2, \dots, a_N are real numbers such that the function

$$f_N(x) = \frac{e^{\sum_{n=1}^N a_n g_n(x)}}{\int_0^1 e^{\sum_{n=1}^N a_n g_n(x)} d\lambda(x)}$$

satisfies the constraints in (2.3), that is,

$$\frac{\int_0^1 g_i(x) e^{\sum_{n=1}^N a_n g_n(x)} d\lambda(x)}{\int_0^1 e^{\sum_{n=1}^N a_n g_n(x)} d\lambda(x)} = m_i, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, N.$$

Then f_N is a unique solution of the maximum entropy problem (2.3).

Proof: See [6].

Let $\mathscr{P}^{(n)} = \{I_1, I_2, \dots, I_n\}$ partition of [0, 1] into *n* equal subintervals, where $I_i = [b_{i-1}, b_i]$, $b_i = ih, i = 1, 2, \dots, n, b_0 = 0, b_n = 1, h = \frac{1}{n}$. Without loss of generality and for convenience, we consider $n = 2^s = l \cdot q$, where *l* is a positive even integer and q is the number of the sub-intervals of the partition \mathcal{J} on which the maps τ is piecewise one-to-one and monotonic. Consider 2k additional nodes: $b_{-j} = -jh$, $b_{n+j} = (n+j)h$, j = 1, 2, ..., k. These nodes are needed to express all the involved *B*-splines for the state space I = [0, 1]. Moreover, for fixed k, the set

$$[B_i^k|_{[0,1]}\}: i = -k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, 2, \dots, n-1\}$$

of functions constitute a basis for the space Δ_n^k consisting of all functions in $C^{k-1}[0,1]$ which are piecewise polynomials of degree $\leq k$ on the *n* subintervals $[b_0, b_1], [b_1, b_2], \dots, [b_{n-1}, b_n]$ of I = [0, 1]. Δ_n^k has dimension n + k and $B_k^k, B_{-k+1}^k, \dots, B_0^k, B_1^k, \dots, B_{n-1}^k$ are elements of the basis for Δ_n^k .

Let f^* be an unique density function of the acim μ^* for the map τ . Then the moments of f^* with respect to B-spline B_i^k , i = -k, -k + i $1, \ldots, 0, 1, 2, \ldots, n-1$ is

$$m_i = \int_0^1 f^*(x) B_i^k(x) d\lambda(x).$$
(2.4)

Proposition 2.2.

$$\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} m_i = 1$$

Proof:

$$\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} m_i = \sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} \int_0^1 f^*(x) B_i^k(x) d\lambda(x) = \int_0^1 f^*(x) \sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} B_i^k(x) d\lambda(x)$$
$$= \int_0^1 f^*(x) d\lambda(x) = 1,$$

since $\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} B_i^k(x) = 1$, by Property (iii).

Proposition 2.3. Suppose that $m_{-k}, m_{-k+1}, \ldots, m_0, m_1, \ldots, m_{n-1}$ are moments defined in (2.4) of the probability density function f^* of the map τ . If $a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, \ldots, a_0, a_1, \ldots, a_{n-1}$ are constants which satisfy

$$\int_0^1 B_i^k(x) e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} d\lambda(x) = m_i, \ i = -k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, \dots, n-1,$$

then

 $f_n^k(x) = e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)}$ (2.5)

is a density.

Proof.

$$\begin{split} \int_0^1 f_n^k(x) d\lambda(x) &= \int_0^1 e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} d\lambda(x) \\ &= \int_0^1 e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} \sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} B_i^k(x) d\lambda(x) \\ &= \sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} \int_0^1 B_i^k(x) e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} d\lambda(x) \\ &= \sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} m_i = 1 \end{split}$$

If we solve the maximum entropy problem

$$\max H(f)$$
 such that $f \in \mathscr{D}$ and $\int_{I} f(x)B_{i}^{k}(x)d\lambda(x) = m_{i}, -k \leq i \leq n-1$

then $f_n^k(x) = e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)}$ is a solution of (2.6) such that there exists constants $a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, \dots, a_0, a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{n-1}$ satisfying

$$\int_{0}^{1} B_{i}^{k}(x) e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_{i} B_{i}^{k}(x)} d\lambda(x) = m_{i}, \ i = -k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, \dots, n-1.$$
(2.6)

Now, using the Birkhoff's Ergodic Theorem (see below), we describe a method for estimating the moments $m_{-k}, m_{-k+1}, \ldots, m_0, m_1, \ldots, m_{n-1}$ in (2.6) for the unknown invariant density f^* of a map τ :

Theorem 2.4. If μ^* is τ -invariant, μ^* is absolutely continuous and unique among absolutely continuous invariant measures, P_{τ} satisfies

$$|P_{\tau}^{n}f||_{BV} \leq A ||f||_{BV} + B ||f||_{1},$$

where A > 0 and B > 0 are constants defined in [24]. Then for μ^* almost every x with probability 1,

$$\frac{1}{M}\sum_{i=0}^{M-1}f(\tau^i(x))\to\mu^*(f),$$

for any $f \in L^1([0,1])$. Moreover, if [0,1 is a probability space (that is, μ^* is a probability measure on [0,1]) and τ is ergodic, then there exists a function $\hat{f} \in L^1([0,1])$ such that

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \frac{1}{M} \sum_{i=0}^{M-1} f(\tau^{i}(x)) = \hat{f}(x), \forall x \in [0,1] \mu^{*} - a.e.$$

and \hat{f} is constant and $\hat{f} = \int_0^1 f(x) d\mu^*(x)$.

Note that f^* is the density of the map τ with respect to the acim μ^* . Thus, $d\mu^*(x) = f^*(x)d\lambda(x)$. If we replace f by $B_i^k, i = -k, -k + 1, \dots, 0, 1, 2, \dots, n-1$ and \hat{f} by m_i then from Equation (2.7) we obtain

$$m_i = \lim_{M \to \infty} \frac{1}{M} \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} B_i^k(\tau^j(x)), \forall x \in [0,1] \ a.e., i = k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, \dots, n-1.$$
(2.7)

For large M, define

$$\hat{m}_i = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} B_i(\tau^j(x)), \forall x \in [0,1] \ a.e., i = k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, \dots, n-1.$$

Note that the choice of x almost surely doesn't matter asymptotically. Now, we consider the following normalized approximation for moments (for convenience, we denote them by m_{i} .):

$$m_i \approx \frac{\hat{m}_i}{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} \hat{m}_i}, i = k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, \dots, n-1.$$

(2.8)

Note that if $a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, \ldots, a_0, a_2, \ldots, a_{n-1}$ satisfy (2.5) then $a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, \ldots, a_0, a_2, \ldots, a_{n-1}$ also satisfy

$$\frac{\int_0^1 B_i^k(x) e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} d\lambda(x)}{\int_0^1 e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} d\lambda(x)} = m_i, \ i = -k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, 2, \dots, n-1.$$

The nonlinear equations in (2.5) form the following system of n + k nonlinear equations:

$$G(a) = 0,$$

where $G: \mathbb{R}^{n+k} \to \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$ defined by

$$G_i(a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, \dots, a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}) = \int_0^1 B_i^k(x) e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i \phi_i^k(x)} d\lambda(x) - m_i,$$

$$i = -k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, \dots, n-1$$

The Jacobian matrix $G' = (g'_{i,j})_{-k \le i,j \le n-1}$ of *G* is defined by

$$g'_{i,j} = \frac{\partial G_i}{\partial a_j} = \int_0^1 B_i^k(x) e^{\sum_{k=-k}^{n-1} a_k B_i^k(x)} B_j^k(x) d\lambda(x), \ i, j = -k, -k+1, \dots, 0, 1, \dots, n-1.$$

Proposition 2.5. *The system* (2.5) *has a unique solution* $a = (a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, ..., a_0, a_1, ..., a_{n-1}).$

Proof. Since support of B_i^k and B_j^k are disjoint for |i - j| > k, it is clear that Jacobian matrix G' of G is symmetric. Let

$$\boldsymbol{\beta} = (\boldsymbol{\beta}_{-k}, \boldsymbol{\beta}_{-k+1}, \dots, \boldsymbol{\beta}_0, \boldsymbol{\beta}_1, \dots, \boldsymbol{\beta}_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+k}.$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \beta G' \beta^T &= \sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} \sum_{j=-k}^{n-1} \beta_i \beta_j \int_0^1 B_i^k(x) e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} B_j^k(x) d\lambda(x) \\ &= \int_0^1 \sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} \sum_{j=-k}^{n-1} \beta_i B_i^k(x) e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} B_j^k(x) \beta_j d\lambda(x) \\ &= \int_0^1 \left(\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} \beta_i B_i^k(x) \right) e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} \left(\sum_{j=-k}^{n-1} B_j^k(x) \beta_j \right) d\lambda(x) > 0. \end{split}$$

Thus, G' is positive definite. Let

$$g(a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, \dots, a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1}) = \int_0^1 e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)} d\lambda(x) - \sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i m_i.$$

Now, consider the following global minimization problem:

$$\min_{(a_{-k},a_{-k+1},\dots,a_{0},a_{1},\dots,a_{n-1})\in\mathbb{R}^{n+k}}g(a_{-k},a_{-k+1},\dots,a_{0},a_{1},\dots,a_{n-1})$$
(2.9)

It can be shown that the system (2.5) of equations is the gradient equation of the global minimization problem (2.9). Since G' is positive definite, the objective function g is strictly convex on \mathbb{R}^{n+k} . Moreover, $g(a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, \dots, a_0, a_1, \dots, a_{n-1})$ is coercive on its domain. Thus, the above global unconditioned convex programming problem (2.9) has a unique solution and therefore, the system (2.5) has a unique solution.

Algorithm: Choose *n* and *k*. Calculate the moments m_i , i = -k, -k + 1, ..., 0, 1..., n - 1 using (2.8) and use these moments m_i , i = -k, -k + 1, ..., 0, 1..., n - 1 to find $a = (a_{-k}, a_{-k+1}, ..., a_0, a_1, ..., a_{n-1})$. Then the solution of the maximum moment problem (2.6) is

$$f_n^k(x) = e^{\sum_{i=-k}^{n-1} a_i B_i^k(x)}$$

which is an approximation of the density function f^* of the acim μ^* for the map τ .

For convergence analysis, we also assume that the unique invariant measure f^* of τ is used in Equation (2.4) for the calculations of moments m_i , i = -k, -k + 1, ..., 0, 1, ..., n - 1. Our convergence analysis is based on the following general convergence theory for moment problem developed by Borwein and Lewis in [25].

Let *X* be a locally convex topological vector space with nested sequence of compact subsets $\{G_n\}$. Let $W: X \to [-\infty, \infty)$ be a functional with compact level sets. Let g_n be an optimal solution of $\max\{W(h): h \in G_n\}$ and g_∞ be the unique optimal solution of the limiting problem $\max\{W(h): h \in \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty}G_n\}$ with $W(g_\infty) > -\infty$. It was proved in [25] that $\lim_{n\to\infty}g_n = g_\infty$ under the topology of *X* and $\lim_{n\to\infty}W(g_n) = W(g_\infty)$. For our B-spline maximum entropy method of degree *k*, we partition the interval [0, 1] in the following special way so that the feasible sets are monotonically decreasing. First we divide [0, 1] into k + 1 equal subintervals. Then we divide one subinterval of the current partition into k + 1 equal parts at each step in succession. Thus the corresponding n + k-dimensional spaces Δ_n^k of spline functions of degree *k* are monotonically increasing, which guarantees that the feasible sets of the maximum entropy method are monotonically decreasing. Furthermore, by property of the Boltzmann entropy in the previous section, these feasible sets are weakly compact in $L^1(0, 1)$. Since $L^1(0, 1)$ is a locally convex topological vector space in the weak topology, the above weak convergence implies the weak convergence of our method. Thus, we have the following theorem:

Theorem 2.6. Let $\tau: I \to I$ be a deterministic dynamical system with the unique fixed point f^* of the Frobenius - Perron operator P_{τ} satisfying $H(f^*) > -\infty$ and f_n be the sequence of solutions in (2.10). Then $\lim_{n\to\infty} f_n = f^*$ weakly and $\lim_{n\to\infty} H(f_n) = H(f^*)$.

Note that a functional *W* on a normed space *X* into $[-\infty,\infty)$ is called a **Kadec** if $x_n \to x$ weakly and $W(x_n) \to W(x)$ imply $x_n \to x$ strongly. It can be shown that Boltzmann entropy functional *H* in (2.1) is Kadec (see [25]). Thus, we have the following strong convergence result.

Theorem 2.7. Let $\tau: I \to I$ be a deterministic dynamical system with the unique fixed point f^* of the Frobenius - Perron operator P_{τ} satisfying $H(f^*) > -\infty$ and f_n be the sequence of solutions in (2.10). Then $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||f_n - f^*||_1 = 0$.

3. Numerical examples for Lyapunov exponents and invariant measures of one dimensional chaotic maps via piecewise spline maximum entropy method

In this section, we give two the results from two numerical examples to illustrate our method. Our first example uses the well-known logistic map for which the density function f* of the acim is known and hence hence the analytical Lyapunov exponent l is also known. The second example uses a piecewise polynomial mapping whose corresponding density function is not known. For both of these examples we apply our piecewise spline maximum entropy method using piecewise linear, piecewise quadratic, and piecewise cubic splines.

Example 3.1. We consider the well known logistic map $\tau : [0,1] \to [0,1]$ defined by $\tau(x) = 4x(1-x)$. The actual density f^* of τ is given by $f^*(x) = \frac{1}{\pi\sqrt{x(1-x)}}$. The logistic map τ is topologically conjugate to the tent map and it is known that the Lyapunov exponent for the logistic map τ is $l = \ln 2 = 0.693147$. Now, we apply (a) piecewise linear maximum entropy method; (b) piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method; (c) piecewise cubic maximum entropy method and we compute approximate Lyapunov exponent l_n , error $E_n = |l_n - l|$, the approximate density function f_n and the L^1 -norm $|| f_n - f^* ||_1$.

In Figure 3.1, using (a) piecewise linear maximum entropy method; (b) piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method and (c) piecewise cubic maximum entropy method, we present the graph of the actual density function $f^*(x) = \frac{1}{\pi\sqrt{x(1-x)}}$ (red) and the graph of the approximate density function f_n (blue). Gauss quadrature method is used for integrations. 500,000 iterations are used for the approximation of moments.





Figure 3.2: Approximate density f_n of the density function f^* of invariant measure μ^* for the map τ via piecewise spline maximum entropy method: Figure 3.1 (a) approximate density f_{32} (blue) via piecewise linear maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red); Figure 3.1 (b) approximate density f_{32} (blue) via piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red); Figure 3.1 (c) approximate density f_{16} (blue) via piecewise cubic maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red); Figure 3.1 (c) approximate density f_{16} (blue) via piecewise cubic maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red); Figure 3.1 (c) approximate density f_{16} (blue) via piecewise cubic maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red).

п	l _n (piecewise linear)	$ l_n - l $ (piecewise linear)	$ f_n - f^* _1$ (piecewise linear)
4	0.68775	0.00539	0.22098
8	0.69363	0.00049	0.15821
16	0.69355	0.00040	0.10494
32	0.69361	0.00046	0.07745

n	l_n (piecewise quad)	$ l_n - l $ (piecewise quad)	$ f_n - f^* _1$ (piecewise quad)
4	0.67348	0.01965	0.17346
8	0.69092	0.00222	0.12631
16	0.693443	0.0002	0.08778
32	0.69352	0.00037	0.05108

n	l_n (piecewise cubic)	(piecewise cubic)	$ f_n - f^* _1$ (piecewise cubic)
4	0.70605	0.01290	0.15001
8	0.69570	0.00255	0.10621
16	0.69391	0.00255	0.06343
32	0.69352	0.00037	0.05108

The density function $f^*(x) = \frac{1}{\pi\sqrt{x(1-x)}}$ of the invariant measure μ^* is known for the logistic map $\tau(x) = 4x(1-x)$. Therefore, instead of (2.7) one can use (2.4) for the calculations of moments. In the following tables we present some approximate Lyapunov exponents l_n and error $|l_n - l|$ using piecewise linear, piecewise quadratic and piecewise cubic maximum entropy method, where we have used (2.4) for moments.

piecewise spline method	n	l_n	$ l_n - l $
piecewise linear	4	0.68812	0.00503
piecewise linear	32	0.69363	0.00048
piecewise quad	32	0.69349	0.00034
piecewise cubic	32	0.69352	0.00037

Example 3.2. We consider the map $\tau : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$ defined by

$$\tau(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{3}{2}x^2 + \frac{5}{4}x, & 0 \le x < \frac{1}{2}, \\\\ \frac{3}{2}(1-x)^2 + \frac{5}{4}(1-x), & \frac{1}{2} \le x \le 1, \end{cases}$$

The map τ is is a piecewise expanding map. However, analytical density function of τ is not known. We apply (a) piecewise linear maximum entropy method; (b) piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method; (c) piecewise cubic maximum entropy method and we compute approximate Lyapunov exponent l_n .

п	l _n (piecewise linear)	l_n (piecewise quadratic)	l _n (piecewise cubic)
4	0.63118	0.63104	0.63132
8	0.63105	0.63104	0.63114
16	0.63105	0.63104	0.63105

In Figure 3.2, using (a) piecewise linear maximum entropy method; (b) piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method and (c) piecewise cubic maximum entropy method, we present the graph of the histogram (with 500,000 iterations) of an approximate density function (black) and the graph of the approximate density function f_n (red). Gauss quadrature method is used for integrations.

Example 3.3. We consider the map $\tau : [0,1] \rightarrow [0,1]$ defined by

$$\tau(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{2x}{1-x}, & 0 \le x < \frac{1}{3}, \\ \\ \frac{1-x}{2x}, & \frac{1}{3} \le x \le 1, \end{cases}$$

The actual density f^* of τ is given by $f^*(x) = \frac{2}{(1-x)^2}$. The Lyapunov exponent for the map τ is $l \approx = 0.693147$. Now, we apply (a) piecewise linear maximum entropy method; (b) piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method; (c) piecewise cubic maximum entropy method and we compute approximate Lyapunov exponent l_n , error $E_n = |l_n - l|$.

In Figure 3.3, using (a) piecewise linear maximum entropy method; (b) piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method and (c) piecewise cubic maximum entropy method, we present the graph of the actual density function $f^*(x) = \frac{2}{(1-x)^2}$. (red) and the graph of the approximate density function f_n (blue). Gauss quadrature method is used for integrations. 500,000 iterations are used for the approximation of moments.



Figure 3.3: Histogram and approximate density via piecewise spline maximum entropy method: Figure 3.2 (a) the histogram of the density function of the map τ with 500,000 points on the trajectory of the map τ with 1000 subintervals for [0, 1]. and the graph of the approximate density function f_{16} via piecewise linear maximum entropy method; Figure 3.2 (b) the same histogram and the graph of the approximate density function f_8 via piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method; Figure 3.2 (c) the same histogram and the graph of the approximate density function f_{16} via piecewise cubic maximum entropy method; Figure 3.2 (c) the same histogram and the graph of the approximate density function f_{16} via piecewise cubic maximum entropy method;



Figure 3.4: Approximate density f_n of the density function f^* of invariant measure μ^* for the map τ via piecewise spline maximum entropy method: Figure 3.3 (a) approximate density f_{32} (blue) via piecewise linear maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red); Figure 3.2 (b) approximate density f_{32} (blue) via piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red); Figure 3.3 (c) approximate density f_{16} (blue) via piecewise cubic maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red); Figure 3.3 (c) approximate density f_{16} (blue) via piecewise cubic maximum entropy method and the actual density f^* (red); Figure 3.3 (c) approximate density f_{16} (blue) via piecewise cubic

n	l _n (piecewise linear)	$ l_n - l $ (piecewise linear)
4	0.69323	0.00009
8	0.69316	0.00001
16	0.69316	0.00001
32	0.69314	0.000008

п	l_n (piecewise quad)	$ l_n - l $ (piecewise quad)
4	0.69323	0.00008
8	0.69314	0.00005
16	0.69313	0.00001
32	0.69314	0.000001

n	l_n (piecewise cubic)	(piecewise cubic)
4	0.69300	0.00014
8	0.69325	0.00010
16	0.69314	0.00003

The density function $f^*(x) = \frac{2}{(1-x)^2}$ of the invariant measure μ^* is known for the map τ . Therefore, instead of (2.7) one can use (2.4) for the calculations of moments. In the following tables we present some approximate Lyapunov exponents l_n and error $|l_n - l|$ using piecewise linear and piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method, where we have used (2.4) for moments.

piecewise spline method	n	l_n	$ l_n - l $
piecewise linear	4	0.69324	0.00008
piecewise linear	16	0.69314	0.000005
piecewise quad	16	0.69314	0.000005

4. Conclusion

In this paper, we study numerical computations of Lyapunov exponents for deterministic chaotic dynamical systems in one dimension. First, we discuss the fact that the Lyapunov exponent is one of the key tools for determining whether a deterministic dynamical system is chaotic or not. Moreover, we show that the computation of Lyapunov exponents of dynamical systems depends on the computation of invariant measures of dynamical systems. Then, we study a general piecewise spline maximum entropy method for the computation of Lyapunov exponents and invariant measures for deterministic dynamical systems. We present a proof of convergence of the general piecewise spline maximum entropy method. The general piecewise spline maximum entropy method includes piecewise linear, piecewise quadratic, piecewise cubic and higher order maximum entropy methods. Finally, we present two examples where we compute Lyapunov exponents of dynamical systems via piecewise linear, piecewise quadratic and piecewise cubic maximum entropy methods. Moreover, we compute invariant measures of the dynamical systems. In the first example we present errors between the numerical results and analytical results (both for Lyapunov exponent and invariant measures). The numerical examples show that the piecewise spline maximum entropy method is a useful method for the computation of Lyapunov exponents and invariant measures for deterministic dynamical systems. In future we plan to study the speed of convergence of the piecewise spline maximum entropy method for the computation of Lyapunov exponents and invariant measures.

Acknowledgement

The author is grateful to anonymous referees for their valuable comments which improves the presentation of the manuscript. This research is funded by NSERC DG grant 2017-05321 of the author at the University of Prince Edward Island, PE, Canada.

References

- [1] A. M. Lyapunov, Problem Général de la Stabilité du Mouvement (French), Ann. Fac. Univ. Touluse, 9(2) (1947), 203-474.
- V. I. Oseledec, A multiplicative ergodic theorem. Characteristic Liapunov, exponents of dynamical systems (Russian), Tr. Mosk. Mat. Obs., 19 (1968), [2] 79-210. A. Wolf, *Quantifying chaos with Lyapunov exponents*, Nonlinear Sci. Theory Appl., Manchester Univ. Press, Manchester, 1986.
- [4] A. Boyarsky, A matrix method for estimating the Lyapunov exponent of one-dimensional systems, J. Stat. Phys., 50(1-2) (1988), 213-229.
- [5] C. Robinson, Dynamical Systems : Stability, Symbolic Dynamics, and Chaos, Boca Raton : CRC Press, 1995.
 [6] A. Lasota, M. C. Mackey, Chaos, Fractals, and Noise. Stochastic Aspects of Dynamics, Second edition, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994.
- [7] G. Froyland, K. Judd, A. I. Mess, Estimation of dynamical systems using a spatial average, Phys. Rev. E (3), 51(4 part A) (1995), 2844-2855. [8] G. Gencaya, W. D. Dechert, An algorithm for the n Lyapunov exponents of an n-dimensional unknown dynamical system, Phys. D: Nonlinear Phenom., 59(1-3) (1992), 142-157
- [9] P. Bryant, R. Brown, H. D. I. Abarbenel, Lyapunov exponents from observed time series, Phys. Rev. Lett., 65(13) (1990), 1523-1526.
- [10] S. Ellner, A. R. Gallant, D. McCaffrey, D. Nychka, Convergence rates and data requirements for Jacobian based estimates of Lyapunov exponents from data, Physics Letters A, 153 (6-7) (1991), 357-363.
- [11] L. R. Mead, N. Papanicolaou, Maximum entropy in the problem of moments, J. Math. Phys., 25 (1984), 2404 -2417.
- [12] E. T. Jaynes, Information theory and statistical mechanics, Phys. Rev., 106 (1957), 620-630.
- [13] J. Ding, N. H. Rhee, A unified maximum entropy method via spline functions for Frobenius -Perron operators, Numer. Algebra Control Optim., 3(2) (2013), 235-245.
- [14] J. Ding, A maximum entropy method for solving Frobenius-Perron equations, Appl. Math. Comp., 93 (1998), 155-168.
- [15] J. Ding, C. Jin, N. H. Rhee, A. Zhou, A maximum entropy method based on piecewise linear functions for the recovery of a stationary density of interval maps, J. Stat. Phys., 145 (2011), 1620-1639.
- [16] J. Ding, R. L. Mead, The maximum entropy method applied to stationary density computation, Appl. Math. Comp., 185 (2007), 658-666.
- [17] J. Ding, N. H. Rhee, A maximum entropy method based on orthogonal polynomials for Frobenius-Perron operators, Adv. Applied Math. Mec., 3(2) (2011), 204-218
- [18] J. Ding, N. H. Rhee, Birkhoff's ergodic theorem and the piecewise constant maximum entropy method for Frobenius-Perron operators, Inter. J. Computer Math., 89(8) (2012), 1083-1091.
- [19] T. Upadhay, J. Ding, N. H. Rhee, A piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method for the statistical study of chaos, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 421 (2015), 1487-1501. [20] C. J. Bose, R. Murray, Dynamical conditions for convergence of a maximum entropy method for Frobenius-Perron operator equations., Appl. Math.
- Comput., 182(1) (2006), 210-212.
- [21] M. S. Islam, Maximum entropy method for position dependent random maps, Internat. J. Bifur. Chaos Appl. Sci. Engng., 21 (2011), 1805-1811.
- [22] M. S. Islam, A piecewise quadratic maximum entropy method for invariant measures of position dependent random maps, Dyn. Contin. Discrete Impuls. Syst. Ser. A Math. Anal., 24(6) (2017), 431-445.
- [23] P. Biswas, H. Shimoyama, R. L. Mead, Lyapunov exponents and the natural invariant density determination of chaotic maps: an iterative maximum entropy ansatz, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 43(12) (2010), 1-12.
- A. Lasota, J. A. Yorke, On the existence of invariant measures for piecewise monotonic transformations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 186 (1973), 481-488. [25] J. M. Borwein, A. S. Lewis, Convergence of the best entropy estimates, SIAM J. Optim., 1(2) (1991), 191-205.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.598107



Symmetry Analysis and Conservation Laws of the Boundary Value Problems for Time-Fractional Generalized Burgers' Differential Equation

Gulistan Iskenderoglu^{1*} and Dogan Kaya¹

¹Istanbul Commerce University, Faculty of Art and Science, Istanbul, Turkey *Corresponding author E-mail: gulistan.iskandarova@istanbulticaret.edu.tr

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Boundary value problem, Conservation laws, Generalized Burgers' equation, Lie groups method, Riemann–Liouville derivative 2010 AMS: 35G30, 35L65, 4H15, 26A33 Received: 29 July 2019 Accepted: 10 December 2019 Available online: 20 December 2019

Many physical phenomena in nature can be described or modeled via a differential equation or a system of differential equations. In this work, we restrict our attention to research a solution of fractional nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equations. Thereby we find some exact solutions for the nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equation with a fractional derivative, which has domain as $\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+$. Here we use the Lie groups method. After applying the Lie groups to the boundary value problem we get the partial differential equations on the domain \mathbb{R}^2 with reduced boundary and initial conditions. Also, we find conservation laws for the nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equation.

1. Introduction

The research of exact solutions plays an important role in the study of nonlinear systems. Many methods as the inverse scattering method [1], Hirota bilinear method [2], Lie symmetry analysis [3,4], CK (Clarkson-Kruskal) method [5,6], etc. have been developed to find these exact physically significant solutions of the partial differential equation, although this is rather difficult. Our work in this area is to use Lie transformation methods and its analysis to search exact solutions to fractional nonlinear partial differential equations. It is known that the Lie group method is a powerful and direct approach to the construction of exact solutions of nonlinear differential equations. Essentially, the symmetry analysis is aimed at using the symmetry of the equation. The process thus obtained reduces the complexity of the given equation. Even though physical phenomena are mostly based on searching the solution of the underlying nonlinear model equations, it is to difficult to find a general solution of the fractional nonlinear partial differential equations. While there is no existing general theory for nonlinear partial differential equations, many special cases have yielded to appropriate changes of variable [7–11]. In fact, transformations are perhaps the most powerful tool currently available in this area [12–14]. Ivanova, Sophocleous and Tracin in [15] investigated the Lie symmetry analysis of (2+1) - dimensional variable coefficient Burgers differential equation of the form

$$u_t = A(t)u_{xx} + B(t)u_{yy} + uu_x.$$

They obtained the symmetries, according them conservation laws and some analytical solutions for above equation. Later Abd-el-Malek and Amin in [16] studied the symmetry analysis of the generalized (1+1)-dimensional Burgers differential equation in the form

$$u_t + \alpha(u^n)_x = \beta g(t)(u^n)_{xx}$$

with boundary and initial conditions $u(0,x) \longrightarrow \infty$, for x > 0, $u(t,0) = \gamma r(t)$, for t > 0, $\gamma \neq 0$, and $\lim_{x \to \infty} u(t,x) \longrightarrow \infty$, for t > 0.

Some recent studies of Burgers differential equation the reader can see in [17, 18].

In this research, we show the applying of Lie group analysis to study (2+1)-dimensional time-fractional generalized Burgers' differential equation with boundary and initially conditions:

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: gulistan.iskandarova@istanbulticaret.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7322-1339 (G. Iskenderoglu), dogank@ticaret.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3420-7718 (D. Kaya)

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + P\nabla(u^{n}) = Rg(t) \triangle(u^{n}), \tag{1.1}$$

$$u(0,x,y) \longrightarrow \infty, \qquad (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$$

$$u(t,0,0) = \Phi(t), \qquad t \in [0,\infty),$$

$$\lim_{(x,y) \to (\infty,\infty)} u(t,x,y) \longrightarrow \infty, \qquad t \in [0,\infty).$$
(1.2)

Here $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $t \in \mathbb{R}^+$, $0 < \alpha \le 1$, n > 1, $P, R \ne 0$ and $\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u}{\partial t^{\alpha}}$ is a fractional derivative which is considered in the Riemann–Liouville terms as [19]

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} f(t)}{\partial t^{\alpha}} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \frac{d^n}{dt^n} \int_0^t \frac{f(\tau)}{(t-\tau)^{\alpha+1-n}} d\tau, & if \quad \alpha \notin \mathbb{N}, \quad n-1 < \alpha < n, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}, \\ \frac{d^n}{dt^n} f(t), & if \quad \alpha, n \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$

Moreover we investigate the conservation laws for above equation by using Ibragimov's theorem for fractional derivative equations [7, 20]. The Lie group or Lie symmetry analysis allows us to see that the underlying symmetry algebra of the equation reduce the dimension, it is since each of the time-fractional equations is invariant under time translation symmetry. So, by using the Lie symmetry, we show that the fractional partial differential equation with the domain $\mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+$ can be transformed into a nonlinear fractional partial differential equation with the domain \mathbb{R}^2 .

2. Symmetry analysis for time fractional partial differential equation

Consider a time-fractional partial differential equations with three independent variables x > 0, y > 0, and t > 0 as following:

$$F(x, y, t, u, \partial_t^{\alpha} u, u_x, u_y, u_{xx}, u_{yy}) = 0, \quad 0 < \alpha \le 1,$$

$$(2.1)$$

where $\partial_t^{\alpha} u$ is Riemann–Liouville fractional derivative of u.

A one parameter Lie symmetry transformations acting on a space of three independent variables (t, x, y) and depended variable u are determined as

$$\bar{t} = t + \varepsilon \tau(t, x, y, u) + O(\varepsilon^{2}),$$

$$\bar{x} = x + \varepsilon \xi_{1}(t, x, y, u) + O(\varepsilon^{2}),$$

$$\bar{y} = y + \varepsilon \xi_{2}(t, x, y, u) + O(\varepsilon^{2}),$$

$$\bar{u} = u + \varepsilon \eta(t, x, y, u) + O(\varepsilon^{2}),$$
(2.2)

where $\varepsilon > 0$ is an infinitesimal group parameter. The infinitesimal generator associated with the above transformations can be written as:

$$X = \xi_1(t, x, y, u) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \xi_2(t, x, y, u) \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \tau(t, x, y, u) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \eta(t, x, y, u) \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

with $\xi_1 = \frac{d\bar{x}}{d\epsilon}|_{\epsilon=0}$, $\xi_2 = \frac{d\bar{y}}{d\epsilon}|_{\epsilon=0}$, $\tau = \frac{d\bar{t}}{d\epsilon}|_{\epsilon=0}$ and $\eta = \frac{d\bar{u}}{d\epsilon}|_{\epsilon=0}$. According to the infinitesimal invariant criterion (2.2), prolongation $pr^{(\alpha,2)}X$ to equation (2.1) has the form

$$pr^{(\alpha,2)}X(E)|_{E=0}=0, \qquad E=F(t,x,y,u,\partial_t^{\alpha}u,u_x,u_{xx})=0,$$

here the operator $pr^{(\alpha,2)}X$ takes the following form

$$pr^{(\alpha,2)}X = X + \eta^t_\alpha \partial_{\partial_t^\alpha u} + \eta^x_1 \partial_{u_x} + \eta^x_2 \partial_{u_{xx}} + \eta^y_1 \partial_{u_y} + \eta^y_2 \partial_{u_{yy}}$$

where

$$\eta_{\alpha}^{t} = D_{t}^{\alpha}(\eta) + \xi_{1}D_{t}^{\alpha}(u_{x}) - D_{t}^{\alpha}(\xi_{1}u_{x}) + \xi_{2}D_{t}^{\alpha}(u_{y}) - D_{t}^{\alpha}(\xi_{2}u_{y}) + D_{t}^{\alpha}(uD_{t}(\tau)) - D_{t}^{\alpha+1}(\tau u) + \tau D_{t}^{\alpha+1}(u),$$

$$\eta_{1}^{x} = D_{x}\eta - u_{x}D_{x}\xi_{1} - u_{y}D_{x}\xi_{2} - u_{t}D_{x}\tau,$$

$$\eta_{2}^{x} = D_{x}\eta_{1}^{x} - u_{xx}D_{x}\xi_{1} - u_{xy}D_{x}\xi_{2} - u_{xt}D_{x}\tau,$$

$$\eta_{1}^{y} = D_{y}\eta - u_{x}D_{y}\xi_{1} - u_{y}D_{y}\xi_{2} - u_{t}D_{y}\tau,$$

$$\eta_{2}^{y} = D_{y}\eta_{1}^{y} - u_{yx}D_{y}\xi_{1} - u_{yy}D_{y}\xi_{2} - u_{yt}D_{y}\tau,$$

(2.3)

with D_i is the total derivative

$$D_i = \partial_i + u_i \partial_u + u_{it} \partial_{u_t} + u_{jt} \partial_{u_t} + u_{ii} \partial_{u_i} + u_{jj} \partial_{u_j} + \dots$$

and D_t^{α} is a fractional derivative operator with respect to t.

The expression for η_1^x , η_2^y , η_2^x , and η_2^y in (2.3) can be easily obtained [4,21], here we concentrate our attention on η_{α}^t . Using the generalized Leibnitz rule, that was given in [22]

$$D_t^{\alpha}(f(t)g(t)) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} {\alpha \choose n} D_t^{\alpha-n} f(t) D_t^n g(t), \qquad {\alpha \choose n} = \frac{(-1)^{n-1} \alpha \Gamma(n-\alpha)}{\Gamma(1-\alpha) \Gamma(n+1)}.$$

So we get

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_1 D_t^{\alpha}(u_x) - D_t^{\alpha}(\xi_1 u_x) &= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \binom{\alpha}{n} D_t^{\alpha-n}(u_x) D_t^n(\xi_1), \\ \xi_2 D_t^{\alpha}(u_y) - D_t^{\alpha}(\xi_2 u_y) &= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \binom{\alpha}{n} D_t^{\alpha-n}(u_y) D_t^n(\xi_2), \end{aligned}$$

and

$$D_t^{\alpha}(uD_t(\tau)) - D_t^{\alpha+1}(\tau u) + \tau D_t^{\alpha+1}(u) = -\alpha D_t(\tau) D_t^{\alpha}(u) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} {\alpha \choose n+1} D_t^{\alpha-n}(u) D_t^{n+1}(\tau).$$

Thereby we get the expression

$$\eta_{\alpha}^{t} = D_{t}^{\alpha}(\eta) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \binom{\alpha}{n} D_{t}^{\alpha-n}(u_{x}) D_{t}^{n}(\xi_{1}) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \binom{\alpha}{n} D_{t}^{\alpha-n}(u_{y}) D_{t}^{n}(\xi_{2}) - \alpha D_{t}(\tau) D_{t}^{\alpha}(u) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \binom{\alpha}{n+1} D_{t}^{\alpha-n}(u) D_{t}^{n+1}(\tau).$$

According to the compound function of the chain rule [23] we get

$$\frac{d^m f(g(t))}{dt^m} = \sum_{k=0}^m \sum_{r=0}^k \binom{k}{r} \frac{1}{k!} (-g(t))^r \frac{d^m}{dt^m} \left(g(t)^{k-r}\right) \frac{d^k f(g)}{dg^k}$$

Thus infinitesimal η^t_{α} takes a form

$$\eta_{\alpha}^{t} = \frac{\partial^{\alpha} \eta}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + (\eta_{u} - \alpha(\tau_{t} + u_{t}\tau_{u}))\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u}{\partial t^{\alpha}} - u\frac{\partial^{\alpha} \eta_{u}}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + \mu$$

$$+\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\left[\binom{\alpha}{n}\frac{\partial^{n}\eta_{u}}{\partial t^{n}}-\binom{\alpha}{n+1}D_{t}^{n+1}\tau\right]D_{t}^{\alpha-n}u-\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\binom{\alpha}{n}D_{t}^{n}(\xi_{1})D_{t}^{\alpha-n}(u_{x})-\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\binom{\alpha}{n}D_{t}^{\alpha-n}(u_{y})D_{t}^{n}(\xi_{2}),$$

where

$$\mu = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=2}^{n} \sum_{k=2}^{m} \sum_{r=0}^{k} \binom{\alpha}{n} \binom{n}{m} \binom{k}{r} \frac{1}{k!} \frac{t^{n-\alpha}(-u)^{r}}{\Gamma(n+1-\alpha)} \frac{\partial^{m}}{\partial t^{m}} \left(u^{k-r}\right) \frac{\partial^{n-m+k}\eta}{\partial t^{n-m}\partial u^{k}}$$

3. Symmetry analysis for time-fractional nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equation

After some easy mathematical transformations our equation (1.1) can be written in the form

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + nPu^{n-1}(u_x + u_y) = nRg(t)((n-1)u^{n-2}(u_x^2 + u_y^2) + u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})).$$
(3.1)

By substitution of transformations (2.2) and (2.3) into (3.1) and equating the multiplier of ε to zero we get that, for the fractional nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equation (3.1) the invariance criterion takes the form

$$\eta_{\alpha}^{t} + n(n-1)Pu^{n-2}\eta(u_{x}+u_{y}) + nPu^{n-1}(\eta_{1}^{x}+\eta_{1}^{y}) - n(n-1)(n-2)Rg(t)u^{n-3}\eta(u_{x}^{2}+u_{y}^{2})$$

$$-2n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(\eta_{1}^{x}+\eta_{1}^{y}) - n(n-1)Rg'(t)u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2}+u_{y}^{2})\tau \qquad (3.2)$$

$$-n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_{xx}+u_{yy})\eta - nRg'(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx}+u_{yy})\tau - nRg(t)u^{n-1}(\eta_{2}^{x}+\eta_{2}^{y}) = 0.$$

Substituting the extended infinitesimals (2.3) into the equation (3.2) we get following system of differential equations:

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_u \xi_1 &= \partial_u \xi_2 = \partial_t \xi_1 = \partial_t \xi_2 = \partial_u \tau = \partial_x \tau = \partial_y \tau = \eta_{uu} = 0, \\ P\eta(n^2 - n) + Rg(t)\partial_x \eta(2n - 2n^2) + u(nP\alpha\partial_t \tau - nP(\partial_y \xi_1 + \partial_x \xi_1) + nRg(t)(\partial_{yy} \xi_1 + \partial_{xx} \xi_1) + 2nRg(t)\partial_{xu} \eta) = 0, \\ P\eta(n^2 - n) + Rg(t)\partial_y \eta(2n - 2n^2) + u(nP\alpha\partial_t \tau - nP(\partial_y \xi_2 + \partial_x \xi_2) + nRg(t)(\partial_{yy} \xi_2 + \partial_{xx} \xi_2) + 2nRg(t)\partial_{yu} \eta) = 0, \\ Rg(t)\eta(n - n^2) + u(-nRg'(t)\tau - nR\alpha g(t)\partial_t \tau + 2nRg(t)\partial_x \xi_1) = 0, \\ Rg(t)\eta(n - n^2) + u(-nRg'(t)\tau - nR\alpha g(t)\partial_t \tau + 2nRg(t)\partial_x \xi_2) = 0, \\ \partial_{ut}\eta - \frac{\alpha - 1}{2}\partial_{tt}\tau = 0, \end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{\partial^{\alpha}\eta}{\partial t^{\alpha}} - u\frac{\partial^{\alpha}\eta_{u}}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + nPu^{n-1}(\partial_{x}\eta + \partial_{y}\eta) - nRg(t)u^{n-1}(\partial_{xx}\eta + \partial_{yy}\eta) = 0.$$

In below we study some cases and obtain generating infinitesimal operators for classification of solutions of the equation. *Case 1:* For arbitrary g(t) and $0 < \alpha \le 1$ we get infinitesimals as

$$\xi_1 = c_1, \ \xi_2 = c_2, \ \tau = 0, \ \eta = 0,$$

here c_1 and c_2 are arbitrary constants and there are two infinitesimal operators

$$X_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$$
 $X_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}.$

Case 2: For g(t) = 1 we get following infinitesimals

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_1 &= c_1, \\ \xi_2 &= c_2, \\ \tau &= c_3 t + c_4, \\ \eta &= -\frac{\alpha c_3}{n-1} u, \end{aligned}$$

here c_1, c_2, c_3 , and c_4 are arbitrary constants and thus we obtain two additional infinitesimal operators

$$X_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \qquad X_4 = t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\alpha}{1-n} u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}.$$

Case 3: For $g(t) = t^b$ with $b \neq 0$ we have infinitesimals as

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_1 &= c_5 x + c_6, \\ \xi_2 &= c_5 x + c_7, \\ \tau &= c_5 \frac{t}{b}, \\ \eta &= \frac{b - \alpha}{b(n-1)} c_5 u \end{aligned}$$

here c_5, c_6 , and c_7 are arbitrary constants and there is one additional infinitesimal operator

$$X_3 = x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \frac{t}{b}\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{b-\alpha}{b(n-1)}u\frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

Case 4: For $g(t) = e^t$ we obtain following infinitesimals in a form

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_1 &= c_6 x + c_7, \\ \xi_2 &= c_6 y + c_8, \\ \tau &= c_6, \\ \eta &= \frac{c_6}{n-1} u, \end{aligned}$$

here c_6, c_7 and c_8 are arbitrary constants and we have one additional infinitesimal operator

$$X_3 = x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{n-1}u\frac{\partial}{\partial u}.$$

4. Symmetry reductions of the time fractional nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equation

Now, we obtain similarity reductions and present the reduced nonlinear fractional ordinary differential equations. Also we classify the corresponding group invariant solutions of the fractional nonlinear generalized Burgers' equation. *Case 2:* For g(t) = 1 we have four infinitesimal operators

$$X_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad X_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad X_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}, \qquad X_4 = t \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\alpha}{1 - n} u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}.$$

The similarity variables for infinitesimal operator X_1 and X_2 can be found by solving the corresponding characteristic equation

$$\frac{dx}{1} = \frac{dy}{0} = \frac{dt}{0} = \frac{du}{0} \qquad \qquad \frac{dx}{0} = \frac{dy}{1} = \frac{dt}{0} = \frac{du}{0}.$$

Thus we obtain the similarity reduction $u = \phi(t)$, by substituting which into (1.1) we get

$$D_t^{\alpha}\phi(t) = 0.$$

Thereby the exact solution of time fractional nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equation (1.1) with X_1 and X_2 is

$$u(t, x, y) = ct^{\alpha - 1}$$

where c is arbitrary constant.

For infinitesimal operator X_3 the corresponding characteristic equation is in a form

$$\frac{dx}{0} = \frac{dy}{0} = \frac{dt}{1} = \frac{du}{0}$$

This equation gives us a similarity reduction $u = \phi(x, y)$, by substituting which into (1.1) we have

$$u(t, x, y) = 0$$

And the similarity variables for infinitesimal operator X_4 can be found by solving the corresponding characteristic equation

$$\frac{dx}{0} = \frac{dy}{0} = \frac{dt}{t} = \frac{du}{\frac{\alpha u}{1-n}}$$

Here we have $u = t^{\frac{\alpha}{1-n}} \phi(x, y)$ similarity reduction, by substituting it into (1.1) we get

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)}\frac{d}{dt}\int_{0}^{t}(t-s)^{-\alpha}s^{\frac{\alpha}{1-n}}\phi(x,y)ds+nPt^{\frac{\alpha}{1-n}}(\phi(x,y))^{n-1}(\partial_{x}\phi(x,y)+\partial_{y}\phi(x,y))$$

$$-Rt^{\frac{\alpha n}{1-n}}(n(\phi(x,y))^{n-1}(\partial_{xx}\phi(x,y)+\partial_{yy}\phi(x,y))+n(n-1)(\phi(x,y))^{n-2}((\partial_{x}\phi(x,y))^{2}+\partial_{y}\phi(x,y))^{2}))=0.$$

After some easy transformations we obtain following nonlinear ordinary differential equation

$$\frac{\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\alpha}{(1-n)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1-\alpha+\frac{\alpha}{(1-n)}\right)}\phi(x,y) + nP(\phi(x,y))^{n-1}(\partial_x\phi(x,y) + \partial_y\phi(x,y)) - Rn(\phi(x,y))^{n-1}(\partial_{xx}\phi(x,y) + \partial_{yy}\phi(x,y))$$

$$-Rn(n-1)(\phi(x,y))^{n-2}((\partial_x\phi(x,y))^2 + \partial_y\phi(x,y))^2) = 0.$$

Case 3: For $g(t) = t^b$ with $b \neq 0$ we have three infinitesimal operators

$$X_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad X_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad X_3 = x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \frac{t}{b}\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{b-\alpha}{b(n-1)}u\frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

The third infinitesimal operator by solving the corresponding characteristic equations

$$\frac{dx}{x} = \frac{dy}{y} = \frac{bdt}{t} = \frac{bdu}{\frac{b-\alpha}{n-1}u}$$

gives us the similarity reduction

$$u(x, y, t) = t^{\frac{\omega-\omega}{n-1}} \omega(p_1, p_2),$$

where $p_1 = xt^{-b}$ and $p_2 = yt^{-b}$. *Case 4:* And lastly for $g(t) = e^t$ we have three infinitesimal operators

$$X_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \qquad X_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \qquad X_3 = x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{(n-1)} u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}.$$

The third infinitesimal operator gives us the corresponding characteristic equations

$$\frac{dx}{x} = \frac{dy}{y} = \frac{dt}{1} = \frac{du}{\frac{1}{n-1}u}$$

and a similarity reduction

$$u(x,y,t) = e^{\frac{1}{n-1}t}v(q_1,q_2),$$

here $q_1 = xe^{-t}$, and $q_2 = ye^{-t}$.

5. Conservation laws

In this section we will construct the conservation laws of time-fractional nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equation (2.1) by using Ibragimov's theorem [24, 25]. Ibragimov proved this theorem for differential equations with integer order. And it was applied to fractional differential equations [26, 27].

We will search a vector field $C = (C^t, C^x, C^x)$, where $C^t = C^t(t, x, y, u, u_x, u_y, ...)$, $C^x = C^x(t, x, y, u, u_x, u_y, ...)$, and $C^y = C^y(t, x, y, u, u_x, u_y, ...)$ is conserved vector for (3.1) on all its solution if it satisfies the following conservation equation $D_t(C^t) + D_x(C^x) + D_y(C^y) = 0$, where C^t , C^x , and C^y are conservation laws for equation (2.1). A formal Lagrangian function for (2.1) is given by

$$L = v(t, x, y)E.$$
(5.1)

Here v(t, x, y) is a new dependent variable and

$$E = \frac{\partial^{\alpha} u}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + nPu^{n-1}(u_x + u_y) - n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_x^2 + u_y^2) + nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy}).$$

The Euler–Lagrange operator with respect to u is defined by [27, 28]

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + (D_t^{\alpha})^* \frac{\partial}{\partial D_t^{\alpha} u} - D_x \frac{\partial}{\partial u_x} - D_y \frac{\partial}{\partial u_y} + D_x^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{xx}} + D_y^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{yy}} - \dots$$

where $(D_t^{\alpha})^*$ is adjoint operator of D_t^{α} that has a form

$$(D_t^{\alpha})^* = (-1)_t^n I_T^{n-\alpha}(D_t^n).$$

By using Euler–Lagrange operator we can define an adjoint equation (3.1) as

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta u} = 0. \tag{5.2}$$

After calculations, the equation (5.2) takes a form

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta u} = (D_t^{\alpha})^* v - nPu^{n-1}(v_x + v_y) - nRg(t)u^{n-1}(v_{xx} + v_{yy})$$

So, we say that generalized Burgers' equation is nonlinearly self-adjoint if the adjoint equation (5.2) is satisfied for all solution u of equation (3.1) upon a substitution $v = \varphi(t, x, y, u)$ and $\varphi(t, x, y, u) \neq 0$. This substitution allows us use formal Lagrangian as usual classical Lagrangian and construct the conservation laws.

Thus, x-component conservation laws for the equation (3.1) have the form [28]

$$C_i^x = \xi_1 L + W_i \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial u_x} - D_x \frac{\partial L}{\partial u_{xx}} \right) + D_x(W_i) \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial u_{xx}} \right),$$

here $W_i = \eta^i - \xi_1^i u_x - \xi_2^i u_y - \tau^i u_t$. y-component conservation laws for the equation (3.1) have the form [28]

$$C_i^{y} = \xi_2 L + W_i \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial u_y} - D_y \frac{\partial L}{\partial u_{yy}} \right) + D_y(W_i) \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial u_{yy}} \right).$$

And *t*-component conservation laws for the equation (3.1) have the form

$$C_i^t = \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} (-1)^k D_t^{\alpha-1-k}(W_i) D_t^k (\frac{\partial L}{\partial D_t^{\alpha} u}) - (-1)^m J(W_i, D_t^m \frac{\partial L}{\partial D_t^{\alpha} u}),$$

for $m - 1 < \alpha < m$ and J is a integral

$$J(f,g) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(m-\alpha)} \int_0^t \int_t^T \frac{f(x,y,s)g(x,y,p)}{(p-s)^{\alpha+1-m}} dp ds.$$

Thus, by using (5.1) and above formulas we can find C^x , C^y , and C^t for our problem. *Case 1:* For arbitrary g(t) we have $W_1 = u_x$ and $W_2 = u_y$ that gives us

$$\begin{split} C_1^t &= v D_t^{\alpha - 1}(u_x) + J(u_x, v_t), \\ C_2^t &= v D_t^{\alpha - 1}(u_y) + J(u_y, v_t), \\ C_1^x &= v (\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + nPu^{n-1}(u_x + u_y) - n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_x^2 + u_y^2) + nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRg(t)u^{n-1}u_{xx}v - 3n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}v(u_x)^2 + nPu^{n-1}u_xv - nRg(t)u^{n-1}u_x(u_xv_u + v_x), \\ C_2^x &= nRg(t)u^{n-1}u_{xy}v - 3n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}vu_xu_y + nPu^{n-1}u_yv - nRg(t)u^{n-1}u_y(u_xv_u + v_x), \\ C_1^y &= nRg(t)u^{n-1}u_{xy}v - 3n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}vu_xu_y + nPu^{n-1}u_xv - nRg(t)u^{n-1}u_x(u_yv_u + v_y), \\ C_2^y &= v(\frac{\partial^{\alpha} u}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + nPu^{n-1}(u_x + u_y) - n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_x^2 + u_y^2) + nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRg(t)u^{n-1}u_{yy}v - 3n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}v(u_y)^2 + nPu^{n-1}u_yv - nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_y(u_yv_u + v_y)). \end{split}$$

Case 2: For $g(t) = t^b$ we get $W_1 = u_x$, $W_2 = u_y$, and $W_3 = xu_x + yu_y + \frac{t}{b}u_t + \frac{\alpha - b}{b(1 - n)}u$, thus the corresponding conservation laws are like:

$$C_1^t$$
 and C_2^t are the same.

$$\begin{split} C_{3}^{i} &= tv(\frac{\partial^{a}u}{\partial t^{a}} + nPu^{n-1}(u_{x} + u_{y}) - n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ &vD_{t}^{\alpha-1}(xu_{x} + yu_{y} + \frac{t}{b}u_{t} + \frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u) + J(xu_{x} + yu_{y} + \frac{t}{b}u_{t} + \frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u, v_{t}), \\ C_{1}^{x} &= v(\frac{\partial^{a}u}{\partial t^{a}} + nPu^{n-1}(u_{x} + u_{y}) - n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRt^{b}u^{n-1}u_{xx}v - 3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}v(u_{x})^{2} + nPu^{n-1}u_{x}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}u_{x}(u_{x}v_{u} + v_{x}), \\ C_{2}^{x} &= nRt^{b}u^{n-1}u_{xy}v - 3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}vu_{x}u_{y} + nPu^{n-1}u_{y}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRt^{b}u^{n-1}v(u_{x} + \frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u_{x} + \frac{t}{b}u_{xt} + yu_{xy} + xu_{xx}) + \left(\frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u + \frac{t}{b}u_{t} + yu_{y} + xu_{x}\right) \\ &(-3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}vu_{x} + nPu^{n-1}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRt^{b}u^{n-1}u_{xy}v - 3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}vu_{x}u_{y} + nPu^{n-1}u_{x}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ c_{1}^{y}u^{n-1}v(u_{x} + \frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u_{x} + \frac{t}{b}u_{xt} + yu_{xy} + xu_{xx}) + \left(\frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u + \frac{t}{b}u_{t} + yu_{y} + xu_{x}\right) \\ &(-3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}vu_{x}u_{y} + nPu^{n-1}u_{x}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRt^{b}u^{n-1}u_{yy}v - 3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}v(u_{y})^{2} + nPu^{n-1}u_{y}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRt^{b}u^{n-1}u_{yy}v - 3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}v(u_{y})^{2} + nPu^{n-1}u_{y}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRt^{b}u^{n-1}u_{yy}v - 3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}v(u_{y})^{2} + nPu^{n-1}u_{y}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRt^{b}u^{n-1}v(u_{y} + \frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u_{y} + \frac{t}{b}u_{y}t + yu_{yy} + xu_{xy}) + \left(\frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u + \frac{t}{b}u_{t} + yu_{y} + xu_{x}\right) \\ &(-3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}vu_{y} + nPu^{n-1}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRt^{b}u^{n-1}v(u_{y} + \frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u_{y} + \frac{t}{b}u_{y}t + yu_{yy} + xu_{xy}) + \left(\frac{\alpha-b}{b(1-n)}u + \frac{t}{b}u_{t} + yu_{y} + xu_{x}\right) \\ &(-3n(n-1)Rt^{b}u^{n-2}vu_{y} + nPu^{n-1}v - nRt^{b}u^{n-1}(u_{y}v_{u} + v_{y})). \end{split}$$

Case 3: For g(t) = 1 we obtain $W_1 = u_x$, $W_2 = u_y$, $W_3 = u_t$, and $W_4 = tu_t + \frac{\alpha}{1-n}u$, thus the corresponding conservation laws are in the following form:

$$\begin{split} C_1^t \mbox{ and } C_2^t \mbox{ is the same.} \\ C_3^t &= v(\frac{\partial^a u}{\partial t^a} + nPu^{n-1}(u_x + u_y) - n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_x^2 + u_y^2) + nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + vD_t^{\alpha-1}(u_t) + J(u_t, v_t), \\ C_4^t &= tv(\frac{\partial^a u}{\partial t^a} + nPu^{n-1}(u_x + u_y) - n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_x^2 + u_y^2) + nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + vD_t^{\alpha-1}(tu_t + \frac{\alpha}{1-n}u) + J(tu_t + \frac{\alpha}{1-n}u, v_t), \\ C_1^x &= v(\frac{\partial^a u}{\partial t^a} + nPu^{n-1}(u_x + u_y) - n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_x^2 + u_y^2) + nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + nRu^{n-1}u_{xx}v - 3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}(u_x)^2v + nPu^{n-1}u_xv - nRu^{n-1}u_x(u_xv_u + v_x), \\ C_2^x &= nRu^{n-1}vu_{xy} - 3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}u_xu_yv + nPu^{n-1}u_yv - nRu^{n-1}u_y(u_xv_u + v_x)), \\ C_3^x &= nRu^{n-1}vu_{xx} - 3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}u_xu_tv + nPu^{n-1}u_tv - nRu^{n-1}u_t(u_xv_u + v_x)), \\ C_4^x &= nRu^{n-1}v(tu_{xt} + \frac{\alpha}{n-1}u_x) + (tu_t + \frac{\alpha}{n-1}u)(-3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}u_xv + nPu^{n-1}v - nRu^{n-1}(u_xv_u + v_x)), \\ C_1^y &= nRu^{n-1}v(u_{xy} - 3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}u_xu_yv + nPu^{n-1}u_xv - nRu^{n-1}u_x(u_yv_u + v_y)), \\ C_2^y &= v(\frac{\partial^a u}{\partial t^\alpha} + nPu^{n-1}(u_x + u_y) - n(n-1)Rg(t)u^{n-2}(u_x^2 + u_y^2) + nRg(t)u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + nRu^{n-1}u_yv - 3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}(u_y)^2v + nPu^{n-1}u_xv - nRu^{n-1}u_x(u_yv_u + v_y)), \\ C_3^y &= nRu^{n-1}vu_{yy} - 3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}u_yu_tv + nPu^{n-1}u_xv - nRu^{n-1}u_x(u_yv_u + v_y)), \\ C_3^y &= nRu^{n-1}vu_{yy} - 3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}u_yu_tv + nPu^{n-1}u_yv - nRu^{n-1}u_y(u_yv_u + v_y)), \\ C_3^y &= nRu^{n-1}vu_{yy} - 3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}u_yu_tv + nPu^{n-1}u_yv - nRu^{n-1}u_y(u_yv_u + v_y))), \\ C_4^y &= nRu^{n-1}v(tu_{yt} + \frac{\alpha}{n-1}u_y) + (tu_t + \frac{\alpha}{n-1}u(-3n(n-1)Ru^{n-2}u_yv + nPu^{n-1}u_yv - nRu^{n-1}u_y(u_yv_u + v_y))). \\ \end{array}$$

Case 4: For $g(t) = e^t$ we have $W_1 = u_x$, $W_2 = u_y$, and $W_2 = xu_x + yu_y + u_t + \frac{1}{1-n}u$, and thus the corresponding conservation laws are:

 C_1^t and C_2^t is the same.

$$\begin{split} C_{3}^{t} &= v(\frac{\partial^{a}u}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + nPu^{n-1}(u_{x} + u_{y}) - n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ vD_{t}^{\alpha-1}(xu_{x} + yu_{y} + u_{t} + \frac{1}{1-n}u) + J(xu_{x} + yu_{y} + u_{t} + \frac{1}{1-n}u, v_{t}), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} C_{1}^{x} &= v(\frac{\partial^{a}u}{\partial t^{\alpha}} + nPu^{n-1}(u_{x} + u_{y}) - n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRe^{t}u^{n-1}u_{xx}v - 3n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}(u_{x})^{2}v + nPu^{n-1}u_{x}v - nRe^{t}u^{n-1}u_{x}(u_{x}v_{u} + v_{x}), \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} C_{2}^{x} &= nRe^{t}u^{n-1}u_{xy}v - 3n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}u_{x}u_{y}v + nPu^{n-1}u_{y}v - nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{x} + u_{y}) - n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{x} + xu_{xx} + yu_{xy} + u_{tx} + \frac{1}{1-n}u_{x}) + (xu_{x} + yu_{y} + u_{t} + \frac{1}{1-n}u) \\ (-3n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}u_{x}v + nPu^{n-1}v - nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})), \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} C_{1}^{y} &= nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{x} + u_{y}) - n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xy}v - 3n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}u_{y}u_{x}v + nPu^{n-1}u_{x}v - nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{x} + u_{y}) - n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRe^{t}u^{n-1}u_{yy}v - 3n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}(u_{y})^{2}v + nPu^{n-1}u_{y}v - nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{y}) - n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}(u_{x}^{2} + u_{y}^{2}) + nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy})) + \\ nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(xu_{xy} + yu_{y} + u_{yy} + u_{ty} + \frac{1}{1-n}u_{y}) + (xu_{x} + yu_{y} + u_{t} + \frac{1}{1-n}u) \\ (-3n(n-1)Re^{t}u^{n-2}u_{y}v + nPu^{n-1}v - nRe^{t}u^{n-1}(u_{y}v_{u} + v_{y})). \end{aligned}$$

6. Symmetry analysis for boundary value problem

In this section, we will discuss the symmetry analysis for the boundary value problem. Lie symmetry analysis is one of the most widely-applicable methods of finding exact solutions of differential equations, but it was not widely used for solving boundary value problems. And the reason is the initial and boundary conditions are usually are not invariant under any obtained Lie symmetry method transformations [3, 29–31]. So, for partial differential equations, an invariant solution found by applying symmetry transformation solves a given boundary value problem, when the symmetry transformation leaves invariant all boundary conditions and the domain of the boundary value problem.

Now, let the Q-condition symmetry

$$Q = \xi_1(x, y, t, u) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \xi_2(x, y, t, u) \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \tau(x, y, t, u) \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \eta(x, y, t, u) \frac{\partial}{\partial u},$$
(6.1)

with

$$Q_k(u_t - F(x, y, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, ..., \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k}))|_M = 0,$$

and the manifold $M = \{u_t - F(x, y, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, ..., \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k}) = 0, Q(u) = 0\}$ is admitted by the boundary value problem defined on a domain Ω :

$$u_t = F\left(x, y, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, \dots, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k}\right), \qquad (x, y, t) \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^+,$$
(6.2)

$$d_a(x, y, t) = 0: B_a\left(t, x, y, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, \dots, \frac{\partial^{k-1} u}{\partial x^{k-1}}, \frac{\partial^{k-1} u}{\partial y^{k-1}}\right) = 0, \qquad a = 1, \dots, p.$$
(6.3)

$$l_c(x,y,t) = \infty : L_c(x,y,t,u,\frac{\partial u}{\partial x},\frac{\partial u}{\partial y},...,\frac{\partial k^{-1}u}{\partial x^{k-1}},\frac{\partial k^{-1}u}{\partial y^{k-1}}) = 0, \qquad c = 1,...,p_{\infty}.$$
(6.4)

Here $B_a(t, x, y, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, \dots, \frac{\partial^{k-1}u}{\partial x^{k-1}}, \frac{\partial^{k-1}u}{\partial y^{k-1}})$ boundary condition on $d_a(x, y, t)$. Suppose that the above boundary value problem has a unique

So, for the manifold $M = \{l_c(x, y, t) = \infty, L_c(x, y, t, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial}, ..., \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k}) = 0\}$ there exist a smooth bijective transformation that maps the manifold M into

$$M^* = \{l_c^*(x^*, y^*, t^*) = \infty, L_c^*(x^*, y^*, t^*, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x^*}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial}, \dots, \frac{\partial^{k^*} u}{\partial (x^*)^{k^*}}, \frac{\partial^{k^*} u}{\partial (y^*)^{k^*}}) = 0\}$$

Definition 6.1. The symmetry Q which has the form (6.1) is allowed by the boundary value problem (6.2)-(6.4) if:

- $Q_{(k)}(u_t F(x, y, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, ..., \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k})) = 0$ for $u_t = F(x, y, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, ..., \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k});$ $Q_{(k)}B_a(x, y, t) = 0$ for $d_a(x, y, t) = 0$, a = 1, ..., p;• $Q_{(k)}B_a(x, y, t, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, ..., \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k}) = 0$ for $B_a(t, x, y, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, ..., \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k}) = 0$ on $d_a(x, y, t) = 0$, a = 1, ..., p;• there exist a smooth bijective transformation that maps the manifold M into M^* of the same dimensionality; $Q^* l_c^*(x^*, y^*, t^*) = 0$ for $l_c^*(x^*, y^*, t^*) = 0$, $c = 1, ..., p_{\infty};$ $Q^*_{(k^*)}L_c(x, y, t, u, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}, ..., \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial x^k}, \frac{\partial^k u}{\partial y^k}) = 0$ for $l_c(x, y, t) = \infty$, c = 1, ..., r.

Let us consider our fractional partial differential equation (1.1) with $\alpha = 1$, which defined on the domain $0 \le t < \infty$, x > 0, and y > 0 with initial and boundary conditions

$$u_{t} + Pnu^{n-1}(u_{x} + u_{y}) = nRg(t)(u^{n-1}(u_{xx} + u_{yy} + (n-1)u^{n-2}((u_{x})^{2} + (u_{y})^{2})), \quad n > 1, \quad P, R \neq 0$$

$$u(x, y, 0) \longrightarrow \infty, \qquad (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{+},$$

$$u(0, 0, t) = \Phi(t), \qquad t \in [0, \infty],$$

$$u(x, y, t)_{(x, y) \to (0, 0)} \longrightarrow \infty, \qquad t \in [0, \infty].$$
(6.5)

The problem (6.5) for $g(t) = e^t$ with boundary and initially conditions is not invariant. But it is invariant for g(t) = 1 and $g(t) = t^b$, b > 0. As we found before the equation (1.1) with $g(t) = t^b$ has an infinitesimal generator

$$X = (c_1 + c_2 x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + (c_3 + c_2 y) \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + c_2 \frac{t}{b} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + c_2 \frac{b - \alpha}{b(n-1)} u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}.$$

So, after applying X to boundary condition as $\xi_1(0) = 0$ for x = 0 and $\xi_2(0) = 0$ for y = 0 we get $c_1 = c_3 = 0$ and $c_2\left(\frac{b-1}{b(n-1)}\Phi(t) - t\frac{d\Phi}{dt}\right) = 0$, where $\Phi(t) = Kt^{\frac{b-1}{n-1}}$, *K* is arbitrary constant.

where $\Phi(t) = Kt^{n-1}$, K is arbitrary constant. According above definition let assume $t^* = t$, $x^* = 1/x$, $y^* = 1/y$, and $u^* = u$ bijective transformation which maps $M = \{x \to \infty, y \to \infty, u \to \infty\}$ to $M^* = \{x^* \to 0, y^* \to 0, u^* \to 0\}$. This transformation maps the infinitesimal operator X to X^* . Thus, $X = x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \frac{t}{b} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{b-1}{b(n-1)} \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$ infinitesimal operator with $X^* = -x^* \frac{\partial}{\partial x^*} - y^* \frac{\partial}{\partial y^*} + \frac{t^*}{b} \frac{\partial}{\partial t^*} - \frac{b-1}{b(n-1)} u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*}$ leaves invariant the equation (6.5) with boundary and initially conditions:

$$\begin{array}{ll} u(t,x,y)_{t\to 0} \longrightarrow \infty, & (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \\ u(t,0,0) = Kt^{\frac{b-1}{n-1}}, & t \in [0,\infty], \\ u(t,x,y)_{(x,y)\to(0,0)} \longrightarrow \infty, & t \in [0,\infty]. \end{array}$$

Which give us $u = t^{\frac{b-1}{n-1}} f(r_1, r_2)$, where $r_1 = \frac{x}{t^b}$, $r_2 = \frac{y}{t^b}$ transformation, after applying that we get

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{b-1}{n-1}f-b(r_{1}f_{r_{1}}+r_{2}f_{r_{2}})+nPf^{n-1}(f_{r_{1}}+f_{r_{2}})-R(nf^{n-1}(f_{r_{1}r_{1}}+f_{r_{2}r_{2}})+n(n-1)f^{n-2}(f_{r_{1}}^{2}+f_{r_{2}}^{2}))=0,\\ f(r_{1},r_{2})_{(r_{1},r_{2})\to(0,0)}\longrightarrow 0,\\ \lim_{(r_{1},r_{2})\to(\infty,\infty)}f(r_{1},r_{2})=K, \end{array} \right.$$

boundary value problem of partial differential equation with two independent variable. And the equation (1.1) with g(t) = 1 have an infinitesimal generator

$$X = c_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + c_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial y} + (c_3 t + c_4) \frac{t}{b} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + c_4 \frac{1}{1 - n} \frac{\partial}{\partial u}.$$

Thus, as $\xi_1(0) = 0$ for x = 0, $\xi_2(0) = 0$ for y = 0, and $\tau(0) = 0$ for t = 0 we get

$$c_1 = 0$$
, $c_2 = 0$, $c_4 = 0$, and $c_3\left(\frac{1}{1-n}\Phi(t) - t\frac{d\Phi}{dt}\right) = 0$.

So, $\Phi(t) = Ct^{\frac{1}{1-n}}$, *C* is arbitrary constant. According above, the $X = t\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{1-n}\frac{\partial}{\partial u}$ with $X^* = t^*\frac{\partial}{\partial t^*} - \frac{1}{1-n}u^*\frac{\partial}{\partial u^*}$ infinitesimal operator leaves invariant the equation (6.5) with boundary and initially conditions:

$$\begin{array}{ll} u(t,x,y)_{t\to 0} \longrightarrow \infty, & (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \\ u(t,0,0) = Ct^{\frac{1}{1-n}}, & t \in [0,\infty], \\ u(t,x,y)_{(x,y)\to (0,0)} \longrightarrow \infty, & t \in [0,\infty]. \end{array}$$

Which give us $u = t^{\frac{1}{1-n}}h(x, y)$ transformation, after applying that we get

$$\begin{cases} \frac{1}{1-n}h+nPh^{n-1}(h_x+h_y)-R(nh^{n-1}(h_{xx}+h_{yy})+n(n-1)h^{n-2}(h_x^2+h_y^2))=0,\\ h(x,y)_{(x,y)\to(0,0)}\longrightarrow 0,\\ \lim_{(x,y)\to(\infty,\infty)}h(x,y)=C, \end{cases}$$

boundary value problem of partial differential equation with two independent variable.

7. Conclusion

In this work, we presented the application of Lie group analysis to study time-fractional nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equations. So, we found some exact solutions of nonlinear generalized Burgers' differential equation with fractional derivative here we used the method of Lie groups method. Also, we obtained the conservation laws for corresponding cases of the function g(t). After applying the Lie groups we got boundary value problems with reduced dimension for special cases of g(t). Moreover we defined conditions which leave invariant the boundary value problem (1.1)-(1.2) for $g(t) = t^{\lambda}$ and g(t) = 1 with $\alpha = 1$. The symmetry method on fractional boundary value problem is our future research.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank Istanbul Commerce University, 22-2018/34 and Turkish scholarships for supporting this work.

References

- [1] C. S. Gardner, J. M. Greene, M. D. Kruskal, R. M. Miura, Method for solving the Korteweg-de Vries equation, Phys. Rev. Lett., 19 (1967), 1095–1097.
- [2] R. Hirota, J. Satsuma, A variety of nonlinear network equations generated from the Bäcklund transformation for the Tota lattice, Suppl. Prog. Theor. Phys., 59 (1976), 64-100.
- [3] G. W. Bluman, S. C. Anco, Symmetry and integration methods for differential equations, 154 Appl. Math. Sci., Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002.
- [4] P. Olver, Applications of Lie Groups to Differential Equations, Springer Science, German, 2012.
 [5] P. Clarkson, M. Kruskal, New similarity reductions of the Boussinesq equation, J. Math. Phys., 30(10) (1989), 2201–2213.
- [6] P. Clarkson, New similarity reductions for the modified Boussinesq equation, J. Phys. A: Gen., 22 (1989), 2355–2367.
- [7] R. K. Gazizov, A. A. Kasatkin, S. Y. Lukashchuk, Continuous transformation groups of fractional differential equations, Vestn. USATU, 9 (2007), 125–135.
 [8] C. M. Khalique, K. R. Adem, *Exact solutions of the* (2+1)-dimensional Zakharov – Kuznetsov modified equal width equation using Lie group analysis,
- Math. Comp. Modelling, 54 (2011), 184-189.
- [9] S. S. Ray, Invariant analysis and conservation laws for the time fractional (2+1)-dimensional Zakharov-Kuznetsov modified equal width equation using Lie group analysis, Comput. Math. Appl., 76 (2018), 2110-2118
- [10] N. Heymans, I. Podlubny, Physical interpretation of initial conditions for fractional differential equations with Riemann-Liouville fractional derivatives, Rheol. Acta, 45(5) (2006), 765-771.
- C. Li, D. Qian, Y. Q. Chen, On Riemann-Liouville and Caputo derivatives, Discrete Dyn. Nat. Soc., 15 (2011), Article ID 562494.
- [12] P. Hydon, Symmetry Methods for Differential Equations: A Beginner's Guide, Cambridge University press., UK, 2000.
 [13] G. Iskandarova, D. Kaya, Symmetry solution on fractional equation, J. Optim. Control: Theories Appl., 7(3) (2017) 255–259.
- [14] D. Kaya, G. Iskandarova, Lie group analysis for a time-fractional nonlinear generalized KdV differential equation, Turk. J. Math., 43(3) (2019), 1263-1275 [15] N. M. Ivanova, C. Sophocleous, R. Tracin, Lie group analysis of two-dimensional variable-coefficient Burgers equation, Z. Angew. Math. Phys., 61(5)
- (2010), 793-809. [16] M. Abd-el-Malek, A. Amin, Lie group method for solving the generalized Burgers', Burgers'-KdV and KdV equations with time-dependent
- Kiryakiable coefficients, J. Symmetry, 7 (2015), 1816–1830. [17] A. Yokus, M. Yavuz, Novel comparison of numerical and analytical methods for fractional Burger-Fisher equation, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., (2020),
- (in press). [18] R. Sinuvasan, K. M. Tamizhmani, P. G. L. Leach, Algebraic resolution of the Burgers equation with a forcing term, Pramana – J. Phys. 88(5) (2017), 74
- [19] I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential Equations: An Introduction to Fractional Derivatives, Fractional Differential Equations, Some Methods of Their Solution and Some of Their Applications, Academic Press, San Diego, 1999. [20] N. Ibragimov, *Lie group analysis classical heritage*, ALGA Publications Blekinge Institute of Technology Karlskrona, Sweden, 2004.
- N. Ibragimov, CRC Handbook of Lie Group Analysis of Differential Equations, I CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1994. [21]
- K. S. Miller, B. Ross, An Introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1993.
- [23] K. B. Oldham, J. Spanier, The Fractional Calculus, Academic Press, New York, 1974.
- [24] N. Ibragimov, A new conservation theorem, J Math. Anal. Appl., 333(1) (2007), 311-328
- [25] N. Ibragimov, Nonlinear self-adjointness and conservation laws, J. Phys A: Math. Gen., 44(43) (2011), 4109–4112.
- [26] Z. Xiao, L. Wei, Symmetry analysis conservation laws of a time fractional fifth-order Sawada-Kotera equation, J. Appl. Anal. Comput., 7 (2017), 1275–1284. S. Y. Lukashchuk, Conservation laws for time-fractional subdiffusion and diffusion-wave equations, Nonlinear Dyn., 80(1-2) (2015), 791–802.
- [28] R. K. Gazizov, N. H. Ibragimov, S. Y. Lukashchuk, Conlinear self-adjointness, conservation laws and exat solution of fractional Kompaneets equations, Commun. Nonlinear SCI, 23(1) (2015), 153-163.
- [29] G. W. Bluman, S. Kumei, Symmetries and Differential Equations, Berlin etc., Springer-Verlag, 1989.
- [30] R. Cherniha, S. Kovalenko, Lie symmetry of a class of nonlinear boundary value problems with free boundaries, Banach Center Publ., 93 (2011), 73–82.
- [31] R. Cherniha, S. Kovalenko, Lie symmetries of nonlinear boundary value problems, Commun. Nonlinear SCI, 17 (2012), 71–84.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.562536



Spinor Representations of Involute Evolute Curves in \mathbb{E}^3

Tülay Erişir^{1*} and Neslihan Cansu Kardağ¹

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Erzincan Binali Yildirim University, Erzincan, Turkey *Corresponding author E-mail: tulay.erisir@erzincan.edu.tr

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Involute Evolute curves, Spinors 2010 AMS: 15A66, 53A04 Received: 09 May 2019 Accepted: 12 November 2019 Available online: 20 December 2019	In this paper, we have obtained spinor with two complex components representations of Involute Evolute curves in \mathbb{E}^3 . Firstly, we have given the spinor equations of Frenet vectors of two curves which are parameterized by arc-length and have an arbitrary parameter. Moreover, we have chosen that these curves are Involute Evolute curves and have matched these curves with different spinors. Then, we have investigated the answer of question "How are the relationships between the spinors corresponding to the Involute Evolute curves in \mathbb{E}^3 ?". Finally, we have given an example which crosscheck to theorems throughout this study.

1. Introduction

The theory of spinors, especially used in applications to electron spin and theory of relativity in quantum mechanics, was expressed by B. L. van der Waerden in 1929. The introduction of spinors is one of the most difficult topics in quantum mechanics. Even if the spin-1/2 is considered, some fundamental sections of spinors, such as the effects of rotation on spinors, turn out to be difficult to explain. Spinors appear to be closely related to the theory of the electromagnetic theory. According to physicists spinors are multilinear transformations. Thanks to this feature, spinors are mathematical entities somewhat like tensors and allow a more general treatment of the notion of invariance under rotation and Lorentz boosts. Spinors can also be used without reference to relativity, but they arise naturally in discussions of the Lorentz group. Moreover, for a spinor it can be say that it is the most basic sort of mathematical object that can be Lorentz-transformed, [1]-[3]. On the other hand, the basic knowledge of spinor theory is based on earlier years, indeed, if we consider the relationship between spinors and Euler's parameters it is date back to 1776. Spinors are vectorial objects and there is no their multilinear features for mathematicians. Also, spinors have one-index. In discussing vectors and tensors there are two ways in which we can proceed; the geometrical and analytical. To use the geometrical approach, we describe each kind of quantity in terms of its magnitudes and directions; in the analytical treatment, we use components.

Spinors were first studied by Elie Cartan in a geometrical sense. Cartan was one of the founders of Lie group theory which is one of the most important topics of mathematics and which has many physical applications. So, Cartan's study is a very impressive reference in terms of the geometry of the spinors since this gives the spinor representation of the basic geometric definitions [1]. In geometrical meaning, another study was made by Vivarelli. In that study, Vivarelli established a one-to-one linear relationship between the quaternions and spinors. In addition, using the relationship between the rotations in quaternions and three-dimensional Euclidean space, Vivarelli actually obtained the spinor representation of the rotations in Euclidean space, [4]. Castillo, on the other hand, examined the spinor formulation of the curve theory, one of the important subjects of differential geometry. In that study, Castillo gave a spinor corresponding to a mutually orthogonal vector triads in three-dimensional Euclidean space and thus obtained a spinor representation of the Frenet frame and curvatures of a curve, [5]. Based on that study, Kişi and Tosun obtained the spinor formulation of the Darboux frame on a directed surface in three-dimensional Euclidean space, [6]. Similarly, in [7], the spinor Bishop equations of the curves in \mathbb{E}^3 have been expressed.

Ketenci et. al investigated the answer of question "How does a spinor correspond to a mutually orthogonal vector triad in three dimensional Minkowski space \mathbb{E}_1^3 ?". Thus, they introduced hyperbolic spinors. Based on this, they matched the hyperbolic spinors which have hyperbolic components up with Frenet frame of a curve in Minkowski space \mathbb{E}_1^3 . [8]. Then, Erişir et. al obtained the spinor representation of the Bishop frame, an alternative frame, of a curve in the three-dimensional Minkowski space, and the spinor formulation of the relationship between

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: tulay.erisir@erzincan.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6444-1460 (T. Erişir), Neslihan.2424@outlook.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8505-3819 (N. C. Kardağ)

Frenet frame and Bishop frame, [9]. Also, the Darboux frame on the oriented surface in \mathbb{E}_1^3 was obtained by the aid of hyperbolic spinors, [10]. Moreover, in [11] Tarakçıoğlu et. al considered the Vivarelli's study and they gave a different approach to the relationship between the split quaternions and rotations in Minkowski space \mathbb{R}_1^3 . In addition, they obtained an automorphism of the split quaternion algebra H' corresponding to a rotation in \mathbb{R}_1^3 . Then, they gave the relationship between the hyperbolic spinors and rotations in \mathbb{R}_1^3 .

In this paper, we have studied on spinors with two complex components and we have given spinor representations of Involute Evolute curves in \mathbb{E}^3 . Firstly, we have introduced spinor representation of Frenet vectors of any unit-speed curve in three dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{E}^3 . Then, we have obtained spinor equations of the curve which is not parameterized by arc-length and considered the Involute Evolute curves corresponding the different spinors. Thus, we have investigated the answer of question "How are the relations between the spinors corresponding to the Involute Evolute curves in \mathbb{E}^3 ?". Finally, we have given an example.

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Involute Evolute curves in \mathbb{E}^3

It is well known that if a curve is differentiable at the each point of an open interval then a set of mutually orthogonal unit vectors can be constructed. These vectors are called tangent *T*, normal *N* and binormal *B* unit vectors or the Serret-Frenet frame, collectively. So, let us consider that the regular curve (α) which is the differentiable function so that $\alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$, $(I \subseteq \mathbb{R})$ has the arbitrary parameter *t*. Moreover, for $\forall t \in I$ the Frenet vectors on the point $\alpha(t)$ of the curve (α) are given by $\{T(t), N(t), B(t)\}$. So, these Frenet vectors are obtained by the following equations

$$T = \frac{1}{\|\alpha'\|} \alpha',$$

$$N = B \times T,$$

$$B = \frac{1}{\|\alpha' \times \alpha''\|} (\alpha' \times \alpha'')$$

where "'" is the derivative with respect to arbitrary parameter t, κ and τ are the curvature and torsion of this curve (α), [12].

Moreover, the Frenet derivative formulas of this curve (α) are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{T}' &= \|\boldsymbol{\alpha}'\| \, \kappa \mathbf{N}, \\ \mathbf{N}' &= \|\boldsymbol{\alpha}'\| \left(-\kappa \mathbf{T} + \tau \mathbf{B}\right), \\ \mathbf{B}' &= -\|\boldsymbol{\alpha}'\| \, \tau \mathbf{N}, \end{aligned} \tag{2.1}$$

[12].

Now, we know that if there is equation $\|\alpha'(s)\| = 1$ for $\forall s \in I$ on the point $\alpha(s)$ of the curve $\alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$, $(I \subseteq \mathbb{R})$, the curve (α) is called as the curve parameterized by arc-length parameter *s*. So, the Frenet vectors of the curve (α) parameterized by arc-length parameter can be obtained by

$$T = \alpha',$$

$$N = \frac{1}{\|\alpha''\|} \alpha'',$$

$$R = T \times N$$
(2.2)

where "'" is the derivative with respect to arc-length parameter s. Moreover, the Frenet formulas of this curve are as

$$T' = \kappa N,$$

$$N' = -\kappa T + \tau B,$$

$$B' = -\tau N.$$
(2.3)

[12].

The Involute Evolute curves in \mathbb{E}^3 are well known and one of the most studied curve pairs in elementary differential geometry. So, for the Involute Evolute curves, the following definition and theorems can be given.

Definition 2.1. Let the curve $\alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ be parameterized by arc-length parameter and the curve $\beta : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ be any curve which has an arbitrary parameter. Moreover, the Frenet frames of these curves (α) and (β) are considered that {T, N, B} and { T^*, N^*, B^* }, respectively. So, if there is equation

$$\langle \boldsymbol{T}, \, \boldsymbol{T}^* \rangle = 0,$$

then the curve (β) is called the involute of the curve (α) and the curve (α) is called the evolute of the curve (β), [12].

Theorem 2.2. Let the curve $\beta, \alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ be consider Involute Evolute curves, respectively. Then, the distance between mutual points of these curves is

$$d(\alpha(s), \beta(s)) = |c-s|.$$

So, it can be written

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}(s) = \boldsymbol{\alpha}(s) + (c - s)\boldsymbol{T}(s), \tag{2.4}$$

Theorem 2.3. Let the Frenet frames of the Involute Evolute curves (β, α) be $\{T^*, N^*, B^*\}$ and $\{T, N, B\}$, respectively. So, the relationship between these Frenet frames is

$$T^* = N,$$

$$N^* = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \left(-\kappa T + \tau B, \right)$$

$$B^* = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \left(\tau T + \kappa B, \right)$$
(2.5)

[<mark>12</mark>].

Theorem 2.4. Let the Frenet curvatures of the Involute Evolute curves (β, α) be κ^*, τ^* and κ, τ , respectively. So, the relationship between these Frenet curvatures is

$$\begin{split} \kappa^* &= \frac{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}}{|(c-s)\kappa|} \\ \tau^* &= \frac{\kappa \tau' - \kappa' \tau}{|(c-s)\kappa|(\kappa^2 + \tau^2)} \end{split}$$

[12].

2.2. Spinors

In this section, spinors introduced by Cartan [1], which is a basic study in geometric sense, are given. Afterwards, the spinors in the study given by Del Castillo and Barrales are mentioned, [5].

Consider that $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{C}^3$ is the isotropic vector and \mathbb{C}^3 is the three-dimensional complex vector space. So, we obtain $x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 = 0$. The set of isotropic vectors in the vector space \mathbb{C}^3 forms a two-dimensional surface in the space \mathbb{C}^2 . If this two-dimensional surface is parameterized by ξ_1 and ξ_2 coordinates, then $x_1 = \xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2$, $x_2 = i(\xi_1^2 + \xi_2^2)$, $x_3 = -2\xi_1\xi_2$ is obtained. It is seen from the solution of this equation that $\xi_1 = \pm \sqrt{\frac{x_1 - ix_2}{2}}$, $\xi_2 = \pm \sqrt{\frac{-x_1 - ix_2}{2}}$. It is seen that; in the complex vector space \mathbb{C}^3 , each isotropic vector corresponds to two vectors, (ξ_1, ξ_2) and $(-\xi_1, -\xi_2)$ in the space \mathbb{C}^2 . Conversely; both vectors so given in space \mathbb{C}^2 correspond to the same isotropic vector \mathbf{x} . Cartan expressed that the two-dimensional complex vectors, but also represent a three-dimensional complex isotropic vectors, [1].

Consider the SO(3), the group of rotations around the origin in the three-dimensional real vector space \mathbb{R}^3 , and the SU(2), the group of 2x2 dimensional unitary matrices. As is known, the SO(3) group is homomorphic to the SU(2) group, [5, 13, 14]. By means of this homomorphism and spinors introduced by Cartan, the isotropic vector $\mathbf{a} + i\mathbf{b}$ is matched with spinor

$$\boldsymbol{\xi} = \left(\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{\xi}_1 \\ \boldsymbol{\xi}_2 \end{array}\right)$$

where $\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b} \in \mathbb{R}^3$. So, we have $x_1 = \xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2$, $x_2 = i(\xi_1^2 + \xi_2^2)$ and $x_3 = -2\xi_1\xi_2$ where $\boldsymbol{a} + i\boldsymbol{b} = (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{C}^3$, [1, 5]. As it is known, Pauli matrices form a basis for 2x2-dimensional Hermitian and unitary matrices. Using the Pauli matrices and the matrix $C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, the matrices σ are generated as $\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$, $\sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & i \end{pmatrix}$ and $\sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, [5, 15]. On the other hand, the mate $\hat{\xi}$ of the spinor ξ is obtained as

$$\hat{\xi} = - \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{array} \right) \overline{\xi} = - \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{array} \right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \overline{\xi_1} \\ \overline{\xi_2} \end{array} \right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} -\overline{\xi_2} \\ \overline{\xi_1} \end{array} \right).$$

Throughout this information, we obtain that

$$a+ib = \xi^t \sigma \xi$$

 $c = -\hat{\xi}^t \sigma \xi$

where a + ib is the isotropic vector in the space \mathbb{C}^3 and $c \in \mathbb{R}^3$, [5].

When necessary operations are considered, it is seen that the vectors a, b and c are equal in length and these vectors are mutually orthogonal, [5]. Moreover, the following proposition can be given.

Proposition 2.5. Let two arbitrary spinors be ξ and ϕ . Then, the following statements are hold;

$$\begin{array}{ll} i) & \overline{\phi^t \sigma \xi} = -\hat{\phi}^t \sigma \hat{\xi} \\ ii) & \lambda \widehat{\phi + \mu} \xi = \overline{\lambda} \hat{\phi} + \overline{\mu} \hat{\xi} \\ iii) & \hat{\xi} = -\xi \\ iv) & \phi^t \sigma \xi = \xi^t \sigma \phi \end{array}$$

where $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$, [5].

Now, let a curve parameterized by arc-length be $\alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$, $(I \subseteq \mathbb{R})$. So, $\|\alpha'(s)\| = 1$ where *s* is the arc-length parameter of the curve (α) . Moreover, we consider that the Frenet vectors of this curve are $\{N, B, T\}$ and the spinor ξ corresponds to the Frenet vectors $\{N, B, T\}$. Thus, the following equations

$$N + iB = \xi^{t} \sigma \xi = (\xi_{1}^{2} - \xi_{2}^{2}, i(\xi_{1}^{2} + \xi_{2}^{2}), -2\xi_{1}\xi_{2}),$$

$$T = -\widehat{\xi}^{t} \sigma \xi = (\xi_{1}\overline{\xi_{2}} + \overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}, i(\xi_{1}\overline{\xi_{2}} - \overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}), |\xi_{1}|^{2} - |\xi_{2}|^{2})$$
(2.6)

can be written where $\overline{\xi}^t \xi = 1$ since these vectors are mutually orthogonal, [5]. Moreover, the following theorem can be given.

Theorem 2.6. If the spinor ξ with two complex components represents the triad $\{N, B, T\}$ of a curve parameterized by its arc-length s the Frenet equations are equivalent to the single spinor equation

$$\frac{d\xi}{ds} = \frac{1}{2}(-i\tau\xi + \kappa\hat{\xi})$$

where κ and τ denote the curvature and torsion of the curve, respectively, [5].

3. Main theorems and proofs

In this section, first of all, we have expressed that the spinor representations of each Frenet vectors $\{N, B, T\}$ of a unit-speed curve (α) , separately. In addition that, we have considered that the curve (β) which has not arc-length parameter and a different spinor is corresponded to the Frenet vectors $\{N^*, B^*, T^*\}$ of this curve. Moreover, we have given the spinor equations of this curve. Then, we have regarded that the curves (β, α) are Involute Evolute curves and obtained the relationship between spinors corresponding to these curves with theorems. Finally, we have given an example.

Let α : I $\rightarrow \mathbb{E}^3$ be arbitrary unit-speed curve and the Frenet vectors of this curve be {*N*,*B*,*T*}. So, the following theorem can be given.

Theorem 3.1. Let the Frenet vectors of the unit-speed curve $\alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ be $\{N, B, T\}$. We assume that the spinor ξ is corresponded to this curve (α) , So, the spinor equations of these Frenet vectors are

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{T} &= -\hat{\xi}^t \, \sigma \xi \,, \\ \mathbf{N} &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\xi^t \, \sigma \xi - \hat{\xi}^t \, \sigma \hat{\xi} \right) \,, \\ \mathbf{B} &= -\frac{i}{2} \left(\xi^t \, \sigma \xi + \hat{\xi}^t \, \sigma \hat{\xi} \right) \end{split}$$

Proof. Let the spinor ξ be correspond to the Frenet curve $\{N, B, T\}$ of unit-speed curve (α) . Then, considering the equations (2.2) and (2.6) for the tangent vector on the point $\alpha(s)$ of (α) the following equation

$$T = \alpha' = -\hat{\xi}^t \,\sigma \xi \tag{3.1}$$

can be written. If we calculate the derivative of the equation (3.1) and make necessary arrangement, we obtain that

$$\alpha'' = \frac{\kappa}{2} \left(\xi^t \sigma \xi - \hat{\xi}^t \sigma \hat{\xi} \right).$$

On the other hand, let us consider the equation (2.2), So, we obtain that the spinor equation of the normal vector N of the curve (α) is obtain that

$$N = \frac{1}{2} \left(\xi^{t} \sigma \xi - \hat{\xi}^{t} \sigma \hat{\xi} \right).$$
(3.2)

Similarly, using the equations (2.3), (3.1) and (3.2), we have

$$N' = \frac{1}{2} \left[-i\tau \left(\xi^t \sigma \xi + \hat{\xi}^t \sigma \hat{\xi} \right) + 2\kappa \hat{\xi}^t \sigma \xi \right]$$

and

$$\frac{1}{2}\left[-i\tau\left(\xi^{t}\sigma\xi+\hat{\xi}^{t}\sigma\hat{\xi}\right)+2\kappa\hat{\xi}^{t}\sigma\xi\right]=-\kappa\left(-\hat{\xi}^{t}\sigma\xi\right)+\tau\mathbf{B}$$

And finally, the spinor equation of the binormal tangent of the curve (α) is

 $\boldsymbol{B} = -\frac{i}{2} \left(\boldsymbol{\xi}^{t} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \boldsymbol{\xi} + \hat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}^{t} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \hat{\boldsymbol{\xi}} \right).$ (3.3)

So, the proof ends.

Indeed, if we consider the first equality in the equation (2.6), we see that $N = Re(\xi^{t} \sigma \xi)$ and $B = Im(\xi^{t} \sigma \xi)$. So, considering complex numbers we obtain that

$$N = \frac{1}{2} \left(\xi^t \sigma \xi + \overline{\xi^t \sigma \xi} \right),$$

$$B = -\frac{i}{2} \left(\xi^t \sigma \xi - \overline{\xi^t \sigma \xi} \right)$$

Finally, using the Proposition 2.5, we reach the equations (3.2) and (3.3).

Moreover, the spinor equations of these vectors can be written in terms of components as follows since they will be used operations after that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{T} &= \left(\xi_{1}\overline{\xi_{2}} + \overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}, i(\xi_{1}\overline{\xi_{2}} - \overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}), |\xi_{1}|^{2} - |\xi_{2}|^{2}\right), \\ \mathbf{N} &= \frac{1}{2}\left(\xi_{1}^{2} - \xi_{2}^{2} - \overline{\xi_{2}}^{2} + \overline{\xi_{1}}^{2}, i\left(\xi_{1}^{2} + \xi_{2}^{2} - \overline{\xi_{1}}^{2} - \overline{\xi_{2}}^{2}\right), -2\xi_{1}\xi_{2} - 2\overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}\right), \\ \mathbf{B} &= -\frac{i}{2}\left(\xi_{1}^{2} - \xi_{2}^{2} + \overline{\xi_{2}}^{2} - \overline{\xi_{1}}^{2}, i\left(\xi_{1}^{2} + \xi_{2}^{2} + \overline{\xi_{1}}^{2} + \overline{\xi_{2}}^{2}\right), -2\xi_{1}\xi_{2} + 2\overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}\right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.4)

On the other hand, let us take any curve (β) which is not parameterized by arc length. Moreover, let the Frenet vectors of this curve be { N^*, B^*, T^* } and the different spinor corresponding the curve (β) be ϕ . So, similar to the equation (2.6), we can write

$$N^* + iB^* = \phi^t \sigma \phi,$$

 $T^* = -\widehat{\phi}^t \sigma \phi,$

So, the spinor equations of this curve (β) can be written by components as

$$\boldsymbol{T}^{*} = (\phi_{1}\overline{\phi_{2}} + \overline{\phi_{1}}\phi_{2}, i(\phi_{1}\overline{\phi_{2}} - \overline{\phi_{1}}\phi_{2}), |\phi_{1}|^{2} - |\phi_{2}|^{2}), \\
\boldsymbol{N}^{*} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\phi_{1}^{2} - \phi_{2}^{2} + \overline{\phi_{1}}^{2} - \overline{\phi_{2}}^{2}, i\left(\phi_{1}^{2} + \phi_{2}^{2} - \overline{\phi_{1}}^{2} - \overline{\phi_{2}}^{2}\right), -2\left(\phi_{1}\phi_{2} + \overline{\phi_{1}}\phi_{2}\right) \right), \\
\boldsymbol{B}^{*} = -\frac{i}{2} \left(\phi_{1}^{2} - \phi_{2}^{2} + \overline{\phi_{2}}^{2} - \overline{\phi_{1}}^{2}, i\left(\phi_{1}^{2} + \phi_{2}^{2} + \overline{\phi_{1}}^{2} + \overline{\phi_{2}}^{2}\right), -2\left(\phi_{1}\phi_{2} - \overline{\phi_{1}}\phi_{2}\right) \right) \tag{3.5}$$

for the curve (β). In addition that, the equation (3.5) provides the equation (2.1). So, we can give the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2. Let the Frenet vectors of the curve (β) which is not parameterized by arc length be { N^* , B^* , T^* } and the spinor corresponding to this curve be ϕ . So, the Frenet equation of this curve in terms of a single spinor equation is written by

$$\frac{d\phi}{ds} = \frac{\|\beta'\|}{2} (-i\tau^*\phi + \kappa^*\hat{\phi}).$$

Proof. Let the Frenet vectors $\{N^*, B^*, T^*\}$ of the curve (β) be correspond to the spinor ϕ . We know that $\{\phi, \hat{\phi}\}$ is the basis for the spinor with two complex components. So, it can be written

$$\frac{d\phi}{ds} = f\phi + g\hat{\phi} \tag{3.6}$$

where the functions f and g are arbitrary, complex-valued functions. On the other hand, using the equations (2.1), (3.5) and (3.6) we obtain that

$$\|\beta'\|(-\kappa^*T^* - i\tau^*(N^* + iB^*)) = 2f(N^* + iB^*) - 2gT^*$$

So, we have

$$f = \frac{-i\tau^* \|\beta'\|}{2}, \quad g = \frac{\kappa^* \|\beta'\|}{2}.$$
(3.7)

Finally, if we consider the equations (3.6) and (3.7), we obtain that the Frenet vectors of the curve (β) in terms of a single spinor equation as

$$\frac{d\phi}{ds} = \frac{\|\beta'\|}{2} (-i\tau^*\phi + \kappa^*\hat{\phi})$$

where κ^* and τ^* are curvature and torsion of curve (β).

Now, we express the spinor representation of Involute Evolute curves. Let us consider the curves α , $\beta : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ and the Frenet vectors $\{T, N, B\}$ and $\{T^*, N^*, B^*\}$ of the curves (α) and (β) , respectively. Moreover, the curves (β, α) are considered that Involute Evolute curves and the spinors ϕ and ξ are corresponded to the Involute Evolute curves (β, α) , respectively. So, we can give the following theorem.

Theorem 3.3. Let the curves $\beta, \alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ be Involute Evolute curves which have the Frenet vectors $\{N^*, B^*, T^*\}$ and $\{N, B, T\}$, respectively. Moreover, the spinors corresponding to the Frenet vectors of these curves (α) and (β) are considered as ξ and ϕ , respectively. So, the relationship between the spinor equations of Involute Evolute curves is

$$\overline{\phi}\overline{\xi}^{\prime}\phi = C\phi\overline{\phi}^{\prime}\hat{\xi}$$

where $C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

Proof. We consider that the curves α , β : $I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ are Involute Evolute curves which have the Frenet vectors $\{N, B, T\}$ and $\{N^*, B^*, T^*\}$, respectively. So, we know that relationship between the tangent vectors of these curves is $\langle T, T^* \rangle = 0$. Thus, using this relation and the first equations in the equations (3.4), (3.5), we obtain

$$\left(\xi_1\overline{\xi_2}+\overline{\xi_1}\xi_2\right)\left(\phi_1\overline{\phi_2}+\overline{\phi_1}\phi_2\right)-\left(\xi_1\overline{\xi_2}-\overline{\xi_1}\xi_2\right)\left(\phi_1\overline{\phi_2}-\overline{\phi_1}\phi_2\right)+\left(|\xi_1|^2-|\xi_2|^2\right)\left(|\phi_1|^2-|\phi_2|^2\right)=0$$

and

$$2\xi_1\overline{\xi_2\phi_1}\phi_2 + 2\overline{\xi_1}\xi_2\phi_1\overline{\phi_2} + |\xi_1|^2|\phi_1|^2 - |\xi_1|^2|\phi_2|^2 - |\xi_2|^2|\phi_1|^2 + |\xi_2|^2|\phi_2|^2 = 0.$$
(3.8)

Also, if the equation (3.8) is written as matrix product, the following equation can be written

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} \xi_1 & \xi_2\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \overline{\phi_1} \\ \overline{\phi_2}\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \overline{\xi_1} & \overline{\xi_2}\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2\end{array}\right) + \left(\begin{array}{cc} \xi_1 & \xi_2\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \phi_2 \\ -\phi_1\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \overline{\phi_1} & \overline{\phi_2}\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \overline{\xi_2} \\ -\overline{\xi_1}\end{array}\right) = 0$$

where the spinors ξ and ϕ are written as column matrix like these $\xi = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \xi_2 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$. Finally, we have

$$\overline{\phi}\overline{\xi}^t\phi=C\phi\overline{\phi}^t\hat{\xi}$$

where $C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

So, we obtain the spinor equations of Involute Evolute curves. After that, we will call the spinors corresponding to Involute Evolute curves as Involute Evolute spinors. The other relationship between Involute Evolute spinors can be given following theorem.

Theorem 3.4. Let the curves $\beta, \alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ be Involute Evolute curves and the spinors corresponding to the Frenet vectors of these curves are considered as ϕ and ξ , respectively. So, the relationship between Involute Evolute spinors is

$$\xi^t \overline{\phi} \overline{\xi}^t \phi = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Proof. We know that for the spinors ξ and ϕ there is relationship $|\xi_1|^2 + |\xi_2|^2 = 1$ and $|\phi_1|^2 + |\phi_2|^2 = 1$ since the Frenet vectors corresponding to these spinors are unit vectors. So, we can write

$$(|\xi_1|^2 + |\xi_2|^2)(|\phi_1|^2 + |\phi_2|^2) = 1$$

So, we have

$$|\xi_1|^2 |\phi_1|^2 + |\xi_1|^2 |\phi_2|^2 + |\xi_2|^2 |\phi_1|^2 + |\xi_2|^2 |\phi_2|^2 = 1.$$
(3.9)

If we use the equations (3.8) and (3.9), we obtain

$$\left(\xi_1\overline{\phi_1}+\xi_2\overline{\phi_2}\right)\left(\overline{\xi_2}\phi_2+\overline{\xi_1}\phi_1\right)=\frac{1}{2}$$

Moreover, if the last equation is written by matrix product by the help of $\xi = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \xi_2 \end{pmatrix}$, $\phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$, the equation can be obtain

$$\xi^t \overline{\phi} \overline{\xi}^t \phi = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Now, the expression of the Involute Evolute spinors in terms of each other can be written as follows.

Theorem 3.5. Let the spinors ϕ and ξ be Involute Evolute spinors. So, the expression of spinor ϕ in terms of the spinor ξ is

$$\phi_{1}{}^{2} = \frac{\kappa - i\tau}{2\sqrt{\kappa^{2} + \tau^{2}}} \left(\xi_{1} - \bar{\xi}_{2}\right)^{2} \phi_{2}{}^{2} = \frac{\kappa - i\tau}{2\sqrt{\kappa^{2} + \tau^{2}}} \left(\bar{\xi}_{1} + \xi_{2}\right)^{2}$$

Proof. We consider that the equations (3.4) and (3.5) are written in the second equation of (2.5). So, we find the equations

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\phi_{1}^{2}-\phi_{2}^{2}-\bar{\phi}_{2}^{2}+\bar{\phi}_{1}^{2}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^{2}+\tau^{2}}}\left(-\kappa\left(\xi_{1}\overline{\xi_{2}}+\overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}\right)-i\frac{\tau}{2}\left(\xi_{1}^{2}-\xi_{2}^{2}+\overline{\xi_{2}}^{2}-\overline{\xi_{1}}^{2}\right)\right),\tag{3.10}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\phi_{1}^{2}+\phi_{2}^{2}-\bar{\phi}_{1}^{2}-\bar{\phi}_{2}^{2}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^{2}+\tau^{2}}}\left(-\kappa\left(\xi_{1}\overline{\xi_{2}}-\overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}\right)-i\frac{\tau}{2}\left(\xi_{1}^{2}+\xi_{2}^{2}+\overline{\xi_{1}}^{2}+\overline{\xi_{2}}^{2}\right)\right)$$
(3.11)

and

$$-\phi_1\phi_2 - \bar{\phi}_1\bar{\phi}_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \left(-\kappa \left(\xi_1\bar{\xi}_1 - \xi_2\overline{\xi}_2\right) + i\tau \left(\xi_1\xi_2 - \overline{\xi}_1\overline{\xi}_2\right) \right).$$
(3.12)

Similarly, if the equations (3.4) and (3.5) are written in the third equation of (2.5), we find that

$$-\frac{i}{2}\left(\phi_{1}^{2}-\phi_{2}^{2}+\bar{\phi}_{2}^{2}-\bar{\phi}_{1}^{2}\right)=\frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^{2}+\tau^{2}}}\left(\tau\left(\xi_{1}\overline{\xi_{2}}+\overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}\right)-i\frac{\kappa}{2}\left(\xi_{1}^{2}-\xi_{2}^{2}+\overline{\xi_{2}}^{2}-\overline{\xi_{1}}^{2}\right)\right),$$
(3.13)

$$-\frac{i}{2}\left(\phi_{1}^{2}+\phi_{2}^{2}+\bar{\phi}_{1}^{2}+\bar{\phi}_{2}^{2}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^{2}+\tau^{2}}}\left(\tau\left(\xi_{1}\overline{\xi_{2}}-\overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}\right)-i\frac{\kappa}{2}\left(\xi_{1}^{2}+\xi_{2}^{2}+\overline{\xi_{1}}^{2}+\overline{\xi_{2}}^{2}+\overline{\xi_{2}}^{2}\right)\right)$$
(3.14)

and

$$i\left(\phi_{1}\phi_{2}-\bar{\phi}_{1}\bar{\phi}_{2}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\kappa^{2}+\tau^{2}}}\left(\tau\left(\xi_{1}\bar{\xi}_{1}-\xi_{2}\overline{\xi_{2}}\right)-i\kappa\left(-\xi_{1}\xi_{2}+\overline{\xi_{1}}\xi_{2}\right)\right).$$
(3.15)

If we consider the equations (3.10) and (3.13), we obtain

$$\phi_1^2 - \phi_2^2 = \frac{\kappa - i\tau}{2\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \left(\left(\xi_1 - \overline{\xi_2}\right)^2 - \left(\overline{\xi_1} + \xi_2\right)^2 \right).$$

Similarly, from the equations (3.11) and (3.14), we have

$$\phi_1^2 + \phi_2^2 = \frac{\kappa - i\tau}{2\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \left(\left(\xi_1 - \overline{\xi_2}\right)^2 + \left(\overline{\xi_1} + \xi_2\right)^2 \right).$$

Finally, from the equations (3.12) and (3.15), we get

$$\phi_1\phi_2 = \frac{\kappa - i\tau}{2\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} \left(\xi_1 - \overline{\xi_2}\right) \left(\overline{\xi_1} + \xi_2\right)$$

φ

So, we can write

$$\phi_1{}^2 = \frac{\kappa - i\tau}{2\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} (\xi_1 - \bar{\xi}_2)^2, \phi_2{}^2 = \frac{\kappa - i\tau}{2\sqrt{\kappa^2 + \tau^2}} (\bar{\xi}_1 + \xi_2)^2.$$

Now, we give an example.

Example 3.6. Let the unit-speed curve $\alpha : I \to \mathbb{E}^3$ be $\alpha(s) = \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\cos s, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin s, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}s\right)$. So, if we use the equation (2.2), for the Frenet vectors $\{T, N, B\}$ of the curve (α) , we calculate as

$$\begin{aligned} \boldsymbol{T}(s) &= \left(-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sin s, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \cos s, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \right), \\ \boldsymbol{N}(s) &= (-\cos s, -\sin s, 0), \\ \boldsymbol{B}(s) &= \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sin s, -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \cos s, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.16)

Moreover, from the equation (2.3) we obtain the curvature and torsion of this curve as

$$\kappa = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad \tau = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}.$$

Now, we consider that the Frenet vectors $\{N, B, T\}$ are corresponded to the spinor ξ . So, from the equations (3.4) and (3.16), we get

$$\begin{split} \xi_{1} &= \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{2+\sqrt{2}}{2}}\left(\sqrt{1-\cos s} + i\sqrt{1+\cos s}\right),\\ \xi_{2} &= -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{2+\sqrt{2}}{2}}\left(\sqrt{1+\cos s} + i\sqrt{1-\cos s}\right), \end{split}$$

In addition that, from Theorem 2.6, we have $\frac{d\xi}{ds} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4} \left(-i\xi + \hat{\xi} \right)$. Now, we regard that the involute curve of unit-speed curve (α) is (β) which has not arc-length parameter. So, if we look the equation (2.4), then the curve (β) is written by

$$\beta(s) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\cos s - (c-s) \sin s, \sin s + (c-s) \cos s, c \right).$$

Then, we obtain the Frenet vectors and curvature, torsion of this curve

$$T^*(s) = (-\cos s, -\sin s, 0)$$

$$N^*(s) = (\sin s, -\cos s, 0),$$

$$B^*(s) = (0, 0, 1)$$

and

$$\kappa^* = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(c-s)}, \qquad \tau^* = 0.$$

Finally, we get the spinor corresponded to involute curves

$$\begin{aligned} \phi_1 &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\sqrt{1 + \sin s} + i \sqrt{1 - \sin s} \right), \\ \phi_2 &= -\frac{1}{2} \left(\sqrt{1 - \sin s} + i \sqrt{1 + \sin s} \right) \end{aligned}$$

So, the Frenet equation of this curve in terms of a single spinor equation is written by $\frac{d\phi}{ds} = \frac{1}{2}\hat{\phi}$.

References

- É. Cartan, *The Theory of Spinors*, The M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, MA, 1966.
 H. B. Lawson, M. L. Michelsohn, *Spin Geometry*, Princeton University Press, New Jersey, 1989.
 P. O'Donnell, *Introduction to 2-Spinors in General Relativity*, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., London, 2003.
 M. D. Vivarelli, *Development of spinors descriptions of rotational mechanics from Euler's rigid body displacement theorem*, Celestial Mech., **32** (1984), 102. [4] M. D. Vivatelli, Development of spinors descriptions of rotational mechanics from Earch's right oray and right oray and ri

- 13(2) (2015), 179-193.
- [9] T. Erisir, M. A. Gungor, M. Tosun. Geometry of the hyperbolic spinors corresponding to alternative frame, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., 25(4) (2015),
- [10] Y. Balci, T. Erisir, M. A. Gungor, Hyperbolic spinor Darboux equations of spacelike curves in Minkowski 3-space, J. Chungcheong Math. Soc., 28(4) (2015), 525–535.
- [11] M. Tarakcioglu, T. Erisir, M. A. Gungor, M. Tosun. The hyperbolic spinor representation of transformations in \mathbb{R}^3_1 by means of split quaternions, Adv. [11] M. Taractogu, T. Erish, M. A. Gungo, M. Toshi. The hyperbolic spinor representation of transformations in R₁ by means of spin quaternions, Ad Appl. Clifford Algebra, 28(1) (2018), 26.
 [12] H. H. Hacisalihoglu, Differential Geometry, Faculty of Science, Ankara University, 1, 1996.
 [13] H. Goldstein, Classical Mechanics, 2nd ed., Addison-Wesley, Reading, Mass., 1980.
 [14] D. H. Sattinger, O. L. Weaver, Lie Groups and Algebras with Applications to Physics, Geometry and Mechanics, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1986.
 [15] W. T. Payne, Elementary spinor theory, Amer. J. Phys., 20 1952, 253.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.570126



On Directed Baire Spaces

Vellapandi Renukadevi^{1*} and Ravindran Thangamariappan²

¹Centre for Research and Post Graduate Studies in Mathematics, Ayya Nadar Janaki Ammal College, Sivakasi 626 124, India ²Department of Mathematics, P.S.R. Engineering College, Sivakasi 626 140, India ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: renu_siva2003@yahoo.com

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords:Bairespaces,Dense G_{δ} -sets, Directed sets, Nets, p-spaces,Submaximal spaces, Volterra spaces2010 AMS:54E52;54E18,54G10,54F05Received:25 May 2019Accepted:02 October 2019Available online:20 December 2019

We study directed Baire spaces and their relevant topological properties. A characterization of directed Baire spaces is given using point finite family of G_{δ} -sets. Further, we prove that the product of directed Baire space with a metric hereditarily directed Baire space is a downward-directed Baire space. Finally, it is established that the product of a Baire space with a hereditarily metric Volterra space is again a Volterra space.

1. Introduction

A topological space X is a Baire space (resp. second category) if intersection of any sequence of dense open subsets of X is dense (resp. non-empty). It follows from the definition that the intersection of countably many dense G_{δ} -sets of Baire space (resp. second category) X must be dense (resp. non-empty) in X [1]. The properties of Baire spaces and characterizations are studied in [2]. A family \mathscr{B} of non-empty open subsets of a topological space is said to be *pseudo base* [3] (π - *base*) if every non-empty open set contains at least one member of \mathscr{B} . A space X is called a P-space [4] if every countable intersection of open subsets of X is open. A directed set [5](or a directed preorder or a filtered set) is a non-empty set Δ together with a reflexive and transitive binary relation \leq (that is, a preorder), with the additional property that every pair of elements has an upper bound. In other words, for any a and b in Δ , there must exists a $c \in \Delta$ with $a \leq c$ and $b \leq c$. In this article, we consider only the directed set in which every two elements of it are comparable. A space X is a directed Baire space if intersection of family of dense G_{δ} -subsets $\{D_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ of X is dense and weakly directed Baire space if intersection of the family of decreasing dense G_{δ} -subsets $\{D_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ of X is dense, where Δ is a directed set. The following Example 1.1 shows the existence of directed Baire spaces.

Example 1.1. Consider $X = [0,\infty)$ with the topology having $\mathscr{B} = \{[0,a) \mid a \neq 0 \in X\}$ as its basis. In this space, the intersection of any family of dense G_{δ} -subsets of X is dense.

By definition itself it is clear that every directed Baire space is Baire, but there are Baire spaces which are not directed Baire, refer Example 1.2.

Example 1.2. Consider \mathbb{R} with usual metric. Since \mathbb{R} is a complete metric space, it is a Baire space and hence second category. Since $\mathbb{Q} \cup \{\alpha\}$ is countable and each singleton sets of \mathbb{R} is closed, $\mathbb{Q} \cup \{\alpha\}$ is an F_{σ} -set and its complement is a dense G_{δ} -subset of \mathbb{R} for every irrational $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Hence there exists a family of dense G_{δ} -sets such that their intersection is not dense (in particular empty set) namely $(\mathbb{Q} \cup \{\alpha\})^c$ where α runs over irrationals. Hence \mathbb{R} with usual metric is neither directed Baire space nor weakly directed Baire.

Also, by definition itself it is clear that every directed Baire space is weakly directed Baire, but the converse does not hold as shown by Example 1.3.

Example 1.3. Consider \mathbb{R} with the topology obtained from the basis $\mathscr{B} = \{(a,b) | a, b \in \mathbb{R}\} \cup \{0\}$. Since every dense set contains $\{0\}$, the intersection of every family of dense G_{δ} -sets is non-empty. For every irrational $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ the set $(\mathbb{Q} - \{0\}) \cup \{\alpha\}$ is countable, and each

Email addresses and ORCID numbers:renu_siva2003@yahoo.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4185-5545 (V. Renukadevi), arti6arti@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7569-4623 (R. Thangamariappan)

singleton sets of \mathbb{R} is closed, the above defined set is an F_{σ} -set and its complement is a dense G_{δ} -subset. Hence there is a family of dense G_{δ} -sets such that their intersection is not dense (which equals $\{0\}$) namely, $(\mathbb{Q} - \{0\} \cup \{\alpha\})^c$ where α runs over irrationals. Hence this topological space is weakly directed Baire, Baire and second category but not directed Baire.

Example 1.4. There is a space which is weakly directed Baire and hence second category but not Baire and directed Baire. Let $X = \mathbb{Q} \cup (1,2)$ where \mathbb{Q} denotes the set of the rational numbers in (0,1) of the real line. Topologize X by the subbasis $\{\{(a,b) \mid a, b \in (1,2)\} \cup \mathbb{Q}\}$. Then X is not Baire because the open set \mathbb{Q} is of first category. But X is weakly directed Baire in itself as the open subset (1,2) is.

Example 1.5. Consider (X, τ) where $X = [0, \infty)$ and the topology τ has $\{[a, \infty) - F \mid a \in X \text{ and } F \text{ is a finite subset of } X\}$ as its basis. By its construction, it is of first category, so it is none of the Baire, second category, directed Baire and weakly directed Baire.

Example 1.6. There is a space which is second category but not weakly directed Baire, Baire and directed Baire. Topologize $X = \mathbb{Q} \cup (0,2)$ by the subbasis $\{\{(a,b) \mid a, b \in (0,2)\} \cup \mathbb{Q}\}$. Since \mathbb{Q} is a first category set, X fails to be a Baire space and so X is not a directed Baire space. But X is of second category in itself as the open subset (1,2) is. Since \mathbb{Q} is countable, $\{r_1, r_2, r_3...\}$ be the sequential arrangements of \mathbb{Q} and I is the collection of all irrationals in (0,2). Define $H_i^{\alpha} = \{r_i\} \cup \{I - \{\alpha\}\}$ where α is irrational in (0,2). $\{H_i^{\alpha} \mid i \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } \alpha \in I\}$ is the collection of dense G_{δ} -sets in X whose intersection is empty.

Theorem 1.7. Every compact *p*-space *X* is a directed Baire space.

Proof. Suppose $\{U_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ is a family of dense G_{δ} -subsets of X, and take U as an open subset of X. It is enough to show that $U \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} U_{\alpha}) \neq \emptyset$. Since in a p-space, every G_{δ} -sets are open, it is possible to construct a non-empty open subset V_{α} of X such that $V_{\alpha} \subset U \cap U_{\alpha}$. Defining recursively we have non-empty open subsets $\{V_{\alpha}\}$ of X such that $V_{\alpha+1} \subset V_{\alpha} \cap U_{\alpha+1}$, for each α and $V_{\alpha+1}$ is the successor of V_{α} . Suppose $\bigcap_{\alpha} V_{\alpha} = \emptyset$. Then define $W_{\alpha} = X - cl(V_{\alpha})$, so that $\{W_{\alpha}\}$ is an open cover of X. As X is compact, we find a finite sub-cover $\{W_{\alpha_1}, W_{\alpha_2}, \dots, W_{\alpha_n}\}$ such that $\{W_{\alpha_k}\}$ covers X. Since $W_{\alpha} = X - cl(V_{\alpha})$ we have $cl(V_{\alpha}) \subset int(X - W_{\alpha}) = X - cl(W_{\alpha})$. Hence $V_{\alpha} \subset X - cl(W_{\alpha})$ for every α . But $\emptyset = \bigcap_{k=1}^{n} (X - cl(W_{\alpha_k})) \supset \bigcap_{n=1}^{n} V_{\alpha_k} = V_{\alpha_n}$, which is a contradiction. Thus, $\emptyset \neq \bigcap_{\alpha} V_{\alpha} \subset U \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} U_{\alpha})$.

Corollary 1.8. Every submaximal compact space is a directed Baire space.

Proof. Since in submaximal spaces, every dense set is open, the proof follows.

Since every compact p-spaces are also Baire spaces, by Theorem 1.7, there are spaces which are Baire, directed Baire, weakly directed Baire and second category. Example 1.2 shows that there are Baire spaces which are not weakly directed Baire space, Example 1.4 shows that there are weakly directed Baire space which are neither Baire nor directed Baire spaces. The following arrow diagram shows the relation between the four spaces namely, Baire, second category, directed Baire and weakly directed Baire.



Hence Baire, second category, directed Baire and weakly directed Baire are independent concepts.

2. Characterization for directed Baire space

The hereditary property of (resp. weakly) directed Baire spaces need not be true for arbitrary spaces. Here, we prove that for some classes of subspaces, these properties are hereditary. This gives us a new characterization for directed Baireness of spaces.

Theorem 2.1. In a directed Baire space X, if $H \subset X$ and $A \subset H$ where A is a G_{δ} set implies that $int(\overline{A})$ is dense in H, then H is a directed Baire space.

Proof. Since $int(\overline{A})$ is dense in H, we have $\overline{H} \subset (H \cap int\overline{A})$. For, $x \in \overline{H}$ implies $U_x \cap H \neq \emptyset$ for every neighborhood U_x of x. Therefore $y \in U_x \cap H$ is a neighborhood of y in H, Since $int(\overline{A})$ is dense in H, $(U_x \cap H) \cap int(\overline{A}) \neq \emptyset$ so that $U_x \cap (H \cap int(\overline{A})) \neq \emptyset$. Hence $\overline{H} \subset \overline{(H \cap int\overline{A})}$. Since $A \subset H$, $\overline{A} \subset \overline{H} \subset \overline{H} \cap int(\overline{A})$. But $\overline{A} \subset \overline{H} \subset \overline{H} \cap int(\overline{A}) \subset \overline{A}$. Therefore, $\overline{A} = \overline{H} = \overline{H} \cap int(\overline{A})$.

Let $\{D_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be a family of dense G_{δ} -subsets in H. Then $\overline{H \cap D_{\alpha}} = \overline{H}$ for every α . Define $A^+ = A \cup (X - \overline{H})$, and $D^+_{\alpha} = D_{\alpha} \cup (X - \overline{H})$ for every α . Then A^+ and D^+_{α} are dense G_{δ} -sets in X for every α and X is directed Baire $A^+ \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha})$ is dense in X. Hence $(A \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha})) \cup (X - \overline{H})$ is dense in X.

Now $\overline{A} = \overline{H}$ implies $\overline{int(\overline{A})} \subset \overline{(A \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}))}$. Suppose not, there is an element $a \in int(\overline{A})$ with $a \notin \overline{(A \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}))}$. That is, there exists U_a such that $U_a \cap (A \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha})) = \emptyset$. For every $a \in int(\overline{A})$, there exists V_a such that $V_a \cap (X - \overline{H}) = \emptyset$. Since $a \in int(\overline{A})$, there exists an open set $V_a, V_a \subset \overline{A}$ so that $V_a \subset \overline{H}$. Take $W_a = U_a \cap V_a$. Then $W_a \cap ((A \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha})) \cup (X - \overline{H})) = \emptyset$, which is a contradiction. $\overline{H} \subset \overline{(H \cap int(\overline{A}))} \subset \overline{(int(\overline{A}))} \subset \overline{A \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha})} \subset \overline{H} \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}) \subset \overline{H}$. Therefore, $\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}$ is dense in H.

Remark 2.2. Observe that H satisfies the hypothesis of Theorem 2.1 if H is open or a regular closed or a dense G_{δ} subset of X.

Corollary 2.3. *X* is a directed Baire space if and only if each non-empty open subspace is a weakly directed Baire space.

Proof. If *X* is directed Baire, then every non-empty open subspace is also directed Baire and hence weakly directed Baire. Conversely, suppose that each non-empty open subspace is weakly directed Baire. Let $\{D_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be a family of dense G_{δ} -subsets of *X*. If *O* is a non-empty open subset of *X*, then $O \cap D_{\alpha}$ are G_{δ} -subsets of *O* which are dense in *O*. Then $\bigcap_{\alpha} (O \cap D_{\alpha}) \neq \emptyset$ so that $O \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}) \neq \emptyset$. Therefore, $\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}$ is dense in *X*.

Remark 2.4. *X* is directed Baire if and only if each non-empty open subspaces U of X cannot be written as the union of any family of nowhere dense F_{σ} -sets in U.

Theorem 2.5. If \mathcal{O} is a family of open subsets of X whose union is dense in X, then the following hold. (a) If there is some non-empty $U_1 \in \mathcal{O}$ such that U_1 is weakly directed Baire, then X is weakly directed Baire. (b) If each member of \mathcal{O} is directed Baire, then X is directed Baire.

Proof. (a) Let U_1 be a weakly directed Baire set in \mathcal{O} and $\{O_\alpha \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be a family of dense G_δ -subsets of X. Then $U_1 \cap O_\alpha$ are dense G_δ -sets in U_1 . Since U_1 is weakly directed Baire, $\bigcap_{\alpha} (U_1 \cap O_\alpha) \neq \emptyset$ in U_1 which implies that $U_1 \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} O_\alpha) \neq \emptyset$ so that $\bigcap_{\alpha} O_\alpha \neq \emptyset$. Hence X is a weakly directed Baire space.

(b) Let V_1 be a non-empty open subset of X and $\{O_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be a family of dense G_{δ} -subsets of X. Since $\cup \{U_1 \mid U_1 \in \mathcal{O}\}$ is dense in X, $V_1 \cap U_1 \neq \emptyset$ for some $U_1 \in \mathcal{O}$. By hypothesis, $V_1 \cap U_1$ is a weakly directed Baire subspace of U_1 . Now $O_{\alpha} \cap (U_1 \cap V_1)$ are dense G_{δ} -sets of $U_1 \cap V_1, \alpha \cap (U_1 \cap V_1) \neq \emptyset$. Therefore, $(\bigcap_{\alpha} O_{\alpha}) \cap V_1 \neq \emptyset$. Hence X is directed Baire.

Now we characterize directed Baire spaces in terms of point finite G_{δ} -cover of *X*. A family $\mathscr{U} = \{U_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \mathscr{I}\}$ is said to be point finite in a topological space *X* if every point of *X* lies in only finite members of \mathscr{U} , and it is locally finite at $x \in X$ if every neighborhood of *x* intersects only finite members of \mathscr{U} .

Theorem 2.6. A space X is directed Baire if and only if every point finite G_{δ} -cover of X is locally finite at a dense set of points.

Proof. Let $\mathscr{W} = \{U_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be a point finite G_{δ} -cover of X and U be a non-empty open subset of X. Assume that \mathscr{W} is not locally finite at any point of U. If $\mathscr{V} = \{V_{\alpha}\}, V_{\alpha} = U_{\alpha} \cap U$, then each open set in \mathscr{W} intersects many members of \mathscr{V} . Put $\mathscr{F} = \{F_{\alpha} \mid F_{\alpha} \subset \Delta$ and $\Delta - F_{\alpha}$ is finite}. Let \mathscr{J} be the index set of the family \mathscr{F} . Now for each $J \in \mathscr{J}$, define $X_J = Bd(\cup\{V_{\beta} \mid \beta \in F_J\})$. Each X_J is closed and $int(X_J) = \emptyset$, so that each X_J is nowhere dense. Let $x \in U$. Since $\mathscr{W} = \{U_{\alpha}\}$ is point finite, there exists a $J' \in \mathscr{J}$ such that x belongs to the members of $\{V_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta - F_{J'}\}$, but no other members of \mathscr{V} . So $x \notin \cup \{V_{\beta} \mid \beta \in F_{J'}\}$. If V is an open set containing x, then V intersects some members of $\{V_{\beta} \mid \beta \in F_{J'}\}$, since $\mathscr{V} = \{V_{\alpha}\}$ is not locally finite at any point of U. Since $x \notin \cup \{V_{\beta} \mid \beta \in F_{J'}\}$, $x \in X_{J'}$. Hence $U = \cup(U \cap X_J)$, which is a contradiction, by Remark 2.4. Conversely, let U be a non-empty open subset of X. Suppose X is not directed Baire, $U = \cup X_{\alpha}$, where $int(\overline{X_{\alpha}}) = \emptyset$ for each α in the index set Δ , by Remark 2.4. Let $U_0 = X$ and for each $\alpha \in \Delta$ define $U_{\alpha} = U - \bigcup_{\beta \leq \alpha} \overline{X_{\beta}}$. Let $\mathfrak{U} = \{U_{\alpha}\}$ where

 $\alpha \in \Delta$, which is a point finite G_{δ} -cover of *X*. Then \mathfrak{U} is locally finite at some *x* in *U*. Let *O* be an open set of *x* such that $x \in O \subset U$. Since $int(X_{\alpha}) = \emptyset$, $O \not\subseteq \bigcup_{\beta \leq \alpha} \overline{X_{\beta}}$ for each α . Thus, *O* must intersect every member of \mathfrak{U} , which is a contradiction to locally finiteness of the point finite G_{δ} -cover \mathfrak{U} .

Blumberg [6] showed that for every real valued function f defined on the real line \mathbb{R} , there exists a dense subset D of \mathbb{R} such that $f|_D$ is continuous. We will say that space X has Blumberg's property with, respect to Y if for every function $f : X \to Y$, there exists a dense subset D of X such that $f|_D$ is continuous. It is known [7] that for a metric space X, X is a Baire space if and only if X has Blumberg's property with respect to the reals. In Theorem 2.7, the similar result is proved for directed Baire space.

Theorem 2.7. Let *Y* contain an infinite discrete subset $D = \{y_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$. If *X* satisfies Blumberg's property with respect to *Y*, then *X* is a directed Baire space.

Proof. Let $\mathbb{D} = \{y_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be a infinite discrete subset of *Y*. If *X* is not a directed Baire space, then there is an open set *U* in *X* such that $U = (\bigcup_{\alpha} U_{\alpha})$. Define a function $f : X \to Y$ as follows: let $f(x) = y_{\alpha_0}$ for each $x \in X - U$, where $y_{\alpha_0} \in D$ and let $f(x) = y_{\beta}$ for each $x \in U$, where $\beta = \min \{\alpha \mid x \in U_{\alpha}\}$. From the construction of the function $f, f|_D$ is not continuous for every dense subset *D* of *X*.

3. Product of directed Baire spaces

A directed Baire space in which every closed subspace is also directed Baire space is called a hereditarily directed Baire space. We discuss the product of directed Baire spaces. The following Lemma 3.1 is useful in the sequel.

Lemma 3.1. Let Y be a topological space, (A,d) be a metric space and C be a dense G_{δ} -subset of $Y \times A$. Then given any finite subset F of A, $\varepsilon > 0$ and non-empty open set O of Y, there exists a finite subset A' of A and a dense G_{δ} -subset C_Y of O such that (i) for each $z \in F$, there exists $a \in A'$ with $d(z,a) < \varepsilon$ (ii) $C_Y \times A' \subseteq C$.

Proof. For the given finite subset *F* of *A*, define an open subset $V = \bigcup B(z, \varepsilon)$ of *A* where union runs over the points of *F*. Since *C* is dense in $Y \times A$, $(O \times V) \cap C \neq \emptyset$. Then $C_Y = P_X((O \times V) \cap C)$ and $A' \subset P_Y((O \times V) \cap C)$ are the requirements.

Theorem 3.2. If X is a directed Baire space and Y is a metrizable hereditarily directed Baire space, then $X \times Y$ is a downward-directed Baire space.

Proof. Let $\{D_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be a family of decreasing dense G_{δ} -sets in $X \times Y$. We prove that $\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}$ is dense in $X \times Y$. Let G and H be any non-empty open sets in X and Y, respectively. To prove $[\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}] \cap (G \times H) \neq \emptyset$. Let $\{s_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ be a net in $[0, \infty)$ with usual metric, which converges to 0.

Let α_1 be the least member of Δ . Since D_{α_1} is dense $(G \times H) \cap D_{\alpha_1} \neq \emptyset$. Define a dense G_{δ} -set of $G, X_{\alpha_1} = P_X((G \times H) \cap D_{\alpha_1})$ and $Z_{\alpha_1} = \{y\}$, where $y \in P_Y((G \times H) \cap D_{\alpha_1})$.

By Lemma 3.1, for any finite subset Z_{α_1} of Y, non-empty open set G in X, dense G_{δ} -set D_{β} of $X \times Y$ and $s_{\beta} > 0$, we can find a finite subset Y_{β} of Y and a dense G_{δ} subset X_{β} of G such that

(i) for each $z \in Z_{\alpha_1}$, one can find $y \in Y_{\beta}$ with $d(z, y) < s_{\beta}$

(ii) $X_{\beta} \times Y_{\beta} \subseteq D_{\beta}$. Then we define

(iii) $\dot{Z}_{\beta} = Z_{\alpha_1} \cup \dot{Y}_{\beta}$, where β is the successor of α_1 .

Continuing in this way, we reached a family of dense G_{δ} -subsets $\{X_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ of G. Since X is a directed Baire space, $\bigcap_{\alpha} X_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset$. Choose $x \in \bigcap_{\alpha} X_{\alpha}$ and define, for each $\alpha \in \Delta$, the dense G_{δ} -subsets $\{W_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ of Y so that $\{x\} \times W_{\alpha} = (\{x\} \times Y) \cap D_{\alpha}$.

Let $Z^+ = \bigcup_{\alpha} Z_{\alpha} \subset H$. Since *Y* is hereditarily directed Baire, $\overline{Z^+}$ is directed Baire which implies $W_{\alpha} \cap Z^+$ is dense in Z^+ for each $\alpha \in \Delta$. For, let $z \in Z^+$, $\alpha \in \Delta$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Since the net (s_{α}) converges to 0, for the neighborhood $[0, \varepsilon)$ of 0, we can find $\delta \in \Delta$ such that $0 \le s_{\alpha} < \varepsilon$ for every $\alpha > \delta$. Choose $\rho \in \Delta$ sufficiently large so that $\rho > \alpha$, $s_{\rho} < \varepsilon$ and $z \in Z_{\rho}$. There is an element $y \in Y_{\rho_1}$ with $d(y, z) < s_{\rho_1} < s_{\delta} < \varepsilon$ and $(x, y) \in D_{\rho_1} \cap (\{x\} \times Y)$, which implies that $y \in W_{\rho_1} \subset W_{\alpha}$, where ρ_1 is the successor of ρ . Thus, $y \in B(z, \varepsilon) \cap (W_{\alpha} \cap Z^+)$ so that $B(z, \varepsilon) \cap (W_{\alpha} \cap Z^+)$ is non-empty. Choosing $y \in ({}_{\Omega}W_{\alpha}) \cap H \cap \overline{Z^+}$, we get that $(x, y) \in [{}_{\Omega}D_{\alpha}] \cap (G \times H)$.

Theorem 3.3. Let X and Y be directed Baire spaces. If either of the space has a countable pseudo base, their product is directed Baire.

Proof. Assume that $X \times Y$ is not directed Baire. We can find an open set $G \times H$ in the product space such that $(G \times H) \cap (\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha}) = \emptyset$ where $\{D_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in \Delta\}$ is a family of dense G_{δ} - sets in $X \times Y$. Since D_{α} are G_{δ} - sets, $D_{\alpha} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} D_{\alpha}^{n}$ where D_{α}^{n} are open in $X \times Y$. Since D_{α} is dense, each D_{α}^{n} is also dense.

Let $\{V_k\}$ be a countable pseudo base for *Y*. Now for each *n*, *k* and α , define $h_{\alpha}^{n,k} = D_{\alpha}^n \cap (U \times V_k)$. Also, define $H_{\alpha}^{n,k} = P_X(h_{\alpha}^{n,k})$ so that $H_{\alpha}^{n,k}$ are open. Also, D_{α}^n is dense in $G \times H$ implies $D_{\alpha}^n \cap (G \times V_k)$ is dense in $G \times V_k$ which implies $h_{\alpha}^{n,k}$ is dense in $G \times V_k$. For any open set U_1 in $G, U_1 \times V_k$ is an open set in $U \times V_k$. Therefore, $(U_1 \times V_k) \cap h_{\alpha}^{n,k} \neq \emptyset$ implies $U_1 \cap P_X(h_{\alpha}^{n,k}) \neq \emptyset$ which implies $U_1 \cap H_{\alpha}^{n,k} \neq \emptyset$. Therefore, each $H_{\alpha}^{n,k}$ is dense in G. Since X is directed Baire, G will become directed Baire, by Remark 2.4.

Since G is directed Baire, $\bigcap_{n,k} [G \cap H_{\alpha}^{n,k}]$ are dense in G and so $\bigcap_{n,k} [G \cap H_{\alpha}^{n,k}] \neq \emptyset$. Therefore, there exists some $a \in G$ with $a \in \bigcap_{n,k} [G \cap H_{\alpha}^{n,k}]$ which gives $a \in H_{\alpha}^{n,k}$ for every n,k.

Define $D^n_{\alpha}(a) = \{b \in H \mid (a,b) \in D^n_{\alpha}\}$. For each V_k , $(a,b) \in D^n_{\alpha} \cap (G \times V_k)$ for all n,k implies $(a,b) \in \bigcap_n [D^n_{\alpha} \cap (G \times V_k)]$ which gives that $(a,b) \in D_{\alpha} \cap (G \times V_k)$. Therefore, there is some $b \in V_k$ with $(a,b) \in D$ so that $b \in V_k$ such that $b \in D^n_{\alpha}(a)$. Therefore, $D^n_{\alpha}(a) \cap V_k \neq \emptyset$. Therefore, $D^n_{\alpha}(a)$ is dense in H. Also, $D^n_{\alpha}(a)$ is an open set.

Since *Y* is directed Baire, *H* is also directed Baire and hence $\bigcap_{n,\alpha} D^n_{\alpha}(a) \neq \emptyset$. Therefore, we can find $z \in H$ with $z \in \bigcap_{n,\alpha} D^n_{\alpha}(a)$ and hence $(a,z) \in \bigcap_{n,\alpha} D^n_{\alpha} = D_{\alpha}$ which is not possible. Thus, $\bigcap_{\alpha} D_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset$ and so $G \times H$ is a weakly directed Baire space.

4. Product of Volterra spaces

In 1993, the class of Volterra spaces was introduced by Gauld and Piotrowski [8]. A topological space (X, τ) is said to be *Volterra* [8, 9] (resp. *weakly Volterra* [8]) if the intersection of any two dense G_{δ} – sets in X is dense (resp. non-empty). By the definition itself, every Baire space is Volterra and every space of second category is weakly Volterra. Is there exists a Baire space X whose square X^2 is not Baire ? The first space with such properties, constructed under the Continuum Hypothesis, is due to Oxtoby [3]. This example was improved to an absolute one by Cohen [10] relying on forcing. Finally, Fleissner and Kunen [11] constructed a metrizable Baire space X whose square X^2 is not Baire in ZFC by direct combinatorial arguments. Gauld, Greenwood and piotrowski [12], using stationary sets in the result of Flessner proved that there exists a metric Baire space whose square is not even Weakly Volterra. In [14], Moors proved that the product of a hereditarily volterra space and a hereditarily Baire space may fail to be weakly volterra. In [14], Moors proved that "The Product of a Baire space with a hereditarily Baire metric space is Baire". In that proof, he use Choquet game [15]-[17] played on X to get a non-empty subset for any given sequence of dense open sets in X.

Theorem 4.1. If X is Baire and Y is metrizable hereditarily Volterra, then $X \times Y$ is a Volterra space.

Proof. Suppose that *C* and *D* are two dense G_{δ} -sets in $X \times Y$. Let *G* and *H* be non-empty open sets in *X* and *Y*, respectively. To prove $(C \cap D) \cap (G \times H) \neq \emptyset$. Since *C* and *D* are dense G_{δ} -sets, $C = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} C_n$ and $D = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n$, where $\{C_n\}$ and $\{D_n\}$ are decreasing sequence of open dense sets in $X \times Y$.

Denseness of *C* gives that $(G \times H) \cap C \neq \emptyset$. Define a dense G_{δ} -set of *G*, $C_1 = P_X((G \times H) \cap C)$ and $Z_1^C = \{b^C\}$, where $b^C \in P_Y((G \times H) \cap C)$. Also, since *D* is dense, $(G \times H) \cap D \neq \emptyset$. Define a dense G_{δ} -set of *G*, $D_1 = P_X((G \times H) \cap D)$ and $Z_1^D = \{b^D\}$, where $b^D \in P_Y((G \times H) \cap C)$. Also, define $Z_1 = Z_1^C \cup Z_1^D$.

By Lemma 3.1, for a finite set Z_1 of Y, non-empty open set G in X, dense G_{δ} -set C of $X \times Y$ and $\frac{1}{2} > 0$, there is a finite subset Z_2^C of Y and a dense G_{δ} subset C_2 of G such that

(i) for every $a \in Z_1$, there is some $b \in Z_2^C$ with $d(a,b) < \frac{1}{2}$ (ii) $C_2 \times Z_2^C \subseteq C$. Also, by Lemma 3.1, for a finite set Z_1 of Y, non-empty open set G in X, dense G_{δ} -set D of $X \times Y$, and $\frac{1}{2} > 0$ there is a finite subset Z_2^D of Y and a dense G_{δ} subset D_2 of G such that

(i) for every $a \in Z_1$, there is some $b \in Z_2^D$ with $d(a,b) < \frac{1}{2}$ (ii) $D_2 \times Z_2^D \subseteq D$.

Define $Z_2 = Z_1 \cup Z_2^C \cup Z_2^D$.

Continuing in this way, for every $n \in \mathbb{D}$, by Lemma 3.1, given any finite subset Z_{n-1} of Y, non-empty open set G in X, dense G_{δ} -set C of $X \times Y$ and $\frac{1}{n} > 0$, there is a finite subset Z_n^C of Y and a dense G_{δ} subset C_n of G such that

(i) for every $a \in Z_{n-1}$, there is some $b \in Z_n^C$ with $d(a,b) < \frac{1}{n}$

(ii) $C_n \times Z_n^C \subseteq C$.

Also, given any finite subset Z_{n-1} of Y, non-empty open set G in X, dense G_{δ} -set D of $X \times Y$ and $\frac{1}{n} > 0$, there is a finite subset Z_n^D of Y and a dense G_{δ} subset D_n of G such that

(i) for every $a \in Z_{n-1}$, there is some $b \in Z_n^D$ with $d(a,b) < \frac{1}{n}$

(ii) $D_n \times Z_n^D \subseteq D$.

Define $Z_n = \overline{Z_{n-1}} \cup \overline{Z_n^C} \cup \overline{Z_n^D}$.

The countable collection $\{C_n \mid n \in \mathbb{D}\} \cup \{D_n \mid n \in \mathbb{D}\}$ of dense G_{δ} -subsets can be enumerated as a sequence of dense G_{δ} -sets $\{H_i \mid i \in \mathbb{D}\}$ of G. Since every H_i is a dense G_{δ} -set, $H_i = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} H_i^j$ where H_i^j is a dense open set in G. Since a countable union of countable set the family

 $\{H_i^j \mid i, j \in \mathbb{D}\}\$ also can be enumerated as a sequence of dense open sets $\{O_m \mid m \in \mathbb{D}\}\$. Since X is a Baire space, the open subset G is also a Baire space. Therefore, $\bigcap_{m=1}^{\infty} O_m \neq \emptyset$.

Choose $s \in \bigcap_{m=1}^{\infty} O_m$ and define, $C(s) = \{t \in H \mid (s,t) \in C\}$ and $D(s) = \{t \in H \mid (s,t) \in D\}$. Now $C(s) = (\bigcap_m C_m)(s) = \bigcap_m [C_m(s)]$, because $t \in (\bigcap_m C_m)(s) \Leftrightarrow (s,t) \in \bigcap_m C_m \Leftrightarrow (s,t) \in C_m$ for all $m \Leftrightarrow t \in C_m(s)$ for all $m \Leftrightarrow t \in \bigcap_m [C_m(s)]$. Therefore, C(s) is a G_{δ} -set. Similarly, D(s) is a C_{δ} -set. also a G_{δ} -set.

Let $S = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} Z_n \subset H$. Since Y is hereditarily Volterra, \overline{S} is Volterra and hence $C(s) \cap S$ and $D(s) \cap S$ are dense in S.

For, $a \in \mathbb{Z}$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Choose $N \in \mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large so that $1/N < \varepsilon$ and $a \in \mathbb{Z}_{N-1}$. There is some $t \in \mathbb{Z}_N^C$ such that $d(t,a) < 1/N < \varepsilon$ and $C_N \times Z_N^C \subseteq C$. Hence $(s,t) \in (C_N \times Y) \cap (\{s\} \times Y) \subset C$, which implies that $t \in C(s)$. Thus, $t \in B(a,\varepsilon) \cap C(s) \cap Z \neq \emptyset$. Similarly, $D(s) \cap Z$ is also dense in Z. Choosing $t \in C(s) \cap D(s) \cap H \cap \overline{Z}$, we get $(s,t) \in C \cap D \cap (G \times H)$. Hence $C \cap D$ is dense in the product space.

In Theorem 4.1 above, the hereditary property cannot be dropped, since Fleissner and Kunen [11] constructed a metrizable Baire space X whose square X^2 is not Baire. Since Spadaro [13], shows that the product of a hereditarily volterra space and a hereditarily Baire space may fail to be weakly volterra the metrizability of the Volterra space cannot be dropped in the above theorem.

Piotrowski raised a question that, "Whether $X \times [0,1]$ is Volterra or not? for any Volterra space X". As a partial answer to this question, in Corollary 4.2 below, we consider a subfamily of Volterra spaces consisting of metrizable hereditarily Volterra space, and proved that cartesian product of X and [0, 1] is again a Volterra space.

Corollary 4.2. If (X, τ) is a metrizable hereditarily Volterra space, then $X \times [0, 1]$ is also a Volterra space.

Proof. It is well known that, a subset A of a complete metric space (M,d) is complete if and only if A is a closed subset of M and consequently, [0,1] is complete. Since [0,1] is Baire, $X \times [0,1]$ is Volterra, by Baire Category Theorem and Theorem 4.1.

5. Conclusion

In this paper, we have introduced the concepts of directed Baire and weakly directed Baire spaces. Since every compact p-spaces are also Baire spaces, we have proved that there are spaces which are Baire, directed Baire, weakly directed Baire and second category. Also, it is shown that there are Baire spaces which are not weakly directed Baire space and there are weakly directed Baire space which are neither Baire nor directed Baire spaces, by giving examples. Hence we have proved that the concepts namely, Baire, second category, directed Baire and weakly directed Baire are independent. We have proved that the product of directed Baire spaces is also Directed Baire if either of the space has a countable pseudo base. Also, we have provided partial answer for the question raised by Piotrowski regarding product of Volterra spaces. The results of this article can also be applied on generalized topological spaces and ideal topological spaces by some suitable modifications. We hope that this work will provide the basis for further study on directed Baire spaces.

Acknowledgement

The second author thanks the Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), India for financial support in the form of a Junior Research Fellowship (08/515(0003)/2011-EMR-I).

References

- [1] R. C. Haworth, R. A. McCoy, Baire spaces, Dissertationes Math., 141 (1977), 1-73.
- [2] R. A. McCoy, A Baire space extension, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 33 (1972), 199-202.
- [3] J. C. Oxtoby, Cartesian product of Baire spaces, Fund. Math., 49(1961), 157-166.
- A. K. Mishra, A topological view of P-spaces, Gen. Topology Appl., 2 (1972), 349-362.
- [5] N. Bourbaki, General Topology, Addison Wesley Publishing Company, Massachusets, 1966. [6] H. Blumberg, New Properties of all real functions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 24 (1922), 113-128.
- [7] J. C. Bradforil, C. Goffman, Metric spaces in which Blumberg's theorem holds, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 11 (1960), 667-670.
- [8] D. Gauld, Z. Piotrowski, On Volterra spaces, Far East J. Math. Sci., 1 (1993), 209-214.

- [9] D. Gauld, S. Greenwood, Z. Piotrowski, On Volterra spaces II, Ann. New York Acad. Sci., 806 (1996), 169-173.
 [10] P. E. Cohen, Products of Baire spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 55 (1976), 119-124.
 [11] W. Fleissner, K. Kunen, Bairely Baire Spaces, Fund. Math., 101 (1978), 229-240.
 [12] D. Gauld, S. Greenwood, Z. Piotrowski, On Volterra spaces III: Topological Operations, Proceedings of the 1998 Topology and Dynamics Conference(Fairfax, VA), Topology Proc., 23 (1998), 167-182.
 [13] S. Spadaro, P-spaces and the Volterra property, Bull. Aust. Math. Soc., 87(2) (2013), 339-345.
 [14] W. B. Moors, The product of a Baire space with a hereditarily Baire metric space is Baire, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 134 (2006), 2161-2163.
 [15] J. C. Oxtoby, The Banach-Mazur game and Banach category theorem Contributions to the Theory Games, Ann. Math. Studies, 89 (1957), 157-163.
 [16] M. R. Krom, Cartesian product of metric Baire spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 42 (1974), 588-594.
 [17] J. S. Raymond, Jeux topologiques et espaces de Namioka, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 87 (1983), 499-504.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.617415



On Dual-Hyperbolic Numbers with Generalized Fibonacci and Lucas Numbers Components

Mehmet Ali Güngör^{1*} and Arzu Cihan¹

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya, Turkey *Corresponding author E-mail: agungor@sakarya.edu.tr

Abstract

Keywords: Dual-hyperbolic numbers, Generalized Fibonacci numbers, Generalized Lucas numbers 2010 AMS: 11B39, 11B83 Received: 09 September 2019 Accepted: 24 October 2019 Available online: 20 December 2019

Dual-hyperbolic Fibonacci and Lucas numbers with Fibonacci and Lucas coefficients are introduced by Cihan et al. and some identities and theorems are given regarding modules and conjugates of these numbers. Later, generating function and Binet's formula with the help of this generating function have been derived. Also, Binet formula, Cassini's, Catalan's, d'Ocagne's, Honsberger and Tagiuri identities are found for dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci and Lucas coefficients. While these operations are being done, we will benefit from the well-known Fibonacci and Lucas identities. Moreover, it is seen that the results which are obtained for the values p = 1 and q = 0 corresponds to the theorems in the article by Cihan et al. [1].

1. Introduction

Italian mathematician Leonardo Fibonacci's Liber Abaci was one of the most important books on mathematics in the Middle Ages. Through this book mathematicians introduced Fibonacci number sequence concept. Several studies have been conducted with respect to Fibonacci numbers and Fibonacci quaternions [2]-[5].

Dual-hyperbolic numbers with Fibonacci and Lucas coefficients which is constitutes a new number system have been introduced by Cihan and her colleagues [1]. In this article, the dual-hyperbolic number system has been generalized based on the article [1].

Firstly, addition, multiplication, modules and conjugates of these numbers have been defined and the fundamental identities for these numbers regarding these operations have been proven. Then, we have defined generating function and this function helped us to find Binet's formula. Additionally, d'Ocagne's, Honsberger, Tagiuri, Catalan identities have been obtained and Cassini's identity has been given in case of r = 1 for the Catalan identity. Finally, we have discussed special cases and have given examples.

2. Preliminaries

The Fibonacci and Lucas numbers have many interesting properties and applications. Initial conditions for the Fibonacci and Lucas numbers are defined as follows respectively

$$F_0 = 0$$
, $F_1 = 1, \dots, F_{n+1} = F_n + F_{n-1}$, $n \ge 1$

and

$$L_0 = 2, \quad L_1 = 1, \dots, \quad L_{n+1} = L_n + L_{n-1}, \quad n \ge 1$$

where F_n and L_n denote the *n*-th Fibonacci and Lucas numbers, respectively. Binet formula for the *n*-th Fibonacci and Lucas numbers are given by the following relation

$$F_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{5}} \left(\alpha^n - \beta^n \right), \qquad L_n = \alpha^n + \beta^n, \quad n \ge 1$$

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: agungor@sakarya.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1863-3183 (M. A. Güngör), arzu.cihan3@ogr.sakarya.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2003-3507 (A. Cihan)

(see [2]).

On the other hand, Horadam introduced generalized Fibonacci numbers with the initial conditions as follows

$$H_1 = p, \quad H_2 = p + q, \quad p, q \in Z$$

where the recurrence relation is defined by

$$H_n=H_{n-1}+H_{n-2}, \quad n\geq 3,$$

or

$$H_n = (p-q)F_n + qF_{n+1}.$$

In the above equation, if we take p = 1 and q = 0, then the generalized Fibonacci number becomes Fibonacci number. If we take p = 1 and q = 2, then the generalized Lucas number becomes Lucas number. Furthermore, Horadam investigated Binet formula for the *n*-th generalized Fibonacci number such that

$$H_n = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{5}} \left(\alpha^n - \mu \beta^n \right)$$

(see [2]).

The set of dual-hyperbolic numbers is defined by

$$DH = \left\{ w = z_1 + z_2 \varepsilon | z_1, z_2 \in H \text{ where, } \varepsilon^2 = 0, \varepsilon \neq 0 \right\}.$$

If we consider two hyperbolic numbers $z_1 = x_1 + x_2 j$ and $z_2 = y_1 + y_2 j$, then any dual-hyperbolic number can be written as

$$w = x_1 + x_2 j + y_1 \varepsilon + y_2 j \varepsilon.$$

There exist five different conjugates and these conjugates are given as follows

$$\begin{split} & |\omega|^{\dagger_1} = \overline{z_1} + \varepsilon \overline{z_2}, & \text{hyperbolic conjugation} \\ & |\omega|^{\dagger_2} = z_1 - \varepsilon z_2, & \text{dual conjugation} \\ & |\omega|^{\dagger_3} = \overline{z_1} - \varepsilon \overline{z_2}, & \text{coupled conjugation} \\ & |\omega|^{\dagger_4} = \overline{z_1} \left(1 - \varepsilon \frac{\overline{z_2}}{\overline{z_1}}\right) & (\omega \in DH - A), & \text{dual - hyperbolic conjugation} \\ & |\omega|^{\dagger_5} = z_2 - \varepsilon z_1, & \text{anti - dual conjugation} \end{split}$$

where "- " denotes the standard complex conjugation and the zero divisors of *DH* is defined by the set *A* [6]. Namely, DH - A is a multiplicative group. The dual hyperbolic numbers form a commutative ring with 0 characteristic. Unlike quaternions, the multiplication of dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci and Lucas number has a commutative ring structure. However, multiplication of dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci and Lucas number constitutes two-dimensional Complex Clifford and 4-dimensional Real Clifford algebra structure.

3. Properties of Dual-Hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci and Lucas coefficients

The dual-hyperbolic Fibonacci and Lucas numbers are defined as

$$DHF_n = F_n + F_{n+1}j + F_{n+2}\varepsilon + F_{n+3}j\varepsilon$$

and

$$DHL_n = L_n + L_{n+1}j + L_{n+2}\varepsilon + L_{n+3}j\varepsilon$$

respectively. Here, F_n and L_n are the *n*-th generalized Fibonacci number and Lucas numbers respectively and ε denotes dual unit $(\varepsilon^2 = 0, \varepsilon \neq 0)$, *j* denotes imaginary unit $(j^2 = 1)$, *j* ε denotes imaginary-dual unit $(j\varepsilon^2 = 0)$. After these numbers have been defined in the article [1], some identities regarding the modules, conjugates have been obtained for dual-hyperbolic Fibonacci and Lucas numbers. Then, negadual-hyperbolic Fibonacci, negadual-hyperbolic Lucas, d'Ocagne's, Cassini, Catalan identities and the correspondence of Binet formula have been given for these numbers. Now, Let's define the dual-hyperbolic number system with generalized Fibonacci and Lucas coefficients by considering the study [1].

Definition 3.1. H_n is called as *n*-th Fibonacci number which have either $H_n = H_{n-1} + H_{n-2}$, $n \ge 3$ or $H_n = (p-q)F_n + qF_{n+1}$ the recurrence relations and depending on the initial values such that

$$H_1 = p, \ H_2 = p + q, \ H_3 = 2q + 3p, \dots$$
 $(p, q \in Z).$

Then, the sets of generalized Fibonacci and Lucas sequences are defined

 $DHX = \{DHX_n = R_n + \varepsilon R_n^* = (H_n + jH_{n+1}) + \varepsilon (H_{n+2} + jH_{n+3}) | H_n \text{ Generalized Fibonacci Number} \}$

and

$$DHY = \{DHY_n = P_n + \varepsilon P_n^* = (V_n + jV_{n+1}) + \varepsilon (V_{n+2} + jV_{n+3}) \mid V_n \text{ Generalized Lucas Number}\}$$

where ε ($\varepsilon^2 = 0$, $\varepsilon \neq 0$), j ($j^2 = 1$) and $i\varepsilon$ ($(j\varepsilon)^2 = 0$), denote dual unit, imaginary unit and dual-imaginary unit, respectively. So the base elements of dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci and Lucas coefficients are (1, j, ε , $j\varepsilon$). Multiplication scheme of these base elements are given in Table 1.

×	1	j	ε	jε
1	1	j	ε	jε
j	j	1	jε	ε
ε	ε	jε	0	0
jε	jε	ε	0	0

Table 1: Multiplication scheme of dual-hyperbolic units

If two dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci coefficients are $DHX_n^1 = R_n + R_n^*\varepsilon = H_n + H_{n+1}j + H_{n+2}\varepsilon + H_{n+3}j\varepsilon$ and $DHX_n^2 = K_n + K_n^*\varepsilon = G_n + G_{n+1}j + G_{n+2}\varepsilon + G_{n+3}j\varepsilon$ then the addition, subtraction and multiplication operations of these numbers are defined as

$$DHX_{n}^{1} \pm DHX_{n}^{2} = (R_{n} + R_{n}^{*}\varepsilon) \pm (K_{n} + K_{n}^{*}\varepsilon)$$

= $(H_{n} + H_{n+1}j + H_{n+2}\varepsilon + H_{n+3}j\varepsilon) \pm (G_{n} + G_{n+1}j + G_{n+2}\varepsilon + G_{n+3}j\varepsilon)$
= $(H_{n} \pm G_{n}) + (H_{n+1} \pm G_{n+1})j + (H_{n+2} \pm G_{n+2})\varepsilon + (H_{n+3} \pm G_{n+3})j\varepsilon$ (3.1)

and

$$DHX_{n}^{1} \times DHX_{n}^{2} = (R_{n} + R_{n}^{*}\varepsilon) \times (K_{n} + K_{n}^{*}\varepsilon)$$

$$= (H_{n} + H_{n+1}j + H_{n+2}\varepsilon + H_{n+3}j\varepsilon) \times (G_{n} + G_{n+1}j + G_{n+2}\varepsilon + G_{n+3}j\varepsilon)$$

$$+ (H_{n}G_{n} + H_{n+1}G_{n+1}) + (H_{n}G_{n+1} + H_{n+1}G_{n})j$$

$$+ (H_{n}G_{n+2} + H_{n+1}G_{n+3} + H_{n+3}G_{n+1} + H_{n+2}G_{n})\varepsilon$$

$$+ (H_{n}G_{n+3} + H_{n+1}G_{n+2} + H_{n+2}G_{n+1} + H_{n+3}G_{n})j\varepsilon$$
(3.2)

respectively. Also, any dual-hyperbolic number with generalized Fibonacci coefficient can be expressed as follows

$$DHX_n = R_n + R_n^* \varepsilon = (H_n + H_{n+1}j) + (H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j)\varepsilon.$$
(3.3)

This yields five different conjugates. Thus, these five different conjugates can be defined as follows

$$DHX_n^{\dagger_1} = (H_n - H_{n+1}j) + (H_{n+2} - H_{n+3}j) \varepsilon, \qquad \text{hyperbolic conjugation}$$
(3.4)

$$DHX_{n}^{\dagger_{2}} = (H_{n} + H_{n+1}j) - (H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j)\varepsilon, \qquad \text{dual conjugation}$$
(3.5)

$$DHX_n^{\dagger_3} = (H_n - H_{n+1}j) - (H_{n+2} - H_{n+3}j)\varepsilon, \qquad \text{coupled conjugation}$$
(3.6)

$$DHX_{n}^{\dagger_{4}} = (H_{n} - H_{n+1}j) \times \left(1 - \frac{H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j}{H_{n} + H_{n+1}j}\varepsilon\right), \qquad \text{dual-hyperbolic conjugation}$$
(3.7)

$$DHX_n^{\dagger_5} = (H_{n+2} + H_{n+3} j) - (H_n + H_{n+1} j)\varepsilon, \qquad \text{anti-dual conjugation.}$$
(3.8)

Five different norms can be given for dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci coefficients thanks to the definition of conjugates. **Definition 3.2.** Let DHX_n be a dual-hyperbolic number with generalized Fibonacci coefficient. In this case, *j*-th modulus of DHX_n are denoted by $|DHX_n|^2_{\tilde{\tau}_i}$, (j = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5) and are given as follows

$$\begin{split} |DHX_n|^2_{\dagger_1} = DHH_n \times DHH_n^{\dagger_1} \\ |DHX_n|^2_{\dagger_2} = DHH_n \times DHH_n^{\dagger_2} \\ |DHX_n|^2_{\dagger_3} = DHH_n \times DHH_n^{\dagger_3} \\ |DHX_n|^2_{\dagger_4} = DHH_n \times DHH_n^{\dagger_4} \\ |DHX_n|^2_{\dagger_5} = DHH_n \times DHH_n^{\dagger_5} \end{split}$$

Proposition 3.3. Let DHX_n be a dual-hyperbolic number with generalized Fibonacci coefficient. Then, the following identities are satisfied:

$$DHX_n + DHX_n^{\tau_1} = 2(H_n + H_{n+2}\varepsilon)$$
(3.9)

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} = (H_n^2 - H_{n+1}^2) + 2\varepsilon (H_n H_{n+2} - H_{n+1} H_{n+3})$$
(3.10)

$$DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_2} = 2(H_n + H_{n+1}j)$$
(3.11)

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{T_2} = [(2p-q)H_{2n+1} - eF_{2n+1}] + 2H_nH_{n+1}j$$
(3.12)

$$DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_3} = 2\left(H_n + H_{n+3}j\varepsilon\right)$$
(3.13)

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_3} = (H_n^2 - H_{n+1}^2) + j\varepsilon \left[2e(-1)^{n+1} \right]$$
(3.14)

$$DHX_{n} + DHX_{n}^{\dagger_{4}} = 2H_{n} + \varepsilon \frac{2H_{n+1}}{H_{n}^{2} - H_{n+1}^{2}} \left[(H_{n+3}H_{n} - H_{n+1}H_{n+2}) + j(H_{n+2}H_{n} - H_{n+1}H_{n+3}) \right]$$
(3.15)

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_4} = H_n^2 - H_{n+1}^2$$
(3.16)

$$DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_5} = (H_n + H_{n+2}) + (H_{n+1} + H_{n+3})j + H_{n+1}\varepsilon + H_{n+2}j\varepsilon$$
(3.17)

$$DHX_{n} \times DHX_{n}^{\dagger_{5}} = (H_{n}H_{n+2} + H_{n+1}H_{n+3}) + j(H_{n}H_{n+3} + H_{n+1}H_{n+2}) + \varepsilon (H_{n+2}^{2} + H_{n+3}^{2} - H_{n+1}^{2} - H_{n}^{2}) + 2j\varepsilon (H_{n+3}H_{n+2} - H_{n+1}H_{n})$$
(3.18)

Proof. (3.9): Using equations (3.1), (3.3) and (3.4), we obtain

$$DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_1} = 2(H_n + H_{n+2}\varepsilon)$$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that $DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_1} = 2(F_n + F_{n+2}\varepsilon)$.

(3.10): Considering equations (3.2), (3.3) and (3.4), the result is found by

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} = (H_n^2 + H_{n+1}^2) + 2(H_n H_{n+2} + H_{n+1} H_{n+3})\varepsilon$$

= $(H_n^2 - H_{n+1}^2) + 2\varepsilon (H_n H_{n+2} - H_{n+1} H_{n+3}).$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that $DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} = F_{2n+1} + 2F_{2n+3}\varepsilon$.

(3.11): From the equations (3.1), (3.3) and (3.5), we can reach the following identity

$$DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_2} = 2(H_n + H_{n+1}j)$$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number $H_n, DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger 1} = 2(F_n + F_{n+2}j)$.

(3.12): Using the equations (3.2), (3.3), (3.5), using the identity $H_{n-1}^2 + H_n^2 = (2p-q)H_{2n-1} - eF_{2n-1}$ (see.ref. [2]) and simplifying we have

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_2} = [(2p-q)H_{2n+1} - eF_{2n+1}] + 2H_nH_{n+1}j.$$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that $DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger 2} = F_{2n+1} + 2F_nF_{n+1}j$.

(3.13): We can write the following equation by using the equations (3.1), (3.3) and (3.6)

$$DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_3} = 2(H_n + H_{n+3}j\varepsilon).$$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that $DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_3} = 2(F_n + F_{n+3}j\varepsilon)$.

(3.14): From equations (3.2), (3.3) and (3.6), we have

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_3} = (H_n^2 - H_{n+1}^2) + j\varepsilon \left[2e(-1)^{n+1} \right].$$

While we are obtaining the above equation, the identity $H_nH_{n+r+1} - H_{n-s}H_{n+r+s+1} = (-1)^{n+s}eF_sF_{r+s+1}$ has been used [2]. Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that $DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_3} = -F_{n-1}F_{n+2} - 2(-1)^n j\varepsilon$.

(3.15): If we take into account the equations (3.1), (3.3) and (3.7), then the following identity can be easily seen

$$DHX_{n} + DHX_{n}^{\dagger_{4}} = 2H_{n} + \varepsilon \frac{2H_{n+1}}{H_{n}^{2} - H_{n+1}^{2}} \left[(H_{n+3}H_{n} - H_{n+1}H_{n+2}) + j(H_{n+2}H_{n} - H_{n+1}H_{n+3}) \right].$$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that

$$DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_4} = 2F_n + \varepsilon \frac{2F_{n+1}}{F_n^2 - F_{n+1}^2} \left[(F_{n+3}F_n - F_{n+1}F_{n+2}) + j(F_{n+2}F_n - F_{n+1}F_{n+3}) \right].$$

(3.16): By making the necessary operations with the help of the equations (3.2), (3.3), (3.7) and rearranging the last equation, the following identity can be given

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_4} = H_n^2 - H_{n+1}^2$$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that $DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_4} = F_n^2 - F_{n+1}^2$.

(3.17): Considering the equations (3.1), (3.3) and (3.8), we have

$$DHX_{n} + DHX_{n}^{T_{5}} = (H_{n} + H_{n+2}) + (H_{n+1} + H_{n+3})j + H_{n+1}\varepsilon + H_{n+2}j\varepsilon$$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that $DHX_n + DHX_n^{\dagger_5} = F_n + F_{n+2} + (F_{n+1} + F_{n+3})J + F_{n+1}\varepsilon + F_{n+2}j\varepsilon$.

(3.18): If we use equations (3.2), (3.3), (3.8) and make the necessary calculations, then the rearranged equation yields

$$DHX_{n} \times DHX_{n}^{\dagger 5} = (H_{n}H_{n+2} + H_{n+1}H_{n+3}) + j(H_{n}H_{n+3} + H_{n+1}H_{n+2}) + \varepsilon (H_{n+2}^{2} + H_{n+3}^{2} - H_{n+1}^{2} - H_{n}^{2}) + 2j\varepsilon (H_{n+3}H_{n+2} - H_{n+1}H_{n}).$$

Here, If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that

$$DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger 5} = (F_n F_{n+2} + F_{n+1} F_{n+3}) + j(F_n F_{n+3} + F_{n+1} F_{n+2}) + \varepsilon \left(F_{n+2}^2 + F_{n+3}^2 - F_{n+1}^2 - F_n^2\right) + 2j\varepsilon \left(F_{n+3} F_{n+2} - F_{n+1} F_n\right).$$

Theorem 3.4. Let DHX_n and DHX_{n-1} be two dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized coefficients. There exist the following identities for these numbers and their conjugates:

 $i) \left(DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} \right) + \left(DHX_{n-1} \times DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger_1} \right) = -\left[(2p-q)H_{2n} - eF_{2n} \right] + 2\varepsilon \left(-H_{n+1}^2 \right)$ $ii) DHX_n^2 = 2H_n DHX_n - \left(DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} \right) + 2\varepsilon \left(H_{n+2}^2 - H_{n+1}H_{n+3} \right) + 2j\varepsilon \left(H_{n+1}H_{n+2} \right)$

$$\begin{array}{ll} \textbf{iii)} \quad DHX_n^2 + DHX_{n-1}^2 = 2\left(2p - q\right)DHX_{2n-1} - DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} - DHX_{n-1} \times DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger_1} + \left(2p - q\right)\left(2H_{2n+3}\varepsilon + 2H_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right) \\ - e\left(2F_{2n-1} + 2F_{2n}j + 2\left(F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+1}\right)\varepsilon + 4F_{2n+2}i\varepsilon\right) - 2H_{n+1}^2\varepsilon \end{array}$$

iv)
$$DHY_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} - DHY_n^{\dagger_1} \times DHX_n = (-1)^n \left[(4p^2 - 8pq + 8q^2) + (-6p^2) j\varepsilon \right].$$

Proof. i) By using identity $H_{n-1}^2 + H_n^2 = (2p-q)H_{2n-1} - eF_{2n-1}$ [2] and considering the equations (3.2), (3.3) and the above equations which have been defined by Horadam, the proof can be seen easily.

ii) Considering the equation (3.1), the proof can be easily seen.

iii) From the identity $H_nH_m + H_{n+1}H_{m+1} = (2p-q)H_{m+n+1} - eF_{m+n+1}$ [3] and equation (3.1), the proof is completed.

iv) Using the equation (3.1) and the identity $L_n F_m = F_{m+n} + (-1)^m F_{m-n}$ [2], the desired result is obtained. Also, the equations given in Proposition 2.2. in the article [1] are specially obtained by giving values p = 1, q = 0 in the equations we have found above.

i)
$$\left(DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1}\right) + \left(DHX_{n-1} \times DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger_1}\right) = -F_{2n} + 2\varepsilon \left(-F_{n+1}^2\right)$$

ii) $DHX_n^2 = 2H_nDHX_n - \left(DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1}\right) + 2\varepsilon \left(F_{n+2}^2 - F_{n+1}F_{n+3}\right) + 2j\varepsilon \left(F_{n+1}F_{n+2}\right)$
iii) $DHX_n^2 + DHX_{n-1}^2 = 4DHX_{2n-1} - DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} - DHX_{n-1} \times DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger_1} + \left[-2F_{2n-1} + 2\left(F_{2n+3} - F_{2n+1}\right)\varepsilon - 2F_{2n}j\right] - 2F_{n+1}^2\varepsilon$
iv) $DHY_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_1} - DHY_n^{\dagger_1} \times DHX_n = (-1)^n \left[4 + (-6)j\varepsilon\right]$

Theorem 3.5. Let DHX_n be a dual-hyperbolic number with generalized coefficient. Then, the following identities are valid:

1)
$$DHX_n + DHX_{n+1} = DHX_{n+2}$$

2) $(DHX_n)^2 = 2(H_n DHX_n) + 2(H_{n+1} DHX_{n+1}) - [(H_n^2 + H_{n+1}^2) + 2(H_{n+1} H_{n+2}) j + 2(H_{n+1} H_{n+3}) j\epsilon$
3) $-DHX_n + DHX_{n+1} j + DHX_{n+2}\epsilon - DHX_{n+3} j\epsilon = H_{n+1}$

4)
$$(DHX_n \times DHX_m) + (DHX_{n+1} \times DHX_{m+1}) = (2p-q) \left[(H_{m+n+1} + H_{m+n+3}) + 2H_{m+n+2}j + 2(H_{m+n+3} + H_{m+n+5})\varepsilon + 4H_{m+n+4}i\varepsilon \right] \\ -e \left[(F_{m+n+1} + F_{m+n+3}) + 2F_{m+n+2}j + 2(F_{m+n+3} + F_{m+n+5})\varepsilon + 4F_{m+n+4}i\varepsilon \right]$$

5)
$$DHX_n^2 + DHX_{n-1}^2 = [(2p-q)(H_{2n+1} + H_{2n-1}) - e(F_{2n+1} + F_{2n-1})] + 2j[(2p-q)H_{2n} - eF_{2n}] + 2\varepsilon[(2p-q)(H_{2n+3} + H_{2n+1}) - e(F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+1})] + 4j\varepsilon[(2p-q)H_{2n+2} - eF_{2n+2}]$$

Proof. 1) Let DHX_n and DHX_{n+1} be two dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized coefficients. In this case, taking into account that the equation (3.1), we get

$$DHX_n + DHX_{n+1} = H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j + H_{n+4}\varepsilon + H_{n+5}j\varepsilon = DHX_{n+2}$$

Here, if the values p = 1 and q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that $DHX_n + DHX_{n+1} = DHF_{n+2}$.

2) Let DHX_n be dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized coefficients. If the equation (3.2) is used, then the following equality is obtained

$$DHX_n^2 = [(H_n + H_{n+1}j) + (H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j)\varepsilon] \times [(H_n + H_{n+1}j) + (H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j)\varepsilon]$$

= 2(H_nDHX_n) + 2(H_{n+1}DHX_{n+1}) - [(H_n^2 + H_{n+1}^2) + 2(H_{n+1}H_{n+2})j + 2(H_{n+1}H_{n+3})j\varepsilon].

Here, if the values p = 1 and q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then $(DHX_n)^2 = 2(F_nDHF_n) + 2(F_{n+1}DHF_{n+1}) - [(F_n^2 + F_{n+1}^2) + 2(F_{n+1}F_{n+2}) j + 2(F_{n+1}F_{n+3}) j\varepsilon]$ is found.

3) By considering the equation (3.1) and doing some algebraic calculations, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} -DHX_n + DHX_{n+1}j + DHX_{n+2}\varepsilon - DHX_{n+3}j\varepsilon &= -\left[(H_n + H_{n+1}j) + (H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j)\varepsilon\right] \\ &+ \left[(H_{n+1} + H_{n+2}j) + (H_{n+3} + H_{n+4}j)\varepsilon\right]j \\ &+ \left[(H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j) + (H_{n+4} + H_{n+5}j)\varepsilon\right]\varepsilon \\ &- \left[(H_{n+3} + H_{n+4}j) + (H_{n+5} + H_{n+6}j)\varepsilon\right]i\varepsilon \\ &= H_{n+1}. \end{aligned}$$

Here, if the values p = 1 and q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n ,

$$-DHX_n + DHX_{n+1}j + DHX_{n+2}\varepsilon - DHX_{n+3}j\varepsilon = F_{n+1}$$

is found.

4) Follows from the identity $H_nH_m + H_{n+1}H_{m+1} = (2p-q)H_{m+n+1} - eF_{m+n+1}$ (see ref. [3]) and using the equation (3.2), we achieve that

$$(DHX_n \times DHX_m) + (DHX_{n+1} \times DHX_{m+1}) = [(H_n + H_{n+1}j) + (H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j)\varepsilon] \times [(H_m + H_{m+1}j) + (H_{m+2} + H_{m+3}j)\varepsilon] \\ + [(H_{n+1} + H_{n+2}j) + (H_{n+3} + H_{n+4}j)\varepsilon] \times [(H_{m+1} + H_{m+2}j) + (H_{m+3} + H_{m+4}j)\varepsilon] \\ = (2p - q) \begin{bmatrix} (H_{m+n+1} + H_{m+n+3}) + 2H_{m+n+2}j + 2(H_{m+n+3} + H_{m+n+5})\varepsilon \\ + 4H_{m+n+4}i\varepsilon \\ -e [(F_{m+n+1} + F_{m+n+3}) + 2F_{m+n+2}j + 2(F_{m+n+3} + F_{m+n+5})\varepsilon + 4F_{m+n+4}j\varepsilon]$$

Here, If the values p = 1 and q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n

$$(DHX_n \times DHX_m) + (DHX_{n+1} \times DHX_{m+1}) = (F_{m+n+1} + F_{m+n+3}) + 2F_{m+n+2}j + 2(F_{m+n+3} + F_{m+n+5})\varepsilon + 4F_{m+n+4}j\varepsilon$$

5) Considering the identity $H_nH_m + H_{n+1}H_{m+1} = (2p-q)H_{m+n+1} - eF_{m+n+1}$ (see ref. [3]) and the equation (3.2), we reach the result. Here, If the values p = 1 and q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number $DHX_n^2 + DHX_{n-1}^2 = (F_{2n+1} + F_{2n-1}) + 2F_{2n}j + 2(F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+1})\varepsilon + 4F_{2n+2}j\varepsilon$.

Theorem 3.6. Let DHX_n and DHL_n be dual-hyperbolic Fibonacci and dual-hyperbolic Lucas numbers with generalized Fibonacci and Lucas coefficients, respectively. For $n \ge 0$, there exist the following relationships between these numbers: 1) $DHX_{n+1} + DHX_{n-1} = pDHL_n + qDHL_n$

2) $DHX_{n+2} - DHX_{n-2} = pDHL_n + qDHL_n$

Proof. Equations 1) and 2) are found by taking the identity $H_{n+1} + H_{n-1} = pL_n + qL_{n-1}$ (see ref. [4]) and using the recurrence relation $H_n = (p-q)F_n + qF_{n+1}$, respectively.

$$\begin{aligned} DHX_{n+1} + DHX_{n-1} &= (H_{n+1} + H_{n+2}j + H_{n+3}\varepsilon + H_{n+4}j\varepsilon) + (H_{n-1} + H_nj + H_{n+1}\varepsilon + H_{n+3}j\varepsilon) \\ &= (H_{n+1} + H_{n-1}) + (H_{n+2} + H_n)j + (H_{n+3} + H_{n+1})\varepsilon + (H_{n+4} + H_{n+3})j\varepsilon \\ &= (pL_n + qL_{n-1}) + (pL_{n-1} + qL_n)j + (pL_{n+2} + qL_{n+1})\varepsilon + (qL_{n+3} + qL_{n+2})j\varepsilon \\ &= pDHL_n + qDHL_n \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} DHX_{n+2} - DHX_{n-2} &= (H_{n+2} + H_{n+3}j + H_{n+4}\varepsilon + H_{n+5}j\varepsilon) - (H_{n-2} + H_{n-1}j + H_n\varepsilon + H_{n+1}j\varepsilon) \\ &= (H_{n+2} - H_{n-2}) + (H_{n+3} - H_{n-1})j + (H_{n+4} - H_n)\varepsilon + (H_{n+5} - H_{n+1})j\varepsilon \\ &= (pL_n + qL_{n-1}) + (pL_{n-1} + qL_n)j + (pL_{n+2} + qL_{n+1})\varepsilon + (qL_{n+3} + qL_{n+2})j\varepsilon \\ &= pDHL_n + qDHL_n \end{aligned}$$

Here, if the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then the desired results are obtained.

Theorem 3.7. The sums of the dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci coefficients satisfy the following relations: 1) $\sum_{n=1}^{n} DHX_s = DHX_{n+2} - DHX_2$

2)
$$\sum_{s=0}^{n} DHX_{s+n} + DHX_{s+1} = DHX_{n+p+2}$$

3) $\sum_{s=1}^{n} DHX_{2s-1} = DHX_{2n} - DHX_{0}$
4) $\sum_{s=1}^{n} DHX_{2s} = DHX_{2n+1} - DHX_{1}$

Proof. Using the identity $\sum_{t=a}^{n} H_t = H_{n+2} - H_{a+1}$ (see ref. [4]), the proof can be seen easily as follows 1) $\sum_{s=1}^{n} DHX_s = \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_s + j \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{s+1} + \varepsilon \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{s+2} + j\varepsilon \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{s+3} = DHX_{n+2} - DHX_2$ 2) $\sum_{s=0}^{p} DHX_{n+s} + DHX_{n+1} = \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{n+s} + H_{n+1} + j \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{n+s+1} + H_{n+2} + \varepsilon \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{n+s+2} + H_{n+3} + j\varepsilon \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{n+s+3} + H_{n+4} = DHX_{n+p+2}$ 3) $\sum_{s=1}^{n} DHX_{2s-1} = \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{2s-1} + j \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{2s} + \varepsilon \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{2s+1} + j\varepsilon \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{2s+2} = DHX_{2n} - DHX_0$ 4) $\sum_{s=1}^{n} DHX_{2s} = \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{2s} + j \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{2s+1} + \varepsilon \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{2s+2} + j\varepsilon \sum_{s=1}^{n} H_{2s+3} = DHX_{2n+1} - DHX_1$

Also, if we consider the values p = 1, q = 0 in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then the above equations becomes as follows: 1) $\sum_{s=1}^{n} DHX_s = DHF_{n+2} - DHF_2$ 2) $\sum_{s=0}^{p} DHX_{s+n} + DHX_{x+1} = DHF_{n+p+2}$ 3) $\sum_{s=1}^{n} DHX_{2s-1} = DHF_{2n} - DHF_0$ 4) $\sum_{s=1}^{n} DHX_{2s} = DHF_{2n+1} - DHF_1$

Now, let's find correspondence of the Binet formula for the dual-hyperbolic Fibonacci numbers which helps to find golden ratio.

Theorem 3.8. Let DHX_n be dual-hyperbolic number with generalized Fibonacci coefficient. For $m, n \ge 1$, the Binet formula for this number is given by

$$DHX_n = \frac{\bar{\alpha}\,\alpha^n - \bar{\beta}\,\beta^n}{\alpha - \beta}$$

where $\alpha = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}$, $\beta = \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}$ and the coefficients $\bar{\alpha}$, $\bar{\beta}$ are as follows

$$\bar{\alpha} = (p - q\beta) + [p(1 - \beta) + q]j + [p(2 - \beta) + q(1 - \beta)]\varepsilon + [p(3 - 2\beta) + q(2 - \beta)]j\varepsilon$$

and

$$\bar{\beta} = (p - q\alpha) + [p(1 - \alpha) + q]j + [p(2 - \alpha) + q(1 - \alpha)]\varepsilon + [p(3 - 2\alpha) + q(2 - \alpha)]j\varepsilon.$$

Proof. If t_1 and t_2 denote the roots of characteristic equation $t^2 - t - 1 = 0$ associated to the recurrence relation $DHX_n + DHX_{n+1} = DHX_{n+2}$. Then, these roots can be found as $\alpha = t_1 = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}$ and $\beta = t_2 = \frac{1-\sqrt{5}}{2}$. Note that, $\alpha + \beta = 1, \alpha, \beta = -1$ and $\alpha - \beta = \sqrt{5}$. Therefore, the general term of the dual-hyperbolic number sequence with generalized Fibonacci coefficients may be expressed in the form:

$$DHX_n = A\alpha^n + B\beta^n$$

for some coefficients A and B. For n = 0 and n = 1, the following equalities can be written

$$DHX_0 = (q, p, p+q, 2p+q)$$

and

$$DHX_1 = (p, p+q, 2p+q, 3p+2q)$$

Also, if we give to *n* the values n = 0 and n = 1, we get

and

$$DHX_1 = \alpha A + \beta B.$$

 $DHX_0 = A + B$

Then, solving this system of linear equations, we have

$$A = \frac{DHX_1 - \beta DHX_0}{\alpha - \beta} \qquad and \qquad B = \frac{\alpha DHX_0 - DHX_1}{\alpha - \beta}$$

where some coefficients $\bar{\alpha}$ and $\bar{\beta}$ are

$$\bar{\alpha} = (p - q\beta) + [p(1 - \beta) + q]j + [p(2 - \beta) + q(1 - \beta)]\varepsilon + [p(3 - 2\beta) + q(2 - \beta)]j\varepsilon$$

and

$$\bar{\beta} = (p - q\alpha) + [p(1 - \alpha) + q]j + [p(2 - \alpha) + q(1 - \alpha)]\varepsilon + [p(3 - 2\alpha) + q(2 - \alpha)]j\varepsilon.$$

Theorem 3.9. The generating function for dual-hyperbolic number with generalized coefficients is

$$g(x) = \frac{1}{1 - x - x^2} \sum_{s=0}^{3} (DHX_s + DHX_{s-1}x)e_s.$$

Proof. Assuming that the generating function for dual-hyperbolic number with generalized coefficients becomes

$$g(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n x^n.$$

such that

$$P_n = (DHX_n, DHX_{n+1}, DHX_{n+2}, DHX_{n+3})$$

Multiplying the generating function by x and x^2 , the following equalities can be written

$$xg(x) = P_0 x + P_1 x^2 + \dots + P_{n-1} x^n + \dots$$

$$x^2 g(x) = P_0 x^2 + P_1 x^3 + \dots + P_{n-2} x^n + \dots$$

After some algebraic calculations, we obtain

$$g(x) = \frac{1}{1 - x - x^2} \sum_{s=0}^{3} (P_0 + (P_1 - P_0)x)$$

This completes the proof.

Now, let's write the Binet formula in terms of the generating function which has been obtained in Theorem 3.9. **Theorem 3.10.** *Binet formula for the dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized Fibonacci coefficients is*

$$P_n = P_1 H_n + P_0 H_{n-1}$$

Proof. Let's we take the relation

$$P_n = A\alpha^n + B\beta^n$$
.

Putting n = 0 and n = 1 in the above equation, A and B are obtained by

$$A = rac{P_1 - eta P_0}{lpha - eta}, \quad B = rac{lpha P_0 - P_1}{lpha - eta}$$

In this case, P_n can be rewritten as

$$P_n = \frac{1}{\alpha - \beta} \left[\left(P_1 - \beta P_0 \right) \alpha^n + \left(\alpha P_0 - P_1 \right) \beta^n \right]$$

When the equalities of P_0 and P_1 is written in Theorem 3.9 and is arranged, P_n is found as

$$P_n = \left(\frac{\alpha^n - \beta^n}{\alpha - \beta}\right) \sum_{s=0}^3 DHX_{s+1}e_s + \left(\frac{\alpha^{n-1} - \beta^{n-1}}{\alpha - \beta}\right) \sum_{s=0}^3 DHX_se_s.$$

Finally

$$P_n = P_1 H_n + P_0 H_{n-1}$$

is obtained.

Let us express the Catalan identity which is one of the most known identities of Fibonacci numbers.

Theorem 3.11. (*Catalan's Identity*)

For $n \ge r$, the relation

$$DHX_n^2 - DHX_{n+r} \times DHX_{n-r} = (-1)^{n-r} \mu F_r^2 [j+3j\varepsilon]$$

is verified.

Proof. Squaring DHX_n , multiplying DHX_{n+r} and DHX_{n-r} and noting that $H_{m+k}H_{n-k} - H_mH_n = (-1)^{n-k+1}\mu F_k F_{m+k-n}$ [7], the following equalities are obtained

$$DHX_{n}^{2} = H_{n}^{2} + H_{n+1}^{2} + 2H_{n}H_{n+1}j + 2(H_{n}H_{n+2} + H_{n+1}H_{n+3})\varepsilon + 2(H_{n+1}H_{n+2} + H_{n}H_{n+3})j\varepsilon$$

and

$$DHX_{n+r} \times DHX_{n-r} = H_{n+r}H_{n-r} + H_{n+r+1}H_{n-r+1} + (H_{n+r+1}H_{n-r} + H_{n+r}H_{n-r+1})j + (H_{n+r}H_{n-r+2} + H_{n+r+1}H_{n-r+3} + H_{n-r+2}H_{n-r} + H_{n-r+3}H_{n-r+1})\varepsilon + (H_{n+r+1}H_{n-r+2} + H_{n+r}H_{n-r+3} + H_{n+r+3}H_{n-r} + H_{n+r+2}H_{n-r+1})j\varepsilon.$$

Adding the above equations gives us the proof. Writting p = 1 and q = 0 in the Catalan identity for dual-hyperbolic numbers with generalized coefficients, Catalan identity for dual-hyperbolic numbers with Fibonacci coefficients is found. Namely

$$DHX_n^2 - DHX_{n+r} \times DHX_{n-r} = (-1)^{n-r} F_r^2 (j+3j\varepsilon).$$

Let's give Cassini identity for generalized dual-hyperbolic numbers as a special case of Catalan identity.

Theorem 3.12. (Cassini's Identity)

Let DHX_n be the dual-hyperbolic number with generalized Fibonacci coefficients. For $n \ge 1$, we have

$$DHX_n^2 - (DHX_{n+1} \times DHX_{n-1}) = (-1)^{n-1} \mu \left(j + 3j\varepsilon \right)$$

Proof. For r = 1, we see that the identity in Theorem 3.11 becomes the desired identity. Putting p = 1 and q = 0 in the above identity, we get

$$DHX_n^2 - (DHX_{n+1} \times DHX_{n-1}) = (-1)^{n-1} (j+3j\varepsilon).$$

This identity is Cassini formula for dual-hyperbolic numbers.

Theorem 3.13. (Honsberger Identity)

For $n, m \ge 0$, the Honsberger identity for the dual-hyperbolic number with generalized coefficient DHX_n is given by

$$\begin{aligned} (DHX_{k-1} \times DHX_n) + (DHX_k \times DHX_{n+1}) &= \left[(2p-q) \left(H_{k+n} + H_{k+n+2} \right) - e \left(F_{k+n} + F_{k+n+2} \right) \right] \\ &+ 2j \left[(2p-q) \left(H_{k+n+1} - eF_{k+n+1} \right] \\ &+ 2\varepsilon \left[(2p-q) \left(H_{k+n+2} + H_{k+n+4} \right) - e \left(F_{k+n+2} + F_{k+n+4} \right) \right] \\ &+ 4j\varepsilon \left[(2p-q) \left(H_{k+n+3} - eF_{k+n+3} \right] \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. If we take into consider the equations (3.1), (3.2) and use the identity $H_nH_m + H_{n+1}H_{m+1} = (2p-q)H_{m+n+1} - eF_{m+n+1}$ (see ref. [3]), we complete the proof. If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then the following identity is found

$$(DHX_{k-1} \times DHX_n) + (DHX_k \times DHX_{n+1}) = (F_{k+n} + F_{k+n+2}) + 2F_{k+n+1}j + 2(F_{k+n+2} + F_{k+n+4})\varepsilon + 4F_{k+n+3}j\varepsilon.$$

Theorem 3.14. (Tagiuri Identity)

Let DHX_n be the dual-hyperbolic number with generalized Fibonacci coefficients. For $m, m \ge 1$, Tagiuri's identity is as follows:

$$(DHX_{m+k} \times DHX_{n-k}) - (DHX_m \times DHX_n) = (-1)^{n-k-1} \mu F_k F_{m+k-n} (j+3j\varepsilon).$$

Proof. The proof can be easily seen by using the identity $H_{m+k}H_{n-k} - H_mH_n = (-1)^{n-k+1}\mu F_k F_{m+k-n}$ [7] and equations (3.1) and (3.2). If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then it is concluded that

$$(DHX_{m+k} \times DHX_{n-k}) - (DHX_m \times DHX_n) = (-1)^{n-k-1} F_k F_{m+k-n} (j+3j\varepsilon).$$

Theorem 3.15. (d'Ocagne's Identity)

Let DHX_n be the dual-hyperbolic number with generalized Fibonacci coefficients. For m > n, $m \in N$ and $n \in Z$, we have

$$(DHX_{m+k} \times DHX_{n-k}) - (DHX_m \times DHX_n) = \mu F_{m-n}(-1)^n (j+3j\varepsilon)$$

Proof. Using identity $H_{m+k}H_{n-k} - H_mH_n = (-1)^{n-k+1}\mu F_k F_{m+k-n}$ [7] and the equations (3.1) and (3.2), the proof is completed. If the values p = 1, q = 0 are specially taken in the generalized Fibonacci number H_n , then the following identity is found

$$(DHX_{m+k} \times DHX_{n-k}) - (DHX_m \times DHX_n) = F_{m-n}(-1)^n (j+3j\varepsilon)$$

4. Conclusion

Our main aim in this study was to generalize the study which was done on dual-hyperbolic numbers. It was seen that, some theorems were obtained as a result of this generalization and they corresponded to the theorems in the article [1] for p = 1, q = 0. Also, the generating function was obtained and the Binet formula was given with the help of the generating function. Unlike the identities which was given in the article [1], Honsberger and Tagiuri identities were proved. At the same time, special cases of these identities were discussed. Because of the fact that generalized Fibonacci and Lucas coefficient dual-hyperbolic number system have commutative algebra structure, five different conjugates can be defined. As a result, in addition to the identities related to the conjugates which we obtained in Proposition 3.4, the following identities are given.

i)

$$\begin{pmatrix} DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_2} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} DHX_{n-1} \times DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger_2} \end{pmatrix} = (2p-q) [H_{2n-1} + H_{2n+2}] - e[F_{2n-1} + F_{2n+2}] + 2jH_nH_{n-1} \\ (DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_3}) + \begin{pmatrix} DHX_{n-1} \times DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger_3} \end{pmatrix} = -(1+2j) [(2p-q)H_{2n} - eF_{2n}] \\ (DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_4}) + \begin{pmatrix} DHX_{n-1} \times DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger_4} \end{pmatrix} = -[(2p-q)H_{2n} - eF_{2n}] \\ (DHX_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_5}) + \begin{pmatrix} DHX_{n-1} \times DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger_5} \end{pmatrix} = [(2p-q) (H_{2n+3} + H_{2n+1}) - e(F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+1})] \\ + 2j[(2p-q)H_{2n+2} - eF_{2n+2}] \\ + \varepsilon[(2p-q)(2H_{2n} + H_{2n+5}) - e(2F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+5})] \\ + 2j\varepsilon[(2p-q)(H_{2n+2} + H_{2n}) - e(F_{2n+2} + F_{2n+5})] \\ \end{pmatrix}$$

ii)

$$\begin{split} DHX_n^2 &= 2H_n DHX_n - DHX_n DHX_n^{\dagger 2} + 2H_{n+1} \left(H_{n+1} + H_n j + H_{n+2} \varepsilon + H_{n+2} j \varepsilon \right) \\ DHX_n^2 &= 2H_n DHX_n - DHX_n DHX_n^{\dagger 3} + 2 \left(H_{n+2} H_{n+1} \varepsilon + H_n H_{n+3} j \varepsilon \right) \\ DHX_n^2 &= 2H_n DHX_n - DHX_n DHX_n^{\dagger 4} + 2H_{n+2} \left(H_n \varepsilon + H_{n+1} j \varepsilon \right) \\ DHX_n^2 &= 2H_n DHX_n - DHX_n DHX_n^{\dagger 5} + \left(H_{n+2} H_{n-1} + H_{n+2} H_n + H_{n+1} H_{n+3} \right) \\ &+ \left(H_{n+3} H_n + H_{n+1} H_{n+2} \right) j + \left(2H_{n+2} H_n + H_{n+2}^2 + H_{n+3}^2 - H_{n+1}^2 - H_n^2 \right) \varepsilon \\ &+ 2 \left(H_{n+2} H_{n+1} + H_{n+2} H_{n+3} - H_{n+1} H_n \right) j \varepsilon \end{split}$$

iii)

$$\begin{split} DHX_n^2 + DHX_{n-1}^2 &= 2\left(2p - q\right)DHX_{2n-1} - DHX_nDHX_n^{\dagger 2} - DHX_{n-1}DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger 2} \\ &+ \left(2p - q\right)\left(2H_{2n+1} + 2H_{2n+3}\varepsilon + 2H_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right) \\ &- e\left(2F_{2n-1} + 2F_{2n+1} + F_{2n}j + 2\left(F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+1}\right)\varepsilon + 4F_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right) + 2\left(H_nH_{n-1}\right)j \end{split} \\ DHX_n^2 + DHX_{n-1}^2 &= 2\left(2p - q\right)DHX_{2n-1} - DHX_nDHX_n^{\dagger 3} - DHX_{n-1}DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger 3} \\ &+ \left(2p - q\right)\left(-2H_{2n}j + 2H_{2n+3}\varepsilon + 2H_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right) \\ &- e\left(2F_{2n-1} + 2\left(F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+1}\right)\varepsilon + 4F_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right) \\ &- e\left(2F_{2n-1} + 2\left(F_{2n+3}\varepsilon + H_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right)\right) \\ DHX_n^2 + DHX_{n-1}^2 &= 2\left(2p - q\right)DHX_{2n-1} - DHX_nDHX_n^{\dagger 4} - DHX_{n-1}DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger 4} \\ &+ 2\left(2p - q\right)\left(H_{2n+3}\varepsilon + H_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right) \\ &- 2e\left(F_{2n-1} + F_{2n}j + \left(F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+1}\right)\varepsilon + 2F_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right) \\ DHX_n^2 + DHX_{n-1}^2 &= 2\left(2p - q\right)DHX_{2n-1} - DHX_nDHX_n^{\dagger 5} - DHX_{n-1}DHX_{n-1}^{\dagger 5} \\ &+ \left(2p - q\right)\left(H_{2n+4}\varepsilon + 2H_{2n+2}j + \left(2H_{2n+3}\varepsilon + 2H_{2n+2}j\varepsilon\right)\varepsilon + 2\left(2H_{2n+2}\varepsilon + H_{2n}\right)j\varepsilon\right] \\ &- e\left[F_{2n+3} + 2F_{2n+1} + F_{2n-1} + 2\left(F_n + F_{2n+2}\right) + \left(4F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+5}\right)\varepsilon + \left(6F_{2n+2}\varepsilon + F_{2n}\right)j\varepsilon\right] \\ \end{split}$$

iv)

$$DHY_{n} \times DHX_{n}^{\dagger_{2}} - DHY_{n}^{\dagger_{2}} \times DHX_{n} = 4(-1)^{n} \left[2p^{2}\varepsilon + p^{2}j\varepsilon \right]$$

$$DHY_{n} \times DHX_{n}^{\dagger_{3}} - DHY_{n}^{\dagger_{3}} \times DHX_{n} = 4(-1)^{n} \left[\left(p^{2} - 2pq + 2q^{2} \right) j - 2p^{2}\varepsilon \right]$$

$$DHY_{n} \times DHX_{n}^{\dagger_{4}} - DHY_{n}^{\dagger_{4}} \times DHX_{n} = \left[4(-1)^{n-1} \left(p^{2} + 2pq - 2q^{2} \right) \right] j$$

$$+ \frac{8(-1)^{n}p^{2}}{(V_{n} + V_{n+1}i)(H_{n} + H_{n+1}i)} \left[\begin{array}{c} -p^{2}F_{2n+1} + pq \left(-2F_{2n+2} - F_{2n} \right) \\ +q^{2} \left(F_{2n+1} + F_{2n} \right) \end{array} \right] j\varepsilon$$

 $DHY_n \times DHX_n^{\dagger_5} - DHY_n^{\dagger_5} \times DHX_n = 2(-1)^{n-1}p^2j$

The proofs of these identities are easily seen by following the similar ways in the proof of Theorem 3.4. Finally, the special values p = 1 and q = 0 provide the above equations.

References

- A. Cihan, A. Z. Azak, M. A. Güngör, M. Tosun, Investigation of Dual-hyperbolic Fibonacci, Dual-hyperbolic Lucas Numbers and their properties. An. Stiint, Univ. "Ovidius" Constanța Ser. Mat., 27(1), 35–48(2019).
 A. F. Horadam, A generalized Fibonacci sequence, Amer. Math. Monthly, 68 (1961), 455–459.
 A. L. Iakini, Generalized quaternions of higher order, Fibonacci Quart., 15 (1977), 343–346.
 S. Yüce, F. Aydın Torunbalcı, A new aspect of dual Fibonacci quaternions, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., 26 (2015), 873–884.
 F. Torunbalcı Aydın, Hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence, Univers. J. Math. Appl., 2(2) (2019), 59-64.
 F. Messelmi, Dual-complex numbers and their Holomorphic functions, https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01114178, (2015).
 T. Koshy, Fibonacci and Lucas Numbers with Applications, Wiley and Sons Publication, New York, 2001.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.562819



The Exact Solutions of Conformable Fractional Partial Differential Equations Using New Sub Equation Method

Ali Kurt^{1*}, Orkun Tasbozan² and Hulya Durur³

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Pamukkale University, Denizli, Turkey ²Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Hatay Mustafa Kemal University, Hatay, Turkey ³Department of Computer Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Ardahan University, Ardahan, Turkey *Corresponding author E-mail: pau.dr.alikurt@gmail.com, akurt@pau.edu.tr

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Conformable fractional derivative, Exact solutions, The new sub-equation method 2010 AMS: 35R11, 35A20, 35C05 Received: 10 May 2019 Accepted: 26 October 2019 Available online: 20 December 2019

In this article, authors employed the new sub equation method to attain new traveling wave solutions of conformable time fractional partial differential equations. Conformable fractional derivative is a well behaved, applicable and understandable definition of arbitrary order derivation. Also this derivative obeys the basic properties that Newtonian concept satisfies. In this study authors obtained the exact solution for KDV equation where the fractional derivative is in conformable sense. New solutions are obtained in terms of the generalized version of the trigonometric functions.

1. Introduction

Fractional differential equations (FDEs) are generalized form of the integer order differential equations. In the last decades, researchers have worked hard for obtaining analytic solutions of nonlinear FDEs. Nonlinear FDEs are often used to describe many problems arising in many fields such as physics, chemistry, engineering, heat transfer, applied mathematics, control theory et all. [1]-[4]. So, many authors presented very strong methods to solve FDEs. For instance Kurt et. al. [5] studied the solutions of time fractional Whitham-Broer-Kaup Equation by using homotopy analysis method where the fractional terms are described in Caputo sense. Tasbozan et. al. [6] employed the finite element method for attaining the approximate solutions of diffusion equation where the derivatives are in Riemann-Liouville sense. Celik et. al. [7] utilized Crank-Nicolson scheme to get the the numerical solutions of fractional diffusion equations. As it is seen from the given references, all the obtained results are numerical solutions for the considered nonlinear equations. Because, the analytical methods can not be applied to the nonlinear equations which involves Caputo, Riemann-Liouville and Riesz fractional derivative definitions. On the contrary, conformable fractional detivative definition gives us chance to get the exact solutions of nonlinear FDEs by using new wave transformation [8] and the chain rule [9]. For example Eslami and Rezazadeh [10] used the first integral method to obtain analytic solutions of time fractional Wu-Zhang system. Aminikhah et. al. [11] obtained analytic solutions of fractional regularized long-wave equations using sub-equation method. Osman et al. [12] employed the unified method to get the analytic solutions of conformable time fractional Schrödinger equation with perturbation terms. For further details please see the references [13]-[34]. In this paper, we handle the Korteweg-de Vries equation with a source that provides a sixth order differential equation.

$$D_x^6 u + 20D_x u D_x^4 u + 40D_x^2 u D_x^3 u + 120D_x u^2 D_x^2 u + D_x^3 D_t^{\mu} u + 8D_x u D_x D_t^{\mu} u + 4D_t^{\mu} u D_x^2 u = 0.$$
(1.1)

2. Conformable fractional calculus

R. Khalil et. al. [32] presented the definition of conformable fractional derivative as follows. **Definition 2.1.** μ^{th} order "conformable fractional derivative" of function g which is defined as $g : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ can be dedicated as

$$T_{\mu}(g)(t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{g(t + \varepsilon t^{1-\mu}) - g(t)}{\varepsilon}$$

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: akurt@pau.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0617-6037 (A. Kurt), otasbozan@mku.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5003-6341 (O. Tasbozan),hulyadurur@ardahan.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9297-6873 (H. Durur)

for all t > 0, $\alpha \in (0,1)$. Assuming that g is μ - differentiable over some (0,a) where a > 0 and $\lim_{t \to 0^+} g^{(\mu)}(t)$ exists, then $g^{(\mu)}(0) = \lim_{t \to 0^+} g^{(\mu)}(t)$.

The other fractional derivative definitions such as Caputo, Riemann-Liouville, Grünwald-Letnikov and etc. do not satisfy basic principles which are provided by Newtonian type derivative. For instance

- 1. Assume that λ is a constant and $\alpha \in R$. Then $D_a^{\mu}(\lambda) \neq 0$ for Riemann-Liouville derivative.
- 2. The Riemann-Liouville and Caputo derivatives do not provide the derivative of the product of two functions.
- 3. $D_{a}^{\mu}(fg) \neq f D_{a}^{\mu}(g) + g D_{a}^{\mu}(f)$.
- 4. The Riemann-Liouville and Caputo derivatives do not do not provide the derivative of the quotient of two functions 5. $D_a^{\mu}\left(\frac{f}{g}\right) \neq \frac{gD_a^{\mu}(f) fD_a^{\mu}(g)}{g^2}$.

This new definition satisfies the properties which are given in the following theorem.

Theorem 2.2. Let $\mu \in (0,1)$ and f,g be μ -differentiable at point t > 0. Then

- 1. $T_{\mu}(af + bg) = aT_{\mu}(f) + bT_{\mu}(g)$, for all $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ 2. $T_{\mu}(t^{p}) = pt^{p-\mu}$ for all $p \in \mathbb{R}$. 3. $T_{\mu}(\lambda) = 0$ for all constant function $f(t) = \lambda$. 4. $T_{\mu}(fg) = fT_{\mu}(g) + gT_{\mu}(f)$. 5. $T_{\mu}\left(\frac{f}{g}\right) = \frac{gT_{\mu}(g) fT_{\mu}(f)}{g^{2}}$.

- 6. If f is differentiable, then $T_{\mu}(f)(t) = t^{1-\mu} \frac{df}{dt}$.

3. The new sub-equation method

Consider that the general form of nonlinear fractional partial differential equation can be expressed as

$$H\left(u,\frac{\partial^{\mu}u}{\partial t^{\mu}},\frac{\partial u}{\partial x},u^{2}\frac{\partial u}{\partial x},\frac{\partial^{2}u}{\partial x^{2}},\ldots\right)=0.$$
(3.1)

Using the wave transform $\xi = kx + w \frac{t^{\mu}}{\mu}$ where k and w are constants and chain rule [9] in Eq. (3.1), the independent variables and can be changed into single variable. So Eq. (3.1) can be rewritten as

$$P(u, u'(\xi), u''(\xi), ...).$$
(3.2)

Consider that $u(\xi)$ can be written as a polynomial in $Q(\xi)$

$$u(\xi) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j Q^j(\xi),$$
(3.3)

where a_j ($0 \le j \le n$) are constant coefficients to be determined after and $Q(\xi)$ provides first order linear ODE of the form

$$Q'(\xi) = Ln(A) \left(\alpha + \beta Q(\xi) + \sigma Q^2(\xi) \right), \quad A \neq 0, 1,$$
(3.4)

where α, β, σ are constants. Moreover, Eq. has the following traveling wave solutions. **Family 1.** If $\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma < 0$ and $\sigma \neq 0$, then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}_{1}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} \pm \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2\sigma} \tan_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2} \xi \right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{2}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} \pm \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2\sigma} \cot_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2} \xi \right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{3}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} \pm \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2\sigma} \left(\tan_{A} \left(\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \operatorname{sec}_{A} \left(\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)} \xi \right) \right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{4}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} \pm \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2\sigma} \left(-\operatorname{cot}_{A} \left(\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \operatorname{csc}_{A} \left(\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)} \xi \right) \right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{5}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} \pm \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{4\sigma} \left(\tan_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{4} \xi \right) - \operatorname{cot}_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{4} \xi \right) \right). \end{aligned}$$

Family 2.Suppose that $\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma > 0$ and $\sigma \neq 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}_{6}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} - \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2\sigma} \operatorname{tanh}_{A}\left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2}\xi\right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{7}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} - \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2\sigma} \operatorname{coth}_{A}\left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2}\xi\right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{8}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} + \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2\sigma} \left(-\operatorname{tanh}_{A}\left(\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}\xi\right) \pm i\sqrt{pq}\operatorname{sech}_{A}\left(\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}\xi\right)\right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{9}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} + \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2\sigma} \left(-\operatorname{coth}_{A}\left(\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}\xi\right) \pm \sqrt{pq}\operatorname{csch}_{A}\left(\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}\xi\right)\right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{10}(\xi) &= -\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} - \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{4\sigma} \left(\operatorname{tanh}_{A}\left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{4}\xi\right) + \operatorname{coth}_{A}\left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{4}\xi\right)\right). \end{aligned}$$

Family 3.Consider that $\alpha \sigma > 0$ and $\beta = 0$,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{Q}_{11}(\xi) &= \sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \tan_A \left(\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{12}(\xi) &= -\sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \operatorname{cot}_A \left(\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{13}(\xi) &= \sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(\tan_A \left(2\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \operatorname{sec}_A \left(2\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{14}(\xi) &= \sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(-\operatorname{cot}_A \left(2\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \operatorname{csc}_A \left(2\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \right), \\ \mathcal{Q}_{15}(\xi) &= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(\tan_A \left(\frac{\sqrt{\alpha \sigma}}{2} \xi \right) - \operatorname{cot}_A \left(\frac{\sqrt{\alpha \sigma}}{2} \xi \right) \right). \end{split}$$

Family 4.Regard that $\alpha \sigma < 0$ and $\beta = 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{16}(\xi) &= -\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \tanh_A \left(\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right), \\ Q_{17}(\xi) &= -\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \coth_A \left(\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right), \\ Q_{18}(\xi) &= \sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(-\tanh_A \left(2\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \pm i\sqrt{pq} \operatorname{sech}_A \left(2\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \right), \\ Q_{19}(\xi) &= \sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(-\coth_A \left(2\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \operatorname{csch}_A \left(2\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \right), \\ Q_{20}(\xi) &= -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(\tanh_A \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma}}{2} \xi \right) + \coth_A \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma}}{2} \xi \right) \right). \end{aligned}$$

Family 5. When $\beta = 0$ and $\sigma = \alpha$,

$$\begin{array}{lll} \mathcal{Q}_{21}(\xi) &=& \tan_A\left(\alpha\xi\right),\\ \mathcal{Q}_{22}(\xi) &=& -\cot_A\left(\alpha\xi\right),\\ \mathcal{Q}_{23}(\xi) &=& \tan_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right) \pm \sqrt{pq}\mathrm{sec}_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right),\\ \mathcal{Q}_{24}(\xi) &=& -\cot_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right) \pm \sqrt{pq}\mathrm{csc}_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right),\\ \mathcal{Q}_{25}(\xi) &=& \frac{1}{2}\left(\tan_A\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\xi\right) - \cot_A\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\xi\right)\right). \end{array}$$

Family 6. If $\beta = 0$ and $\sigma = -\alpha$, chosen

$$\begin{array}{lll} Q_{26}(\xi) &=& -\tanh_A\left(\alpha\xi\right),\\ Q_{27}(\xi) &=& -\coth_A\left(\alpha\xi\right),\\ Q_{28}(\xi) &=& -\tanh_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right) \pm i\sqrt{pq}\mathrm{sech}_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right),\\ Q_{29}(\xi) &=& -\coth_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right) \pm \sqrt{pq}\mathrm{csch}_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right),\\ Q_{30}(\xi) &=& -\frac{1}{2}\left(\tanh_A\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\xi\right) + \coth_A\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\xi\right)\right). \end{array}$$

Family 7.While $\beta^2 = 4\alpha\sigma$,

$$Q_{31}(\xi) = \frac{-2\alpha(\beta\xi Ln(A)+2)}{\beta^2\xi Ln(A)}$$

Family 8. When beta = k, $\alpha = mk(m \neq 0)$ and $\sigma = 0$,

$$Q_{32}(\xi) = A^{k\xi} - m$$

Family 9. When $\beta = \sigma = 0$,

$$Q_{33}(\xi) = \alpha \xi Ln(A).$$

Family 10. When $\beta = \alpha = 0$,

$$Q_{34}(\xi) = \frac{-1}{\sigma\xi Ln(A)}.$$

Family 11. When $\alpha = 0$ and $\beta \neq 0$,

$$\begin{array}{lll} \mathcal{Q}_{35}(\xi) &=& -\frac{p\beta}{\sigma(\cosh_A(\beta\xi) - \sinh_A(\beta\xi) + p)},\\ \mathcal{Q}_{36}(\xi) &=& -\frac{q\beta}{\sigma(\cosh_A(\beta\xi) - \sinh_A(\beta\xi) + q)},\\ \mathcal{Q}_{37}(\xi) &=& -\frac{\beta(\sinh_A(\beta\xi) + \cosh_A(\beta\xi))}{\sigma(\sinh_A(\beta\xi) + \cosh_A(\beta\xi) + q)}, \end{array}$$

Family 12. When $\beta = k$, $\sigma = mk(m \neq 0)$, p = q and $\alpha = 0$,

$$Q_{38}(\xi) = \frac{pA^{k\xi}}{p - mqA^{k\xi}}$$

Remark 3.1. The generalized version of the trigonometric functions and the generalized types of the hypergeometric functions are declared as [33]

$$\begin{split} \sinh_A(\xi) &= \frac{pA^{\xi} - qA^{-\xi}}{2}, \qquad \cosh_A(\xi) = \frac{pA^{\xi} + qA^{-\xi}}{2}, \\ \tanh_A(\xi) &= \frac{pA^{\xi} - qA^{-\xi}}{pA^{\xi} + qA^{-\xi}}, \qquad \coth_A(\xi) = \frac{pA^{\xi} + qA^{-\xi}}{pA^{\xi} - qA^{-\xi}}, \\ \operatorname{sech}_A(\xi) &= \frac{2}{pA^{\xi} + qA^{-\xi}}, \qquad \operatorname{csch}_A(\xi) = \frac{2}{pA^{\xi} - qA^{-\xi}}, \\ \operatorname{sin}_A(\xi) &= \frac{pA^{i\xi} - qA^{-i\xi}}{2i}, \qquad \operatorname{csch}_A(\xi) = \frac{pA^{i\xi} + qA^{-i\xi}}{2}, \\ \operatorname{tan}_A(\xi) &= -i\frac{pA^{i\xi} - qA^{-i\xi}}{pA^{i\xi} + qA^{-i\xi}}, \qquad \operatorname{cot}_A(\xi) = i\frac{pA^{i\xi} + qA^{-i\xi}}{pA^{i\xi} - qA^{-i\xi}}, \\ \operatorname{sec}_A(\xi) &= \frac{2}{pA^{i\xi} - qA^{-i\xi}}, \qquad \operatorname{csc}_A(\xi) = \frac{2i}{pA^{i\xi} - qA^{-i\xi}}, \end{split}$$

where p, q > 0 are constants and ξ is an independent variable. In addition, by considering the balance between the highest order derivative linear term and nonlinear terms appearing in ODE (3.2), the positive integer *n* can be defined. Replacing Eq. (3.3) into ODE (3.2), using Eq. (3.4), and equalizing the coefficients of all the powers of $Q(\xi)$ to zero, we will obtain an equation system in terms of *k*, *w* and a_j ($0 \le j \le n$). From this obtained system the values for *k*, *w* and a_j can be found with the aid of a computer software. Replacing the obtained values of *k*, *w* and a_j into Eq.(3.3), we may acquire all possible solutions of Eq. (3.1).

4. Analytic results for time fractional KdV6 equation with conformable derivative

Using the wave transformation and applying chain rule [9]

$$u(x,t) = u(\xi), \qquad \xi = kx + w \frac{t^{\mu}}{\mu}.$$
 (4.1)

Eq. (1.1) is transferred to

$$k^{6}u^{(vi)}(\xi) + k^{3}wu^{v}(\xi) + 6k^{2}w(u'(\xi))^{2} + 20k^{5}u^{v}(\xi)u'(\xi) + 40k^{5}u''(\xi)u''(\xi) + 12k^{2}wu'(\xi)u''(\xi) = 0$$

1

where the prime symbolizes the known derivative of function $u(\xi)$ with respect to ξ . Integrating the above equation once and making some algebraic calculations led to

$$k^{6}u^{(v)}(\xi) + k^{3}wu^{\prime\prime\prime}(\xi) + 3k^{2}w(u^{\prime})^{2} + 5k^{5}u^{\prime\prime\prime}u + 20k^{5}(u^{\prime\prime})^{2} + 12k^{2}wuu^{\prime} = 0.$$
(4.2)

Considering the homogeneous balance between u^2u' and $u^{(5)}$ in Eq. (4.2) we obtain n+5=3(n+1); then n=1; so we can write Eq. (3.3) as

$$u(\xi) = a_0 + a_1 Q(\xi). \tag{4.3}$$

Subrogating Eq. (4.3) with (3.4) into Eq. (4.2) and gathering all the same power of $Q(\xi)$ together, the left hand side of Eq. (4.2) turns into a polynomial of $Q(\xi)$. Equalizing the each coefficient of the same power of $Q(\xi)$ to zero led to an equation system. Solving the obtained system due to unknowns variables a_0 , a_1 and w, the solutions can be concluded as

$$w = \frac{a_1^3(\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma)}{\sigma^3 Ln(A)}, \qquad k = -\frac{a_1}{\sigma Ln(A)}.$$
(4.4)

Putting the solution set (4.4) with (4.1) into (4.3) and solutions of Eq. (1.1), can be expressed as **Case 1.If** $\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma < 0$ and $\sigma \neq 0$, then we have

$$u_{1}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} + \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2\sigma} \tan_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2} \xi \right) \right),$$

$$u_{2}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} - \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2\sigma} \cot_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2} \xi \right) \right),$$

$$u_{3}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} + \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2\sigma} \left(\tan_{A} \left(\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \sec_{A} \left(\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)} \xi \right) \right) \right),$$

$$u_{4}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} + \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{2\sigma} \left(-\cot_{A} \left(\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \csc_{A} \left(\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)} \xi \right) \right) \right),$$

$$u_{5}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} + \frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{4\sigma} \left(\tan_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{4} \xi \right) - \cot_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-(\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma)}}{4} \xi \right) \right) \right)$$

where $\xi = -\frac{a_1}{\sigma Ln(A)}x + \frac{a_1^3(\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma)^2}{\sigma^3\mu Ln(A)}t^{\mu}$. **Case 2.**Suppose that $\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma > 0$ and $\sigma \neq 0$,

$$u_{6}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} - \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2\sigma} \tanh_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2} \xi \right) \right),$$

$$u_{7}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} - \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2\sigma} \coth_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2} \xi \right) \right),$$

$$u_{8}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} + \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2\sigma} \left(-\tanh_{A} \left(\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \pm i\sqrt{pq} \operatorname{sech}_{A} \left(\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \right) \right),$$

$$u_{9}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} + \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{2\sigma} \left(-\operatorname{coth}_{A} \left(\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \operatorname{csch}_{A} \left(\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \right) \right),$$

$$u_{10}(\xi) = a_{0} + a_{1} \left(-\frac{\beta}{2\sigma} - \frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{4\sigma} \left(\tanh_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{4\sigma} \xi \right) + \operatorname{coth}_{A} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\beta^{2} - 4\alpha\sigma}}{4\sigma} \xi \right) \right) \right)$$

where $\xi = -\frac{a_1}{\sigma Ln(A)}x + \frac{a_1^3(\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma)^2}{\sigma^3\mu Ln(A)}t^{\mu}$. **Case 3.**Consider that $\alpha\sigma > 0$ and $\beta = 0$,

$$\begin{split} u_{11}(\xi) &= a_0 + a_1 \left(\sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \tan_A \left(\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \right), \\ u_{12}(\xi) &= a_0 - a_1 \left(\sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \cot_A \left(\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \right), \\ u_{13}(\xi) &= a_0 + a_1 \left(\sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(\tan_A \left(2\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \sec_A \left(2\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \right) \right), \\ u_{14}(\xi) &= a_0 + a_1 \left(\sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(-\cot_A \left(2\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \csc_A \left(2\sqrt{\alpha \sigma} \xi \right) \right) \right), \\ u_{15}(\xi) &= a_0 + a_1 \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(\tan_A \left(\frac{\sqrt{\alpha \sigma}}{2} \xi \right) - \cot_A \left(\frac{\sqrt{\alpha \sigma}}{2} \xi \right) \right) \right) \end{split}$$

where $\xi = -\frac{a_1}{\sigma Ln(A)}x + \frac{a_1^{-3}(\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma)^2}{\sigma^3\mu Ln(A)}t^{\mu}$. **Case 4.**Regard that $\alpha\sigma < 0$ and $\beta = 0$,

$$\begin{split} u_{16}(\xi) &= a_0 - a_1 \left(\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \tanh_A \left(\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \right), \\ u_{17}(\xi) &= a_0 - a_1 \left(\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \coth_A \left(\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \right), \\ u_{18}(\xi) &= a_0 + a_1 \left(\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(-\tanh_A \left(2\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \pm i\sqrt{pq} \operatorname{sech}_A \left(2\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \right) \right), \\ u_{19}(\xi) &= a_0 + a_1 \left(\sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(-\coth_A \left(2\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \pm \sqrt{pq} \operatorname{csch}_A \left(2\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma} \xi \right) \right) \right), \\ u_{20}(\xi) &= a_0 - a_1 \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{-\frac{\alpha}{\sigma}} \left(\tanh_A \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma}}{2} \xi \right) + \coth_A \left(\frac{\sqrt{-\alpha\sigma}}{2} \xi \right) \right) \right) \end{split}$$

where $\xi = -\frac{a_1}{\sigma Ln(A)}x + \frac{a_1^{-3}(\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma)^2}{\sigma^3\mu Ln(A)}t^{\mu}$. **Case 5.**When $\beta = 0$ and $\sigma = \alpha$,

 $u_{21}(\xi) = a_0 + a_1 \tan_A \left(\alpha \xi\right),$

$$\begin{array}{lll} u_{22}(\xi) &=& a_0 - a_1 \mathrm{cot}_A\left(\alpha\xi\right), \\ u_{23}(\xi) &=& a_0 + a_1\left(\mathrm{tan}_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right) \pm \sqrt{pq}\mathrm{sec}_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right)\right), \\ u_{24}(\xi) &=& a_0 + a_1\left(-\mathrm{cot}_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right) \pm \sqrt{pq}\mathrm{csc}_A\left(2\alpha\xi\right)\right), \\ u_{25}(\xi) &=& a_0 + a_1\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(\mathrm{tan}_A\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\xi\right) - \mathrm{cot}_A\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\xi\right)\right)\right) \end{array}$$

where $\xi = -\frac{a_1}{\sigma Ln(A)}x + \frac{a_1^{-3}(\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma)^2}{\sigma^3\mu Ln(A)}t^{\mu}$. **Case 6.**If $\beta = 0$ and $\sigma = -\alpha$, chosen

$$\begin{aligned} u_{26}(\xi) &= a_0 - a_1 \tanh_A(\alpha\xi), \\ u_{27}(\xi) &= a_0 - a_1 \coth_A(\alpha\xi), \\ u_{28}(\xi) &= a_0 + a_1 \left(-\tanh_A(2\alpha\xi) \pm i\sqrt{pq} \operatorname{sech}_A(2\alpha\xi)\right), \\ u_{29}(\xi) &= a_0 + a_1 \left(-\coth_A(2\alpha\xi) \pm \sqrt{pq} \operatorname{csch}_A(2\alpha\xi)\right), \\ u_{30}(\xi) &= a_0 - \frac{a_1}{2} \left(\tanh_A\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\xi\right) + \coth_A\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}\xi\right)\right) \end{aligned}$$

where $\xi = -\frac{a_1}{\sigma Ln(A)}x + \frac{a_1^{-3}(\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma)^2}{\sigma^3\mu Ln(A)}t^{\mu}$. **Case 11.**When $\alpha = 0$ and $\beta \neq 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} u_{31}(\xi) &= a_0 - \frac{pa_1\beta}{\sigma(\cosh_A(\beta\xi) - \sinh_A(\beta\xi) + p)}, \\ u_{32}(\xi) &= a_0 - \frac{qa_1\beta}{\sigma(\cosh_A(\beta\xi) - \sinh_A(\beta\xi) + q)}, \\ u_{33}(\xi) &= a_0 - \frac{a_1\beta(\sinh_A(\beta\xi) + \cosh_A(\beta\xi))}{\sigma(\sinh_A(\beta\xi) + \cosh_A(\beta\xi) + q)}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\xi = -\frac{a_1}{\sigma Ln(A)}x + \frac{a_1^3(\beta^2 - 4\alpha\sigma)^2}{\sigma^3\mu Ln(A)}t^{\mu}$.

Case 12.When $\beta = k$, $\sigma = mk(m \neq 0)$, p = q and $\alpha = 0$,

$$u_{34}(\xi) = a_0 + \frac{pa_1 A^{k\xi}}{p - mq A^{k\xi}}.$$

5. Conclusion

In this manuscript the new sub-equation method successfully applied to time fractional KdV6 equation. Analytic solutions of the nonlinear KdV6 equation are successfully obtained. Also wave transform and chain rule are used, so the nonlinear conformable FDE changes into differential equation with integer order derivative. As it can be from the obtained results new sub-equation method is a reliable, efficient and applicable tool for obtaining the exact solutions of fractional partial differential equations in conformable sense.

Acknowledgement

All authors contributed equally to this work.

References

- K. Oldham, J. Spanier, The Fractional Calculus, Theory and Applications of Differentiation and Integration of Arbitrary Order, Academic Press, 1974.
- K.S. Miller, B. Ross, An Introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations, A Wiley-Interscience Publication, 1993.
- [3] I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential Equations, Academic Press, 1999.
- A. A. Kilbas, H.M. Srivastava, J.J. Trujillo, Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations, Elsevier, 2006.
- [5] A. Kurt, O. Tasbozan, Approximate analytical solution of the time fractional Whitham-Broer-Kaup equation using the homotopy analysis method, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math., 98(4) (2015), 503-510.
- [6] O. Tasbozan, A. Esen, N. M. Yagmurlu, Y. Ucar, A numerical solution to fractional diffusion equation for force-free case, Abstr. Appl. Anal., 2013, Hindawi, (2013). C. Celik, M. Duman, *Crank-Nicolson method for the fractional diffusion equation with the Riesz fractional derivative*, J. of Comput. Phys., **231**(4)
- [7] (2012), 1743-1750.
- [8] Y. Cenesiz, A. Kurt, New fractional complex transform for conformable fractional partial differential equations, J. Appl. Math. Stat. Inf., 12(2) (2016), [9]
- T. Abdeljawad, On conformable fractional calculus, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 279 (2015), 57-66.
- [10] M. Eslami, H. Rezazadeh, The first integral method for Wu-Zhang system with conformable time-fractional derivative, Calcolo, 53(3) (2016), 475-485. [11] H. Aminikhah, A. R. Sheikhani, H. Rezazadeh, Sub-equation method for the fractional regularized long-wave equations with conformable fractional derivatives, Sci. Iran. Transaction B, Mech. Eng., 23(3) (2016), 1048.
- [12] M. S. Osman, A. Korkmaz, H. Rezazadeh, M. Mirzazadeh, M. Eslami, Q. Zhou, The unified method for conformable time fractional Schrdinger equation with perturbation terms, Chinese J. Phys., 56(5) (2018), 2500-2506.
- Y. Cenesiz, D. Baleanu, A. Kurt, O. Tasbozan, New exact solutions of Burgers' type equations with conformable derivative, Wave. Random. Complex, [13] 27(1) (2017), 103-116.
- [14] A. Kurt, O. Tasbozan, D. Baleanu, New solutions for conformable fractional Nizhnik-Novikov-Veselov system via G'/G expansion method and homotopy analysis methods, Opt. Quant. Electron., **49**(10) (2017), 333. [15] K. Hosseini, P. Mayeli, R. Ansari, Bright and singular soliton solutions of the conformable time-fractional Klein-Gordon equations with different
- nonlinearities, Wave. Random Complex, 28(3) (2018), 426-434.
- [16] A. Korkmaz, K. Hosseini, Exact solutions of a nonlinear conformable time-fractional parabolic equation with exponential nonlinearity using reliable methods, Opt. Quant. Electron., 49(8) (2017), 278.
- [17] H. Rezazadeh, H. Tariq, M. Eslami, M. Mirzazadeh, Q. Zhou, New exact solutions of nonlinear conformable time-fractional Phi-4 equation, Chinese J. Phys., 56(6) (2018), 2805-2816.
- [18] H. Bulut, T.A. Sulaiman, H.M. Baskonus, H. Rezazadeh, M. Eslami, M. Mirzazadeh, Optical solitons and other solutions to the conformable space-time ractional Fokas-Lenells equation, Optik, 172 (2018), 20-27
- [19] H. Rezazadeh, S. M. Mirhosseini-Alizamini, M. Eslami, M. Rezazadeh, M. Mirzazadeh, S. Abbagari, New optical solitons of nonlinear conformable fractional Schrödinger-Hirota equation, Optik, 172 (2018), 545-553.
- [20] I. E. Inan, *Multiple soliton solutions of some nonlinear partial differential equations*, Univers. J. Math. Appl., 1(4) (2018), 273-279.
 [21] H. Rezazadeh, M. S. Osman, M. Eslami, M. Ekici, A. Sonmezoglu, M. Asma, W. A. M. Othman, B. R. Wong, M. Mirzazadeh, Q. Zhou, A. Biswas, M. Belic, Mitigating Internet bottleneck with fractional temporal evolution of optical solitons having quadratic-cubic nonlinearity, Optik, 164 (2018), 84-92
- [22] A. Biswas, M. O. Al-Amr, H. Rezazadeh, M. Mirzazadeh, M. Eslami, Q. Zhou, S. P. Moshokoa, M. Belic, Resonant optical solitons with dual-power law nonlinearity and fractional temporal evolution, Optik, 165 (2018), 233-239.
- [23] H. Bulut, T. A. Sulaiman, H. M. Baskonus, Dark, bright optical and other solitons with conformable space-time fractional second-order spatiotemporal dispersion, Optik, **163** (2018), 1-7. M. H. Cherif, D. Ziane, *Homotopy analysis Aboodh transform method for nonlinear system of partial differential Equations*, Univers. J. Math. Appl., [24]
- 1(4) (2018), 244-253.
- [25] A. M. Wazwaz, The extended tanh method for new solitons solutions for many forms of the fifth-order KdV equations, App. Math. Comput., 184(2) (2007), 1002-1014.
- [26] D. Ziane, T. M. Elzaki, M. Hamdi Cherif, Elzaki transform combined with variational iteration method for partial differential equations of fractional order, Fundam. J. Math. Appl., 1(1) (2018), 102-108.
- [27] D. Feng, K. Li, On exact traveling wave solutions for (1+1) dimensional Kaup-Kupershmidt equation, Appl. Math., 2(6) (2011), 752-756.
- [23] C. A. Gomez S, New traveling waves solutions to generalized Kaup-Kupershmidt and Ito equations, Appl. Math. Comput., 216(1) (2010), 241-250.
 [29] F. Tascan, A. Akbulut, Construction of exact solutions to partial differential equations with CRE method, Commun. Adv. Math. Sci., 2(2) (2019),
- 105-113. M. H. Cherif, D. Ziane, Variational iteration method combined with new transform to solve fractional partial differential equations, Univers. J. Math. [30] Appl., 1(2) (2018), 113-120.
- [31] A. H. Salas, Solving the generalized Kaup-Kupershmidt equation, Adv. Studies Theor. Phys., 6(18) (2012), 879-885.
- R. Khalil, M. Al Horani, A. Yousef, M. Sababheh, A new definition of fractional derivative, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 264 (2014), 65-70. [32]
- [33] H. Rezazadeh, A. Korkmaz, M. Eslami, J. Vahidi, R. Asghari, *Traveling wave solution of conformable fractional generalized reaction Duffing model by generalized projective Riccati equation method*, Opt. Quant. Electron., **50**(3) (2018), 150. [34] R. Polat, Finite difference solution to the space-time fractional partial differential-difference Toda lattice equation, J. Math. Sci. Model., 1(3) (2018),
- 202-205.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.587740



Conservation Laws for a Model with both Cubic and Quadratic Nonlinearity

Mohanad Alaloush¹ and Hatice Taskesen^{2*}

¹Department of Statistics, Faculty of Science, Van Yuzuncu Yil University, Van, Turkey ²Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Van Yuzuncu Yil University, Van, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: haticetaskesen@yyu.edu.tr

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords:Conservation laws, Integrablegrable equations, Multiplier2010 AMS:35L65,35Q35Received:05 July 2019Accepted:02 October 2019are considered

In this paper, the conservation laws for a model with both quadratic and cubic nonlinearity

$$m_t = bu_x + \frac{1}{2}a\left[\left(u^2 - u_x^2\right)m\right]_x + \frac{1}{2}c\left(2m \cdot u_x + m_x \cdot u\right); \quad m = u - u_{xx}$$

are considered for the six cases of coefficients. By using a variational derivative approach, conservation laws were constructed. The computations to derive multipliers and conservation law fluxes are conducted by using a Maple-based package which is called GeM.

1. Introduction

Available online: 20 December 2019

In this paper, we consider the conservation laws for the model

$$m_{t} = bu_{x} + \frac{1}{2}a\left[\left(u^{2} - u_{x}^{2}\right)m\right]_{x} + \frac{1}{2}c\left(2m \cdot u_{x} + m_{x} \cdot u\right); \quad m = u - u_{xx},$$
(1.1)

where a, b and c are arbitrary constants. Eq. (??) models the one-way propagation of a fluid that lies on a horizontal flat bottom.

Conservation laws, indicating that a certain measurable property (as mass, momentum or charge) of an isolated physical system does not change as the system evolves over time, are of fundamental importance in nonlinear science. The study of the conservation laws of the KdV equation was a milestone in the exploration of some techniques that include Miura transformation, Lax pair, inverse scattering transform, bi-Hamiltonian structures, for solving evolutionary equations [?]. Conservation laws have several applications in the field of differential equations. For example, Lax [?] proved global existence theorems by using conservation laws, DiPerna [?] used extra conservation laws for the decay of shock waves, and stability problems were considered by Benjamin. In [?], they were used for studying cracks and dislocations in elasticity (for more information see [?]). The existence of solitons is also closely related to the existence of an infinite number of conservation laws of partial differential equations and is a predictor of complete integrability.

There are many powerful methods used to find conservation laws such as Laplace's direct technique [?], Noether's theorem [?], the characteristic form (also known as multiplier or integrating factor) given by Steudel [?]. In this paper, we use the multiplier approach among these techniques to derive conservation laws and conserved quantities corresponding to the six different cases of coefficients of Eq. (??). The multiplier approach will be explained in detail in the next section.

The emergence of symbolic computational packages provides great satisfaction in the performance of complex and tedious calculations. Over the past decades, researchers have focused on developing symbolic computational packages working with either *Maple* or *Mathematica* which are based on different approaches to conservation laws. Many computational packages have recently been developed, and we can classify these packages on the environment in which they work in two parts:

- 1. Packages which are based on *Mathematica* [?] environment: Goktas and Hereman developed **condens.m** [?], Adams and Hereman developed **TransPDEDensity.m** [?], and Poole and Hereman developed **ConservationLawsMD.m** [?].
- 2. Packages which are based on *Maple* environment: Cheviakov developed **GeM** [?, ?], Anderson and Cheb-Terrab developed **Vessiot** suite [?], Rocha Filho and Figueiredo developed **SADE** [?].

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: alaloush.mohanad@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2861-8895 (M. Alaloush), haticetaskesen@yyu.edu.tr, http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1058-0507 (H. Taskesen)

GeM package [?] will be used in the present paper to find the conservation laws of Eq. (??) in the six different cases of coefficients. **GeM** package is developed to find the conservation laws and symmetries of differential equations. There exists a determining system for obtaining multipliers (and hence conservation laws) for any partial differential equation. To obtain symmetries, this package, firstly obtain an overdetermined system of determining equations, afterwards this system is simplified by a Rif package routines, and then a *Maple* command gives all symmetry generators of differential equations. For the conservation laws, **GeM** package firstly obtain a determining system for multipliers, afterwards the obtained system is simplified by Rif package to get multipliers. Once the multipliers are obtained, the fluxes are constructed by the direct method, homotopy methods or scaling symmetry formula.

Eq. (??) is studied in [?] where they mainly interested in peakon, weak kink ank kink-peakon interactional solutions. To show that Eq. (??) is completely integrable, they present the Lax representation, bi-Hamiltonian structure and infinitely many conservation laws for Eq. (??). In [?] the conservation laws are obtained explicitly only for $b = 0, a \neq 0, c \neq 0$ case.

According to the different cases of coefficients, Eq. (??) reduces to the following six cases:

- 1. Case $(b \neq 0, a \neq 0, c \neq 0)$: $m_t = bu_x + \frac{1}{2}a \left[(u^2 - u_x^2) m \right]_x + \frac{1}{2}c (2m \cdot u_x + m_x \cdot u)$, which is a linear combination of CH and mCH or generalized CH equation, see (Qiao, Xia, and Li [e-print arXiv:1205.2028v3 (2012)]).
- Case (b ≠ 0, a = 0, c = -2): m_t = bu_x - (2mu_x + m_xu), wich is a quadratic nonlinear equation.
 Case (b ≠ 0, a = -2, c = 0):
- $m_t = bu_x \left[\left(u^2 u_x^2 \right) m \right]_x$, which is a cubic nonlinear equation. 4. Case $(b = 0, a \neq 0, c \neq 0)$:
- $m_t = \frac{1}{2}a \left[m \left(u^2 u_x^2\right)\right]_x + \frac{1}{2}c \left(2mu_x + m_x u\right), \text{ which known as FQXL model.}$ 5. Case (b = 0, a = -2, c = 0):
- $m_t = -(2mu_x + m_x u)$, which is known as Camassa -Holm equation (CH).
- 6. Case (b = 0, a = 0, c = -2): $m_t = -\left[\left(u^2 - u_x^2\right)m\right]_x$, which known as modified Camassa-Holm equation (mCH).

In the present paper, the conservation laws of the above six cases of the coefficients are computed explicitly using GeM Maple routines which are based on multiplier method. The multipliers are used to make the system being studied get a divergence form, then by equating this divergence to zero one can obtain a conservation law. For the convenience, these are explained in detail in Section 2. The computations are performed in Section 3, and the results are summarized in the last section.

2. Basic concepts on the method proposed

To compute conserved densities and fluxes, we use a multiplier approach based on the fact that the Euler operator eliminates a total divergence. Let u be dependent variable and t, x be independent variables.

1. Consider an nth-order partial differential equation

$$G(t, x, u, u_t, u_x, u_{tt}, u_{tx}, \ldots) = 0.$$
(2.1)

2. The standard Euler operator E_u is defined as

$$E_{u} = \frac{\delta}{\delta u} = \frac{\partial}{\partial u} - D_{t} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{t}} - D_{x} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{x}} + D_{t}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{tt}} + D_{x}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{xx}} - \dots$$

where D_t and D_x are the total differentiation operators which are given by:

$$D_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + u_t \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + u_{tt} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_t} + u_{tx} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_x} + \dots,$$

$$D_x = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + u_x \frac{\partial}{\partial u} + u_{xx} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_x} + u_{xt} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_t} + \dots$$

The Euler operator tests whether an expression is a total derivative without using any integration by parts [?].

A vector T = (T^t, T^x) is defined as the conserved vector of (??) if D_tT^t + D_xT^x = 0 holds for all solutions of (??), where T^t is *conserved density* and T^x is associated *flux*. The divergence expression D_tT^t + D_xT^x = 0 is called the local conservation law for (??).
 A multiplier λ of (??) is a function on the solution space which satisfies

$$D_t T^t + D_x T^x = \lambda G \tag{2.2}$$

for any function u(x,t) [?, ?]. The multipliers may be chosen to depend on both the variables (independent and dependent) and derivatives up to a certain order.

5. The multipliers may be determined by taking the variational derivative of (??)

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u}(\lambda G) = 0, \tag{2.3}$$

where $\delta/\delta s$ is the Euler operator defined as above. The conserved vectors can be derived using (??) after computing the multipliers from (??).

3. Multipliers and conservation laws for the six cases via GeM Maple Routines

In this section, we use a multiplier approach technique for deriving conservation laws and conserved quantities corresponding to the six cases of Eq. (??) via Maple-based GeM package.

We start with the sixth case (b = 0, a = 0, c = -2). Consider the following model with both cubic and quadratic nonlinearity:

$$n_t = bu_x + \frac{1}{2}a \left[\left(u^2 - u_x^2 \right) m \right]_x + \frac{1}{2}c \left(2m \cdot u_x + m_x \cdot u \right); m = u - u_{xx},$$
(3.1)

By using the following Maple command

> restart : with(PDEtools) : declare(m(t,x), u(t,x)) : $> pde := diff(m(t,x),t) - b * diff(u(t,x),x) - (1/2) * a * (diff((u(t,x)^2 - (diff(u(t,x),x))^2) * m(t,x),x)) - (1/2) * c * (2 * m * (diff(u(t,x),x)) + u * (diff(m(t,x),x))) = 0 :$ > m(t,x) = u(t,x) - (diff(u(t,x),x,x)) : $> CH := eval(pde, {b = 0, a = 0, c = -2, m(t,x) = u(t,x) - (diff(u(t,x),x,x))});$

we can rewrite equation (??) as follows:

$$CH := u_t - u_{txx} + 2(u - u_{xx})u_x + u(u_x - u_{xxx}) = 0$$
(3.2)

where u = u(t,x). We will explain the case (b = 0, a = 0, c = -2) in detail along with GeM Maple routines given in [?, ?]. Dependent and independent variables and Eq. (??) can be defined in GeM by the following commands:

> *read*("H:/gem32_12.mpl") :

> with(linalg) : With(GeM);

 $> gem_decl_vars(indeps = [t,x], deps = [u(t,x)], freeconst = [b,a,c]);$ $> gem_decl_eqs([diff(u(t,x),t) - (diff(u(t,x),x,x,t)) + ((2 * (u(t,x) - (diff(u(t,x),x,x)))) * (diff(u(t,x),x)) + (diff(u(t,x),x) - (diff(u(t,x),x,x,x))) * u(t,x)) = 0], solve_for = [diff(u(t,x),t)]);$

Let us take the multipliers as $\lambda = \lambda (t, x, u, u_t, u_x, u_{xx}, u_{xxx})$. The Maple routines to be used in GeM for which the multipliers will be obtained from are

- $> det_CH := gem_conslaw_det_eqs([t,x,u(t,x),diff(u(t,x),t),diff(u(t,x),x),diff(u(t,x),x,x),diff(u(t,x),x,x,x)]);$
- > CL_CH_mult := gem_conslaw_multipliers();

> simpli_CH := DEtools[rifsimp](det_CH,CL_CH_mult,mindim = 1);

For the simplified form of multipliers, the determining equations are

$$\lambda_{uu} = \frac{3\lambda_{u_{xx}}}{2u - 2u_{xx}}, \lambda_{uu_{xx}} = -\frac{3\lambda_{u_{xx}}}{2u - 2u_{xx}}, \lambda_{u_{xx}u_{xx}} = \frac{3\lambda_{u_{xx}}}{2u - 2u_{xx}}, \lambda_t = 0, \lambda_x = 0, \lambda_{u_t} = 0, \lambda_{u_x} = 0, \lambda_{u_{xxx}} = 0$$
(3.3)

The following Maple command is used to solve the system (??)

> multipliers_CH_sol := pdsolve(simpli_CH[Solved]);

which yields

$$\lambda(t, x, u, u_t, u_x, u_{xx}, u_{xxx}) = -C2u + -C3 + \frac{-C1}{\sqrt{-u + u_{xx}}}$$

Here _C1,_C2 and _C3 are arbitrary constants. There arise three linearly independent conservation laws from the following multipliers

$$\lambda^{(1)} = 1, \lambda^{(2)} = u, \lambda^{(3)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-u + u_{xx}}}$$
(3.4)

The next task is the construction of conservation laws from the multipliers given in (??). The *direct method* is used to compute the flux expressions in the Maple command

> gem_get_CL_fluxes(multipliers_CH_sol);

We have the conservation law fluxes which are presented in the following table for the multipliers (??):

Case	Multiplier	Fluxes				
b = 0	$2^{(1)} - 1$	$T^t = u - u_{xx}$				
a = 0	$\lambda^{\vee} = 1$	$T^x = \frac{3}{2}u^2 - uu_{xx} - \frac{1}{2}u_x^2$				
c = -2	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{t} = \frac{1}{2}u^{2} - uu_{xx} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{2}$				
		$T^x = u^3 - u_{xx}u^2 + u_tu_x$				
	$\lambda^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{1}$	$T^{t} = -2\sqrt{-u + u_{xx}}$				
	$\sqrt{-u+u_{xx}}$	$T^x = -2\sqrt{-u + u_{xx}}u$				

The homotopy formulas will be employed for the fluxes since the multipliers do not contain arbitrary constants. The following Maple command is used for *first homotopy formula*

> gem_get_CL_fluxes(multipliers_CH_sol, method = "Homotopy1");

to get conservation law fluxes

Case	Multiplier	Fluxes
b = 0	a (1) 1	$T^t = u - u_{xx}$
a = 0	$\lambda^{(1)} = 1$	$T^x = \frac{3}{2}u^2 - uu_{xx} - \frac{1}{2}u_x^2$
<i>c</i> = -2	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{t} = \frac{u(u-u_{xx})}{2}$ $T^{x} = u^{3} - u_{xx}u^{2} - \frac{1}{2}u_{tx}u + \frac{1}{2}u_{x}u_{t}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-u+u_{xx}}}$	$T^{t} = -2\sqrt{-2u + 2u_{xx}}$ $T^{x} = -2u\sqrt{-2u + 2u_{xx}}$

For second homotopy formula, the Maple command

> gem_get_CL_fluxes(multipliers_CH_sol, method = "Homotopy2");

yields the expressions for conservation law fluxes which are presented in the following table :

Case	Multiplier	Fluxes
b = 0	$2^{(1)} - 1$	$T^t = u - \frac{u_{xx}}{3}$
a = 0	$\lambda^{\vee} = 1$	$T^{x} = \frac{3}{2}u^{2} - uu_{xx} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{2} - \frac{3}{2}u_{tx}$
c = -2	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{t} = \frac{1}{2}u^{2} - \frac{1}{3}uu_{xx} + \frac{1}{6}u_{x}^{2}$ $T^{x} = u^{3} - u_{xx}u^{2} - \frac{2}{3}uu_{tx} + \frac{1}{3}u_{t}u_{x}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-u+u_{xx}}}$	$ T^{t} = -\frac{2\sqrt{-u+u_{xx}}\left(u^{3} + \left(-\frac{13u_{xx}}{6} - \frac{u_{xxxx}}{6}\right)u^{2} + \left(\frac{3u_{xx}^{2}}{2} + \frac{u_{xx}u_{xxxx}}{6}\right) - \frac{5(u_{x} - \frac{3u_{xx}}{2})(u_{x} - u_{xxx})}{12}\right)u + \frac{(-2u_{xx}^{2} + u_{x}(u_{x} - u_{xxx}))u_{xx}}{6}\right)}{(u - u_{xx})^{3}} T^{x} = -\frac{1}{(u - u_{xx})^{3}}\left(2\sqrt{-u + u_{xx}}\left(u^{4} - 3u^{3}u_{xx} + \left(3u_{xx}^{2} - \frac{5u_{tx}}{6} + \frac{u_{txxx}}{6}\right)u^{2} - \frac{u_{xx}(4u_{xx}u_{tx} + (u_{x} + u_{xx})u_{t} - 2u_{txx}u_{x})}{6}\right)\right) $

Now, by repeating the previous processes for the cases (1,2,3,4 and 5), we find multipliers and conserved vectors using the *direct method* and *first homotopy method*, which are given in Tables **??**, **??**, respectively.

Case	Multiplier	Fluxes
$b \neq 0$	$\lambda^{(1)} - 1$	$T^t = u - u_{xx}$
$a \neq 0$	$\lambda^{\vee} = 1$	$T^{x} = -\frac{au^{3}}{2} + \frac{(2au_{xx} - 3c)u^{2}}{4} + \frac{(2au_{x}^{2} + 2cu_{xx} - 4b)u}{4} - \frac{(au_{xx} - \frac{c}{2})u_{x}^{2}}{2}$
$c \neq 0$	$\lambda^{(2)} = \mu$	$T^{t} = \frac{1}{2}u^{2} - uu_{xx} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{2}$
<i>c</i> / 0	n = n	$T^{x} = -\frac{3au^{4}}{8} + \frac{(4au_{xx} - 4c)u^{3}}{8} + \frac{(2au_{x}^{2} + 4cu_{xx} - 4b)u^{2}}{8} - \frac{u_{x}^{2}u_{xx}au}{2} + \frac{u_{x}(u_{x}^{3}a + 8u_{t})}{8}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{(-2u+2u_{xx})a-c}{(-2u+2u_{xx})a-c}$	$T^{t} = -2\sqrt{(u - u_{xx})^{2}a + cu - cu_{xx} + b}$
	$\sqrt{(u-u_{xx})^2a+cu-cu_{xx}+b}$	$T^{x} = (au^{2} - au_{x}^{2} + cu)\sqrt{(u - u_{xx})^{2}a + cu - cu_{xx} + b}$
$b \neq 0$	$\lambda^{(1)} = 1$	$T^{t} = u - u_{xx}$
a = 0		$T^{x} = \frac{3u^{2}}{2} + \frac{(-2b-2u_{xx})u}{2} - \frac{u_{x}^{2}}{2}$
c = -2.	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{t} = \frac{1}{2}u^{2} - uu_{xx} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{2}$
		$T^{x} = u^{3} + \frac{(-b-2u_{xx})u^{2}}{2} + u_{t}u_{x}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{2k+1+4}}$	$T^t = -\sqrt{2b - 4u + 4u_{xx}}$
1 / 0	$\sqrt{2b-4u+4u_{xx}}$	$T^{x} = -\sqrt{2b - 4u + 4u_{xx}u}$
$b \neq 0$	$\lambda^{(1)} = 1$	
u = -2		$T = u - u_{xx}u + (-u_x - b)u + u_x u_{xx}$ $T^t - \frac{1}{2}u^2 - u_x - \frac{1}{2}u^2$
c = 0	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{x} = \frac{3u^{4}}{4} - u_{xx}u^{3} + \frac{(-2u_{x}^{2}-2b)u^{2}}{4} + u_{x}^{2}u_{xx}u - \frac{u_{x}^{4}}{4} + u_{t}u_{x}$
	2 (3)	$T^{t} = -\frac{\sqrt{2u^{2} - 4uu_{xx} + 2u_{xx}^{2} - b}}{4u^{2} - 4uu_{xx} + 2u_{xx}^{2} - b}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{u + u_{xx}}{\sqrt{2u^2 - 4uu_{xx} + 2u_{xx}^2 - b}}$	$T^{x} = -\frac{(u^{2} - u_{x}^{2})\sqrt{2u^{2} - 4uu_{xx} + 2u_{xx}^{2} - b}}{2}$
b = 0	$\lambda^{(1)} - 1$	$T^t = u - u_{xx}$
$a \neq 0.$		$T^{x} = -\frac{au^{3}}{2} + \frac{(2au_{xx} - 3c)u^{2}}{4} + \frac{(2au_{x}^{2} + 2cu_{xx})u}{4} - \frac{(au_{xx} - \frac{c}{2})u_{x}^{2}}{2}$
$c \neq 0$	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{t} = \frac{1}{2}u^{2} - uu_{xx} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{2}$
		$T^{x} = -\frac{3au^{4}}{8} + \frac{(4au_{xx} - 4c)u^{3}}{8} + \frac{(2au_{x}^{2} + 4cu_{xx})u^{2}}{8} - \frac{u_{x}^{2}u_{xx}au}{2} + \frac{u_{x}(2u_{x}^{2}a + 8u_{t})}{8}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = - (-2u + 2u_{xx})a - c$	$T^{t} = -2\sqrt[n]{(u - u_{xx})((u - u_{xx})a + c)}$
	$\sqrt{(u-u_{xx})((u-u_{xx})a+c)}$	$T^{x} = \sqrt{(u - u_{xx})((u - u_{xx})a + c)} \left(au^{2} - au_{x}^{2} + cu\right)$
b=0	$\lambda^{(1)} = 1$	$T^t = u - u_{xx}$
a = -2		$T^{x} = (u - u_{x})(u + u_{x})(u - u_{xx})$
c = 0	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$\begin{bmatrix} I^{*} = \frac{1}{2}u^{-} - uu_{XX} - \frac{1}{2}u_{X}^{*} \\ T^{*} = u_{x}^{-} - u_{x}^{-} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{-} \\ u_{x}^{-} - u_{x}^{-} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{-} \\ u_{x}^{-} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{-} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{-$
		$\frac{1^{x} = -\frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{2} + u_{t}u_{x} + \frac{1}{4} - u_{xx}u^{3}}{1}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{1}{(u - u_{xx})^2}$	$I = -\frac{1}{u - u_{xx}}$
	· · · · /	$T^{x} = \frac{u - u_{xx}}{u - u_{xx}}$

Case	Multiplier	Fluxes
$b \neq 0$	$\lambda^{(1)} - 1$	$T^t = u - u_{xx}$
$a \neq 0$	$\lambda^{+} = 1$	$T^{x} = -\frac{au^{3}}{2} + \frac{(2au_{xx} - 3c)u^{2}}{4} + \frac{(2au_{x}^{2} + 2cu_{xx} - 4b)u}{4} - \frac{(au_{xx} - \frac{c}{2})u_{x}^{2}}{2}$
$c \neq 0$	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$ \begin{array}{c} T^{t} = \frac{u(u-u_{xx})}{2} \\ T^{x} = -\frac{3au^{4}}{8} + \frac{(4au_{xx}-4c)u^{3}}{8} + \frac{(2au_{x}^{2}+4cu_{xx}-4b)u^{2}}{8} + \frac{(-4u_{x}^{2}u_{xx}a-4u_{tx})u}{8} + \frac{u_{x}(u_{x}^{3}a+4u_{t})}{8} \end{array} $
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{(-2u+2u_{xx})a-c}{\sqrt{(u-u_{xx})^2a+cu-cu_{xx}+b}}$	$T^{t} = 2\sqrt{b} - 2\sqrt{(u - u_{xx})^{2}a + cu - cu_{xx} + b}$ $T^{x} = (au^{2} - au_{x}^{2} + cu)\sqrt{(u - u_{xx})^{2}a + cu - cu_{xx} + b}$
$b \neq 0$ $a = 0$	$\lambda^{(1)} = 1$	$T^{t} = u - u_{xx}$ $T^{x} = \frac{3u^{2}}{2} + \frac{(-2b - 2u_{xx})u}{2} - \frac{u_{x}^{2}}{2}$
c = -2.	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{t} = \frac{u(u - u_{xx})}{2}$ $T^{x} = u^{3} + \frac{(-b - 2u_{xx})u^{2}}{2} - \frac{uu_{tx}}{2} + \frac{u_{t}u_{x}}{2}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{2b - 4u + 4u_{xx}}}$	$T^{t} = \sqrt{2}\sqrt{b} - \sqrt{2b - 4u + 4u_{xx}}$ $T^{x} = -\sqrt{2b - 4u + 4u_{xx}}u$
$b \neq 0$ $a = -2$	$\lambda^{(1)} = 1$	$T^{t} = u - u_{xx}$ $T^{x} = u^{3} - u_{xx}u^{2} + (-u_{x}^{2} - b)u + u_{x}^{2}u_{xx}$
c = 0	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{t} = \frac{u(u-u_{xx})}{2}$ $T^{x} = \frac{3u^{4}}{4} - u_{xx}u^{3} + \frac{(-2u_{x}^{2}-2b)u^{2}}{4} + \frac{(4u_{x}^{2}u_{xx}-2u_{tx})u}{4} - \frac{u_{x}^{4}}{4} + \frac{u_{t}u_{x}}{2}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{-u + u_{xx}}{\sqrt{2u^2 - 4uu_{xx} + 2uu_{xx}^2 - b}}$	$T^{t} = \frac{\sqrt{-b}}{2} - \frac{\sqrt{2u^{2} - 4uu_{xx} + 2u_{xx}^{2} - b}}{2}$ $T^{x} = \frac{(u - u_{x})(u + u_{x})(-2u^{2} + 4uu_{xx} - 2u_{xx}^{2} + b)}{2\sqrt{2u^{2} - 4uu_{xx} + 2u_{xx}^{2} - b}}$
$b = 0$ $a \neq 0.$	$\lambda^{(1)} = 1$	$T^{t} = u - u_{xx}$ $T^{x} = -\frac{au^{3}}{2} + \frac{(2au_{xx} - 3c)u^{2}}{4} + \frac{(2au_{x}^{2} + 2cu_{xx})u}{4} - \frac{(au_{xx} - \frac{c}{2})u_{x}^{2}}{2}$
$c \neq 0$	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$T^{t} = \frac{u(u-u_{xx})}{2}$ $T^{x} = -\frac{3au^{4}}{8} + \frac{(4au_{xx}-4c)u^{3}}{8} + \frac{(2au_{x}^{2}+4cu_{xx})u^{2}}{8} + \frac{(-4au_{x}^{2}u_{xx}-4u_{tx})u}{8} + \frac{u_{x}(au_{x}^{3}+4u_{t})}{8}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{(-2u+2u_{xx})a-c}{\sqrt{(u-u_{xx})^2a+cu-cu_{xx}}}$	$T^{t} = -2\sqrt{(u - u_{xx})^{2}a + cu - cu_{xx}}$ $T^{x} = (au^{2} - au_{x}^{2} + cu)\sqrt{(u - u_{xx})^{2}a + cu - cu_{xx}}$
b = 0 $a = -2$	$\lambda^{(1)} = 1$	$T^{t} = u - u_{xx}$ $T^{x} = u^{3} - u_{xx}u^{2} - u_{x}^{2}u + u_{x}^{2}u_{xx}$
c = 0	$\lambda^{(2)} = u$	$\begin{vmatrix} T^{t} = \frac{u(u-u_{xx})}{2} \\ T^{x} = \frac{3u^{4}}{4} - u_{xx}u^{3} - \frac{u_{x}^{2}u^{2}}{2} + \frac{(8u_{x}^{2}u_{xx} - 4u_{tx})u}{8} + \frac{u_{x}(-2u_{x}^{3} + 4u_{t})}{8} \end{vmatrix}$
	$\lambda^{(3)} = \frac{4u - 4u_{xx}}{\sqrt{-2(u - u_{xx})^2}}$	$T^{t} = -2\sqrt{-2(u - u_{xx})^{2}}$ $T^{x} = (-2u^{2} + 2u_{x}^{2})\sqrt{-2(u - u_{xx})^{2}}$

Table 2: Multipliers and conserved vectors using the first homotopy formula

4. Conclusion

The conservation laws for Eq. (??) with both quadratic and cubic nonlinearity for the six cases of coefficients ($(b \neq 0, a \neq 0, c \neq 0), (b \neq 0, a \neq 0, c \neq 0)$) $0, a = 0, c = -2), (b \neq 0, a = -2, c = 0), (b = 0, a \neq 0, c \neq 0), (b = 0, a = -2, c = 0)$ and (b = 0, a = 0, c = -2)) are constructed via a Maple package called GeM. The conservation laws $\rho_t = F_x$ of Eq. (??) were obtained in [?]. But, they were given explicitly only for $b = 0, a \neq 0, c \neq 0$ case. In the present paper, the conservation laws of all the above six cases are computed explicitly. Three multipliers are obtained by defining the multipliers of the form $\lambda = \lambda (t, x, u, u_t, u_x, u_{xx}, u_{xxx})$ in GeM Maple routines. More multipliers may be computed in the case of including higher order derivatives in the multipliers. Direct method and homotopy formula are used to compute the fluxes for each cases. The fluxes obtained here can be used to construct the solutions of Eq. (??).

References

- [1] T. Wolf, A comparison of four approaches to the calculation of conservation laws Eur. J. Appl. Math., 13(2) (2002), 129-152.
- [2] P. D. Lax, Shock wave and entropy, in Contributions to Functional Analysis, ed. EA Zarantonello, Academic Press, New York, 1971.
- [3] R. J. DiPerna, Decay of solutions of hyperbolic systems of conservation laws with a convex extension, Arch. Ration. Mech. An., 64(1) (1977), 1-46.
- [4] B. A. Bilby, K. J. Miller, J. R. Willis, Fundamentals of Deformation and Fracture, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1985.
- [5] P. J. Olver, Applications of Lie Groups to Differential Equations, Springer, New York, 1993.
- [6] P. S. Laplace, *Traite de Mecanique Celeste, Tome I,* Paris, 1798.
 [7] E. Noether, *Invariante variations probleme*, Nachr. Konig. Gesell. Wiss. Gottingen Math. Phys. Kl. Heft 2 (1918), 235-257, English translation in Transport Theory Statist. Phys. 1(3) (1971), 186-207.
- [8] H. Steudel, Uber die Zuordnung zwischen Invarianzeigenschaften und Erhaltungssatzen, Z. Naturforsch., 17A(2) (1962), 129-132.
- [9] Ü. Göktaş, W. Hereman, Symbolic computation of conserved densities for systems of nonlinear evolution equations, J. Symb. Comput., 24(5) (1997),
- 591-622. [10] P. J. Adams, W. Hereman, TransPDEDensityFlux.m: Symbolic computation of conserved densities and fluxes for systems of partial differential equations with transcendental nonlinearities, Scientific Software, 2002.
 [11] L. D. Poole, W. Hereman, ConservationLawsMD.m: A Mathematica package for the symbolic computation of conservation laws of polynomial systems
- of nonlinear PDEs in multiple space dimensions, Scientific Software, 2009, available at http://inside.mines.edu/~whereman,
- A. F. Cheviakov, GeM software package for computation of symmetries and conservation laws of differential equations, Comput. Phys. Commun., [12] 176(1) (2007), 48-61.
- [13] A. F. Cheviakov, Computation of fluxes of conservation laws, J. Eng. Math., 66(1-3) (2010), 153-173.
- [14] I. M. Anderson, E. S. Cheb-Terrab, Differential geometry package, Maple Online Help, 2009.

- [15] T. M. Rocha Filho, A. Figueiredo, [SADE] A Maple package for the symmetry analysis of differential equations, Comput. Phys. Commun., 182(2)
- [15] T. M. Rocha Filho, A. Figueiredo, [SADE] A Maple package for the symmetry analysis of algerential equations, compar. 1 hys. commun. 1 hys. com



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.563563xxx

New Advances in Kotzig's Conjecture

Christian Barrientos^{1*} and Sarah Minion²

¹Department of Mathematics, East Campus, Valencia College, Orlando, Florida, U.S.A. ²Department of Mathematics, Full Sail University, Orlando, Florida, U.S.A. [®]Corresponding author E-mail: chr_barrientos@yahoo.com

Article	Info
---------	------

Abstract

Keywords: Decomposition, Graceful graph, Graceful labeling, p-labeling 2010 AMS: 05C51, 05C78 Received: 13 May 2019 Accepted: 29 August 2019 Available online: 20 December 2019

In 1973 Kotzig conjectures that the complete graph K_{2n+1} can be cyclically decomposed into 2n + 1 copies of any tree of size *n*. Rosa proved that this decomposition exists if and only if there exists a ρ -labeling of the tree. In this work we prove that if T' is a graceful tree, then any tree T obtained from T' by attaching a total of $k \ge 1$ pendant vertices to any collection of *r* vertices of *T'*, where $1 \le r \le k$, admits a ρ -labeling. As a consequence of this result, many new families of trees with this kind of labeling are produced, which indicates the strong potential of this result. Moreover, the technique used to prove this result, gives us an indication of how to determine whether a given tree of size *n* decomposes the complete graph K_{2n+1} . We also prove the existence of a ρ -labeling for two subfamilies of lobsters and present a method to produce ρ -labeled trees attaching pendant vertices and pendant copies of the path P_3 to some of the vertices of any graceful tree. In addition, for any given tree T, we use bipartite labelings to show that this tree is a spanning tree of a graph G that admits an α -labeling. This is not a new result; however, the construction presented here optimizes (reduces) the size of G with respect to all the similar

1. Introduction

A decomposition (or edge-decomposition) of the complete graph K_n is a system R of subgraphs such that any edge of K_n belongs to exactly one of the subgraphs in R. Suppose that the vertices of K_n are labeled $0, 1, \ldots, n-1$; let $ij \in E(K_n)$, a turning of the edge ij is the increase of both labels by one, i.e., the edge (i+1)(j+1), where the addition is taken modulo n. A turning of a subgraph G of K_n is the simultaneous turning of all the edges of G. A decomposition R of K_n is called *cyclic* when for every G in R, the turning G' of G is also in R.

results that we found in the literature.

In 1963, Ringel [1] presented the following conjecture: If T is a tree of size n, then the complete graph K_{2n+1} is edge-decomposable into 2n + 1 copies of T. Ten years later, Kotzig [2] stated the following variation of this conjecture: The complete graph K_{2n+1} can be cyclically decomposed into 2n + 1 subgraphs isomorphic to a given tree with *n* edges. In 1966, Rosa [3] introduced four valuations (or labelings) of the vertices of a graph that can be used to find a cyclic decomposition of K_{2n+1} . A difference vertex labeling of a graph G of size n is an injective mapping $f: V(G) \to S$, where S is a set of nonnegative integers, such that every edge uv of G has assigned a weight defined by |f(v) - f(u)|. All labelings considered in this work are difference vertex labelings. Rosa's valuations can be described as follows.

Suppose that f is a labeling of a graph G of size n. Let L_f be the set of labels assigned by f to the vertices of G and W_f be the set of weights induced by f on the edges of G. Consider the following conditions.

(a) $L_f \subseteq \{0, 1, \dots, n\}$ (b) $L_f \subseteq \{0, 1, \dots, 2n\}$

(c) $W_f = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$

(d) $W_f = \{w_1, w_2, ..., w_n\}$ where $w_i = i$ or $w_i = 2n + 1 - i$ for every $1 \le i \le n$

(e) it exists λ in $\{0, 1, \dots, n\}$, such that for any arbitrary edge uv of G, either $f(u) \le \lambda < f(v)$ or $f(v) \le \lambda < f(u)$. (The number λ is called the *boundary value* of *f*.)



Figure 1.1: A ρ -labeling of S(3,2) and its 8th turning

+0	+1	+2	+3	+4	+5	+6	+7	+8	+9	+10	+11	+12
0-12	1-0	2-1	3-2	4-3	5-4	6-5	7-6	8-7	9-8	10-9	11-10	12-11
1-12	2-0	3-1	4-2	5-3	6-4	7-5	8-6	9-7	10-8	11-9	12-10	0-11
1-11	2-12	3-0	4-1	5-2	6-3	7-4	8-5	9-6	10-7	11-8	12-9	0-10
2-11	3-12	4-0	5-1	6-2	7-3	8-4	9-5	10-6	11-7	12-8	0-9	1-10
1-9	2-10	3-11	4-12	5-0	6-1	7-2	8-3	9-4	10-5	11-6	12-7	0-8
3-9	4-10	5-11	6-12	7-0	8-1	9-2	10-3	11-4	12-5	0-6	1-7	2-8

Table 1: ρ -labeling of S(3,2) and all its turnings

When *f* satisfies the conditions (a), (c), and (e), it is called an α -*labeling* (and *G* is designated an α -*graph*). If *f* satisfies the conditions (a) and (c), then it is called a β -*labeling* or *graceful labeling* (and *G* is named a *graceful graph*). The function *f* is a σ -*labeling* if (b) and (c) hold (in this case *G* is a σ -*graph*). A ρ -*labeling* must satisfies the conditions (b) and (d); in this case, *G* is named a ρ -*graph*. Thus, every α -graph is a graceful graph, every graceful graph is a σ -graph, and every σ -graph is a ρ -graph. Using these labelings, Rosa [3] proved the following theorem.

Theorem 1.1. A cyclic decomposition of the complete graph K_{2n+1} into subgraphs isomorphic to a given graph G of size n exists if and only if there exists a ρ -labeling of G.

Consequently, Kotzig's conjecture can be stated in terms of ρ -labelings as follows.

Conjecture 1. *Every tree of size n is a* ρ *-tree.*

The tree S(3,2), obtained by attaching a pendant vertex to every leaf of the star $S_3 \cong K_{1,3}$, is the smallest tree that is not an α -tree. Suppose that the vertices of $K_{1,3}$ are labeled $0, 1, \dots, 12$. Thus, every column in Table 1 shows the adjacencies of the vertices of S(3,2) within $K_{1,3}$, being the first column a ρ -labeling of this tree and every column after that corresponds to a turning of the previous labeled graph. In Figure 1.1 we show, in blue, the ρ -labeling of S(3,2) used to create the cyclic decomposition of $K_{1,3}$, together with its 8th turning, represented in red.

In Section 2 we show that a tree *T* admists a ρ -labeling if it has a graceful subtree *T'*, such that *T'* can be obtained by deleting a number of leaves of *T*. Given that several families of graceful trees are known, this result allows us to expand, considerably, the number of trees or families of trees that admit a ρ -labeling, therefore, decompose the complete graph K_{2n+1} . Also here, we show two subfamilies of 3-distance trees that admit ρ -labelings. In addition, we study the existence of ρ -labelings for trees obtained from smaller graceful trees by attaching copies of the path P_3 to some selected vertices of the base graceful trees; these selected vertices may be chosen almost randomly.

In [4], Barrientos and Krop represented a tree as an ordered rooted tree to calculate its excess $\varepsilon(T)$. This parameter was used in [5] to find a ρ -labeling for any tree *T* that containing a branch that is a caterpillar of size at least $\varepsilon(T)$. In Section 3, we use the parameter $\varepsilon(T)$ to show the existence of an α -graph of size $n + \varepsilon(T)$ that contains *T* as a spanning tree.

All graphs used in this paper are finite, with no loops nor multiple edges. We follow the notation and terminology used in [6] and [7].

2. Constructing ρ -graphs from graceful graphs

Several families of ρ -trees are known. Gallian [7] mentions that in an unpublished work of Caro et al., [8], it was proven that all graphs with at most 11 edges have a ρ -labeling as well as lobsters. Késdy [9] defined a stunted tree as follows: a tree of size *n* is *stunted* if its edges can be linearly ordered e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_n so that e_1 and e_2 share a vertex and, for all $3 \le j \le n$, e_j shares a vertex with at least one e_k such that $2k \le j-1$. He proved that if p = 2n+1 is prime, then every stunted tree of size *n* has a ρ -labeling.

A *spider* is a tree that has at most one vertex, called the *center*, of degree greater than 2. Bahls et al. [10], proved that spiders for which the lengths of every path from the center to a leaf differ by at most one, are graceful. A *comet* is a spider where all the paths used have equal

length. El-Zanati et al. [11], proved that trees of diameter at most 5, lobsters, and comets admit a more restrictive type of ρ -labeling, called ρ^+ -labeling. Essentially, ρ^+ -labelings are ρ -labelings with the extra condition of being bipartite (see Section 3 for a formal definition of bipartite labeling). This extra condition is what it makes their result a novelty.

2.1. The first expansion

Let *T* be a tree of positive size *q* with at least *k* leaves and *T'* be any tree of size q - k obtained from *T* by deleting *k* of its leaves. We claim that *T* admits a ρ -labeling when *T'* is a graceful tree.

Theorem 2.1. Let T' be any tree obtained from T by deleting any k of its leaves. If T' is graceful, then T admits a ρ -labeling.

Proof. Let *T* be a tree of size *q* with at least *k* leaves and *T'* be a graceful tree obtained by deleting *k* leaves from *T*. Suppose that *f* is a graceful labeling of *T'*. Thus, the labels assigned by *f* to the vertices of *T'* are $0, 1, \ldots, q - k$ and the weights induced by *f* on the edges of *T'* are $1, 2, \ldots, q - k$. Let v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_r be the vertices of *T'* that when seen as vertices of *T* corresponds to those incident to the edges of *T* that were deleted to form *T'*. Without loss of generality we assume that $f(v_1) > f(v_2) > \cdots > f(v_r)$. Thus, $f(v_1) \le q - k$ and $f(v_r) \ge 0$.

In any ρ -labeling of a graph of size q, the labels are taken from $\{0, 1, \dots, 2q\}$. When the labeled T' is seen inside T, its labeling can be extended to a ρ -labeling of T as follows. There are k leaves of T that have not been labeled yet; none of the integers in $\{q - k + 1, q - k + 2, \dots, 2q\}$ have been used as a label; none of the integers $q - k + 1, q - k + 2, \dots, q$ correspond to the weight of an edge of T. Since we are constructing a ρ -labeling of T, instead of these weights we use their complements with respect to 2q + 1, that is, $q + k, q + k - 1, \dots, q + 1$, respectively. For every $i \in \{1, 2, \dots, r\}$, let s_i be the number of edges incident to v_i that were deleted from T to form T'. Starting with v_1 , these edges are going to have, the still not assigned, s_i largest weights, in the list $q + k, q + k - 1, \dots, q + 1$, and so on. In order to see that this is possible, note that the label $q + k + f(v_1) \leq q + k + q - k \leq 2q$ can be assigned to a leaf adjacent to v_r . This means that given the graceful labeling of T' and the set of integers that have not been used as labels, we can produce edges whose weights are $q + k, q + k - 1, \dots, q + 1$. All the pendant unlabeled vertices attached to v_i , for every $1 \leq i \leq r$, are labeled with consecutive integers, inducing consecutive weights. If

m is the smallest label assigned to a leaf adjacent to v_i , inducing the weight $w = q + t \in \{q + 1, q + 2, ..., q + k\}$ for some $1 \le t < k$, then the largest label assigned to a leaf adjacent to v_{i+1} is at most m-2. In fact, given that $m - f(v_i) = q + t$, equivalently, $m = f(v_i) + q + t$, when x is the largest label used on a leaf adjacent to v_{i+1} , then

$$\begin{aligned} x - f(v_{i+1}) &= q + t - 1 \\ x &= f(v_{i+1}) + q + t - 1 \\ x &< (f(v_i) + q + t) - 1 \\ x &< m - 1 \\ x &\leq m - 2. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, there is always an integer in $\{q+1, q+2, ..., 2q\}$ that can be assigned as the label of a leaf, attached to v_i , to produce the required weight for that edge. Therefore, we have obtained a ρ -labeling of *T*.

In the rest of this section we show some results that can be obtained as a direct consequence of Theorem 2.1.

By definition, a *lobster* is a tree such that the deletion of all its pendant edges results in a caterpillar and caterpillars are graceful [3], therefore, using Theorem 2.1 we may prove the following corollary.

Corollary 2.2. All lobsters admit ρ -labelings.

In Figure 2.1 we show an example of this labeling for a lobster L of size 38. The edges of L represented by red lines are the ones that we deleted to obtain a caterpillar. As we mentioned at the beginning of this section, the fact that lobsters are ρ -trees has been proven in [8] and [11]; however, the earliest proof of it was given by Huang and Rosa in 1978 [12].



Figure 2.1: *ρ*-labeling of a lobster of size 38

In the same line, we have the following two results. Morgan [13] introduced the concept of k-distance tree as follows. Let P be any of the longest paths in a tree T; T is a k-distance tree if every vertex is at distance at most k from P. We refer to P as the central path of T. From

Let *T* be a 3-distance tree. The symbols T^* and P^* are used here to designate the lobster obtained from *T* by deleting all its leaves and the central path of T^* , respectively.

Theorem 2.3. Let *T* be a 3-distance tree. If for every pair of vertices in P^* of degree at least 3, the distance between them is even, then *T* is a ρ -tree.

Proof. Let assume that *T* is a 3-distance tree such that for every pair of vertices u, v in P^* , of degree at least 3, dist(u, v) is even. Let *X* be the subset of $V(T^*)$ that contains all the leaves at distance 1 from P^* . Then for every $x \in X$, there exists $y_x \in V(T^*)$ such that $xy_x \in E(T)$. Suppose that for every $x \in X$, the edge xy_x has been added to $E(T^*)$; thus, each vertex y_x is at distance 2 from P^* , which implies that the new tree, denoted by *L*, is a lobster where all the leaves not in P^* are at distance 2 from P^* and the vertices of degree at least 3 in P^* are separated by an even number of edges. Then, the lobster *L* can be obtained by subdividing once every edge of a caterpillar. Using the result in [14], we know that *L* is a graceful tree. Since *T* can be obtained from *L* by attaching some pendant vertices, a ρ -labeling of *T* can be constructed applying Theorem 2.1 to a gracefully labeled copy of *L*.

Similarly, but as a direct consequence of Theorem 2.1, we can prove that when *T* is a 3-distance tree where every leaf at distance 2 from the central path is at distance 3 from a leaf and for every pair of vertices of degree at least 3 in P^* the distance between them is a positive multiple of 3, then *T* admits a ρ -labeling. We just need to observe that the underneath *T* is created by subdividing twice every edge of a caterpillar. So, this graph is graceful and *T* is a ρ -graph by Theorem 2.1

Corollary 2.4. Let T be a 3-distance tree. If for every pair of vertices in P^* of degree at least 3, the distance between them is a positive multiple of 3, and every leaf at distance 2 from P^* is at distance 3 from a leaf, then T is a ρ -tree.

Using the help of a computer, Fang [15] has shown that all trees of size up to 34 are graceful, therefore, they admit a ρ -labeling. This fact helps us to prove the following corollary of Theorem 2.1.

Corollary 2.5. Let T be a tree of size q with at least k leaves. Any tree T' of size q - k, obtained by deleting k leaves from T, admits a ρ -labeling if $q - k \leq 34$.

In [16], Eshghi and Azimi presented an algorithm to find graceful labelings of larger graphs. They verified this method with all trees with 30, 35, and 40 vertices. Hence, the result in Corollary 2.3 is also valid when q - k = 39.

It is well-known that all trees with at most four leaves are graceful [17], [18], and [19]. Based on this result we have the following corollary of Theorem 2.1.

Corollary 2.6. If T is a tree such that the removal of all its leaves results in a tree with at most four leaves, then T admists a ρ -labeling.

It is also known that trees with diameter at most 5 are graceful [18], [20]. If *T* is a tree of diameter 5, it can be represented as a rooted tree where the root is any of the central vertices; thus, only one of the branches coming out of the root has height 3. Suppose now that *A* is a tree of diameter 6. When *A* is seen as a rooted tree, where the root is its central vertex, more than one of the branches coming out of the root has height 3, if for all, except one of these branches, the leaves in level 3 are deleted, a tree *T* of diameter 5 is obtained, which is graceful. Therefore, we can obtain a ρ -labeling of *T* applying the procedure described in Theorem 2.1. Furthermore, the same idea can be used to construct a ρ -labeling of any tree A^* of diameter 7, in this case, we delete all the leaves in levels 3 and 4 to obtain a tree of diameter 5; hence we can apply Theorem 2.1. Thus, we have proven the following corollary.

Corollary 2.7. If T is a tree of diameter at most 7, then T admits a ρ -labeling.

There are several families of graceful rooted trees, for example, Bermond and Sotteau [21] proved that every rooted tree, in which every level contains vertices of the same degree, is graceful. A tree satisfying this condition is called *symmetric*. This result allows us to prove the following corollary.

Corollary 2.8. If T is a rooted tree with the property that the removal of some of its leaves results in a symmetric tree, then T admits a ρ -labeling.

In [22], Balbuena et al., proved that all trees having an even or quasi even degree sequence are graceful. They obtained a graceful labeling for this type of graphs by representing them as rooted trees. They worked with rooted trees of diameter *D*, where the root is the central vertex and has odd degree, and all the interior vertices have even degree (even degree sequence). The case of a quasi even degree sequence is similar, except that the vertices in the penultimate level have odd degree.

Corollary 2.9. If T is a tree with the property that the removal of some of its leaves results in a tree with an even or quasi even degree sequence, then T admist a ρ -labeling.

Sethuraman and Jesintha [23] proved that all rooted trees, in which every level contains leaves and the degrees of the internal vertices in the same level are equal, are graceful.

Corollary 2.10. If T is a rooted tree with the property that the removal of some of its leaves results in a rooted tree where every level contains leaves and the internal vertices, in that level, have the same degree, then T admits a ρ -labeling.

2.2. The second expansion

We open this part exploring the existence of a ρ -labeling of a tree T' of size n + 2k obtained, from a graceful tree T of size n, identifying an end-vertex of a copy of the path P_3 to each of k selected vertices of T.

The Labeling Scheme

Suppose that *f* is a graceful labeling of a tree *T* of size *n*. Thus, the labels assigned by *f* to the vertices of *T* are the integers 0, 1, ..., n and the induced weights are 1, 2, ..., n. This labeling will be extended to a ρ -labeling of a tree of size n + 2k.

Let $v_1, v_2, ..., v_k$ be distinct vertices of *T*. We assume that $f(v_1) > f(v_2), ..., > f(v_k)$. For every $1 \le i \le k$, we say that the vertex set of the *i*th copy of P_3 is $\{v_i, u_i, w_i\}$ and the edge set is $\{v_iu_i, u_iw_i\}$. Then the labeling *f* of *T* is extended to include the vertices u_i and w_i , in the following way:

$$f(u_i) = f(v_i) + n + 4k + 1 - i$$

and

$$f(w_i) = f(v_i) + 3k - 2i + 1.$$

We claim that *f* is a ρ -labeling of *T'* when $f(v_k) \ge n - k$.

Theorem 2.11. Let f be a graceful labeling of a tree T of size n and $v_1, v_2, ..., v_k$ be distinct vertices of T. If $min\{f(v_i) : 1 \le i \le k\} \ge n-k$, then the tree T', obtained attaching an end-vertex of P_3 to each v_i , is a ρ -tree.

Proof. Suppose that the graceful labeling f of T has been extended to all the vertices of T' using the labeling scheme presented above. First, we verify that the weights induced by f satisfy the conditions required by a ρ -labeling. The edge $v_i u_i$ has weight

$$f(u_i) - f(v_i) = (f(v_i) + n + 4k + 1 - i) - f(v_i) = n + 4k + 1 - i.$$

Since $1 \le i \le k$, these weights form the set $\{n + 4k, n + 4k - 1, ..., n + 3k + 1\}$. But the complement of each of these numbers is (2n+4k+1) - (n+4k+1-i) = n+i, which implies these weights are equivalent to the integers in $\{n+1, n+2, ..., n+k\}$. The edge $u_i w_i$ has weight

$$f(u_i) - f(w_i) = (f(v_i) + n + 4k + 1 - i) - (f(v_i) + 3k - 2i + 1) = n + k + i$$

Then, these weights form the set $\{n+k+1, n+k+2, \dots, n+2k\}$.

Since the weights induced on the edges of T are 1, 2, ..., n, the weights induced by f on the edges of T' satisfy the conditions required by a ρ -labeling.

Now we analyze the injectivity of the function f. When f is restricted to the vertices in T it is injective because it is a graceful labeling. Each extension of f to the vertices u_i and w_i is defined as a linear function, which implies that we just need to check that all the labels used are different.

Note that $\min\{f(u_i): 1 \le i \le k\} = f(v_k) + n + 3k + 1$ and $\max\{f(u_i): 1 \le i \le k\} = f(v_1) + n + 4k$. Since $f(v_k), f(v_1) \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$, we get

$$\{f(u_i): 1 \le i \le k\} \subseteq \{n+3k+1, n+3k+2, \dots, 2n+4k\}$$

and

 $\{0, 1, \dots, n\} \cap \{f(u_i) : 1 \le i \le k\} = \emptyset.$

On the other side, $\min\{f(w_i): 1 \le i \le k\} = f(v_k) + k + 1$ and $\max\{f(w_i): 1 \le i \le k\} = f(v_1) + 3k - 1$. Thus,

$$\{f(w_i): 1 \le i \le k\} \cap \{f(u_i): 1 \le i \le k\} = \emptyset$$

and

$$\{0,1,\ldots,n\}\cap\{f(w_i):1\leq i\leq k\}=\emptyset$$

when $\min\{f(w_i): 1 \le i \le k\} > n$, that is, when $f(v_k) + k + 1 > n$; which is equivalent to say that $f(v_k) > n - k - 1$ or $f(v_k) \ge n - k$. But this condition is one of the hypotheses. Therefore, the final labeling of T' is in fact a ρ -labeling as we claimed.

Suppose that T' has been labeled using the scheme presented above. Then the edges $v_i u_i$ have weights n + 4k + 1 - i for every $1 \le i \le k$. The edges $u_i w_i$ have weights n + 2k + 1 - i; that is, the weights n + k + 1, n + k + 2, ..., n + 2k.

Recall that if v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_k are the selected vertices of T, then $f(v_1) > f(v_2) > \cdots > f(v_k)$. Thus, the edge $u_k v_k$ has weight n + 3k + 1, which implies that $f(u_k) = f(v_k) + n + 3k + 1$. The edge $u_k w_k$ has weight n + k + 1 and $f(w_k) = f(u_k) - n - k - 1$, then

$$f(w_k) = f(v_k) + n + 3k + 1 - n - k - 1 = f(v_k) + 2k$$

But $f(w_k)$ is the smallest label assigned to a vertex w_i , then it must be larger than n, that is, $f(v_k) + 2k \ge n + 1$, in other terms, $f(v_k) \ge n + 1 - 2k$.

This implies that if the smallest label of the selected vertices of *T* is at least n + 1 - 2k, the tree *T'* is a ρ -tree. Since 0 is the smallest possible value for $f(v_k)$, we get that when $2k \ge n + 1$, any possible tree *T'*, obtained from *T* by attaching *k* copies of *P*₃, is a ρ -tree. In this way, we have proven the next theorem.

Theorem 2.12. If T' is obtained from a graceful tree T of size n attaching a copy of P_3 to each of k selected vertices of T and $2k \ge n+1$, then T' is a p-tree.

Even when this result is not as strong as Theorem 2.1, it produces ρ -labelings for many trees. For instance, if n = 10, then $6 \le k \le 11$; this means that for any graceful tree of size 10, it is possible to construct $\sum_{k=6}^{11} C(10,k) = 2^{10} \rho$ -labeled trees. In general we have that there are $\sum_{\substack{n=1\\ r \ge 1}}^{n+1} C(n,k) = 2^n$ obtained from a gracefully labeled tree of size *n*. In Figure 2.2 we have an example for each $k \in \{6,7,8,9,10,11\}$, where *T* is a gracefully labeled tree of size n = 10.



Figure 2.2: Some of the $2^{10} \rho$ -labeled trees obtained from a graceful tree of size 10

By \mathcal{T}_n we denote the family of all ρ -labeled trees which ρ -labeling is obtained following the labeling scheme used in Theorem 2.1.

Theorem 2.13. If T'' is obtained from T' in \mathcal{T}_n by attaching a pendant vertex to each of k selected vertices of T', where $2k \ge n+1$ and the labels of any pair of selected vertices are at least two units apart, then T'' is a ρ -tree.

Proof. Assume that *T* is a graceful tree of size *n* and *T'* is any tree obtained by attaching any number of pendant vertices to any number of vertices of *T*. Suppose that *t* is the total number of pendant vertices attached to *T* to form *T'*. Let *f* be the *p*-labeling of *T'* procured using Theorem 2.1 and v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_k be distinct pendant vertices of *T'* such that for each $1 \le i \le k$, $f(v_i) - f(v_{i+1}) \ge 2$. Note that the labels assigned to the pendant vertices introduced to form *T'* are in the set $\{n + t + 2k + 1, n + t + 2k + 2, \ldots, n + 2t + 2k\}$. Thus, the integers in the set $L = \{n + 1, n + 2, \ldots, n + t + 2k\}$ have not been used as labels of *T'*.

As we did in the previous theorem, the goal is that the edges generated connecting each v_i , for $1 \le i \le k$, to a pendant vertex, have weights $n+t+k, n+t+k-1, \ldots, n+t+1$, respectively. To achieve this goal, we label the pendant vertices with integers from *L*. Note that $f(v_k) \le n+t+2k+1$ and the pendant edge associated with v_k has weight n+t+1, so the pendant vertex has a label at least *x*, where

$$(n+2t+2k) - x = n+t+k+1$$
$$x = 2k.$$

since $2k \ge n+1$, this integer has not been assigned as a label, hence it can be used now and no repetition of labels happens. Similarly, the pendant edge associated with v_1 has weight n+t+k, so the pendant vertex has a label at most *y*, where

$$(n+2t+2k) - y = n+t+k+1$$

 $y = t+k-1.$

Thus, we conclude that is possible to label all the pendant vertices with integers from *L*, producing the weights $n+t+1, n+t+2, \ldots, n+t+k$. Consequently, the labeling of T'' is in fact a ρ -labeling.

In Figure 2.3 we present an example of this labeling for a graceful tree of size 6, with t = 21 and k = 9. The blue edges are those produced by the first expansion, and the red edges are the ones created by the second expansion of the graceful tree represented with black edges.a



Figure 2.3: A ρ -labeled tree obtained from a subdivision of the star S_3

3. Every tree is a spanning tree of an α -graph

In this section we show that any tree *T* of size *n* is a spanning tree of an α -graph of size $n + \varepsilon(T)$, where $\varepsilon(T)$ is the excess of *T*, that is, a parameter associated with the left-layered representation of *T* introduced in [4].

Let *T* be a rooted tree, for every vertex *v* of *T*, $\gamma(v)$ is the number of levels in *T* where *v* has at least one descendant. We say that *T* is a *left-layered tree* if the vertices on each level of *T* adhere to the following rules:

(i) If *u* and *v* are siblings of degree one, the order of *u* and *v* is arbitrary.

(ii) If *u* and *v* are siblings and $\gamma(u) < \gamma(v)$, then *u* is placed to the left of *v*.

- (iii) If *u* and *v* are siblings, $\gamma(u) = \gamma(v)$, and deg $(u) \ge \text{deg}(v)$, then *u* is placed to the left of *v*.
- (iv) If u and v are siblings such that u is placed to the left of v, then the descendants of u are placed to the left of the descendants of v.

In Figure 3.1 we show the left-layered representation of a tree of size 58. The edges of this tree are represented with black lines.

Let T_r be the left-layered representation of a rooted tree T with root r. Thus, $L_k = \{v_j^k : 1 \le j \le n_k\}$ is the set of all vertices of T at distance k from r, that is, the vertices of T_r placed on level k. We assume that v_j^k is placed to the left of v_{j+1}^k , for all $1 \le j \le n_k - 1$. The *excess* of L_k , denoted Ω_k , is defined to be

$$\Omega_k = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } k = 0, h, \\ n_k - n_{k,0} - 1 & \text{if } 1 \le k \le h - 1. \end{cases}$$

where $n_{k,0}$ is the number of vertices in L_k with no children and h is the height of T_r . The *excess of* T_r , denoted by $ex(T_r)$, is given by $ex(T_r) = \sum_{k=0}^{h} \Omega_k$. The *excess of* T, denoted by $\varepsilon(T)$, is defined to be

$$\varepsilon(T) = \min\{\exp(T_r) : \text{ for all } r \in V(T)\}.$$

Thus, if *T* is a caterpillar or a path, $\varepsilon(T) = 0$, and it is obtained when *r* is chosen to be any of the vertices of maximum eccentricity in *T*. The tree in Figure 3.1, represented with the black edges, has excess 18; the vertices used to calculate this parameter are in black.

A *bipartite labeling* of a tree *T* of size *n* is an injective mapping $f : V(G) \to \{0, 1, ..., s\}$, with $s \ge n$, such that all induced weights are distinct and the labels assigned to the vertices in one of the stable sets of *T* are smaller than the labels assigned to the vertices of the other stable set. When s = n, the bipartite labeling is indeed an α -labeling of *T*. In [5] we introduced a bipartite labeling of *T* where $s = n + \varepsilon(T)$. For the sake of completeness, we describe this labeling again. We will use it to prove that every tree *T* of size *n* and excess $\varepsilon(T)$ is a spanning tree of an α -graph of order n + 1 and size $n + \varepsilon(T)$.

Recall that on every level, the vertices are ordered from the right to the left. If *h* is the height of *T*, then the labels assigned to the vertices on each level are consecutive integers. On the levels L_h, L_{h-2}, \ldots they are in increasing order; on the levels L_{h-1}, L_{h-3}, \ldots they are in decreasing order. The smaller labels are on the levels L_h, L_{h-2}, \ldots

The first label on L_h is 0 and the first label on L_{h-2i} is the addition of the largest label on L_{h-2i+2} and $1 + \Omega_{h-2i+1}$.

The first label on L_{h-1} is $n + \varepsilon(T)$ and the first label on L_{h-1-2i} is the subtraction of the smallest label on L_{h+1-2i} and $1 + \Omega_{h-2i}$.

In Figure 3.1 we exhibit an example of this bipartite labeling.

Theorem 3.1. Any tree T of size n is a spanning tree of an α -graph of size $n + \varepsilon(T)$.

Proof. Suppose that *T* has been labeled using the bipartite labeling *f* described before. Thus, the labels assigned belong to the set $\{0, 1, ..., n + \varepsilon(T)\}$ and the induced weights are in the set $\{1, 2, ..., n + \varepsilon(T)\}$. Let v_1 and v_2 be two consecutive vertices on level L_k such that they are not siblings, this implies the existence of two consecutive vertices, u_1 and u_2 , on level L_{k-1} such that $u_1v_1, u_2v_2 \in E(T)$. If *h* and *k* have the same parity, then $f(v_1) + 1 = f(v_2)$ and $f(u_1) - 1 = f(u_2)$. Thus, the weight of u_1v_1 , is $f(u_1) - f(v_1)$, which is two units larger than the weight of u_2v_2 , because

$$f(u_2) - f(v_2) = f(u_1) - 1 - (f(v_1) + 1) = f(u_1) - f(v_1) - 2.$$



Figure 3.1: Embedding of a tree of size 58 and excess 18 in an α -graph of size 76

Hence, the integer $f(u_1) - f(v_1) - 1$ is not the weight of any edge of *T*. If the vertices v_2 and u_1 are connected (or the vertices v_1 and u_2), we create an edge of weight $f(u_1) - f(v_1) - 1$.

If *h* and *k* have different parity, then $f(v_2) = f(v_1) - 1$ and $f(u_1) + 1 = f(u_2)$. Thus, the weight of u_1v_1 , is $f(u_1) - f(v_1)$, and again, it is two units larger than the weight of u_2v_2 , because

$$f(v_2) - f(u_2) = f(v_1) - 1 - (f(u_1) + 1) = f(v_1) - f(u_1) - 2.$$

So, the integer $f(v_1) - f(u_1) - 1$ is not the weight of any edge of *T*. If the vertices v_2 and u_1 are connected (or the vertices v_1 and u_2), we create an edge of weight $f(v_1) - f(u_1) - 1$.

If this process of introducing a new edge is done every time that is needed, the resulting graph has *T* as a spanning tree and its labeling induces the weights $1, 2, ..., n + \varepsilon(T)$. Since the original labeling is bipartite, the labeling of the new graph is an α -labeling.

In Figure 3.1 we show an example of this labeling. The black edges correspond to a tree *T* of size 58, $\varepsilon(T) = 18$, and h = 9, $\Omega_9 = \Omega_4 = \Omega_3 = \Omega_2 = \Omega_1 = \Omega_0 = 0$, $\Omega_8 = 4$, $\Omega_7 = 6$, $\Omega_6 = 5$, and $\Omega_5 = 3$. The missing weights are 27, 29, 31, 34, 36, 38, 41, 45, 51, 53, 59, 62, 69, 70, 73, and 75. If the blue edges are added to the labeled tree, they form an α -labeled graph of size 58 + 18 = 76 that contains *T* as a spanning tree.

Note that for every missing weight in the original bipartite labeling of *T*, there are two possible new edges with that weight, therefore, there are at least $2^{\varepsilon(T)}$ hosts for *T* that are α -graphs. As far as we know, the α -graph obtained in this way, is the smallest α -graph that has *T* as a spanning tree.

Other authors have studied similar problems; for example, Rao and Sahoo [24] proved that every connected graph of order *n* can be embedded as an induced subgraph in a graceful Eulerian graph of size 3^n . In [25], Sethuraman and Ragukumar introduced some algorithms that allow them to prove, among other results, that any tree of size *n* is a spanning tree of an α -graph of size *M*. They provided an example for a tree of size 20 embedded in an α -graph of size 55. This tree has excess 5; thus, when we apply our labeling scheme to this tree, the associated α -graph has size 25. We have not been able to determine the value of *M* in [25] but we believe that for any given tree *T* of size *n*, the inequality $n + \varepsilon(T) < M$ holds.

4. Conclusion

Since there are many known families of graceful trees and any graceful tree can be used to construct infinitely many larger ρ -trees, Theorem 2.1 is the most powerful result in the context of ρ -labelings. Then it was natural to ask whether is possible to weaken the condition of being graceful imposed to the starting tree. As a result of that analysis, we obtained the last theorems in Section 2. In particular, Theorem 2.13 tells us that for any *k* large enough, there are *k* end-vertices in *T'* that can be extended one more time, to obtain a new ρ -tree. Is there any other

type of tree that can be used, instead of P_3 , to attach to all or some of the vertices of a tree T to create new ρ -trees? The result in Section 3 gives us an upper bound for the size of the smaller α -graph that contains T as a spanning tree. Further studies of this type should include the examination of how good this bound is, which is better than any other bound known to date.

Acknowledgement

We want to thank Dr. David Williams for helping us to find part of the bibliography used here.

References

- [1] G. Ringel, Problem 25, in Theory of Graphs and Its Applications, Proc. Symposium Smolenice 1963, Prague (1964), 162.
- A. Kotzig, On certain vertex valuations of finite graphs, Util. Math., 4 (1973), 67-73
- [3] A. Rosa, On certain valuations of the vertices of a graph, Theory of Graphs (Internat. Symposium, Rome, July 1966), Gordon and Breach, N. Y. and Dunod Paris (1967), 349-355.
- C. Barrientos, E. Krop, Improved bounds for relaxed graceful trees, Graphs Combin., 33 (2017), 287-305.
- [5] C. Barrientos, S. Minion, New attack on Kotzig's conjecture, Electron. J. Graph Theory Appl., 4(2) (2016), 119-131.
 [6] G. Chartrand, L. Lesniak, Graphs & Digraphs, 2nd ed. Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole, Monterey, 1986.
- J. A. Gallian, A dynamic survey of graph labeling, Electronic J. Combin., 21(#DS6), 2018.
- [7] [8] Y. Caro, Y. Roditty, J. Schönheim, Starters for symmetric (n,G,1)-designs. ρ-labelings revisited, (in press).
- [9] A. Közdy, p-valuations for some stunted trees, Discrete Math., 306 (2006), 2786-2789.
 [10] P. Bahl, S. Lake, A. Wertheim, Gracefulness of families of spiders, Involve, 3 (2010), 241-247.
- [11] S. El-Zanati, C. Vanden Eynden, N. Punnim, On the cyclic decomposition of complete graphs into bipartite graphs, Australas. J. Combin., 24 (2001),
- 209-219.
 [12] C. Huang, A. Rosa, Decomposition of complete graphs into trees, Ars Combin., 5 (1978), 23-63
- [13] D. Morgan, All lobsters with perfect matchings are graceful, Electron. Notes Discrete Math., 11 (2002), 6 pp.
- [14] M. Burzio, G. Ferrarese, The subdivision graph of a graceful tree is a graceful tree, Discrete Math., 181 (1998), 275-281.
- [15] W. Fang, A computational approach to the graceful tree conjecture, arXiv:1003.3045v1 [cs.DM].
- [16] K. Eshghi, P. Azimi, Applications of mathematical programming in graceful labeling of graphs, J. Applied Math., 1 (2004), 1-8.
- [17] C. Huang, A. Kotzig, A. Rosa, Further results on tree labellings, Util. Math., 21c (1982), 31-48.
- [18] S. K. Vaidya, N. A. Dani, Cordial labeling and arbitrary super subdivision of some graphs, Inter. J. Information Sci. Comput. Math., 2(1) (2010), 51-60.
 [19] D. J. Jin, F. H. Meng, J. G. Wang, The gracefulness of trees with diameter 4, Acta Sci. Natur. Univ. Jilin., (1993), 17-22.
 [20] P. Hrnčiar, A. Haviar, All trees of diameter five are graceful, Discrete Math., 233 (2001), 133-150.
- [21] J. C. Bermond, D. Sotteau, Graph decompositions and G-design, Proceedings of the Fifth British Combinatorial Conference, 1975, Congr. Numer., XV (1976) 53-72.
- [22] C. Balbuena, P. García-Vázquez, X. Marcote, J. C. Valenzuela, Trees having an even or quasi even degree sequence are graceful, Applied Math. Letters, 20 (2007), 370-375
- G. Sethuraman, J. Jesintha, A new class of graceful rooted trees, J. Disc. Math. Sci. Crypt., 11 (2008), 421-435.
- [24] S. B. Rao, U. K. Sahoo, *Embeddings in Eulerian graceful graphs*, Australasin J. Comb., 62(1) (2015), 128-139.
 [25] G. Sethuraman, P. Ragukumar, *Every tree is a subtree of graceful tree, graceful graph and alpha-labeled graph*, Ars Combin., 132 (2017), 105-109.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 doi: 10.33401/fujma.630045



Applicable Multiplicative Calculus Using Multiplicative Modulus Function

C. Ganesa Moorthy

Department of Mathematics, Alagappa university, Karaikudi-630 003, India

Corresponding author E-mail: ganesamoorthyc@gmail.com

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Differentiation, Positive measure integration, Riemann integration
2010 AMS: Primary 26A42; Secondary 26A24; 26A06.
Received: 07 October 2019
Accepted: 18 December 2019
Available online: 20 December 2019

The classical calculus is viewed as additive calculus based on addition in the real line. Another known multiplicative calculus corresponding to multiplication in the positive real axis has been precisely introduced. Abstract multiplicative integration through positive measures has been newly introduced. Results of multiplicative differentiation and integration have been obtained for completion, when some of them have been obtained through multiplicative modulus function. Results have been obtained also for abstract multiplicative measure integration.

1. Introduction

Arithmetic mean of real numbers is considered in elementary statistics and geometric mean of positive real numbers is also considered in elementary statistics. The first one is a mean for addition and the second one is a mean for multiplication, and both are considered as applicable. The usual absolute value function is a function for addition. A new absolute value function, which was just mentioned in [1], has been extremely used for multiplication in [2]. The classical calculus of Newton and Leibnitz is based on addition. Another calculus was also known for multiplication, and it became an important part of research since the publication of the book [3] and the article [1], which provides a good introduction for multiplicative calculus. It has been extended in many directions; fractional derivative, complex derivative, integral transformations, differential equations and applications for science and engineering in [1], [4]-[18]. It has been established in [19, 20] that multiplicative calculus would also be applicable. The author believes that some precision is required in the introduction of multiplicative modulus function used in [2] has been applied to derive some new, but elementary results. Multiplicative integration using positive measures has also been defined precisely and some fundamental results have been obtained. The author could not find any article in literature for multiplicative abstract measure integration, even though there is an advanced research article [22] for Lebesgue measure integration. It should be observed that some changes have been done in this article in conventional notations for multiplicative calculus. Let us begin with a definition of the classical absolute value of real numbers. Let us use the notations R and P for the set of real numbers and the set of positive real numbers, respectively.

Definition 1.1. If $x \in R$, then additive absolute value of x is denoted by |x|, and defined as the number $\max\{x, -x\}$.

Let us now present the notation and definition of multiplicative absolute value given in [2].

Definition 1.2. If $x \in P$, then multiplicative absolute value of x is denoted by $|x|_{\times}$, and defined as the number $\max\{x, x^{-1}\}$.

Proposition 1.3. Let $x, y \in R$, and let $u, v \in P$. Then $|uv|_{\times} \le |u|_{\times} |v|_{\times}$, $|\log u| = \log |u|_{\times}$, and $\exp |x| = |\exp x|_{\times}$.

Proof. Direct verification.

The second section discusses fundamental results for multiplicative differentiation for completion, the third section discusses multiplicative Riemann integration with a precise definition, and the fourth section discusses newly introduced multiplicative abstract measure integration.

2. Multiplicative differentiation

Definition 2.1. Let $f:[a,b] \to R$ be a real valued function and let $x_0 \in [a,b]$. Then the derivative of f exists at x_0 , if $\lim_{x \to x_0} \frac{f(x) - f(x_0)}{x - x_0}$ exists. This limit is denoted by $f'(x_0)$ or $\frac{df(x_0)}{dx}$ or $\frac{df(x)}{dx}|_{x=x_0}$ or $\frac{df(x)}{dx}|_{x=x_0}$, and it is called the derivative of f at x_0 .

Definition 2.2. Let $F : [a,b] \to (0,\infty)$ be a positive real valued function and let $x_0 \in [a,b]$. Then the *m*-derivative of F exists at x_0 , if $\lim_{x \to x_0} \left(\frac{F(x)}{F(x_0)}\right)^{\frac{1}{x-x_0}}$ exists, and it is not equal to zero. This limit is denoted by $F^{\dagger}(x_0)$ or $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx}$ or $\frac{DF(x)}{Dx}|_{x=x_0}$ or $\frac{DF(x)}{Dx}|_{x=x_0}$, and it is called the *m*-derivative of F at x_0 .

Remark 2.3. These definitions can be extended to other intervals of types [a,b), (a,b), (a,b], naturally. One sided derivatives can also be defined. The higher order derivatives can also be defined.

Lemma 2.4. Let $F, [a,b], x_0$ be as in Definition 2.2. Then $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx}$ exists if and only if $\frac{d\log F(x_0)}{dx}$ exists, and in this case, $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx} = \exp\left(\frac{d\log F(x_0)}{dx}\right)$.

Proof. The proof follows from the relation $\exp\left(\frac{\log F(x) - \log F(x_0)}{x - x_0}\right) = \left(\frac{F(x)}{F(x_0)}\right)^{\frac{1}{x - x_0}}$.

Corollary 2.5. $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx}$ exists if and only if $\frac{dF(x_0)}{dx}$ exists, for F and x_0 given in Lemma 2.4.

Proof. Use the relation $F(x) = \exp \log F(x)$, and the chain rule.

Lemma 2.6. Let $f, [a,b], x_0$ be as in Definition 2.1. Then $\frac{df(x_0)}{dx}$ exists if and only if $\frac{D\exp(f(x_0))}{Dx}$ exists, and in this case, $\frac{df(x_0)}{dx} = \log\left(\frac{D\exp(f(x_0))}{Dx}\right)$.

Proof. The proof follows from the relation $\log\left(\frac{\exp(f(x))}{\exp(f(x_0))}\right)^{\frac{1}{x-x_0}} = \frac{f(x)-f(x_0)}{x-x_0}$.

Remark 2.7. Formally, $\frac{D}{Dx} = \exp \frac{d}{dx} \log$, and $\frac{d}{dx} = \log \frac{D}{Dx} \exp$. For any integer $n \ge 2$, it can be verified formally that $\frac{D^n}{Dx^n} = \exp \frac{d^n}{dx^n} \log$, and $\frac{d^n}{dx^n} = \log \frac{D^n}{Dx^n} \exp$.

Let us try to use these formal relations and let us convert some results of Chapter 5 in [23].

Proposition 2.8. Let $F, [a,b], x_0$ be as in Definition 2.2. Suppose $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx}$ exists. Then F is continuous at x_0 .

Proof. Let $M = \frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx}$. Then $0 < M < \infty$, and $M^{x-x_0} \to 1$ as $x \to x_0$. Therefore, $\frac{F(x)}{F(x_0)} \to 1$ and hence $F(x) \to F(x_0)$ as $x \to x_0$. Another Proof:

Since $\frac{d \log F(x_0)}{dx}$ exists, $\log F(x_0)$ is continuous at x_0 , and hence F(x) is continuous at x_0 .

Proposition 2.9. Let *F*, *G* be positive real valued functions on [a,b] and *m*-differentiable at a point x_0 in [a,b]. Then $\frac{D(FG)(x_0)}{Dx}$ exists and it is $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx} \frac{DG(x_0)}{Dx}$.

Proof. It follows from Definition 2.2.

Theorem 2.10. Suppose f is a real valued function on [a,b]. Let $x_0 \in [a,b]$. Suppose $f'(x_0)$ exists. Let G be a positive real valued function on an interval I which contains the range of f. Suppose G is m-differentiable at the point $f(x_0)$. Let H(t) = G(f(t)), for all $t \in [a,b]$. Then H is m-differentiable at x_0 , and $H^{\dagger}(x_0) = (G^{\dagger}(f(x_0))f'(x_0)$.

Proof. By Lemma 2.4,

$$(G^{|}(f(x_0))^{f'(x_0)} = \left(\exp\left(\frac{d\log G(f(x_0))}{dy}\right)\right)^{\frac{d'(x_0)}{dx}} (\text{with } y \in I)$$
$$= \exp\left(\frac{df(x_0)}{dx}\frac{d(\log G)f(x_0)}{dy}\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(\frac{d((\log G) \circ f)(x_0)}{dx}\right)$$
$$= \frac{DH(x_0)}{Dx}.$$

Another Proof: Use Proposition 2.8 and the relation

$$\left(\frac{H(x)}{H(x_0)}\right)^{\frac{1}{x-x_0}} = \left(\left(\frac{G(f(x))}{G(f(x_0))}\right)^{\frac{1}{f(x)-f(x_0)}}\right)^{\frac{f(x)-f(x_0)}{x-x_0}}$$

for the case $f(x) \neq f(x_0)$. Separate the case $f(x) = f(x_0)$.

Lemma 2.11. Let *F* be a positive real valued function defined on [*a*,*b*]. If *F* has a local maximum at a point x_0 in (*a*,*b*) and if $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx}$ exists, then $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx} = 1$.

Proof. Suppose $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx}$ exists. Then $\frac{d\log F(x_0)}{dx}$ exists. Suppose *F* has a local maximum at x_0 in (a,b). Then $\frac{d\log F(x_0)}{dx} = 0$, and hence $\frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx} = \exp\left(\frac{d\log F(x_0)}{dx}\right) = 1$.

Direct Proof: $\left(\frac{F(x)}{F(x_0)}\right)^{\frac{1}{x-x_0}} \ge 1, \text{ if } x < x_0, \text{ and } \left(\frac{F(x)}{F(x_0)}\right)^{\frac{1}{x-x_0}} \le 1, \text{ if } x > x_0, \text{ when } x \text{ is in a suitable neighborhood of } x_0.$

Theorem 2.12. Suppose *F* and *G* are continuous positive real valued functions on [*a*,*b*] which are *m*-differentiable in (*a*,*b*). Then there is a point x_0 in (*a*,*b*) such that $\left(\frac{F(b)}{F(a)}\right)^{\frac{G'(x_0)}{G(x_0)}} = \left(\frac{G(b)}{G(a)}\right)^{\frac{F'(x_0)}{F(x_0)}}$

Proof. Use Theorem 5.9 in [23], and Lemma 2.4 to find a point x_0 in (a,b) such that $(\log F(b) - \log F(a))\frac{G'(x_0)}{G(x_0)} = (\log G(b) - \log G(a))\frac{F'(x_0)}{F(x_0)}$

Proposition 2.13. Suppose *F* is a continuous positive real valued function on [a,b] which is *m*-differentiable in (a,b). Then $\left(\frac{F(b)}{F(a)}\right)^{\frac{1}{b-a}} = \frac{DF(x_0)}{Dx}$, for some $x_0 \in (a,b)$.

Proof. By the mean value theorem, there is a point $x_0 \in (a,b)$ such that $\log F(b) - \log F(a) = (b-a) \frac{d \log F(x_0)}{dx}$.

Theorem 2.14. Suppose F is an m-differentiable positive real valued function on (a,b). (a) If $F^{\dagger}(x) \ge 1$ for all $x \in (a,b)$, then F is monotonically increasing in (a,b). (b) If $F^{\dagger}(x) = 1$ for all $x \in (a,b)$, then F is a constant function in (a,b). (c) If $F^{\dagger}(x) \le 1$ for all $x \in (a,b)$, then F is monotonically decreasing in (a,b).

Proof. Apply Theorem 5.11 in [23] to log F function.

Theorem 2.15. Suppose *F* is an *m*-differentiable positive real valued function on [a,b]. Let λ be a constant such that $F^{\dagger}(a) < \lambda < F^{\dagger}(b)$. Then there is a point x_0 in (a,b) such that $F^{\dagger}(x_0) = \lambda$.

Proof. Observe that $\exp\left(\frac{d\log F(a)}{dx}\right) < \lambda < \exp\left(\frac{d\log F(b)}{dx}\right)$ and hence $\frac{d\log F(a)}{dx} < \log \lambda < \frac{d\log F(b)}{dx}$. By Theorem 5.12 in [23], there is a $x_0 \in (a,b)$ such that $\frac{d\log F(x_0)}{dx} = \log \lambda$. In this case, $F^{\dagger}(x_0) = \lambda$.

Theorem 2.16. Let *F* be a positive real valued function on [a,b], and *n* be a positive integer such that $\frac{D^{n-1}F(t)}{Dx^{n-1}}$ is continuous on [a,b] and $\frac{D^nF(t)}{Dx^n}$ exists for every $t \in (a,b)$. Let α, β be points in [a,b]. Then there is a point x_0 between α and β such that $\frac{F(\beta)}{F(\alpha)} = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \left(\frac{D^kF(\alpha)}{Dx^k}\right)^{\frac{(\beta-\alpha)^k}{k!}} + \left(\frac{D^nF(x_0)}{Dx^n}\right)^{\frac{(\beta-\alpha)^n}{n!}}$

Proof. By Remark 2.7, $\frac{d^{n-1}\log F}{dx^{n-1}}$ is continuous on [a, b] and $\frac{d^n\log F(t)}{dx^n}$ exists for every $t \in (a, b)$. By Theorem 5.15 in [23], there is a point x_0 between α and β such that $f(\beta) - f(\alpha) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \frac{d^k f(\alpha)}{dx^k} \frac{(\beta - \alpha)^k}{k!} + \frac{d^n f(x_0)}{dx^n} \frac{(\beta - \alpha)^n}{n!}$, where $f = \log F$. The result follows from this relation. \Box

3. Multiplicative Riemann integration

Definition 3.1. Let [a,b] be a given interval. A partition $P = x_0, x_1, ..., x_n$ of [a,b] satisfies $a = x_0 \le x_1 \le ... \le x_{n-1} \le x_n = b$. Let D be the collection of all partitions of [a,b]. This collection D is a directed set, directed by a relation \le defined by: $P_1 \le P_2$ if and only if $P_1 \subseteq P_2$. Let $F : [a,b] \to (0,\infty)$ be a function such that $m \le F(x) \le M$, for some m > 0 and $M < \infty$, for all $x \in [a,b]$. To each partition $P = x_0, x_1, ..., x_n$ of [a,b], fix $t_i \in [x_{i-1}, x_i]$, for i = 1, 2, ..., n, define $F_P = \prod_{i=1}^n F(t_i)^{(x_i - x_{i-1})}$. Suppose all nets $(F_P)_{P \in D}$ converge uniformly to a common number $p \in (0, \infty)$ in the following sense: For every $\varepsilon > 0$, there is a partition P_0 of [a,b], such that $|F_P - p| < \varepsilon$, for all partitions $P \ge P_0$ in D, and for all selections of t_i . The number p is called the m-Riemann integral of F of [a,b], and it is denoted by $M_a^b F(x)Dx$, or simply, $M_a^b F$. In this case, let us say that F is m-Riemann integrable over [a,b].

Remark 3.2. Let *F* be as in Definition 3.1. Then *F* is *m*-Riemann integrable over [a,b] if and only if $\log F$ is Riemann integrable over [a,b]. *Moreover,*

$$M_a^b F(x)Dx = \exp \int_a^b \log F(x)dx,$$

in this case. Let f be a bounded real valued function on [a,b]. Then f is Riemann integrable over [a,b] if and only if $\exp f$ is m-Riemann integrable over [a,b]. Moreover,

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(x)dx = \log M_{a}^{b} \exp f(x)Dx,$$

in this case.

Lemma 3.3. Let $F : [a,b] \to (0,\infty)$, $G : [a,b] \to (0,\infty)$ be functions which are m-Riemann integrable over [a,b]. Then the pointwise multiplication function $FG : [a,b] \to (0,\infty)$ is also m-Riemann integrable over [a,b], and $M_a^b(FG)(x)Dx = (M_a^bF(x)Dx)(M_a^bG(x)Dx)$. If F(x) = c > 0, for every $x \in [a,b]$, then $M_a^bF(x)Dx = c^{b-a}$.

Proof. It follows from Definition 3.1.

Let us recall that for every number $x \in (0,\infty), |x|_{\times} = \max\{x, x^{-1}\}$, and for every $x, y \in (0,\infty), |xy|_{\times} \le |x|_{\times} |y|_{\times}$. Direct verification is applicable.

Lemma 3.4. Let $F : [a,b] \to (0,\infty)$ be m-Riemann integrable. Then, $|M_a^b F(x)Dx|_{\times} \leq M_a^b |F(x)|_{\times} Dx$.

Proof. It follows from Definition 3.1.

Theorem 3.5. Suppose $f : [a,b] \to (0,\infty)$ be m-Riemann integrable. For $a \le x \le b$, define $F(x) = M_a^x f(t)Dt$. Then, F is continuous on [a,b]. Moreover, if f is continuous at a point x_0 of [a,b], then F is m-differentiable at x_0 , and $F^{\dagger}(x_0) = f(x_0)$.

Proof. $\int_{a}^{x} \log f(t) dt$ is a continuous function of x in [a,b], by Theorem 6.20 in [23] and Remark 3.2. Thus, $F(x) = \exp \int_{a}^{x} \log f(t) dt$ is a

continuous function of x in [a,b]. Also, if f is continuous at a point x_0 of [a,b], then $\frac{d\int_{1}^{x} \log f(t)dt}{dx}\Big|_{x=x_0} = \log f(x_0)$, by Theorem 6.20 in [12]. Thus, $F^{\dagger}(x_0) = f(x_0)$, when f is continuous at x_0 .

Theorem 3.6. Let f be an m-Riemann integrable function on [a,b]. Suppose there is an m-differentiable function F on [a,b] such that $F^{\dagger} = f$. Then, $M_a^b f(x) Dx = \frac{F(b)}{F(a)}$.

Proof. The function $\log f$ is Riemann integrable over [a,b]. The relation $F^{\mid} = f$ implies that $\exp \frac{d\log F}{dx} = f$ or $\frac{d\log F}{dx} = \log f$. By Theorem 6.21 in [23], $\int_{a}^{b} \log f(x) dx = \log F(b) - \log F(a)$, and hence $M_{a}^{b} f(x) Dx = \frac{F(b)}{F(a)}$.

4. Multiplicative abstract measure integration

Definition 4.1. Let (X, \mathfrak{M}, μ) be a positive measure space. See [24]. Let $s : X \to [1, \infty)$ be a simple measurable function and let $s = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \chi_{A_i}$, where α_i are distinct real numbers and A_i are pairwise disjoint sets. For $A \in \mathfrak{M}$, define $M_A sD\mu = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \mu^{(A \cap A_i)}$. It is $+\infty$ if and only if some $\alpha_i > 1$ with $\mu(A \cap A_i) = +\infty$. Let $f : X \to [1,\infty]$ be a measurable function. For $A \in \mathfrak{M}$, define $M_A fD\mu = \sup_{1 \le s \le f} M_A sD\mu$, where s represents a simple measurable function. Let us say that $f : X \to (0,\infty)$ is m-absolutely m-integrable, if $M_A |f| \times D\mu < \infty$. To each measurable $f : X \to (0,\infty)$, let us define $f_{\times}^+ : X \to [1,\infty)$, and $f_{\times}^- : X \to [1,\infty)$ by $f_{\times}^+(x) = \max\{1, f(x)\}$, and $f_{\times}^-(x) = \max\{1, f(x)^{-1}\}$, for every $x \in X$. Then $|f|_{\times} = f_{\times}^+ f_{\times}^-$, and $f = \frac{f_{\times}^+}{f_{\times}^-}$. If f is absolutely m-integrable over X, then let us define $M_A fD\mu = \frac{M_A f_{\times}^+ D\mu}{M_A f_{\times} D\mu}$, for every $A \in \mathfrak{M}$.

Remark 4.2. If $f \in L^1(\mu)$ and f is real valued, then $\exp f$ is *m*-absolutely *m*-integrable on X, and $\log M_X \exp fD\mu = \int_X fd\mu$. If F is *m*-absolutely *m*-integrable on X, then $\log F \in L^1(\mu)$ and $M_X FD\mu = \exp \int_X \log Fd\mu$.

Theorem 4.3. Let $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of measurable functions on X and f be a measurable function X such that (a) $1 \le f_1(x) \le f_2(x) \le ... \le \infty$, for every $x \in X$, and (b) $f_n(x) \to f(x)$ as $n \to \infty$, for every $x \in X$. Then $M_X f_n D\mu \to M_X f D\mu$, as $n \to \infty$.

Proof. Apply the classical monotone convergence theorem to the functions $\log f_n$ and $\log f$ and use Remark 4.2.

Corollary 4.4. Let $f_n : X \to [1,\infty]$ be measurable for n = 1, 2, ..., and let $f(x) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} f_n(x)$, for every $x \in X$. Then $M_X f D \mu = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} M_X f_n D \mu$.

Proof. Observe that $M_X f_1 f_2 D\mu = (M_X f_1 D\mu)(M_X f_2 D\mu)$. Extend this relation to finite products $f_1 f_2 \dots f_n$. Now, apply the previous Theorem 4.3.

The following proposition can be verified directly.

Proposition 4.5. Let f,g be m-absolutely m-integrable positive real valued functions on X. Let c > 0 be a scalar. Then $M_X fgD\mu = (M_X fD\mu)(M_X gD\mu)$ and $M_X f^c D\mu = (M_X fD\mu)^c$.

Proposition 4.6. Let $f_n : X \to [1, \infty]$ be measurable, for each n = 1, 2, ..., Then

$$M_X \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf_{f_n} D\mu \leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \inf_{M_X} M_X f_n D\mu$$

Proof. Apply the classical Fatou's lemma to the functions $\log f_n$ and use Remark 4.2.

Theorem 4.7. Suppose $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of positive real valued measurable functions on X such that $f(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} f_n(x)$ for some f(x) > 0, for every $x \in X$. Suppose there is an m-integrable function $g: X \to [1, \infty)$ such that $|f_n|_X \leq g(x)$, $\forall n = 1, 2, ..., \forall x \in X$. Then f is an m-absolutely integrable function, $\lim_{n\to\infty} M_X |\frac{f_n}{f_n}|_X D\mu = 1$, and $\lim_{n\to\infty} M_X f_n D\mu = M_X f D\mu$.

Proof. Let $F_n = \log f_n$ and $F = \log f$. Let $G = \log g$. Then $\lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(x) = F(x)$, $\forall x \in X$, and $G \in L^1(\mu)$. Also, $|F_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)| = |\log f_n(x)|$ $\log |f_n|_{\times} \leq \log g = G, \forall x \in X. \text{ By the classical dominated convergence theorem, } \int_X F_n d\mu \to \int_X F d\mu \text{ and } \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_X |F_n - F| d\mu = 0,$ as $n \to \infty$. Then $\exp \int_X \log f_n d\mu \to \exp \int_X \log f d\mu$, as $n \to \infty$, and $\lim_{n \to \infty} \exp \int_X |\log (\frac{f_n}{f})| d\mu = \lim_{n \to \infty} \exp \int_X \log |\frac{f_n}{f}|_{\times} d\mu = 1.$ Thus, $\lim_{n\to\infty} M_X f_n D\mu = M_X f D\mu$, and $\lim_{n\to\infty} M_X |\frac{f_n}{f}| \times D\mu = 1.$

Proposition 4.8. Suppose $f: X \to (0, \infty)$ is an m-absolutely m-integrable function. Then $|M_X f D\mu|_{\times} \leq M_X |f|_{\times} D\mu$.

Proof. It follows from definitions.

Proposition 4.9. (a) Let $f: X \to [1, \infty]$ be a measurable function on X such that $M_X f D \mu = 1$. Then f = 1 almost everywhere on X. (b) Let $f: X \to (0, \infty)$ be m-absolutely m-integrable on X. Suppose $M_E f D \mu = 1, \forall E \in \mathfrak{M}$. Then f = 1 almost everywhere on X. (c) Let $f: X \to (0,\infty)$ be m-absolutely m-integrable on X. Suppose $|M_X f D\mu|_{\times} = M_X |f|_{\times} D\mu$. Then there is a constant α such that $\alpha f = |f|_{\times}$ almost everywhere on X.

Proof. Use Proposition 1.3 along with Theorem 1.39 in [24] for $\log f$.

5. Conclusions

Theorem 11.33 in [23] states that a Lebesgue integrable bounded real valued function on [a, b] is Riemann integrable over the interval if and only if the function is continuous almost everywhere in that interval with respect to classical Lebesgue measure. One can state a corresponding result for m-Riemann integrable functions. Such observations may give a hope to transform every known result in additive calculus and abstract measure integration theory through logarithmic exponential transformations. But, it is not true. Theorems 2.10 and 2.12 reveal difficulties in transforming chain rule and a generalized mean value theorem which is used for establishing L'Hospital's rules. It is yet to be tried for replacement of exponential transformation and its inverse logarithmic transformation by means of other transformations like Lorentz transformation and its inverse Lorentz transformation of the theory of Einstein's special relativity. It is yet to be tried to extend results which provide generalizations of research work in differentiation, integration and measure theory like the ones provided in [25]-[30].

Acknowledgement

Dr. C. Ganesa Moorthy (Professor, Department of Mathematics, Alagappa University, Karaikudi- 630003, INDIA) gratefully acknowledges the joint financial support of RUSA-Phase 2.0 grant sanctioned vide letter No.F 24-51/2014-U, Policy (TN Multi-Gen), Dept. of Edn. Govt. of India, Dt. 09.10.2018, UGC-SAP (DRS-I) vide letter No.F.510/8/DRS-I/2016 (SAP-I) Dt. 23.08.2016 and DST (FIST - level I) 657876570 vide letter No.SR/FIST/MS-I/2018-17 Dt. 20.12.2018.

References

- [1] A. E. Bashirov, E. M. Kurpinar, A. Ozvapici, Multiplicative calculus and its applications, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 337 (2008), 36-48.
- [2] C. G. Moorthy, Infinite products using multiplicative modulus function, Math. Student, 88(3&4) (2019), 39-54.
- [3] M. Grossman, R. Katz, Non-Newtonian Calculus, Les Press, Pigeon Cove, MA, 1972.
- [4] U. Kadak, M. Ozlük, Generalized Runge-Kutta method with respect to nonNewtonian calculus, Abst. Appl. Anal., (2015), Article ID 594685, 10 pages.
- [5] A. Uzer, Multiplicative type complex calculus as an alternative to the classical calculus, Comput. Math. Appl., 60 (2010), 2725-2737.
- [6] N. Yalcin, E. Celik, A. Gokdogan, Multiplicative Laplace transform and its applications, Optik, 127(20) (2016), 9984-9995.
- [7] T. Abadeljawad, On multiplicative fractional calculus, (2015), arXiv:1510.04176v1[math.CA].
- [8] D. Aniszewska, Multiplicative Runge-Kutta method, Non-Linear Dyn., 50(2007), 265-272
- [9] A. E. Bashirov, E. Misirli, Y. Tandogdu, A. Ozyapici, On modelling with multiplicative differential equations, Appl. Math. J. Chinese Univ., 26(4)(2011),
- [10] A. E. Bashirov, M. Riza, Complex multiplicative calculus, (2011), arXiv:1103.1462[math.CV].
- [11] A. E. Bashirov, M. Riza, On complex multiplicative differentiation, TWMS J. App. Eng. Math., 1(1) (2011)75-85.
- [12] A. E. Bashirov, E. M. Kurpinar, A. Ozyapici, Multiplicative Calculus and its applications, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 337 (2008), 36-48.
- [13] A. E. Bashirov, S. Norozpour, On an alternative view to complex calculus, Math. Meth. Appl. Sci., 41 (2018), 7313-7324.
- [14] A. H. Bhat, J. Majid, I. A. Wani, Multiplicative Sumudu transform and its applications, J. Emerging Tech. Innovative Res., 6(1)(2019), 579-589. [15] K. Boruah, B. Hazarika, Application of geometric calculus in numerical analysis and difference sequence spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 449(2)(2017),
- 1265-1285
- [16] K. Boruah, B. Hazarika, *G-Calculus*, TWMS J. Appl. Eng. Math., 8(1) (2018), 94-105.
 [17] K. Boruah, B. Hazarika, *Bigeometric integral calculus*, TWMS J. Appl. Eng. Math., 8(2) (2018), 374-385.
- [18] K. Boruah, B. Hazarika, A. E. Bashirov, Solvability of bigeometric differential equations by numerical methods, Bol. Soc. Paran. Mat. (in press).
- [19] D. Filip, C. Piatecki, An overview on the non-Newtonian calculus and its applications to economics, Appl. Math. Comput., 187(1) (2007), 68-78.
- [20] L. Florack, H. Assen, Multiplicative calculus in biomedical image analysis, J. Math. Imaging Vis., 42 (2012), 64-75.
 [21] D. Stanley, A multiplicative calculus, Primus, 9(4) (1999), 310-326.
- [22] E. J. P. G. Schmidt, On multiplicative Lebesgue integration and families of evolution operators, Math. Scand., 29 (1971), 113-133.
- [23] W. Rudin, Principles of Mathematical Analysis, Third edition, McGraw Hill, London, 1976.
- [24] W. Rudin, Real and Complex Analysis, Third edition, McGraw Hill, New York, 1987.
- [25] N. Marikkannan, P. Sooriyakala, C. G. Moorthy, Certain applications of differential subordination and superordination, Int. J. Pure Appl. Math., 34(4) (2007), 547-558
- [26] N. Marikkannan, C. G. Moorthy, On applications of differential subordination and superordination, Tamkang J. Math., 39(2) (2008), 155-164.
- [27] C. G. Moorthy, Measure theory and Hausdorff dimension of Cantor sets of Continued fractions, Ph.D. Thesis, Alagappa University, 1992.
 [28] C. G. Moorthy, N. Marikkannan, M. P. Jeyaraman, Applications of differential subordination and superordination, J. Indones. Math. Soc., 14(1) (2012),
- 47-56. [29] C. G. Moorthy, R. Vijaya, P. Venkatachalapathy, *Hausdorff dimension of Cantor-like sets*, Kyungpook Math. J., **32**(2) (1992), 197-202.
- [30] C. G. Moorthy, A problem of good on Hausdorff dimension, Mathematika, 39(2) (1992), 244-246.